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Forward-Looking Statements

In addition to historical information, this Form 10-K contains statements relating to our future results (including certain projections and business trends) that
are “forward-looking statements” within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange

LEINT3 9 <

Act of 1934, as amended (the Exchange Act), and are subject to the “safe harbor” created by those sections. Words such as “expects”, “anticipates”, “intends”,
“plans”, “believes”, “estimates”, “suggests”, “appears”, “seeks”, “will” and variations of such words and similar expressions are intended to identify forward-
looking statements. These statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause our actual results and performance to
be materially different from any future results or performance expressed or implied by these forward-looking statements. Factors that might cause such
differences include, but are not limited to, those discussed in the section entitled “Item 1A - Risk Factors.” Readers should also carefully review the “Risk
Factors” section contained in other documents we file from time to time with the Securities and Exchange Commission, including the Quarterly Reports on

Form 10-Q to be filed by us in fiscal year 2015.

Although we believe that these statements are based upon reasonable assumptions, we cannot guarantee future results and readers are cautioned not to place
undue reliance on these forward-looking statements, which reflect management’s opinions only as of the date of this filing. There can be no assurance that

(i) we have correctly measured or identified all of the factors affecting our business or the extent of these factors’ likely impact, (ii) the available information
with respect to these factors on which such analysis is based is complete or accurate, (iii) such analysis is correct or (iv) our strategy, which is based in part on
this analysis, will be successful. The Company undertakes no obligation to update or revise forward-looking statements.

PART 1

Item 1. Business.

Overview of Our Company

Cross Country Healthcare, Inc. (NASDAQ: “CCRN”) is a national leader in providing leading-edge healthcare recruiting, staffing, and workforce solutions.
Through diversified offerings, we are able to meet the unique needs of each client. By utilizing our diversified healthcare solutions, clients are able to
strategically flex their workforce, streamline their purchasing needs, access specialties not available in their local area, and access quality healthcare personnel
to provide continuity of care for improved patient outcomes. Our solutions are geared towards assisting our clients to solve their labor cost issues while
maintaining high quality outcomes.

Our workforce solutions include:

1 managed service programs (MSP);

1 electronic medical record (EMR) transition staffing;

1 internal resource pool (IRP) consulting and development;

I recruitment process outsourcing (RPO);

1 predictive modeling analysis to assist in forecasting labor needs;

1 payrolling;

1 traditional recruiting and staffing of temporary and permanent placement of travel nurses and allied professionals, branch-based local nurses
and allied staffing and locum tenens physicians; and

1 education and training programs, and retained and contingent search services.

We service a variety of clients, including public and private acute care hospitals, government facilities, schools, outpatient clinics, ambulatory care facilities,
physician practice groups, retailers and many other healthcare providers. Our business currently consists of three business segments: (1) Nurse and Allied
Staffing, (2) Physician Staffing and (3) Other Human Capital Management Services. Our fees are paid directly by our clients and in certain instances by
vendor managers. As a result, we have no direct exposure to Medicare or Medicaid reimbursements.

In December 2013, we acquired the assets of On Assignment, Inc.’s Allied Healthcare Staffing division, and in June 2014 we acquired substantially all of the
assets and certain liabilities of Medical Staffing Network Healthcare, LLC ("MSN"). These acquisitions allowed us to: (1) add new skillsets to our traditional
staffing offerings, (2) expand our local branch network, which has allowed us to expand our local market presence and our MSP business, (3) diversify our
customer base into the local ambulatory care and retail market, which provided more balance between our large volume based customers and our small local
customers, and (4) better position us to take additional market share at our MSP accounts. Subsequent to the MSN



acquisition, we centralized billing, payroll, credentialing, and other back office functions of the acquired businesses to realize cost savings. In addition, we
successfully migrated these operations onto a common information system platform with our local branch network for efficiency purposes. For more
information on this acquisition, see Note 3 - Acquisitions to the consolidated financial statements contained elsewhere in this report.

Our operations reflect a diversified revenue mix across healthcare customers. For the full year 2014, our revenue from continuing operations was $618
million. Our Nurse and Allied Staffing business segment was 74% of revenue and is comprised of travel nurse, travel allied and branch-based local nurse and
allied staffing. Our Physician Staffing business segment was 20% of our revenue and consists of physician staffing services with placements across multiple
specialties. Our Other Human Capital Management Services business segment was 6% of our revenue and consists of education and training, as well as
retained and contingent search services primarily for physicians and healthcare executives. On a company-wide basis, we have more than 6,000 active
contracts with healthcare clients, and we provide our staffing services and workforce solutions in all 50 states. In 2014, no client accounted for more than
10% of our revenue. For additional financial information concerning our business segments see Note 17 - Segment Information to the consolidated financial
statements, contained elsewhere in this report.

Competition

The principal competitive factors in attracting and retaining healthcare clients nationally in our nurse, allied, and physician staffing businesses include: timely
filling client needs, price, customer service, quality assurance and screening capabilities, understanding the client’s work environment, risk management
policies, insurance coverage, and general industry reputation. The principal competitive factors in attracting qualified healthcare professionals for temporary
employment include: a large national pool of desirable assignments, pay and benefits, speed of placements, customer service, quality of accommodations, and
overall industry reputation. We focus on retaining healthcare professionals by providing high-quality customer service, long-term benefits (to employees), and
occurrence-based medical malpractice insurance.

We believe we are one of the two largest full-service healthcare staffing providers with a national footprint, as the market is very fragmented with many
regional and local competitors. Similarly, we compete against many small to moderate size locum tenens physician staffing companies on a regional and local
basis and only a few nationally. We believe we are one of the top four providers of locum tenens physician staffing services in the United States, and one of
the top providers of retained and contingent physician and healthcare executive search services and education and training programs in the healthcare
marketplace. Some of our competitors in the healthcare staffing, workforce solutions, education and search businesses include: AMN Healthcare Services,
Inc., CHG Healthcare Services, Maxim Healthcare, Jackson Healthcare, Team Health, Parallon, MedAssets, PESI Healthcare and Witt Kiefer.

We believe we benefit competitively from the following:

Breadth of Services Offered and Workforce Solutions. We are able to offer an end-to-end suite of services and workforce solutions to our healthcare
clients for today's environment. We customize our workforce solutions to meet their unique needs, and we have expertise in and have developed best
practices from working with a large variety of healthcare clients throughout the country for many years.

Managed Service Provider Capabilities. By leveraging technology and our single-point of contact service model, we are
able to provide managed service programs to our clients. We provide strategic and operational advantages for our
healthcare clients by streamlining processes. We efficiently manage candidate hiring, simplify contracting and billing,
provide consistent quality credential verification and candidate testing, and drive improved usages through tracking and
trending reports.

Expansive National Footprint. We have more than 70 locations throughout the United States, which allow us to cross-sell opportunities to both travel and
per diem clients. In addition, the local branch network is available to provide per diem healthcare professionals to our MSP clients in their markets.

Brand Recognition. We go to market with four businesses using a variety of brands which are well-recognized
among leading hospitals and healthcare facilities and many healthcare professionals. These four businesses have
been operating for more than twenty years.

Strong and Diverse Client Relationships. We provide healthcare staffing and workforce solutions to a diverse client base throughout the United States
pursuant to more than 6,000 active contracts with hospitals and healthcare facilities, and other healthcare providers. As a result we have a diverse choice
of assignments for our healthcare professionals to choose from.



Recruiting and Placement of Healthcare Professionals. In 2014, more than 17,000 healthcare professionals applied with us through our differentiated
nursing and allied healthcare recruitment brands. We believe our access to such a large and diverse group of healthcare professionals makes us more
attractive to healthcare institutions and facilities seeking healthcare stafting and workforce solutions.

Certifications. The staffing businesses of our Cross Country Staffing and Medical Staffing Network brands are certified by The Joint Commission under
its Health Care Staffing Services Certification Program. In addition, Credent Verification and Licensing Services, a subsidiary of Medical Doctor
Associates, is certified by the National Committee of Quality Assurance -- one of only a handful of competitors to achieve such certification.

Experienced Management Team. On average, our management team has more than 17 years of staffing experience. Led by our CEO, a 30-year staffing
industry veteran who joined the Company in April 2013, the Company has undergone leadership changes and strengthened its leadership team by
bringing in experienced executives.

Demand and Supply Drivers
Demand Drivers

Growing U.S. Population and Increased Life Expectancy. One long-term macro driver of our business is demographic in nature -- a growing U.S.
population. The U.S. Census Bureau projects the American population will cross the 400 million mark in 2051, reaching 420.3 million in 2060. (U.S.
Census Bureau). In addition to this increased number of people who will seek healthcare, the life expectancy of the U.S. population has continued to
increase from 76.64 years in 2000 to 78.74 just twelve years later in 2012 due in large part to significant progress in the prevention, diagnosis, and
treatment of certain diseases.

Aging U.S. Population. Utilization of healthcare services is higher among older people, and the number of people age 65 and older is projected to
more than double from 43.1 million in 2012 to 92 million in 2060 -- while over this same period the number of people age 85 and older is projected
to more than triple from 5.9 million to 18.2 million or 4.3% of the total population (U.S. Census Bureau). As of 2012, baby boomers already made
up 24.3% of the total U.S. population, and by December 31, 2029, the last of the boomers will turn 65 (CNN Library, September 1, 2014). Based on
the most recent data from a 2010 report by the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, there were over 1 billion physician office, hospital
outpatient and emergency department visits in the United States in 2010. People aged 65 and over averaged at least four healthcare visits in 2012
(U.S. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention - Health, United States, 2013). The American Hospital Association (AHA) has also projected the
share of hospital admissions for the over-65 age group to rise from 38% in 2004 to 56% in 2030.

Healthcare Reform Increases Healthcare Utilization. We believe the Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act of 2010 (“ACA”) is beginning to
increase the demand for healthcare professionals in order to accommodate the significant number of new patients who are beginning to use these
health benefits. In January 2014, two major ACA coverage expansion programs started helping consumers pay for healthcare: one provides for
federal funding to states that expand Medicaid eligibility and the other established the public health exchange program that allows consumers to buy
“qualified health plan coverage" from private insurers. In May 2014, three of the largest publicly-traded hospital systems in the U.S. reported the
Medicaid expansion program is having a positive effect on hospital admissions in Medicaid expansion states, and admissions of uninsured patients
and patients who would be depending on charity fell in Medicaid expansion states and increased slightly in non-expansion states. Over time, more
people are expected to respond to the new coverage options, and enrollment is projected to increase sharply in 2015 and 2016. Starting in 2017,
between 24 million and 25 million people are expected to obtain coverage each year through exchanges (May 2013 Report by U.S. Congressional
Budget Office). The Center for Medicaid and Medicare Services estimates total health spending will be approximately 19.9% of the country’s gross
domestic product (GDP) by 2022 (December 2013, Center for Medicaid and Medicare Services). We believe the decrease in uninsured admissions
will ultimately provide relief to hospitals' profitability, which will allow them to raise staffing levels in order to meet the increased volume of
patients and reach the prescribed quality benchmarks.

Lower Unemployment. After declining in the first quarter of 2014, the U.S. GDP surged over the second and third quarters (December 2014 U.S.
Healthcare Staffing Growth Assessments, by Staffing Industry Analysts). In 2014, a total of 2.94 million jobs were added, with 311,000 healthcare
jobs accounting for almost 11% of the total jobs. December 2014 also marked the 11 consecutive month of job gains above 200,000 - the longest
stretch since 1994. In addition, in December 2014 the unemployment rate was 5.6% - the lowest rate since June 2008, which should



increase the number of people with employer-sponsored health insurance. (January 9, 2015, U.S. Bureau of Labor and Statistics Employment
Report). As a result, we expect the recovering economy to result in higher hospital admissions, thus requiring more of our healthcare staffing
services. The creation of additional jobs in the healthcare market should increase demand for our services as our temporary staff are typically hired to
replace registered nurses and other healthcare workers taking vacation and leaves of absence.

Rise in Use of Temporary Workforce. The penetration of temporary workers is at an all-time peak of 2.13%, up 11 basis points since December 31,
2013 and up 61 basis points since December 31, 2008 (U.S. Bureau of Labor Statistics). We believe contingent labor is being used more strategically,
as an increase in the use of temporary workers typically allows for cost-effective, time-sensitive solutions to specific business needs and allows
organizations to leverage the skills of temporary workers while maintaining a lean staff of traditional permanent employees. Within the healthcare
sector, we believe the impact of ACA and the improving economy have exacerbated hospitals’ needs for more flexibility to match revenue and
payroll. We believe hospitals will maintain a lower percentage of permanent staff over time and will supplement their staffing needs with temporary
healthcare professionals to allow them to flex their workforce up and down in order to address cost concerns, patient census needs and value-based
purchasing needs.

Ambulatory Care. In 2013, ambulatory services employed 45% of healthcare workers compared to 33% employed by hospitals, a 2% increase since
2012. Employment by ambulatory centers grew nearly 15% from 2008 to 2013, compared to hospital employment which grew only 4% during the
same period (U.S. Healthcare Staffing Growth Assessment, Staffing Industry Analyst, December 2014). We believe the ambulatory care market
provides a robust area of growth for healthcare staffing agencies with a strong local market presence, as well as agencies that are able to provide
Advanced Practitioners, such as Nurse Practitioners and Physicians Assistants, who frequently provide oversight in ambulatory settings.

Electronic Medical Records Implementations. Many hospitals and physician groups continue to undergo EMR implementations. We believe the
demand for our staffing services will continue to be positively impacted in the short term from new deadlines adopted by CMS regarding EMR
implementations, because hospitals often use temporary staff to fill in for permanent staff being trained on new technologies. Stage 2 compliance for
EMR implementations has been extended through the end of 2016 for “meaningful use” for Medicare and Medicaid EMR Incentive Programs, and
Stage 3 has been extended to the beginning of 2017 for those providers that have completed at least two years in Stage 2 (December 2013, Center for
Medicaid and Medicare Services).

Nursing Shortage. Assuming registered nurses continue to train at current levels (accounting for both new entrants and attrition), the national RN
supply is expected to grow from 2,897,000 full-time equivalents (FTEs) in 2012 to 3,849,000 FTEs in 2025. The nationwide demand for registered
nurses, however, is projected to grow by only 21% (U. S. Department of Health and Human Services, December 2014). However, projections at the
national level do not take into account an imbalance of RNs at the state level, where many states are projected to experience a smaller growth in RN
supply relative to their state-specific demand resulting in a shortage of RNs by 2025 (U. S. Department of Health and Human Services, December
2014). We believe the following factors will contribute to new growth in demand for nurses: the changing landscape of the healthcare industry with
emerging care delivery models and a focus on managing health status and preventing acute health issues (e.g., nurses taking on new and/or expanded
roles in preventive care and care coordination), an improving economy, the uncertain level of newly insured individuals into the healthcare market,
and the number of registered nurses that re-entered the workforce during the economic downturn that are now likely to leave their jobs once the
economy fully recovers.

Physician Shortage. The U.S. Department of Health and Human Services estimates that the physician supply will increase by only 7% in the next
10 years, however, demand for physicians is projected to grow 29.7% between 2008 and 2025, from 706,500 to 916,000, according to the
Association of American Medical Colleges (AAMC) Center for Workforce Studies (June 2010). This demand is largely due to the projected aging of
the population, the passage of ACA, and the lower number of expected graduates from medical school. The U.S. is expected to face a shortage of
more than 90,000 primary care, surgical and medical specialty physicians by 2020 - a number that will grow to more than 130,000 by 2025,
according to analysis by the AAMC (June 2010). The AAMC expects nearly one-third of all physicians will retire in the next decade. And, while the
number of applicants to U.S. medical schools is increasing, it will not keep pace with expected future demand.

Physicians Seeking Full-Time Employment. Hospitals are seeking to gain market share by increasing their referral base and capturing admissions
while physician practices are facing a combination of factors that include: stagnant or declining reimbursement rates, increased regulatory burden,
rising costs, greater risk associated with operating a



private practice, and an increased desire for a better work-life balance. Becoming hospital staff provides a physician with financial certainty and the
ability to focus more on practicing medicine. Over the long term, we believe this shift in employment will increase demand for locum tenens
physicians, because hospitals will need to fill open positions when these staff physicians take vacation time, leaves of absence, and attend continuing
education seminars. Generally speaking, employed physicians are expected to offer fewer hours of service than their self-employed counterparts,
which may further exacerbate the shortage of physicians. In addition, we believe this shift in employment will also create more demand for our
physician search business as hospitals seek to fill more permanent positions.

Supply Drivers

Networking. We rely heavily on word-of-mouth referrals for our healthcare professionals. Historically, more than half of our field employees have
been referred to us by other healthcare professionals. Our most effective “sales force” is our network of healthcare professionals who have taken
temporary or permanent assignments with us or who are currently working for us. Online social and professional networks have made it easier for us
to connect with healthcare professionals and stay connected with them, thus enhancing our recruitment efforts.

Traditional Reasons. Nurses, allied professionals and locum tenens physicians work on temporary assignments to experience different geographic
regions of the United States without moving permanently, work flexible schedules, gain professional development by working at prestigious
healthcare facilities, earn top money and bonuses, travel with friends and family while enjoying quality accommodations, experience various clinical
settings, look for a permanent position, and avoid workplace politics often associated with permanent staff positions.

Economic Growth. Many RNs who entered the workforce during the economic downturn are likely to leave their jobs once the economy fully
recovers (New England Journal of Medicine, April 2012). In connection with a statement by the Tri-Council of Nursing (July 2010), Dr. Peter
Buerhaus, Associate Dean of Vanderbilt University’s School of Nursing, stated that once the jobs recovery begins and RNs’ spouses rejoin the labor
market, many currently employed RNs could leave the workforce and their exit could be swift and deep. This includes many of the more than
100,000 RN over the age of 50 that re-entered the workforce during 2007 and 2008, who are a part of the nearly 900,000 working RNs over the age
of 50, of which Buerhaus expects large numbers of them to retire in the years ahead - independent of the pace and intensity of a jobs recovery. As
these RN leave permanent positions and transition to retirement, many may seek temporary or flexible assignments with travel or branch-based
local staffing agencies to supplement their retirement income. In addition, we believe as the volume of orders for temporary positions increase and as
wages increase, many staff nurses will have confidence to enter the travel nurse market and improve the supply.

Portability of Healthcare. We believe that employees have historically remained employed by their employers, in part for healthcare coverage. The
portability of healthcare insurance provided by the ACA will provide more flexibility to employees, including healthcare professionals, which may
result in a less committed relationship between employees and their employers. This should increase the supply of healthcare professionals willing to
leave their permanent employment with hospitals and seeking assignments with staffing agencies.

Increase in Number of Younger RN Graduates. In 2011, Dr. Buerhaus noted a 62% increase in the number of 23-26 year olds who entered the RN
workforce between 2002 and 2009 (Health Affairs, December 5, 2011). This reflects an estimated 86% increase in the annual number of RN-BSN
graduates, and a 67-percent increase in graduate degree awards, over just the past four years. (U.S. Nursing Workforce: Trends in Supply and
Education, U.S. Department of Health and Human Services, April 2013). We believe the increased number of RNs over 56 years old also represents
older RNs who have delayed retirement or who returned to the workforce during the last recession. The primary supply of contract nurses are
typically from the younger population, so this influx of younger RNs in the workforce should increase the supply of contract nurses for healthcare
staffing companies.

Nurse Licensure Compact Promoting Mobility for RNs. Currently, 24 states have implemented the Nurse Licensure Compact. The National
Council of State Boards of Nursing created this mutual recognition plan to allow RNs and licensed practical nurses who reside in those 24 states to
practice under the same license in states that have adopted this mutual recognition model. It eliminates the time and expense of obtaining a license in
a new state and promotes a more streamlined and flexible licensure process, thereby enhancing the mobility of the nurse labor force.

Temporary Physician Assignment. Locum tenens assignments offer physicians the ability to focus on practicing medicine and avoid the stress of
running their own practices, the ability to avoid paying the high costs of malpractice insurance, the opportunity to pick up extra shifts and weekends
and work during vacation time from full-time staff jobs in order to earn extra money and repay student loans, and to maintain their autonomy while
practicing medicine.



The supply of physicians available for our physician staffing services is variable and is influenced by several factors: the desire of physicians to work
temporary assignments, the desire of older physicians to work fewer hours, work-lifestyle balance among younger physicians, and the trend toward
more female physicians in the workforce who traditionally work fewer hours than their male counterparts.

Physicians Seeking Stability as Full-Time Staff. Physicians are increasingly becoming employees of hospitals or health systems due to business
pressures and costs of operating private practices. Physician practices are facing a combination of factors that include: stagnant or declining
reimbursement rates, increased regulatory burden, rising costs, greater risk associated with operating a private practice, and an increased desire for a
better work-life balance. We believe physicians have been seeking employment with hospitals at higher rates in the past few years due to: the
difficulty of transitioning private practices to EMR, traversing the maze of insurance company requirements, financial strains on private practices
from repeated threatened pay cuts based on Medicare’s sustainable growth rate formulas, and the uncertain future of healthcare associated with the
ACA. Becoming hospital staff provides financial certainty and the ability to focus more on practicing medicine. We believe this shift in employment
will increase supply for our physician search business as physicians look for permanent employment with hospitals or health systems.

Retiring Physicians. The AAMC projects that the number of physicians will only increase 12.3% reflecting expectations that nearly one-third of all
physicians will retire in the next decade and enrollments in medical schools will not be enough to meet demand just as more people will need health
care. As these physicians leave permanent positions and transition to retirement, we believe many may seek temporary or flexible assignments to
supplement their retirement income and maintain their skills which will increase the supply of physicians for locum tenens assignments.

Our Business Strategy
Our long-term business strategy is to expand our market share and profitability by executing the following four (4) key elements:

Strengthening and expanding current and new client relationships with hospitals and healthcare facilities by delivering innovative workforce solutions.
We deliver flexible workforce solutions customized to meet the unique needs of each client. Our full suite of service offerings include: MSP services,
EMR transition staffing, IRP consulting and development, RPO services, payrolling optimal workforce solutions, and predictive analytics. Each of our
businesses enjoy strong customer relationships that may serve as a platform to sell our workforce solutions. As a result, we continue to invest in sales and
marketing to increase market share through cross-collaboration of our businesses.

Using our expansive branch network to improve our fill rate at current MSP accounts and expand our MSP offerings in the ambulatory care market. We
believe our large national footprint will allow us to (i) increase our market share at our current MSPs by improving our fill rate of per diem, local and
allied healthcare staffing professionals and (ii) sell our MSP services to clients of our branch-based network.

Growing our network of healthcare professionals by investing in technology initiatives and delivering quality customer service. Recognizing that people
communicate differently and have individual communication preferences, we are investing in technology initiatives to enhance the efficiency and
effectiveness of our interactions with our hospital customers and healthcare professionals. We continue to invest in mobile and online technologies to
increase our ability to attract and retain healthcare professionals. We believe providing communication options for our customers and healthcare
professionals will strengthen our relationships with them and further enhance our delivery of high quality customer service.

Making strategic and disciplined acquisitions in high growth, high margin businesses to strengthen and broaden our market presence. We believe the
best acquisitions follow a structured and disciplined approach with clear strategic objectives, detailed implementation plans and a focus on creating and
capturing value for our shareholders. Our management team has broad and varied experience in multiple types of transactions.



Business Overview
Services Provided
Nurse and Allied Staffing Segment

Our Nurse and Allied Staffing segment provides traditional staffing, including temporary and permanent placement of travel nurses and allied
professionals, and branch-based local nurses and allied staffing through our Cross Country Staffing™ brand. We provide flexible workforce solutions to
the healthcare market through diversified offerings designed to meet the special needs of each client, including: MSP services, EMR implementation and
transition staffing, IRP consulting and development, RPO services, optimal workforce solutions, payrolling, and predictive modeling. Our clients include:
public and private acute care hospitals, government facilities, schools, outpatient clinics, ambulatory care facilities, physician practice groups, retailers,
and many other healthcare providers. The Joint Commission has certified our Nurse and Allied Staffing businesses under its Health Care Staffing
Services Certification Program. Our Nurse and Allied Staffing revenue and operating income is set forth in Note 17 - Segment Information to the
consolidated financial statements.

The majority of our revenue is generated from staffing RNs on long-term contract assignments (typically 13-weeks in length) at hospitals and health
systems using various brands. While the typical lead-time to staff a travel healthcare professional is four to five weeks, we also have candidates who are
pre-qualified and ready to begin assignments within one to two weeks at a hospital client that has an urgent need. Additionally, we offer a short-term
staffing solution of RNs, licensed practical nurses, and certified nurse assistants on per diem and short-term assignments through our national network of
local branch offices. We also provide travel allied professionals on long-term contract assignments to hospitals, schools and skilled nursing facilities
under the Cross Country Staffing® brand, and we provide more than 100 specialties of allied professionals on local per diem and short-term assignments
in a variety of clinical settings.

We provide physicians in many specialties, certified registered nurse anesthetists (CRNAs), nurse practitioners (NPs) and physician assistants (PAs)
under our Medical Doctor Associates™ (MDA) brand as independent contractors on temporary assignments throughout the United States at various
healthcare facilities, such as acute and non-acute care facilities, medical group practices, government facilities, and managed care organizations. We
recruit these professionals nationally and place them on assignments varying in length from several days up to one year. The Physician Staffing revenue
and operating income is set forth in Note 17 - Segment Information to the consolidated financial statements.

Other Human Capital Management Services

We provide education and training programs to the healthcare industry and we also provide retained and contingent search services for physicians and
healthcare executives. The revenue and operating income of our Other Human Capital Management Services Segment is set forth in “Item 8. Financial
Statements and Supplementary Data - Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements - Note 17.”

Our Cross Country Education® (CCE) subsidiary, headquartered in Brentwood, Tennessee, offers “in person” one-day seminars, conferences and e-
learning through various independent contractors who are experts in their field on topics pertaining to their profession. CCE is an approved provider of
continuing education with more than 30 professional healthcare associations, and also works with national and state boards and associations. CCE is
expanding its online presence and intends to continue to move toward a greater offering of blended learning opportunities for a professional that
combines live seminar offerings with audio and e-learning products.

Our Cejka Search® (Cejka) subsidiary is headquartered in Creve Coeur, Missouri. Cejka has been a leading physician, executive, advanced practice and
allied health retained and contingent search firm for more than twenty years, recruiting top healthcare talent for organizations nationwide through a team
of experienced professionals, advanced use of recruitment technology and commitment to service excellence. Serving clients nationwide, Cejka
completes hundreds of search assignments annually for organizations spanning the continuum of healthcare, including physician group practices,
hospitals and health systems, academic medical centers, accountable care organizations (ACOs), managed care and other healthcare organizations.



Our Business Model

We have developed and will continue to focus our business model on growing market share and achieving greater profitability through higher efficiencies, all
while continuing to offer the highest possible quality services to our healthcare facilities and our healthcare workers and physicians.

Marketing and Recruiting Healthcare Professionals

We operate differentiated brands to recruit nurses and allied professionals. We believe our multi-brand recruiting model helps us reach a larger volume
and a more diverse group of candidates to fill open positions at our clients throughout the United States in various clinical settings and in many different
geographic areas. We believe nurses and allied professionals are attracted to us because we offer a wide range of diverse assignments in attractive
locations, competitive compensation and benefit packages, scheduling options, as well as a high level of customer service. Our benefits may include
professional liability insurance, 401(k) plan, health insurance, reimbursed travel, per diem allowances and housing. In 2014, more than 17,000 nurse and
allied healthcare professionals applied with us through our recruitment brands. Each of our nurse and allied healthcare professionals is employed by us
under the terms of a written agreement, which typically provides for hourly wages and any other benefits they are entitled to receive during the
assignment period.

Recruiters are an essential element of our Nurse and Allied Staffing business, and are responsible for establishing and maintaining key relationships with
candidates for the duration of their assignments with us. Recruiters match the supply of qualified candidates in our databases with the demand for open
orders posted by our hospital clients. While we rely on word-of-mouth for referrals, we also market our brands on the Internet, including extensive
utilization of social media, which has become an increasingly important component of our recruitment efforts. We maintain a number of websites to
allow potential applicants to obtain information about our brands and assignment opportunities, as well as to apply online.

MDA recruits and contracts with physicians to provide medical services at MDA’s healthcare customers. Each physician is an independent contractor and
enters into an agreement with MDA to provide medical services at a particular healthcare facility or physician practice group based on terms and
conditions specified by that customer. Physicians are engaged to provide medical services for a healthcare customer ranging from a few days up to a
year. We believe our physicians are attracted to us because we offer a wide variety of assignments, competitive fees, occurrence-based medical
malpractice insurance and excellent customer service. MDA is one of the largest multi-specialty physician staffing companies that has procured an
occurrence-based professional liability policy that provides coverage in all 50 states from a national insurance company. We believe this is an important
competitive advantage for MDA in the recruitment of physicians as it covers incidents occurring during the policy period regardless of when they are
reported. MDA relies on word-of-mouth referrals, but also markets it brands on the Internet and through extensive social media.

Sales and Marketing to Hospitals and Healthcare Facilities

We market our Nurse and Allied Staffing services to our hospital and healthcare facility clients using our Cross Country Staffing® (CCS), Medical
Staffing Network™, and Allied Health Group brands. CCS typically contracts with our nurse and allied healthcare clients on behalf of itself and all of
our other brands. Our traditional staffing includes temporary and permanent placement of travel nurses and allied professionals, branch-based local
nurses and allied staffing, and physicians. We provide healthcare staffing opportunities to our healthcare professionals, and staffing and workforce
solutions to our healthcare clients in all 50 states. We provide flexible workforce solutions to the healthcare market through diversified offerings meeting
the special needs of each client. Our services include: MSP services, EMR transition staffing and upgrading, IRP consulting and development, RPO
services, optimal workforce solutions, and predictive modeling. Our clients include: public and private acute-care and non-acute care hospitals,
government facilities, schools, outpatient clinics, ambulatory care facilities, physician practice groups, retailers, and many other healthcare providers.
Orders for open positions and other services are entered into our various databases and are available to recruiters. Account managers, who develop
relationships with our clients to understand their specific clinical settings and culture, submit candidate profiles to clients, and confirm offers and
placements with the healthcare facility. In 2014, the market for Nurse and Allied Staffing was estimated to be approximately $7.6 billion, of which $1.9
billion was travel nursing, $2.8 billion was per diem staffing and $2.9 billion was allied healthcare staffing (U.S. Healthcare Staffing Growth Assessment,
Staffing Industry Analyst, December 2014).

MDA markets its physician staffing operations to hospitals and other healthcare facilities on a national basis. We believe we attract physicians based on
our wide variety of open positions in various specialties at locations throughout the United States, as well as our excellent long-standing reputation. Our
recruiters use our large database of physicians and their expertise in their given specialties to contact physicians to schedule short and long-term
engagements at healthcare



customers. MDA successfully operates a multi-site business model with employees at several locations. Historically, our locum tenens business operated
as a single desk model, with recruiters responsible for recruiting physicians, sourcing open positions, and collecting amounts due from customers. In late
2014, however, MDA transitioned to a split desk model with regional sales associates and a shared team of specialist recruiters.

CCE primarily recruits independent contractor speakers for its in-person continuing education and training seminars through its website and trade journal
advertisements. Seminar attendees are recruited through direct mail marking and CCE’s website. Based on responses to its marketing efforts, CCE
identifies venues for its in-person seminars throughout the United States. Once venues are identified, CCE’s meeting planners rent space to hold the
seminars and they schedule travel and hotels for the independent contractors to deliver the seminars. CCE receives revenue from attendees and pays the
independent contractors a fee for each seminar based on attendance.

Cejka markets its retained and contingent search services to healthcare clients primarily through industry professional organizations, direct marketing,
Cejka’s website and word of mouth. Cejka identifies candidates to fill retained and contingent search positions using social networking, client referrals,
and various other marketing technologies. Utilizing their expertise, Cejka’s consultants review the specific skillsets necessary for a particular position and
identify candidates who meet those particular needs. Cejka performs educational and reference checks, as well as other credentialing items specifically
requested by healthcare clients as part of its placement services.

We screen all of our candidates prior to placement through our credentialing departments. While screening requirements are typically negotiated with our
clients, each of our businesses has adopted its own minimum standard screening requirements. We continue to monitor our nursing and allied
professional employees after placement in an effort to ensure quality performance, to determine eligibility for future placements and to manage our
malpractice risk profile. Our credentialing processes are designed to ensure that our professionals have the requisite skillset and aptitude to meet the day-
to-day requirements and challenges they would typically encounter on assignments where they are placed. We ask each of our healthcare clients to
evaluate healthcare employees who work at their facility at the end of each assignment in order to continually assess client satisfaction and so that we
may assist our employees with further educational development, if and where necessary.

Client Billing

We bill our nurse and allied employees at an hourly rate and assume all employer costs, including payroll, withholding taxes, benefits, professional
liability insurance and other requirements, as well as any travel and housing arrangements, where applicable. The shared service center processes hours
worked by field employees in the time and attendance systems, which in turn generate the transactions billable to the clients.

Hours worked by independent contractor physicians are reported to our MDA office in Berkeley Lake, Georgia. We bill our clients for hours worked by
independent contractor physicians and for our recruitment fee. We negotiate payment for services with our clients based on market conditions and needs,
and the amount we earn is not fixed. We keep a recruitment fee and pass on an agreed amount to the independent contractor physician on behalf of our
clients.

Our educational seminars business collects the full amount of seminar fees from its customers and pays a negotiated percentage to its speakers, as well as
other costs, such as hotel, travel, meals, and other related costs. For our retained search business, Cejka typically bills its clients a candidate acquisition
fee and is reimbursed for certain marketing expenses.

Operations

Our nurse, allied and physician businesses are operated through a relatively centralized business model servicing all assignment needs of our healthcare
professional employees, physicians and client healthcare facilities through operation centers located in Boca Raton, Florida; Malden, Massachusetts;
Tampa, Florida; Newtown Square, Pennsylvania; and Berkeley Lake, Georgia. In addition to the key sales and recruitment activities, these centers also
perform support activities such as coordinating housing, payroll processing, benefits administration, billing and collections, travel reimbursement
processing, customer service and risk management. At December 31, 2014, we had more than 70 branch office locations.

CCE conducts its operations at its offices in Brentwood, Tennessee; and Cejka Search operates its business from its headquarters located in Creve Coeur,
Missouri. These businesses operate relatively independently, other than certain
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ancillary services that are provided from our Boca Raton, Florida headquarters, such as payroll for corporate employees, sales, legal, finance, and
information systems support. Payroll of corporate personnel is provided on a centralized basis to both of these businesses from our Malden,
Massachusetts office.

Information Systems

Our placement and support operations are enhanced by sophisticated information systems that facilitate interaction between our recruitment and support
activities. Our proprietary and hosted information systems enable us to manage virtually all aspects of our operations. We believe these systems can
accommodate significant future growth of our business. In addition, their scalable design allows further capacity to be added to the existing hardware
platform. Our systems provide support to our facility clients, field employees and independent contractors, and enable us to efficiently fulfill and renew job
assignments. Our systems also provide detailed information on the status and skillset of each candidate and independent contractor. In addition to our
domestic information systems team, certain software development and information technology support is provided by our employees based in Pune, India.

Our financial, management reporting and human resources systems are managed on leading enterprise resource planning software suites that provides
modules used to manage our accounts receivable, accounts payable, general ledger, billing and human resources. These systems are designed to accommodate
future growth in our business.

Risk Management, Insurance, and Benefits

We have developed a risk management program that requires prompt notification of incidents by clients, clinicians and independent contractors, educational
training to our employees, loss analysis, and prompt reporting procedures to reduce our risk exposure. Each of our temporary employees receives instructions
regarding the timely reporting of claims and this information is also available on our website. We continuously review facts and incidents associated with
professional liability and workers’ compensation claims in order to identify trends and reduce our risk of loss in the future where possible. In addition, upon
notification of an incident that may result in liability to us, we promptly gather all available documentation and review the actions of our employee and
independent contractor to determine if he or she should remain on an assignment and whether he or she is eligible for another assignment with us. We
consider assessments provided by our clients and we work with experts from our third party administrator on certain claims, as well as clinicians and experts
from our insurance carriers, to determine employment eligibility and potential exposure. Prior to approving an employee or independent contractor for an
assignment, we review records from applicable state professional associations, the national practitioners’ database and other such databases available to us.

We provide workers’ compensation insurance coverage, professional liability coverage and health care benefits for our eligible temporary professionals. We
record our estimate of the ultimate cost of, and reserves for workers compensation and professional liability benefits based on actuarial models prepared or
reviewed by an independent actuary using our loss history as well as industry statistics. In determining our reserves, we include reserves for estimated claims
incurred but not reported. We also estimate on a quarterly basis the health care claims that have occurred but have not been reported based on our historical
claim submission patterns. The ultimate cost of workers’ compensation, professional liability and health insurance claims will depend on actual amounts
incurred to settle those claims and may differ from the amounts reserved by us for those claims.

The Company maintains a number of insurance policies including general liability, automobile liability and employers’ liability; each with excess liability
coverage. We also maintain workers’ compensation, fidelity, fiduciary, directors and officers, and professional liability policies. These policies provide
coverage subject to their terms, conditions, limits of liability, and deductibles, for certain liabilities that may arise from our operations. We also own a captive
insurance company domiciled in the Cayman Islands that insures a portion of each medical malpractice claim brought against our physicians or MDA. There
can be no assurance that any of the above policies will be adequate for our needs, or that we will maintain all such policies in the future.

Regulations

We provide services directly to our clients on a contract basis and receive payment directly from them. However, many of our clients are reimbursed under the
federal Medicare program and state Medicaid programs for the services they provide. In recent years, federal and state governments have made significant
changes in these programs that have reduced reimbursement rates. In addition, insurance companies and managed care organizations seek to control costs by
requiring that healthcare providers, such as hospitals, discount their services in exchange for exclusive or preferred participation in their benefit plans. While
not affecting us directly, future federal and state legislation or evolving commercial reimbursement trends may further
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reduce or change conditions for our clients’ reimbursement. Such limitations on reimbursement could reduce our clients’ cash flows, hampering the pricing
we can charge clients and their ability to pay us. We continuously monitor changes in regulations and legislation for potential impacts on our business.

Our business is subject to regulation by numerous governmental authorities in the jurisdictions in which we operate. Complex federal and state laws and
regulations govern, among other things, the licensure of professionals, the payment of our employees (e.g., wage and hour laws, employment taxes and
income tax withholdings, etc.) and the operations of our business generally. We conduct business primarily in the U.S. and are subject to federal and state
laws and regulations applicable to our business, which may be amended from time to time. Future federal and state legislation or interpretations thereof may
require us to change our business practices. Compliance with all of these applicable rules and regulations require a significant amount of resources. We
endeavor to be in compliance with all such rules and regulations.

Employees

As of December 31, 2014, we had approximately 1,630 corporate employees. During 2014, we employed an average of 6,311 full-time equivalent field
employees in our Nurse and Allied Staffing pro forma for the MSN acquisition. During 2014, we utilized approximately 1,520 independent contractors in our
Physician Staffing business. We are not subject to a collective bargaining agreement with any of our employees. We consider our relationship with employees
to be good.

Additional Information

Financial reports and filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission (SEC), including this Annual Report on Form 10-K, are available free of charge
as soon as reasonably practicable after filing such material with, or furnishing it to, the SEC, on or through our corporate website at
www.crosscountryhealthcare.com. The information found on our website is not part of this Annual Report on Form 10-K or any other report we file with or
furnish to the SEC.

Item 1A. Risk Factors.

The following risk factors could materially and adversely affect our future operating results and could cause actual results to differ materially from those
predicted in the forward-looking statements we make about our business.

Decreases in demand by our clients may adversely affect the profitability of our business.

Among other things, changes in the economy, a decrease or stagnation in the general level of in-patient admissions or out-patient services at our clients’
facilities, uncertainty regarding federal healthcare law and the willingness of our hospital, healthcare facilities and physician group clients to develop their
own temporary staffing pools and increase the productivity of their permanent staff may, individually or in the aggregate, significantly affect demand for our
temporary healthcare staffing services and may hamper our ability to attract, develop and retain clients. When a hospital’s admissions increase, temporary
employees or other healthcare professionals are often added before full-time employees are hired. As admissions decrease, clients typically reduce their use of
temporary employees or other healthcare professionals before undertaking layoffs of their permanent employees. In addition, if hospitals continue to
consolidate in an effort to enhance their market positions, improve operational efficiency, and create organizations capable of managing population health,
demand for our services could decrease. Decreases in demand for our services may affect our ability to provide attractive assignments to our healthcare
professionals thereby reducing our profitability.

Our clients may terminate or not renew their contracts with us.

Our arrangements with hospitals, healthcare facilities and physician group clients are generally terminable upon 30 to 90 days’ notice. These arrangements
may also require us to, among other things, guarantee a percentage of open positions that we will fill. We may have to pay a penalty or a client may terminate
our contract if we are unable to meet those obligations, either of which could have a negative impact on our profitability. We may have fixed costs, including
housing costs, associated with terminated arrangements that we will be obligated to pay post-termination, thus negatively impacting our profitability. In
addition, the loss of one or more of our large clients could materially affect our profitability.

We may be unable to recruit enough healthcare professionals to meet our clients’ demands.

We rely significantly on our ability to attract, develop and retain healthcare professionals who possess the skills, experience and, as required, licensure
necessary to meet the specified requirements of our healthcare clients. We compete for healthcare
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staffing personnel with other temporary healthcare staffing companies, as well as actual and potential clients such as healthcare facilities and physician
groups, some of which seek to fill positions with either permanent or temporary employees. With a shortage of certain qualified nurses and physicians in
many areas of the United States, competition for these professionals remains intense. Our ability to recruit and retain healthcare professionals depends on our
ability to, among other things, offer assignments that are attractive to healthcare professionals and offer them competitive wages and benefits or payments, as
applicable. Our competitors might increase hourly wages or the value of benefits to induce healthcare professionals to take assignments with them. If we do
not raise wages or increase the value of benefits in response to such increases by our competitors, we could face difficulties attracting and retaining qualified
healthcare professionals. If we raise wages or increase benefits in response to our competitors’ increases and are unable to pass such cost increases on to our
clients, our margins could decline. At this time, we still do not have enough nurses, allied professionals and physicians to meet all of our clients’ demands for
these staffing services. This shortage of healthcare professionals generally and the competition for their services may limit our ability to increase the number
of healthcare professionals that we successfully recruit, decreasing our ability to grow our business.

If our healthcare facility clients increase the use of intermediaries it could impact our profitability.

We have seen an increase in the use of intermediaries by our clients. These intermediaries typically enter into contracts with our clients and then subcontract
with us and other agencies to provide staffing services, thus interfering to some extent in our relationship with our clients. Each of these intermediaries
charges an administrative fee. In instances where we do not win new MSP opportunities or where other vendors win this MSP business with our current
customers, the number of professionals we have on assignment at those clients could decrease. If we are unable to negotiate hourly rates with intermediaries
for the services we provide at these clients which are sufficient to cover administrative fees charged by those intermediaries, it could impact our profitability.
If those intermediaries become insolvent or fail to pay us for our services, it could impact our bad debt expense and thus our overall profitability. We also
provide comprehensive MSP solutions directly to certain of our clients. While such contracts typically improve our market share at these facilities, they could
result in less diversification of our customer base, increased liability and reduced margins.

Our costs of providing services may rise faster than we are able to adjust our bill rates and pay rates and, as a result, our margins could decline.

Costs of providing our services could change beyond our control more quickly than we are able to renegotiate bill rates in our more than 6,000 active
contracts and pay rates with our thousands of healthcare professionals. For example, at any given time, we have over a thousand apartments on lease
throughout the U.S. because we provide housing for certain of our healthcare professionals when they are on an assignment with us. The cost of renting
apartments and furniture for these healthcare professionals may increase faster than we are able to renegotiate our rates with our customers, in particular
government entities, and this may have a have a negative impact on our profitability. In addition, an increase in other incremental costs beyond our control,
such as insurance, unemployment rates, etc. could negatively affect our financial results. The costs related to obtaining and maintaining professional and
general liability insurance and health insurance for healthcare providers has generally been increasing. This could have an adverse impact on our financial
condition unless we are able to pass these costs through to our clients or renegotiate pay rates with our healthcare providers.

We may face difficulties integrating our acquisitions into our operations and our acquisitions may be unsuccessful, involve significant cash expenditures
or expose us to unforeseen liabilities.

We continually evaluate opportunities to acquire companies that would complement or enhance our business and at times have preliminary acquisition
discussions with some of these companies. These acquisitions involve numerous risks, including potential loss of key employees or clients of acquired
companies; difficulties integrating acquired personnel and distinct cultures into our business; difficulties integrating acquired companies into our operating,
financial planning and financial reporting systems; diversion of management attention from existing operations; and assumptions of liabilities and exposure to
unforeseen liabilities of acquired companies, including liabilities for their failure to comply with healthcare and tax regulations. These acquisitions may also
involve significant cash expenditures, debt incurrence and integration expenses that could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and results
of operations. Any acquisition may ultimately have a negative impact on our business and financial condition.

If applicable government regulations change, we may face increased costs that reduce our revenue and profitability.
The temporary healthcare staffing industry is regulated in many states. For example, in some states, firms such as our nurse staffing companies must be
registered to establish and advertise as a nurse-staffing agency or must qualify for an exemption from registration in those states. If we were to lose any

required state licenses, we could be required to cease operating in those
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states. The introduction of new regulatory provisions could also substantially raise the costs associated with hiring temporary employees. For example, some
states could impose sales taxes or increase sales tax rates on temporary healthcare staffing services. These increased costs may not be able to be passed on to
clients without a decrease in demand for temporary employees. In addition, if government regulations were implemented that limited the amount we could
charge for our services, our profitability could be adversely affected.

We are subject to uncertainties regarding healthcare reform.

The Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act was signed into law on March 23, 2010 and later amended on March 30, 2010 (ACA). It is a very complex
law that regulates a wide range of components in our healthcare system. The sweeping healthcare reforms outlined in the ACA are scheduled to take effect on
various dates through 2020. Additional guidance on the ACA is expected to be forthcoming from the IRS, the Treasury Department, the U.S. Department of
Health and Human Services, the U.S. Department of Labor and the states. The ACA also makes a number of changes to Medicare and Medicaid that could
adverse impact the reimbursement our customers receive under these programs. In addition, the ACA remains subject to legislative efforts to repeal or modity
the law and a number of court challenges to its constitutionality and interpretation. For example, the U.S. Supreme Court will hear King v. Burwell during the
2015 session, which challenges the extension of premium subsidies to health insurance policies purchased through federally-operated health insurance
exchanges. If decided in favor of the plaintiffs, who argue that subsidies must be limited to state-operated exchanges, it could be more difficult for uninsured
individuals in states that do not operate an exchange to purchase coverage and otherwise significantly affect implementation of the ACA, in a manner that
results in less than projected of newly insured individuals. Finally, the ACA reforms the way Americans buy health insurance and creates a number of issues
for employers that sponsor group health plans. As ACA is fully implemented, we could also incur increased costs for health benefits we provide to our
employees without the ability to increase our prices to customers to cover those costs.

We operate our business in a regulated industry and modifications, inaccurate interpretations or violations of any applicable statutory or regulatory
requirements may result in material costs or penalties to our Company as well as litigation and could reduce our revenue and earnings per share.

Our industry is subject to many complex federal, state, local and international laws and regulations related to, among other things, the licensure of
professionals, the payment of our field employees (e.g., wage and hour laws, employment taxes and income tax withholdings, etc.) and the operations of our
business generally (e.g., federal, state and local tax laws). If we do not comply with the laws and regulations that are applicable to our business (both domestic
and foreign), we could incur civil and/or criminal penalties as well as litigation or be subject to equitable remedies.

We are subject to litigation, which could result in substantial judgment or settlement costs; significant legal actions could subject us to substantial
uninsured liabilities.

We are party to various litigation claims and legal proceedings. We evaluate these litigation claims and legal proceedings to assess the likelihood of
unfavorable outcomes and to estimate, if possible, the amount of potential losses. Based on these assessments and estimates, if any, we establish reserves
and/or disclose the relevant litigation claims or legal proceedings, as appropriate. These assessments and estimates are based on the information available to
management at the time and involve a significant amount of management judgment. We may not have sufficient insurance to cover these risks. Actual
outcomes or losses may differ materially from those estimated by our current assessments which would impact our profitability. Adverse developments in
existing litigation claims or legal proceedings involving our Company or new claims could require us to establish or increase litigation reserves or enter into
unfavorable settlements or satisfy judgments for monetary damages for amounts in excess of current reserves, which could adversely affect our financial
results for future periods.

In recent years, healthcare providers have become subject to an increasing number of legal actions alleging malpractice, vicarious liability, violation of certain
consumer protection acts, negligent hiring, negligent credentialing, product liability or related legal theories. We may be subject to liability in such cases even
if the contribution to the alleged injury was minimal. Many of these actions involve large claims and significant defense costs. In addition, we may be subject
to claims related to torts or crimes committed by our corporate employees or healthcare professionals. In most instances, we are required to indemnify clients
against some or all of these risks. A failure of any of our corporate employees or healthcare professionals to observe our policies and guidelines intended to
reduce these risks, relevant client policies and guidelines or applicable federal, state or local laws, rules and regulations could result in negative publicity,
payment of fines or other damages.

To protect ourselves from the cost of these types of claims, we maintain professional malpractice liability insurance and general liability insurance coverage
in amounts and with deductibles that we believe are appropriate for our operations. We are partially self-insured for our workers compensation coverage,

health insurance coverage, and professional liability coverage. If we
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become subject to substantial uninsured workers compensation, medical coverage or medical malpractice liabilities, our financial results may be adversely
affected. In addition, our insurance coverage may not cover all claims against us or continue to be available to us at a reasonable cost. If we are unable to pay
our self-insured retention portion or maintain adequate insurance coverage, we may be exposed to substantial liabilities.

If provisions in our corporate documents and Delaware law delay or prevent a change in control of our Company, we may be unable to consummate a
transaction that our stockholders consider favorable.

Our certificate of incorporation and by-laws may discourage, delay or prevent a merger or acquisition involving us that our stockholders may consider
favorable. For example, our certificate of incorporation authorizes our Board of Directors to issue up to 10,000,000 shares of “blank check” preferred stock.
Without stockholder approval, the Board of Directors has the authority to attach special rights, including voting and dividend rights, to this preferred stock.
With these rights, preferred stockholders could make it more difficult for a third party to acquire us. Delaware law may also discourage, delay or prevent
someone from acquiring or merging with us.

Market disruptions may adversely affect our operating results and financial condition.

Economic conditions and volatility in the financial markets may have an adverse impact on the availability of credit to us and to our customers and businesses
generally. To the extent that disruption in the financial markets occurs, it has the potential to materially affect our and our customers’ ability to tap into debt
and/or equity markets to continue ongoing operations, have access to cash and/or pay debts as they come due. These events could negatively impact our
results of operations and financial conditions. Although we monitor our credit risks to specific clients that we believe may present credit concerns, default risk
or lack of access to liquidity may result from events or circumstances that are difficult to detect or foresee. Conditions in the credit markets and the economy
generally could adversely impact our business and limit or prohibit us from refinancing our credit agreements on terms favorable to us when they become
due.

Stock issuable under our stock option plans are presently in effect and sales of this stock could cause our stock price to decline.

We registered 4,398,001 shares of common stock for issuance under our 1999 stock option plans and 3,500,000 shares of common stock for issuance under
our 2007 Stock Incentive Plan. In 2014, we amended and restated that Plan to issue an additional 600,000 shares, all of which have been registered. Fully
vested options to purchase 25,500 shares of common stock were issued and outstanding as of February 28, 2015. In addition, 774,170 stock appreciation
rights were issued and outstanding as of February 28, 2015, 509,923 of which were vested. Shares of restricted stock outstanding as of February 28, 2015,
were 637,218. Common stock issued upon exercise of stock options, stock appreciation rights and restricted stock, under our benefit plans, is eligible for
resale in the public market without restriction. We cannot predict what effect, if any, market sales of shares held by any stockholder or the availability of these
shares for future sale will have on the market price of our common stock.

We are dependent on the proper functioning of our information systems.

We are dependent on the proper functioning of our information systems in operating our business. Critical information systems used in daily operations
identify and match staffing resources and client assignments and perform billing and accounts receivable functions. Additionally, we rely on our information
systems in managing our accounting and financial reporting. These systems are subject to certain risks, including technological obsolescence. With the MSN
acquisition, we migrated our existing branch-based business to the MSN platform. We are currently evaluating the technology platforms of our other
businesses. If the systems fail or are otherwise unable to function in a manner that properly support our business operations, or if these systems require
significant costs to repair, maintain or further develop, we could experience business interruptions or delays that could materially and adversely affect our
business and financial results.

In addition, our information systems are protected through a secure hosting facility and additional backup remote processing capabilities also exist in the
event our primary systems fail or are not accessible. However, the business is still vulnerable to fire, storm, flood, power loss, telecommunications failures,
physical or software break-ins and similar events which may prevent personnel from gaining access to systems necessary to perform their tasks in an
automated fashion. In the event that critical information systems fail or are otherwise unavailable, these functions would have to be accomplished manually,
which could impact our ability to identify business opportunities quickly, to, among other things, maintain billing and clinical records reliably, to bill for
services efficiently and to maintain our accounting and financial reporting accurately.
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We are increasingly dependent on third parties for the execution of certain critical functions.

We have outsourced certain critical applications or business processes to external providers including cloud-based services. We exercise care in the selection
and oversight of these providers. However, the failure or inability to perform on the part of one or more of these critical suppliers could cause significant
disruptions and increased costs to our business

Our collection, use and retention of personal information and personal health information create risks that may harm our business.

As part of our business model, we collect and retain personal information of our employees and contract professionals and their dependents, including,
without limitation, full names, social security numbers, addresses, birth dates, and payroll-related information. We use commercially available information
security technologies to protect such information in digital format and have security and business controls to limit access to such information. In addition, we
periodically perform penetration tests and respond to those findings. However, employees or third parties may be able to circumvent these measures and
acquire or misuse such information, resulting in breaches of privacy, and errors in the storage, use or transmission of such information may result in breaches
of privacy. Privacy breaches may require notification and other remedies, which can be costly, and which may have other serious adverse consequences for
our business, including regulatory penalties and fines, claims for breach of contract, claims for damages, adverse publicity, reduced demand for our services
by clients and/or healthcare professional candidates, harm to our reputation, and regulatory oversight by state or federal agencies. The possession and use of
personal information and data in conducting our business subjects us to legislative and regulatory burdens. We may be required to incur significant expenses
to comply with mandatory privacy and security standards and protocols imposed by law, regulation, industry standards or contractual obligations.

Cyber security risks and cyber incidents could adversely affect our business and disrupt operations.

Cyber incidents can result from deliberate attacks or unintentional events. These incidents can include, but are not limited to, gaining unauthorized access to
digital systems for purposes of misappropriating assets or sensitive information, corrupting data, or causing operational disruption. The result of these
incidents could include, but are not limited to, disrupted operations, misstated financial data, liability for stolen assets or information, increased cyber security
protection costs, litigation and reputational damage adversely affecting customer or investor confidence. While we have secured cyber insurance to
potentially cover these risks, there can be no assurance the insurance will be sufficient to cover any such liability.

Losses caused by natural disasters, such as hurricanes could cause us to suffer material financial losses.

Catastrophes can be caused by various events, including, but not limited to, hurricanes and other severe weather. The incidence and severity of catastrophes
are inherently unpredictable. The extent of losses from a catastrophe is a function of both the total amount of insured exposure and the severity of the event.
We do not maintain business interruption insurance for these events. We could suffer material financial losses as a result of such catastrophes.

Changes in the fair value of financial instruments may result in significant volatility in our reported results.

We have issued convertible notes with certain conversion features and provisions, which we identified as embedded derivatives. This requires us to “mark to
market” or record the derivatives at fair value as of the end of each reporting period on our balance sheet and to record the change in fair value over the period
as a non-cash adjustment to our current period results of operations in our income statement, subjecting our results of operations to greater and potentially
significant volatility.

We have a level of indebtedness which may have an adverse effect on our business or limit our ability to take advantage of business, strategic or financing
opportunities.

As indicated below, we have and will continue to have a significant amount of indebtedness relative to our equity. The following table sets forth our total
principal amount of debt and stockholders’ equity.

December 31, 2014

(amounts in thousands)

Total principal amount of debt $ 58,500

Total Cross Country Healthcare, Inc. stockholders' equity $ 129,878




Our level of indebtedness increases the possibility that we may be unable to generate cash sufficient to pay the principal, interest or other amounts due on our
indebtedness. Subject to certain restrictions under our existing indebtedness, we and our subsidiaries may also incur significant additional indebtedness in the
future, some of which may be secured debt. This may have the effect of increasing our total leverage. As a consequence of our indebtedness, (1) demands on
our cash resources may increase, (2) we are subject to restrictive covenants that further limit our financial and operating flexibility, and (3) we may choose to
institute self-imposed limits on our indebtedness based on certain considerations including market interest rates, our relative leverage and our strategic plans.
For example, as a result of our level of indebtedness and the uncertainties arising in the credit markets and the U.S. economy:

- we may be more vulnerable to general adverse economic and industry conditions;

- we may have to pay higher interest rates upon refinancing or on our variable rate indebtedness if interest rates rise, thereby
reducing our cash flows;

- we may find it more difficult to obtain additional financing to fund future working capital, capital expenditures and other general
corporate requirements that would be in our long-term
interests;

- we may be required to dedicate a substantial portion of our cash flow from operations to the
payment of principal and interest on our debt, reducing the available cash flow to fund other
investments;

- we may have limited flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, changes in our business or in the industry;

- we may have a competitive disadvantage relative to other companies in our industry that are
less leveraged; and

- we may be required to sell debt or equity securities or sell some of our core assets, possibly on
unfavorable terms, in order to meet all payment obligations.

These restrictions could have a material adverse effect on our business.

We could fail to generate sufficient cash to fund our liquidity needs and/or fail to satisfy the financial and other restrictive covenants to which we are
subject under our existing indebtedness.

We currently have sufficient liquidity to operate our business in the normal course. However, if we were to make an acquisition or enter into a similar type of
transaction, our liquidity needs may exceed our current capacity. In addition, our existing credit facilities currently contain financial covenants that require us:
(1) under certain conditions, to operate above a minimum fixed charge coverage ratio, and (2) to maintain a certain level of accounts receivables in order to
draw down funds on the loan. Deterioration in our operating results could result in our inability to comply with these covenants and would result in a default
under our credit facility. If an event of default exists, our lenders could call the indebtedness and we may be unable to renegotiate or secure other financing.

We are subject to business risks associated with international operations.

We have international operations in India where our Cross Country Infotech, Pvt Ltd. (Infotech) subsidiary is located. Infotech provides in-house information
systems development and support services as well as some back-office processing services. We have limited experience in supporting our services outside of
North America. Operations in certain markets are subject to risks inherent in international business activities, including: fluctuations in currency exchange
rates; changes in regulations, varying economic and political conditions; overlapping or differing tax structures; and regulations concerning compensation and
benefits, vacation and the termination of employment. Our inability to effectively manage our international operations could result in increased costs and
adversely affect our results of operations.
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Due to inherent limitations, there can be no assurance that our system of disclosure and internal controls and procedures will be successful in preventing
all errors and fraud, or in making all material information known in a timely manner to management.

Our management, including our Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) and Chief Financial Officer (“CFO”), does not expect that our disclosure controls and
internal controls will prevent all errors and all fraud. A control system, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable, not absolute,
assurance that the objectives of the control system are met. Because of the inherent limitations in all control systems, no evaluation of controls can provide
absolute assurance that all control issues and instances of fraud, if any, within our company have been detected. These inherent limitations include the
realities that judgments in decision-making can be faulty, and that breakdowns can occur because of a simple error or mistake. Additionally, controls can be
circumvented by the individual acts of some persons, by collusion of two or more people, or by management override of the control.

The design of any system of controls also is based in part upon certain assumptions about the likelihood of future events, and there can be no assurance that
any design will succeed in achieving its stated goals under all potential future conditions; over time, a control may become inadequate because of changes in
conditions, or the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. Because of the inherent limitations, misstatements due to error or
fraud may occur and not be detected.

Impairment in the value of our goodwill, trade names, or other intangible assets could negatively impact our net income and earnings per share.

We are required to test goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite lives (such as trade names) annually, to determine if impairment has occurred. Long-
lived assets and other identifiable intangible assets are also reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that amounts may
not be recoverable. If the testing performed indicates that impairment has occurred, we are required to record a non-cash impairment charge for the difference
between the carrying amount of the goodwill or other intangible assets and the implied fair value of the goodwill or the fair value of the indefinite-lived
intangible asset in the period the determination is made. The testing of goodwill and other intangible assets for impairment requires us to make significant
estimates about our future performance and cash flows, as well as other assumptions. These estimates can be affected by numerous factors, including changes
in economic, industry or market conditions, changes in business operations, changes in competition or potential changes in our stock price and market
capitalization. Changes in these factors, or changes in actual performance compared with estimates of our future performance, could affect the fair value of
goodwill, trade names, or other intangible assets, which may result in an impairment charge. We cannot accurately predict the amount and timing of any
impairment of assets. Should the value of goodwill, trade names, or other intangible assets become impaired, there could be an adverse effect on us. At
December 31, 2014, goodwill, trade names, and other identifiable intangible assets not subject to amortization represented 39.6% of our total assets. In 2014
and 2013, we recorded impairment charges of $10.0 million and $6.4 million, respectively.

We could suffer adverse tax and other financial consequences if taxing authorities do not agree with our tax positions, or we are unable to utilize our net
operating losses.

We are periodically subject to a number of tax examinations by taxing authorities in the states and countries where we do business. We also have significant
deferred tax assets related to our net operating losses (“NOLs”) in U.S. federal and state taxing jurisdictions. Generally, for U.S. federal and state tax
purposes, NOLs can be carried forward and used for up to twenty years, and all of our tax years will remain subject to examination until three years after our
NOLs are used or expire. We expect that we will continue to be subject to tax examinations in the future. In addition, U.S. federal, state and local, as well as
international, tax laws and regulations are extremely complex and subject to varying interpretations. We recognize tax benefits of uncertain tax positions
when we believe the positions are more likely than not of being sustained upon a challenge by the relevant tax authority. We believe our judgments in this
area are reasonable and correct, but there is no guarantee that we will be successful if challenged by a tax authority. If there are tax benefits, including from
our use of NOLs or other tax attributes, that are challenged successfully by a taxing authority, we may be required to pay additional taxes or we may seek to
enter into settlements with the taxing authorities, which could require significant payments or otherwise have a material adverse effect on our business, results
of operations and financial condition.

In addition, we may be limited in our ability to utilize our NOLs to offset future taxable income and thereby reduce our otherwise payable income taxes. We
have substantial NOLs. Our ability to utilize our NOLs is also dependent, in part, upon us having sufficient future earnings to utilize our NOLs before they
expire. If market conditions change materially and we determine that we will be unable to generate sufficient taxable income in the future to utilize our NOLs,
we could be required to record an additional valuation allowance. We review our uncertain tax position and the valuation allowance for our NOLs
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periodically and make adjustments from time to time, which can result in an increase or decrease to the net deferred tax asset related to our NOLs. Our NOLs
are also subject to review and potential disallowance upon audit by the taxing authorities of the jurisdictions where the NOLs were incurred, and future
changes in tax laws or interpretations of such tax laws could limit materially our ability to utilize our NOLs. If we are unable to use our NOLs or use of our
NOLs is limited, we may have to make significant payments or otherwise record charges or reduce our deferred tax assets, which could have a material
adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition.

If certain of our healthcare professionals are reclassified from independent contractors to employees our profitability could be materially adversely
impacted.

Federal or state taxing authorities could re-classify our locum tenens physicians and certified registered nurse anesthetists as employees, despite both the
general industry standard to treat them as independent contractors and many state laws prohibiting non-physician owned companies from employing
physicians (e.g., the “corporate practice of medicine”). If they were re-classified as employees, we would be subject to, among other things, employment and
payroll-related tax claims, as well as any applicable penalties and interest. Any such reclassification would have a material adverse impact on our business
model for that business segment and would negatively impact our profitability.

Our financial results could be adversely impacted by the loss of key management.

We believe the successful execution of our business strategy and our ability to build upon significant recent investments and acquisitions depends on the
continued employment of key members of our senior management team. If we were to lose any key personnel, we may not be able to find an appropriate
replacement on a timely basis and our results of operations could be negatively affected. Further, the loss of a significant number of employees or our inability
to hire a sufficient number of qualified employees could have a material adverse effect on our business.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments.
None.
Item 2. Properties.

We do not own any real property. Our principal leases as of March 1, 2015 are listed below.

Square
Location Function Feet Lease Expiration
Boca Raton, Florida Headquarters and Nurse and Allied Staffing 70,406 May 1, 2018
administration
Boca Raton, Florida Staffing administration 44,675 December 31, 2015
Berkeley Lake, Georgia Physician Staffing office 41,607 October 7, 2024
Creve Coeur, Missouri Retained search headquarters 27,051 June 14,2017
Nurse and Allied Staffing administration and general 22,767 June 30, 2017
Malden, Massachusetts office use
Pune, India In-house information systems and 20,700 November 30, 2015
development support
Brentwood, Tennessee Education and training headquarters 16,884 August 31, 2017
Newtown Square, Pennsylvania Nurse and Allied Staffing administration and general 16,304 December 31, 2018

office use

Item 3. Legal Proceedings.

The Company is subject to legal proceedings and claims that arise in the ordinary course of its business. In the opinion of management, the outcome of these
other matters will not have a significant effect on the Company’s consolidated financial position or results of operations.



PART 11

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures.

This item is not applicable to the Company.

Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities.

Our common stock currently trades under the symbol “CCRN” on the NASDAQ Global Select Market (NASDAQ). Our common stock commenced trading
on the NASDAQ National Market under the symbol “CCRN” on October 25, 2001. The following table sets forth, for the periods indicated, the high and low
sale prices per share of CCRN common stock. Such prices reflect inter-dealer prices, without retail mark-up, mark-down or commission and may not
represent actual transactions.

Sale Prices

Calendar Period High Low
2014

Quarter Ended March 31, 2014 $ 10.08 § 9.65
Quarter Ended June 30, 2014 $ 6.78 $ 6.46
Quarter Ended September 30, 2014 $ 781 $ 7.45
Quarter Ended December 31, 2014 $ 1047 § 9.96
2013

Quarter Ended March 31, 2013 $ 623 $ 4.86
Quarter Ended June 30, 2013 $ 560 $ 4.59
Quarter Ended September 30, 2013 $ 6.19 $ 5.14
Quarter Ended December 31, 2013 $ 10.53 § 5.55

The graph below compares the Company to the cumulative 5-year total return of holders of the Company's common stock with the cumulative total returns of
the NASDAQ Composite index and the Dow Jones U.S. Business Training & Employment Agencies index. The graph assumes that the value of the
investment in the company's common stock and in each of the indexes (including reinvestment of dividends) was $100 on 12/31/2009 and tracks it through
12/31/2014.



COMPARISON OF 5 YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN

Among Cross Country Healtheare, Inc., the NASDAQ Composite Index,
and the Dow Jones US Business Training & Employment Agencies Index
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The stock price performance included in this graph is not necessarily indicative of future stock price performance.

As of February 24, there were 129 stockholders of record of our common stock. In addition, there were 3,043 beneficial owners of our common stock held by
brokers or other institutions on behalf of stockholders.

‘We have never paid or declared cash dividends on our common stock. Covenants in our credit agreement limit our ability to repurchase our common stock
and declare and pay cash dividends on our common stock. On February 28, 2008, our Board of Directors authorized our most recent stock repurchase
program whereby we may purchase up to 1.5 million of our common shares, subject to the terms of our current credit agreement. The shares may be
repurchased from time-to-time in the open market and the repurchase program may be discontinued at any time at our discretion. At December 31, 2014, we
had 942,443 shares of common stock left remaining to repurchase under this authorization, subject to the limitations of our First Lien Loan Agreement as
defined in Note 8 - Long-Term Debt to our consolidated financial statements. Subject to certain conditions as described in the First Lien Loan Agreement, the
Company may repurchase up to an aggregate amount of $5,000,000 of its Equity Interests. See Note 8- Long-Term Debt, to our Consolidated Financial
Statements for further information. See also — Liguidity and Capital Resources in the Management s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations section of this report.

Item 6. Selected Financial Data.

The selected consolidated financial data as of December 31, 2014 and 2013 and for the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013, and 2012 are derived from the
audited consolidated financial statements of Cross Country Healthcare, Inc., included elsewhere in this Report. The selected consolidated financial data as of
December 31, 2012, 2011 and 2010 and for the years ended December 31, 2011 and 2010, are derived from the consolidated financial statements of Cross
Country Healthcare, Inc., that have been audited but not included in this Report.
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The following selected financial data should be read in conjunction with the consolidated financial statements and related notes of Cross Country Healthcare,
Inc., “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and other financial information included elsewhere in this
Report.

Year Ended December 31,
2014 2013 2012 2011 2010

(Amounts in thousands, except per share data)

Consolidated Statements of Operations Data:

Revenue from services $ 617,825 $ 438,311 $ 442,635 % 439377  $ 406,604
(Loss) income from continuing operations (31,534) (54,250) (20,745) 1,548 (5,257)
Net (loss) income attributable to common shareholders (31,783) (51,969) (42,221) 4,098 (2,775)

Per Share Data:

(Loss) income from continuing operations attributable to common

shareholders - Basic $ 1.02) $ (1.75) $ 0.67) $ 005 $ 0.17)
(Loss) income from continuing operations attributable to common
shareholders - Diluted $ (1.02) $ (1.75) $ 0.67) $ 005 $ 0.17)

Weighted Average Common Shares Outstanding:

Basic 31,190 31,009 30,843 31,146 31,060
Diluted 31,190 31,009 30,843 31,192 31,060
Other Operating Data:
Cash and cash equivalents 4,995 $ 8,055 § 10,463 10,648 10,957
Total assets 325,133 248,245 305,924 347,884 358,359
Total debt 74,074 8,576 33,859 42,046 53,513
Stockholders’ equity 130,332 160,667 209,123 249,300 246,009
Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities (4,072) 8,659 10,146 18,296 31,522
The following items impact the comparability and presentation of our consolidated data:
. Loss from continuing operations for the year ended December 31, 2014 includes amount attributable to noncontrolling interest of $0.2 million.
. On June 30, 2014, the Company acquired substantially all of the assets and certain liabilities of Medical Staffing Network Healthcare, LLC

(MSN) and on December 2, 2013, the Company acquired the operating assets of On Assignment, Inc.’s Allied Healthcare Staffing division. The
results of MSN and On Assignment's operations have been included in the Company's consolidated statements of operations since their respective
dates of acquisition. For the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, the Company recognized $8.0 million and $0.5 million of acquisition and
integration costs, respectively. See Note 3 - Acquisitions to our consolidated financial statements.

. The years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, include $0.8 million and $0.5 million, respectively, of restructuring costs primarily related to
senior management employee severance pay.

. The year ended December 31, 2013, includes a legal settlement charge of $0.8 million related to a wage and hour class action lawsuit in
California. See Note 12 - Commitments and Contingencies to our consolidated financial statements.

21



. The years ended December 31, 2014, 2013, 2012 and 2010, include non-cash impairment charges of approximately $10.0 million, $6.4 million,
$18.7 million and $10.8 million, respectively. See Note 5 — Goodwill, Trade Names, and Other Identifiable Intangible Assets to our consolidated
financial statements.

. The year ended December 31, 2014, includes the impact of a change in fair value of Convertible Notes Derivative liability of approximately
$16.7 million. Convertible Notes Derivative liability relates to the Convertible Notes issued in conjunction with the acquisition of MSN. See
Note 9 - Convertible Notes Derivative Liability to our consolidated financial statements.

. For purposes of calculating diluted earnings per common share in 2014, 2013, 2012 and 2010 potentially dilutive shares are excluded from the
calculation as their effect would have been anti-dilutive, due to the Company’s net loss from continuing operations in those years.

Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations.

The following discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction with Item 1. Business, Item 6.
Selected Financial Data, Item 1A. Risk Factors, Forward-Looking Statements and our Item 15. Consolidated Financial Statements and the accompanying
notes and other data, all of which appear elsewhere in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Overview

Cross Country Healthcare, Inc., is a national leader in providing leading-edge healthcare workforce solutions. Our solutions are geared towards assisting our
clients solve labor cost issues while maintaining high quality outcomes. With more than 30 years of experience, we are dedicated to placing highly qualified
nurses and physicians as well as allied health, advanced practice, clinical research, and case management professionals. We provide both retained and
contingent placement services for physicians, as well as retained search services for healthcare executives. We have more than 6,000 active contracts with a
broad range of clients, including acute care hospitals, physician practice groups, nursing facilities, rehabilitation and sports medicine clinics, government
facilities, as well as nonclinical settings such as homecare and schools. Through our national staffing teams and network of more than 70 branch office
locations, we are able to place clinicians for travel and per diem assignments, local short-term contracts and permanent positions. We are a market leader in
providing flexible workforce management solutions, which include managed services programs (MSP), workforce assessments, internal resource pool
consulting and development, electronic medical record (EMR) transition staffing and recruitment process outsourcing. In addition, we provide education and
training programs for healthcare professionals through seminars and e-learning tools.

We manage and segment our business based on the services we offer to our customers. As a result, in accordance with ASC 280, Segment Reporting, we
report three business segments — Nurse and Allied Staffing, Physician Staffing, and Other Human Capital Management Services, described below:

®  Nurse and Allied Staffing — Nurse and Allied Staffing represented approximately 74% of our total revenue. Nurse and Allied Staffing provides
traditional staffing, including temporary and permanent placement of travel nurses and allied professionals, and branch-based local nurses and allied
staffing. Our services include the placement of travel and per diem nurse, allied healthcare professionals, such as rehabilitation therapists, radiology
technicians, and respiratory therapists. Its clients include: public and private acute care and non-acute care hospitals, government facilities, schools,
outpatient clinics, ambulatory care facilities, retailers, and many other healthcare providers throughout the U.S. The Company aggregates various
brands that it markets to its customers in this business segment.

e  Physician Staffing — Physician Staffing represented approximately 20% of our total revenue. Physician Staffing provides physicians in many
specialties, certified registered nurse anesthetists (CRNAs), nurse practitioners (NPs) and physician assistants (PAs) under the Company's Medical
Doctor Associates (MDA) brand as independent contractors on temporary assignments throughout the U.S. at various healthcare facilities, such as
acute and non-acute care facilities, medical group practices, government facilities, and managed care organizations.

o  Other Human Capital Management Services — Other Human Capital Management Services represented approximately 6% of our total revenue.

Other Human Capital Management Services provides education and training programs to the healthcare industry and retained and contingent search
services for physicians and healthcare executives within the U.S.
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Executive Summary of Operations

Fiscal 2014 was a year of transformation for Cross Country Healthcare, Inc. After implementing significant changes in 2013, including the December 2013
acquisition of the operating assets of On Assignment, Inc.’s Allied Healthcare Staffing division (the acquired allied staffing business), the disposition of our
clinical trial services business early in 2013, and senior management changes in the second half or 2013 and into 2014, in June 2014 we completed the
acquisition of substantially all of the assets and certain liabilities of Medical Staffing Network (MSN), a provider of per diem, local, contract, travel, and
permanent hire staffing services. We believe the acquired businesses complement our current operations by: (1) adding new skillsets to our traditional staffing
offerings, (2) expanding our local branch network, which will allow us to expand our local market presence and our MSP business, (3) diversifying our
customer base into the local ambulatory care and retail market, which provides more balance between our large volume based customers and our small local
customers, and (4) better positioning us to take additional market share at our MSP accounts. We also expect to increase earnings growth by the recognition of
cost and revenue synergies with the acquired businesses.

We believe we are well positioned to execute on the elements of our strategy to grow revenue in our core businesses, expand margins and enhance the
operating leverage of our infrastructure. The fundamentals of our strategy are to ensure we offer a full range of services and specialties necessary to meet the
needs of our clients, to deliver creative and flexible workforce solutions, build a customer-centric strong sales capability with geographic access to all of our
key markets, provide world class client service with a focus on fulfillment and retention, and continuously improve our operational effectiveness.

For the year ended December 31, 2014, our revenue from continuing operations was $617.8 million, and we had a net loss from continuing operations of
$31.5 million, or a $1.02 loss per diluted share. Our net loss from continuing operations in the year ended December 31, 2014 was primarily due to a trade
name impairment charge recorded in the fourth quarter of 2014, a change in the fair value of an embedded derivative in our convertible notes, and acquisition
and integration costs. See Note 5 - Goodwill, Trade Names, and Other Identifiable Intangible Assets, Note 3 - Acquisitions, and Note 9 - Convertible Notes
Derivative Liability, to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

In June 2014, we financed the acquisition of MSN with $30.0 million in borrowings from a Second Lien Term Loan and $25.0 million from Convertible
Notes. We also amended our loan agreement with Bank of America. N.A. to increase the borrowing capacity under our senior secured asset-based revolving
credit facility from $65.0 million to $85.0 million. During the year ended December 31, 2014, we used a significant amount of cash from operations primarily
to fund acquisition and integration costs of the MSN acquisition and working capital related to the allied healthcare staffing acquisition. We ended the year
with total debt of $74.1 million and $5.0 million of cash, resulting in a ratio of debt, net of cash, to total capitalization of 33.8%.

Business Metrics
In general, we evaluate our financial condition and operating results by revenue, contribution income (see Segment Information), and consolidated net income

(loss). We also use measurement of our cash flow generation and operating and leverage ratios to help us assess our financial condition. In addition to the
metrics identified below, we monitor other volume and profitability indicators such as number of open orders, contract bookings, and price.

Business Segment Business Measurement

Nurse and Allied Staffing FTEs represent the average number of Nurse and Allied Staffing contract personnel on
a full-time equivalent basis.

Average revenue per FTE per day is calculated by dividing the Nurse and Allied
Staffing revenue by the number of days worked in the respective periods. Nurse and
Allied Staffing revenue also includes revenue from the permanent placement of nurses.

Physician Staffing Days filled is calculated by dividing the total hours filled during the period by 8 hours.

Revenue per day filled is calculated by dividing the actual revenue invoiced (excluding
permanent placement fees) by Physician Staffing days filled for the period presented.
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Other Financial Data

(unaudited)
Year Ended December 31,
2014 2013 Change Change

Nurse and Allied Staffing statistical data:

FTEs 4,751 2,378 2,373 99.8 %
Average Nurse and Allied Staffing revenue per FTE per day $ 264 $ 313 (49) (15.7)%
Physician Staffing statistical data:

Days filled 85,457 90,881 (5,424) (6.0)%
Revenue per day filled $ 1,436 $ 1,405 31 22 %

Results of Operations

The following table summarizes, for the periods indicated, selected consolidated statements of operations data expressed as a percentage of revenue. Our
historical results of operations are not necessarily indicative of future operating results.

Year Ended December 31,
2014 2013 2012
Revenue from services 100.0 % 100.0 % 100.0 %
Direct operating expenses 74.5 74.1 74.8
Selling, general and administrative expenses 22.8 242 24.7
Bad debt expense 0.2 0.2 0.2
Depreciation and amortization 1.2 1.4 1.6
Acquisition and integration costs 1.3 0.1 —
Restructuring costs 0.1 0.1 —
Legal settlement charge — 0.2 —
Impairment charges 1.6 1.5 4.2
Loss from operations (1.7) (1.8) (5.5)
Interest expense 0.7 0.2 0.6
Change in fair value of convertible note derivative liability 2.7 — —
Loss on early extinguishment and modification of debt — 0.3 —
Loss from continuing operations before income taxes (5.1) (2.3) (6.1)
Income (benefit) tax expense — 10.1 (1.4)
Loss from continuing operations (5.1) (12.4) 4.7
Income (Loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax — 0.5 (4.8)
Consolidated net loss 5.1 (11.9) 9.5)
Less: Net income attributable to noncontrolling interest in subsidiary — — —
Net loss attributable to common shareholders 6.DH)% (11.9% (9.5)%
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Segment Information

Information on operating segments and reconciliation to loss income from operations for the periods indicated are as follows:

Year Ended December 31,

2013 (a) 2012 (a)
(Amounts in thousands)
Revenue from services:
Nurse and Allied Staffing 457,034 $ 271,563 $ 272,136
Physician Staffing 123,306 128,781 129,162
Other Human Capital Management Services 37,485 37,967 41,337
617,825 § 438311 $ 442,635
Contribution income: (b)
Nurse and Allied Staffing (a) 36,326 $ 18,424  § 10,277
Physician Staffing 6,700 8,939 10,863
Other Human Capital Management Services 514 746 1,943
43,540 28,109 23,083
Unallocated corporate overhead (a) 27,770 21,844 21,701
Depreciation 3,866 3,886 4,905
Amortization 3,575 2,294 2,263
Acquisition and integration costs (c) 7,957 473 —
Restructuring costs 840 484 —
Legal settlement charge — 750 —
Impairment charges (c) 10,000 6,400 18,732
Loss from operations (10,468) $ (8,022) $ (24,518)
(a) In 2014, the Company reclassified the revenue and contribution income of certain higher level staffing professionals previously included with Nurse

and Allied Staffing to Physician Staffing. In addition, in 2014, we refined our methodology for allocating certain corporate overhead expenses to our
Nurse and Allied Staffing segment to more accurately reflect this segment’s profitability. Prior year information has been reclassified to conform to

current year presentation.

(b) We define contribution income as loss from operations before depreciation, amortization, acquisition and integration costs, restructuring costs, legal
settlement charges, impairment charges, and other corporate expenses not specifically identified to a reporting segment. Contribution income is a
measure used by management to assess operations and is provided in accordance with ASC 280, Segment Reporting.

() During 2014, we incurred acquisition and integration costs related to our MSN acquisition and the acquired allied healthcare staffing business. See
Note 3 - Acquisitions to the consolidated financial statements. In addition, during 2014, 2013, and 2012 we recognized impairment charges in related
to our Physician Staffing and Nurse and Allied segments. See Note 5 - Goodwill, Trade Names, and Other Identifiable Intangible Assets.

Comparison of Results for the Year Ended December 31, 2014 compared to the Year Ended December 31, 2013

Results of Recent Acquisitions

We are in the process of integrating the acquired businesses into our current operations, including the consolidation of branch and corporate offices and as a
result, it is impracticable to separate their results from the date of acquisition. We provide information about the unaudited pro forma combined financial
information as if the MSN and allied staffing business acquisitions had occurred as of January 1, 2013 to provide context to the underlying growth of the

businesses.



Revenue from services

Revenue from services increased $179.5 million, or 41.0%, to $617.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2014, as compared to $438.3 million for the
year ended December 31, 2013. The increase was entirely from Nurse and Allied Staffing and partially offset by lower revenue from Physician Staffing and
Other Human Capital Management Services.

Nurse and Allied Staffing

Revenue from Nurse and Allied Staffing business segment increased $185.5 million, or 68.3% to $457.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2014, from
$271.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2013. The year-over-year increase was a result of growth in the segment as well as the impact from the
acquired businesses. On a pro forma basis, including results of the acquired businesses in both periods, revenue increased 8.7%, primarily related to higher
demand for travel nurses.

The average number of Nurse and Allied Staffing FTEs on contract during the year ended December 31, 2014, nearly doubled from the year ended
December 31, 2013, primarily due to the acquired businesses along with increased demand. Average Nurse and Allied Staffing revenue per FTE decreased
approximately 15.7% in the year ended December 31, 2014 compared to the year ended December 31, 2013 primarily due to lower average bill rates in the
acquired businesses.

Physician Staffing

Revenue from Physician Staffing decreased $5.5 million, or 4.3% to $123.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2014, compared to $128.8 million for
the year ended December 31, 2013. The decrease in revenue reflects lower volume, partially offset by higher revenue per day filled and the impact of the
MSN acquisition.

Physician Staffing days filled decreased 6.0% to 85,457 in the year ended December 31, 2014, compared to 90,881 in the year ended December 31, 2013.
Revenue per day filled for the year ended December 31, 2014 was $1,436, a 2.2% increase from the year ended December 31, 2013, reflecting higher average
prices.

Other Human Capital Management Services

Revenue from Other Human Capital Management Services for the year ended December 31, 2014, decreased $0.5 million, or 1.3%, to $37.5 million from
$38.0 million in the year ended December 31, 2013, reflecting lower seminar attendance in our education and training business.

Direct operating expenses

Direct operating expenses are comprised primarily of field employee compensation and independent contractor expenses, housing expenses, travel expenses
and field insurance expenses. Direct operating expenses increased $135.2 million, or 41.6%, to $460.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2014, as
compared to $324.9 million for year ended December 31, 2013.

As a percentage of total revenue, direct operating expenses represented 74.5% of revenue for the year ended December 31, 2014, and 74.1% for the year
ended December 31, 2013. The increase was primarily due to higher professional liability expenses in Physician Staffing, partially offset by expansion of our
bill/pay spread in Nurse and Allied Staffing.

Selling, general and administrative expenses

Selling, general and administrative expenses increased $34.9 million, or 32.9%, to $141.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2014, as compared to
$106.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2013. As a percentage of total revenue, selling, general and administrative expenses were 22.8% and 24.2%
for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively.

Included in selling, general and administrative expenses is unallocated corporate overhead of $27.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2014, compared
to $21.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2013. Included in unallocated corporate overhead are $1.4 million and $2.1 million of share-based
compensation expenses for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively. The year-over-year decline in share-based compensation was related
to increased forfeitures. See Note 14 - Stockholders' Equity to the consolidated financial statements. As a percentage of consolidated revenue, unallocated
corporate overhead was 4.5% for the year ended December 31, 2014, and 5.0% for the year ended December 31, 2013.
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Contribution income
Nurse and Allied Staffing

Contribution income from Nurse and Allied Staffing for the year ended December 31, 2014, increased $17.9 million or 97.2%, to $36.3 million from $18.4
million in year ended December 31, 2013. As a percentage of segment revenue, contribution income was 7.9% for the year ended December 31, 2014, and

6.8% for the year ended December 31, 2013. The margin improvement was primarily due to expansion of our bill/pay spread, improved operating leverage,
and the impact of our acquisitions, partially offset by investments in selling expenses.

Physician Staffing

Contribution income from Physician Staffing for the year ended December 31, 2014, decreased $2.2 million or 25.0% to $6.7 million compared to $8.9
million in the year ended December 31, 2013. As a percentage of segment revenue, contribution income was 5.4% for the year ended December 31, 2014 and
6.9% for the year ended December 31, 2013. The margin decline was primarily due to higher professional liability expense and lower revenue, partly offset
by lower selling, general and administrative expenses.

Other Human Capital Management Services

Contribution income from Other Human Capital Management Services for the year ended December 31, 2014, decreased by $0.2 million, or 31.1%, to $0.5
million, from $0.7 million in the year ended December 31, 2013. Contribution income as a percentage of segment revenue was 1.4% for the year ended
December 31, 2014 and 2.0% for the year ended December 31, 2013. The decrease in contribution income margin was primarily due to lower average
seminar attendance and a higher rate of cancellations in our education and training business, partly offset by improved operating leverage in our retained
search business.

Depreciation and amortization expense

Depreciation and amortization expense in the year ended December 31, 2014, totaled $7.4 million as compared to $6.2 million for the year ended

December 31, 2013. As a percentage of revenue, depreciation and amortization expense was 1.2% for the year ended December 31, 2014 and 1.4% for the
year ended December 31, 2013.

Acquisition and integration costs

During the year ended December 31, 2014, and 2013, we incurred acquisition and integration costs of $8.0 million, and $0.5 million, respectively. Acquisition
and integration costs for the year ended December 31, 2014 were primarily related to the MSN acquisition and included costs such as professional and
transaction advisory fees, as well as $1.6 million for employee termination benefits and $1.1 million for exit costs associated with redundant facilities.
Acquisition and integration costs for the year ended December 31, 2013 were related to the integration of the acquired allied healthcare staffing business and
included transaction costs, transitional services as well as travel and training costs.

Restructuring costs

We recorded restructuring costs of $0.8 million and $0.5 million in the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively, primarily related to senior
management severance pay.

Legal settlement charge

During the year ended December 31, 2013, we accrued $0.8 million to settle a wage and hour class action lawsuit in California, for which the Court granted
final approval of the settlement in September 2014 and during the fourth quarter of 2014, we paid $0.8 million to the Plaintiff. See Note 12 - Commitments
and Contingencies to our consolidated financial statements.

Impairment charges

For year ended December 31, 2014, we recorded an impairment charge of $10.0 million relating trade names of Physician Staffing. In the fourth quarter of
2014, pursuant to the Intangibles - Goodwill and Other Topic of the FASB ASC, we
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conducted an assessment of our indefinite-lived intangible assets. Based upon the recent performance of Physician Staffing during the year, we reduced our
revenue forecast in the fourth quarter. We determined that based on our projected revenue stream, our estimated fair value was less than the carrying amount
of the trade names.

For year ended December 31, 2013, we recorded impairment charges of $6.4 million, representing impairment of trade names of $6.2 million related to
Physician Staffing and $0.2 million related to Nurse and Allied Staffing. In the fourth quarter of 2013, pursuant to the Intangibles - Goodwill and Other
Topic of the FASB ASC, we conducted an assessment of our trade names related to our physician staffing acquisition in 2008. Based upon the then recent
performance of Physician Staffing, we reduced our revenue forecast in the fourth quarter. We determined that based on our projected revenue stream, our
estimated fair value was less than the carrying amount of the trade names.

See Critical Accounting Principles and Estimates and Note 5 — Goodwill, Trade Names, and Other Identifiable Intangible Assets to our consolidated financial
statements.

Interest expense

Interest expense totaled $4.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2014 and $0.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2013. The increase in interest
expense was due to a combination of higher average borrowings and higher interest rates on our borrowings. The effective interest rate on our borrowings was
7.0% for the year ended December 31, 2014 compared to 2.4% in the year ended December 31, 2013.

Change in fair value of derivative

Change in fair value of derivative of $16.7 million in the year ended December 31, 2014 relates to the fair value of embedded features of our Convertible
Notes. The Convertible Notes include terms that are considered to be embedded derivatives, including conversion and redemption features that primarily
protect the investors' investment with us (see Note 9 - Convertible Notes Derivative Liability to our consolidated financial statements). Each reporting period
we are required to record the embedded derivative at fair value with the changes being recorded as a component of other expense (income) on our
consolidated statements of operations.

Loss on early extinguishment and modification of debt

Loss on early extinguishment and modification of debt was $1.4 million in the year ended December 31, 2013 and related to the write-off of unamortized debt
issuance costs related to our prior credit agreement. See Note 8 - Long-Term Debt to our consolidated financial statements.

Income tax expense

Income tax expense totaled $0.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2014, as compared to $44.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2013. Income
tax expense for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013 included a valuation allowance on the Company's deferred tax assets of $12.0 million and $48.6
million, respectively. See Note 13 - Income Taxes to our consolidated financial statements. Excluding the expense related to this valuation allowance, the
effective tax rate was 33.3% in the year ended December 31, 2014, compared to 43.3% in the year ended December 31, 2013. The lower effective tax rate in
the year ended December 31, 2014 was partly due to an increase in the nondeductible meals and incidentals primarily related to the acquisitions. The greater
effective tax rate in the year ended December 31, 2013 was partly due to a benefit from the reversal of taxes accrued on our foreign earnings and effect of
book tax differences on the tax benefit relating to our stock compensation plans.

Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of income taxes
Our clinical trial services business segment was reclassified as discontinued in our fourth quarter of 2012. Income from discontinued operations, net of tax of

$2.3 million included a $4.0 million gain ($1.7 million net of taxes) on the sale of our clinical trial services business in the year ended December 31, 2013.
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Comparison of Results for the Year Ended December 31, 2013 compared to the Year Ended December 31, 2012
Revenue from services

Revenue from services decreased $4.3 million, or 1.0%, to $438.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2013, as compared to $442.6 million for the year
ended December 31, 2012. The decrease was due to lower revenue in all three business segments.

Nurse and Allied Staffing

Revenue from Nurse and Allied Staffing decreased $0.6 million, or 0.2% to $271.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2013, from $272.1 million for
the year ended December 31, 2012. Excluding the results of the acquired allied healthcare staffing business, revenue in Nurse and Allied Staffing decreased
$4.0 million, primarily due to lower staffing volume, partially offset by higher average bill rates.

The average number of Nurse and Allied Staffing FTEs on contract during the year ended December 31, 2013, decreased 1.4% from the year ended
December 31, 2012. Average Nurse and Allied Staffing revenue per FTE increased approximately 1.6% in the year ended December 31, 2013 compared to
the year ended December 31, 2012.

Physician Staffing

Revenue from Physician Staffing decreased $0.4 million, or 0.3% to $128.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2013, compared to $129.2 million for
the year ended December 31, 2012. The decrease in revenue reflects lower volume, partially offset by higher bill rates. Physician Staffing days filled
decreased 1.7% to 90,881 in the year ended December 31, 2013, compared to 92,483 in the year ended December 31, 2012. Revenue per day filled for the
year ended December 31, 2013 was $1,405, a 1.5% increase from the year ended December 31, 2012, reflecting higher average prices.

Other Human Capital Management Services

Revenue from Other Human Capital Management Services for the year ended December 31, 2013, decreased $3.4 million, or 8.2%, to $38.0 million from
$41.3 million in the year ended December 31, 2012, reflecting less seminars and lower seminar attendance in our education and training business and lower
revenue from our retained search business.

Direct operating expenses

Direct operating expenses are comprised primarily of field employee compensation and independent contractor expenses, housing expenses, travel expenses
and field insurance expenses. Direct operating expenses decreased $6.2 million, or 1.9%, to $324.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2013, as
compared to $331.1 million for year ended December 31, 2012.

As a percentage of total revenue, direct operating expenses represented 74.1% of revenue for the year ended December 31, 2013, and 74.8% for the year
ended December 31, 2012. The decrease was primarily due to lower housing costs and field insurance expenses, partially offset by higher physician provider
fees and expenses as a percentage of revenue.

Selling, general and administrative expenses

Selling, general and administrative expenses decreased $3.3 million, or 3.0%, to $106.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2013, as compared to $109.4
million for the year ended December 31, 2012. As a percentage of total revenue, selling, general and administrative expenses were 24.2% and 24.7% for the
years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively. The decrease is primarily due to lower health insurance, direct mail expenses, rent expense and
compensation expense, partially offset by an increase in legal expense. Selling, general and administrative expenses for the year ended December 31, 2012
included $1.0 million of estimated state non-income taxes ($0.3 million related to our estimates for the 2005-2011 tax years as discussed in Note 12 -
Commitments and Contingencies to our consolidated financial statements) and $0.7 million expense for an immaterial correction in calculating deferred rent
which primarily accumulated from 2002 to 2010.

Included in selling, general and administrative expenses is unallocated corporate overhead of $22.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2013, compared

to $22.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2012. Included in unallocated corporate overhead are $2.1 million and $2.6 million of share-based
compensation expenses for the years ended December 31, 2013 and
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2012, respectively. As a percentage of consolidated revenue, unallocated corporate overhead was 5.1% for the year ended December 31, 2013, and 5.1% for
the year ended December 31, 2012.

Contribution income
Nurse and Allied Staffing

Contribution income from Nurse and Allied Staffing for the year ended December 31, 2013, increased $8.1 million or 79.3%, to $18.4 million from $10.3
million in year ended December 31, 2012. As a percentage of segment revenue, contribution income was 6.8% for the year ended December 31, 2013, and
3.8% for the year ended December 31, 2012. This increase was primarily due to a combination of lower insurance and housing costs for our field staff, and
lower selling, general and administrative expenses.

Physician Staffing

Contribution income from Physician Staffing for the year ended December 31, 2013, decreased $1.9 million or 17.7% to $8.9 million compared to $10.9
million in the year ended December 31, 2012. As a percentage of segment revenue, contribution income was 6.9% for the year ended December 31, 2013 and
8.4% for the year ended December 31, 2012. The margin decline was due to higher physician provider fees as a percentage of revenue and an increase in the
Company's estimated accrual for sales tax liabilities in the year ended December 31, 2013.

Other Human Capital Management Services

Contribution income from Other Human Capital Management Services for the year ended December 31, 2013, decreased by $1.2 million, or 61.6%, to $0.7
million, from $1.9 million in the year ended December 31, 2012. Contribution income as a percentage of segment revenue was 2.0% for the year ended
December 31, 2013 and 4.7% for the year ended December 31, 2012. This decrease in margin was primarily due to negative operating leverage in our
retained search business partially offset by lower direct mail costs as a percentage of revenue in our education and training business. Our retained search
business has the highest fixed cost structure of all of our businesses. Due to this high fixed cost structure, when revenue declines, the business suffers a
disproportionate decline in contribution margin. Conversely, when revenue increases, it should produce a disproportionately strong margin improvement.

Depreciation and amortization expense

Depreciation and amortization expense in the year ended December 31, 2013, totaled $6.2 million as compared to $7.2 million for the year ended
December 31, 2012. As a percentage of revenue, depreciation and amortization expense was 1.4% for the year ended December 31, 2013 and 1.6% for the
year ended December 31, 2012.

Acquisition and integration costs

Acquisition and Integration costs during the year ended December 31, 2013 consisted primarily of advisory services and administrative expenses related to
our acquisition of On Assignment's Allied Healthcare Staffing division. No similar expenses were recorded during the year ended December 31, 2012.

Restructuring costs

During the year ended December 31, 2013, we recorded restructuring charges of $0.5 million primarily related to senior management severance pay. No
similar charges were recorded during the year ended December 31, 2012.

Impairment charges

In the year ended December 31, 2013, impairment charges of $6.4 million represent impairment of trade names of $6.2 million related to Physician Staffing
and $0.2 million related to Nurse and Allied Staffing. In the fourth quarter of 2013, pursuant to the Intangibles - Goodwill and Other Topic of the FASB ASC,
we conducted an assessment of the trade names related to our physician staffing acquisition in 2008. Based upon the then recent performance of Physician
Staffing, we reduced our revenue forecast for this segment in the fourth quarter. We determined, that based on our projected revenue stream, our estimated fair
value was less than the carrying amount of the trade names.
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Impairment charges of $18.7 million in the year ended December 31, 2012 represented impairment of goodwill related to the Nurse and Allied Staffing due to
the results of an interim impairment analysis pursuant to the /ntangibles — Goodwill and Other Topic of the FASB ASC. We determined that the fair value of
Nurse and Allied Staffing was lower than the respective carrying value. The decrease in value was due to slower than expected booking momentum and
reduced contribution income in our second quarter of 2012 which lowered the anticipated growth trend used for goodwill impairment testing. Pursuant to the
second step of the interim impairment testing we were required to calculate an implied fair value of goodwill based on a hypothetical purchase price
allocation. Based on these results, we determined a pretax goodwill impairment charge of $18.7 million. See Critical Accounting Principles and Estimates and
Note 5 — Goodwill and Other Identifiable Intangible Assets to our consolidated financial statements.

Interest expense

Interest expense totaled $0.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2013 and $2.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2012. Lower interest expense
was due to lower average borrowings in the year ended December 31, 2013 due to the repayment of borrowings from proceeds of the sale of our clinical
research trial services business in February 2013. The effective interest rate on our borrowings was 2.4% and 2.3% for the years ended December 31, 2013
and 2012, respectively. Interest expense in the year ended December 31, 2012 included debt financing costs of $0.3 million that were not capitalized.

Loss on early extinguishment and modification of debt

Loss on early extinguishment and modification of debt was $1.4 million in the year ended December 31, 2013 and related to the write-off of unamortized debt
issuance costs related to our prior credit agreement. See Note 8 - Long-Term Debt, to our consolidated financial statements for more information. During the
year ended December 31, 2012, loss on early extinguishment or modification of debt was $0.1 million and related to a change in lenders' participations and
modification of the then existing July 2012 Credit Agreement.

Income tax expense (benefit)

Income tax expense totaled $44.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2013, as compared to an income tax benefit of $6.1 million for the year ended
December 31, 2012. The income tax expense in the year ended December 31, 2013 included a $48.6 million valuation allowance on the Company's deferred
tax assets. See Note 13 - Income Taxes to our consolidated financial statements. Excluding the expense related to this valuation allowance, the effective tax
rate was 43.3% in the year ended December 31, 2013, compared to 22.9% in the year ended December 31, 2012. The greater effective tax rate in the year
ended December 31, 2013 was partly due to a benefit from the reversal of taxes accrued on our foreign earnings and effect of book tax differences on the tax
benefit relating to our stock compensation plans. The lower effective tax rate in the year ended December 31, 2012 was partly due to an adjustment of $2.5
million to income tax expense in the fourth quarter of 2012 related to the reversal of the Company’s permanent reinvestment of foreign earnings position and
the effect of losses due to impairment charges incurred in 2012. Excluding the adjustment relating to the foreign earning position, the effective tax rate was
32.2% in the year ended December 31, 2012.

Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of income taxes

Our clinical trial services business segment was reclassified as discontinued in our fourth quarter of 2012. Income from discontinued operations, net of tax of
$2.3 million included a $4.0 million gain ($1.7 million net of taxes) on the sale of our clinical trial services business in the year ended December 31, 2013.

Loss from discontinued operations in the year ended December 31, 2012 included total impairment charges of $35.4 million ($24.2 million, net of income
taxes) related to goodwill and other intangible assets. Excluding the impairment charges, the clinical trial service business had income from operations before
income taxes of $4.5 million in the year ended December 31, 2012 compared to $4.6 million in the year ended December 31, 2011. See Note 4 - Goodwill,
Trade Names, and Other Identifiable Intangible Asset to our consolidated financial statements.

Transactions with Related Parties
We provide services to hospitals which are affiliated with certain Board of Director members. In addition, MSN provided staffing services to an entity that has

a noncontrolling interest in InteliStaf of Oklahoma, LLC, a joint venture between MSN (68% ownership) and an unrelated third party (with 32% ownership).
See Note 16 - Related Party Transactions to our consolidated financial statements.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

At December 31, 2014, we had $5.0 million in cash and cash equivalents, and $57.4 million of total debt, excluding the full year non-cash change in the fair
value of convertible notes derivative liability of $16.7 million. Working capital increased by $25.2 million to $64.2 million as of December 31, 2014,
compared to $39.0 million as of December 31, 2013, primarily due to the acquisitions as well as an increase in accounts receivable. Days’ sales outstanding
increased by 4 days to 55 days as of December 31, 2014, compared to 51 days at December 31, 2013, consistent with historical ranges.

Our operating cash flows constitute our primary source of liquidity, and historically, have been sufficient to fund our working capital, capital expenditures,
internal business expansion and debt service including our commitments as described in the Commitments table which follows. We believe that our capital
resources are sufficient to meet our working capital needs for the next twelve months. We expect to meet our future needs for working capital, capital
expenditures, internal business expansion and debt service from a combination of cash on hand, operating cash flows and funds available through the
revolving loan portion of our First Lien Loan Agreement. We believe that operating cash flows and cash on hand, along with amounts available under our
First Lien Loan Agreement, will be sufficient to meet these needs during the next twelve months.

Our foreign cash balance of $4.4 million is available to us, and if we repatriated the total amount, we would incur $0.3 million of withholding tax, which has
been accrued for as of December 31, 2014. We continue to evaluate acquisition opportunities that may require additional funding.

Debt
Senior Credit Facility

On January 9, 2013, we entered into a First Lien Loan, (the First Lien Loan Agreement or Senior Secured Asset-Based), by and among the Company and
certain of its subsidiaries, as borrowers, and Bank of America, N.A., as agent. The First Lien Loan Agreement was subsequently amended to allow for the
sale of our clinical trials services business in February 2013 and for administrative matters.

On June 30, 2014, we entered into a third amendment (the Amendment) to the First Lien Loan Agreement dated as of January 9, 2013 with Bank of America,
N.A., as agent, in order to, among other things, increase our borrowing capacity under the First Lien Loan Agreement and to consent to the consummation of
the MSN acquisition and the incurrence of the indebtedness contemplated pursuant to the Second Lien Term Loan Agreement and the Note Purchase
Agreement. The Amendment provided for, among other things, increasing the revolving credit facility under the First Lien Loan Agreement from $65.0
million to $85.0 million and increasing the letter of credit subline under the First Lien Loan Agreement from $20.0 million to $35.0 million. In addition, the
termination date of the revolving credit facility under the First Lien Loan Agreement was extended to June 30, 2017.

We used the increased availability under the letter of credit subline to collateralize certain insurance obligations related to the MSN acquisition. The revolving
credit facility and letter of credit subline will be used to provide ongoing working capital and for other general corporate purposes.

As of December 31, 2014, the interest rate spreads and fees under the First Lien Loan Agreement are based on LIBOR plus 1.50% or Base Rate plus 0.50%.
The LIBOR and Base Rate margins are subject to performance pricing adjustments, pursuant to a pricing matrix based on excess availability under the
revolving credit facility, and could increase by 200 basis points if an event of default exists. We are required to pay a monthly commitment fee on the average
daily unused portion of the revolving loan facility, which, as of December 31, 2014, was 0.375%.

The revolving credit facility can be used to provide ongoing working capital and for other general corporate purposes of the Company and its subsidiaries. As
of December 31, 2014, the Gross Availability, as defined in the First Lien Loan Agreement, was approximately $69.7 million based on the our November
accounts receivable balance. We had $26.5 million letters of credit outstanding and $3.5 million drawn under the revolving credit facility, leaving $39.7
million available as of December 31, 2014. The letters of credit relate to our workers’ compensation and professional liability insurance policies. See Note 8 -
Long-Term Debt to our consolidated financial statements.

Second Lien Term Loan
On June 30, 2014, we entered into a second lien loan and security agreement (the Second Lien Term Loan Agreement), by and among the Company, as

borrower, certain of its domestic subsidiaries, as guarantors, and BSP Agency, LLC, as agent.
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The Second Lien Term Loan Agreement provides for a five-year senior secured term loan facility in an aggregate principal amount of $30.0 million (the loans
thereunder, the Second Lien Term Loans). The proceeds from the Second Lien Term Loan Facility were used to pay a portion of the consideration for the
MSN acquisition and related fees and expenses.

Amounts borrowed under the Second Lien Term Loan Facility that are repaid or prepaid may not be re-borrowed. The Second Lien Term Loans bear interest
at a rate equal to adjusted LIBOR (defined as the 3-month London interbank offered rate for U.S. dollars, adjusted for customary Eurodollar reserve
requirements, if any, and subject to a floor of 1.00% plus 6.50%. The interest rate could increase by 200 basis points if an event of default exists under the
Second Lien Term Loan Agreement.

At our option we may elect to prepay the Second Lien Term Loans on or before June 30, 2015, subject to a prepayment premium in an amount equal to (i) the
amount of the principal amount of the Second Lien Term Loans being repaid, plus (ii) the accrued but unpaid interest on the principal amount so prepaid, if
any, to the date of the prepayment, plus (iii) any associated administrative amounts or charges owed to the lenders as a result of the redeployment of funds or
fees payable to terminate matching deposits, plus (iv) a “make whole” amount equal to the excess, if any, of (a) the present value at the prepayment date of (1)
103% of the aggregate principal amount of the Second Lien Term Loans then being prepaid, plus (2) all remaining scheduled interest payments due on the
principal amount of such Second Lien Term Loans being prepaid through June 30, 2015 (excluding accrued but unpaid interest to the date of such
prepayment), computed using a discount rate equal to the Treasury rate as of such prepayment date plus 50 basis points over (b) the outstanding principal
amount of such Second Lien Term Loans being prepaid. The Company may, at its option at any time after June 30, 2015, prepay the Second Lien Term Loans
in whole or in part at the redemption prices set forth therein, which range from 103% of the principal amount thereof for prepayments during the period July
1, 2015 through June 30, 2016, 102% of the principal amount thereof for prepayments during the period July 1, 2016 through June 30, 2017, and 100% of the
principal amount thereof for prepayments after such date.

Subject to certain exceptions, the Second Lien Term Loans are required to be prepaid with: (a) 50% of excess cash flow (as defined in the Second Lien Term
Loan Agreement) above $5.0 million for each fiscal year of the Company (commencing with the fiscal year ending December 31, 2015), provided that
voluntary prepayments of the Second Lien Term Loans made during such fiscal year will reduce the amount of excess cash flow prepayments required for
such fiscal year on a dollar-for-dollar basis; (b) 100% of the net cash proceeds of all asset sales or other dispositions of property by us, as set forth in the
agreement, in excess of a defined threshold and subject to our right to reinvest such proceeds within 12 months; (c) 100% of the net cash proceeds of
issuances of debt offerings by us (except the net cash proceeds of any permitted debt); and (d) 50% of the net cash proceeds of equity offerings of the
Company.

Private Placement of Convertible Notes

On June 30, 2014, we entered into a Convertible Note Purchase Agreement (the Note Purchase Agreement), with certain note holders (collectively, the
Noteholders). Pursuant to the Note Purchase Agreement, we sold to the Noteholders an aggregate of $25.0 million of convertible senior notes (the Convertible
Notes). The proceeds from the Note Purchase Agreement were used to pay a portion of the consideration paid in the MSN Acquisition and related fees and
expenses.

The Convertible Notes are convertible at the option of the holders thereof at any time into shares of our Common Stock, at an initial conversion price of $7.10
per share, or 3,521,126 shares of Common Stock. After three years, we have the right to force a conversion of the Convertible Notes if the volume-weighted
average price (VWAP) per share of its Common Stock exceeds 125% of the then conversion price for 20 days of a 30 day trading period. The conversion
price is subject to adjustment pursuant to customary weighted average anti-dilution provisions including adjustments for the following: Common Stock
dividends or distributions; issuance of any rights, warrants of options to acquire Common Stock; distributions of property; tender offer or exchange offer
payments; cash dividends; or certain issuances of Common Stock at less than the conversion price. Upon conversion of the Convertible Notes, we will
exchange, for the applicable conversion amount thereof a number of shares of Common Stock equal to the amount determined by dividing (i) such conversion
amount by (ii) the conversion price in effect at the time of conversion. No fractional shares of Common Stock will be issued upon conversion of the
Conversion Notes. In lieu of fractional shares, the Company shall pay cash in respect of each fractional share equal to such fractional amount multiplied by
the Thirty Day VWAP as of the closing of business on the Business Day immediately preceding the conversion date as well as any unpaid accrued interest.

The Convertible Notes bear interest at a rate of 8.00% per annum, payable in quarterly cash installments; provided, however, that, at our option, up to 4.00%
of the interest payable may be “paid-in-kind” through a quarterly addition of such “paid-in-kind” interest amount to the principal amount of the Convertible
Notes. The Convertible Notes will mature on June 30, 2020, unless earlier repurchased, redeemed or converted. Subject to certain exceptions, we are not
permitted to redeem the

33



Convertible Notes until June 30, 2017. If we redeem the Convertible Notes on or after June 30, 2017, we are required to pay a premium of 15% of the amount
of principal of the Convertible Notes redeemed.

If the Convertible Notes are redeemed prior to June 30, 2017, pursuant to a Prohibited Transaction, as defined by the agreement, we are required to pay a
premium equal to the greater of (i) the sum of (a) the amount of principal of the Convertible Notes redeemed, plus (b) the accrued but unpaid interests on the
principal amount so redeemed to the date of the redemption, plus (c) a “make whole” amount (described below) and (ii) the sum of (x) the average thirty day
volume-weighted average price per share of Common Stock multiplied by the number of shares of Common Stock that the redeemed Convertible Notes are
then convertible into and (y) the accrued but unpaid interest on the Convertible Notes. The “make whole” amount is equal to the excess, if any, of (1) the
present value at the date of redemption of (A) 115% of the principal amount of the Convertible Notes redeemed, plus (B) all remaining scheduled interest due
on the principal amount of the notes being redeemed through June 30, 2017 computed using a discount rate equal to the Treasury rate as of the date of
redemption plus 50 basis points over (2) the outstanding principal amount of the Convertible Notes then redeemed.

In conjunction with ASC 815, Accounting for Derivative Financial Instruments and Hedging Activities, we have bifurcated and accounted for an embedded
derivative related to specific features of these Convertible Notes. As required by ASC 815, the embedded derivative is required to be accounted for as a
derivative liability at fair value in our condensed consolidated financial statements. See Note 9 - Convertible Notes Derivative Liability to our consolidated
financial statements.

We have granted the Noteholders preemptive rights with respect to future equity issuances by us, subject to customary exceptions.

In connection with the placement of the Convertible Notes, on June 30, 2014, we entered into a registration rights agreement (the Registration Rights
Agreement) with the Noteholders, which sets forth the rights of the Noteholders to have the shares of Common Stock issuable upon conversion of the
Convertible Notes registered with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the SEC) for public resale under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.
Pursuant to the Registration Rights Agreement, we were required to file a registration statement with the SEC (the Initial Registration Statement) registering
the shares of Common Stock issuable upon conversion of the Convertible Notes. The Initial Registration Statement was filed with the SEC and became
effective in the fourth quarter of 2014. In addition, the agreement gives the Noteholders the ability to exercise certain piggyback registration rights in
connection with registered offerings by the Company.

Stock Repurchase Programs

At December 31, 2014, we had 942,443 shares of common stock left remaining to repurchase under our February 2008 authorization, subject to the
limitations of the Loan Agreement. Subject to certain conditions as described in its Loan Agreement entered into on January 9, 2013, the Company may
repurchase up to an aggregate amount of $5.0 million of its Equity Interests. See Note 8 - Long-Term Debt and Note 14 - Stockholders' Equity to our
consolidated financial statements.

Cash Flow Comparisons
Year Ended December 31, 2014 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2013

Net cash used in operating activities during the year ended December 31, 2014 was $4.1 million compared to net cash provided by operating activities of $8.7
million during the year ended December 31, 2013. During the year ended December 31, 2013, net cash provided by operating activities included $0.4 million
of cash provided by discontinued operations. The increased usage in cash in 2014 was primarily due to an increase in accounts receivable coupled with
acquisition and integration costs related to MSN and the allied health staffing business acquired in December of 2013. Cash flow from operations in the year
ended December 31, 2013 was also reduced by $2.5 million due to the acquisition in early December of On Assignment's Allied Healthcare Staffing division,
as the Company did not buy their receivables.

Investing activities used a net of $45.5 million in the year ended December 31, 2014 compared to cash provided by $15.2 million in the year ended
December 31, 2013. In 2014, we used $44.6 million, net of cash acquired for the MSN acquisition. This was partially offset by the release of $3.8 million to
us of an indemnity escrow related to the sale of our discontinued clinical trials staffing business. During the year ended December 31, 2013, we sold the
clinical trial service business for net proceeds of $45.7 million. In addition, we used $28.7 million during the year ended December 31, 2013 to acquire the
Allied Health business of On Assignment. We also used $4.6 million and $1.8 million, respectively for capital expenditures during the years ended
December 31, 2014 and 2013.
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Net cash provided by financing activities during the year ended December 31, 2014, was $46.5 million, compared to net cash used in financing activities of
$26.1 million during the year ended December 31, 2013. During the year ended December 31, 2014, excluding non-cash changes, we increased our debt by
$48.8 million primarily to fund the acquisition of MSN, including acquisition-related expenses, and to fund integration efforts related to our allied healthcare
staffing acquisition. See Note 8 - Long-Term Debt, and Note 3 - Acquisitions, to our consolidated financial statements. In addition, we used $1.1 million and
$0.5 million during the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively, for debt issuance costs related to the financing of the MSN acquisition in
2014 and refinancing in 2013. In addition, we used $0.2 million and $0.3 million to repurchase shares of common stock to cover withholding liabilities
related to the vesting of restricted stock in 2014 and 2013, respectively.

Year Ended December 31, 2013 Compared to Year Ended December 31, 2012

Net cash provided by operating activities during the year ended December 31, 2013 was $8.7 million compared to $10.1 million during the year ended
December 31, 2012. During the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012, net cash provided by operating activities included $0.4 million and $3.8 million,
respectively, of cash provided by discontinued operations. The decrease in cash flow from operations is primarily due to timing of payments and receipts in
the year ended December 31, 2013. Cash flow from operations in the year ended December 31, 2013 was reduced somewhat due to the acquisition in early
December of On Assignment's Allied Healthcare Staffing division, as the Company did not buy their receivables.

Investing activities provided a net of $15.2 million in the year ended December 31, 2013 compared to $0.2 million used in the year ended December 31, 2012.
During the year ended December 31, 2013, we sold the clinical trial service business for net proceeds of $45.7 million. In addition, we used $28.7 million
during the year ended December 31, 2013 to acquire the Allied Health business of On Assignment. We used $1.8 million and $2.2 million, respectively for
capital expenditures during the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012. In addition, other investing activities provided $2.7 million in year ended
December 31, 2012 related to the liquidation of our foreign long-term and short-term cash investments.

Net cash used in financing activities during the year ended December 31, 2013, was $26.1 million, compared to $10.6 million during the year ended
December 31, 2012. We repaid total debt, net of borrowings, in the amounts of $25.3 million and $8.7 million during the years ended December 31, 2013 and
2012, respectively. During the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012, we paid $0.5 million and $1.4 million, respectively, for debt issuance costs related
our refinancing. We used $0.3 million and $0.2 million to repurchase shares of common stock to cover withholding liabilities related to the vesting of
restricted stock in 2013 and 2012, respectively.

Commitments and Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We do not have any off-balance sheet arrangements.

The following table reflects our contractual obligations and other commitments as of December 31, 2014:

Commitments Total 2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 Thereafter

(Unaudited, amounts in thousands)
Senior Secured Asset Based Loan (a) $ 3,500 $ 3,500 $ — $ — — 3 — 3 —
Second Lien Term Loan 30,000 — — — — 30,000 —
Convertible Notes 25,000 — — — — — 25,000
Capital lease obligations 202 107 72 13 8 2 —
Operating lease obligations (b) 20,912 7,202 5,581 3,884 1,613 486 2,146

$ 79,614 § 10,809 § 5,653  § 3897 § 1,621 § 30488 § 27,146

(a) Under our Senior Secured Asset-Based Loan and Second Lien Term Loan, we are required to comply with certain financial covenants. Our
inability to comply with the required covenants or other provisions could result in default under our credit facility. In the event of any such
default and our inability to obtain a waiver of the default, all amounts outstanding under the credit facility could be declared immediately due and
payable.

(b) Represents future minimum lease payments associated with operating lease agreements with original terms of more than one year. See Note 12 -
Commitments and Contingencies to our consolidated financial statements.
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In addition to the above disclosed contractual obligations, we have accrued uncertain tax positions, pursuant to the Income Taxes Topic of the FASB ASC of
$3.8 million at December 31, 2014. Based on the uncertainties associated with the settlement of these items, we are unable to make reasonably reliable
estimates of the period of potential settlements, if any, with the taxing authorities.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

We have identified the following critical accounting policies that affect the more significant judgments and estimates used in the preparation of our
consolidated financial statements. The preparation of our consolidated financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States of America requires us to make estimates and judgments that affect our reported amounts of assets and liabilities, revenues and expenses, and
related disclosures of contingent assets and liabilities. We evaluate our estimates on an on-going basis, including those related to asset impairment, accruals
for self-insurance, allowance for doubtful accounts, taxes and other contingencies and litigation. We state our accounting policies in the notes to the audited
consolidated financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2014, contained herein. These estimates are based on information that is currently
available to us and on various assumptions that we believe to be reasonable under the circumstances. Actual results could vary from those estimates under
different assumptions or conditions.

We believe that the following critical accounting policies affect the more significant judgments and estimates used in the preparation of our consolidated
financial statements:

Goodwill, trade names, and other identifiable intangible assets

Our business acquisitions typically result in the recording of goodwill and other intangible assets, and the recorded values of those assets may become
impaired in the future. The determination of the value of such intangible assets requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect our
consolidated financial statements. For intangible assets purchased in a business combination, the estimated fair values of the assets received are used to
establish their recorded values. In accordance with the Intangibles — Goodwill and Other Topic of the FASB ASC and the Property, Plant and
Equipment/Impairment of Disposal of Long-Lived Assets Topic of the FASB ASC, we perform annual impairment analysis to assess the recoverability of the
goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets.

We assess the impairment of goodwill of our reporting units and indefinite-lived intangible assets annually, or more often if events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable. We may first assess qualitative factors to determine whether it is more likely than not
that the fair value of a reporting unit is less than its carrying amount. If, after assessing the totality of events and circumstances, we determine that it is more
likely than not that the fair value of the reporting unit is greater than its carrying amount, the quantitative impairment test is unnecessary. If the reporting unit
does not pass the qualitative assessment, then the reporting unit’s carrying value is compared to its fair value. The fair values of the reporting units are
estimated using market and discounted cash flow approaches. Goodwill is considered impaired if the carrying value of the reporting unit exceeds its fair
value. Application of the goodwill impairment test requires judgment, including the identification of reporting units, assignment of assets and liabilities to
reporting units, assignment of goodwill to reporting units, and determination of the fair value of each reporting unit. Valuation techniques consistent with the
market approach and income approach are used to measure the fair value of each reporting unit. Significant judgments are required to estimate the fair value
of reporting units including estimating future cash flows, and determining appropriate discount rates, growth rates, company control premium and other
assumptions. Changes in these estimates and assumptions could materially affect the determination of fair value for each reporting unit.

Second quarter 2012 goodwill interim impairment testing results

During the second quarter of 2012, our stock price continued to decline from December 31, 2011. In addition, slower than expected booking momentum and
reduced contribution income Nurse and Allied Staffing resulted in a downward revision to this segment’s forecast. Additionally, we were closely monitoring
the performance of the clinical trial services and physician staffing businesses due to a small margin between the carrying amount and fair value of those
respective reporting units as of the December 31, 2011 annual impairment testing and the small margin between the carrying amount and fair value of the
Nurse and Allied Staffing reporting unit as of the March 31, 2012 interim impairment testing. These factors warranted impairment testing in the second
quarter of 2012.

As a result of the June 30, 2012 interim impairment testing, we determined that the fair value of Nurse and Allied Staffing was lower than the respective

carrying value. The decrease in value was due to slower than expected booking momentum and reduced contribution income in the second quarter of 2012
which lowered the anticipated growth trend used for goodwill
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impairment testing. Pursuant to the second step of the interim impairment testing we were required to calculate an implied fair value of goodwill based on a
hypothetical purchase price allocation. Based on these results, we wrote-off the remaining goodwill which resulted in a pretax goodwill impairment charge of
$18.7 million as of June 30, 2012.

Third quarter 2012 goodwill interim impairment testing results

During the third quarter of 2012, we continued to experience a sustained decrease in stock price compared to December 31, 2011. We continued to monitor
the performance of the clinical trial services and physician staffing businesses due to the thin margin between the carrying amount and fair value as of the
December 31, 2011 annual impairment testing and subsequent interim impairment tests.

Upon completion of the third quarter 2012 interim impairment testing, we determined that the estimated fair value of our reporting units, with the exception
of clinical trial services, exceeded their respective carrying values. See Note 4 — Discontinued Operations to our consolidated financial statements.

Fourth quarters 2014, 2013 and 2012, annual goodwill impairment testing results
During the fourth quarters of 2014, 2013, and 2012, the Company determined that no goodwill impairment charges were warranted.

There can be no assurance that the estimates and assumptions made for purposes of the annual goodwill impairment test will prove to be accurate predictions
of the future. Although management believes the assumptions and estimates made are reasonable and appropriate, different assumptions and estimates could
materially impact the reported financial results.

In addition, the Property, Plant and Equipment/Impairment of Disposal of Long-Lived Assets Topic of the FASB ASC, requires us to test the recoverability of
long-lived assets, including identifiable intangible assets with definite lives, whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount
may not be recoverable. In testing for potential impairment, if the carrying value of the asset group exceeds the expected undiscounted cash flows, we must
then determine the amount by which the fair value of those assets exceeds the carrying value and determine the amount of impairment, if any.

Fourth quarter 2014 other indefinite lived intangibles

In the fourth quarter of 2014, in conjunction with our annual testing of indefinite-lived intangible assets not subject to amortization, we recorded a pretax non-
cash impairment charge of approximately $10.0 million related to Physician Staffing. We reduced our long-term revenue forecast in our fourth quarter for
these businesses and as a result, our calculation of estimated fair value was less than the carrying amount of the trade names, resulting in an impairment
charge. See Note 5 - Goodwill, Trade Names, and Other Identifiable Intangible Assets to our consolidated financial statements.

Fourth quarter 2013 other indefinite lived intangibles

In the fourth quarter of 2013, in conjunction with our annual testing of indefinite-lived intangible assets not subject to amortization, we recorded a pretax non-
cash impairment charge of approximately $6.4 million of which $6.2 million related to the Physician Staffing segment and $0.2 million related to the Nurse
and Allied Staffing segment. We reduced our long-term revenue forecast in our fourth quarter for these businesses and as a result, our calculation of estimated
fair value was less than the carrying amount of the trade names, resulting in an impairment charge.

As of December 31, 2014, other indefinite-lived intangible assets not subject to amortization on our consolidated balance sheets totaled $38.2 million.
Goodwill and other identifiable intangible assets related to discontinued operations

We used a consistent income approach and market approach to evaluate the potential impairment of goodwill related to the clinical trial services staffing
reporting unit. Discounted cash flows served as the primary basis for the income approach. Pricing multiples derived from publicly-traded guideline
companies that are comparable served as the basis for the market approach. Pursuant to the second step of our third quarter interim impairment testing, we
were required to calculate an implied fair value of goodwill based on a hypothetical purchase price allocation. As of the date of its third quarter filing, we had
not finalized its second step of impairment testing due to the limited time period from the first indication of potential impairment to the date of filing and the
complexities involved in estimating the fair value. We recorded a pretax goodwill impairment charge of approximately $22.1 million as of September 30,
2012. This impairment analysis was finalized in the fourth quarter
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and did not result in any adjustment. In addition, in the fourth quarter of 2012, in conjunction with our evaluation of our assets held for sale, an additional
impairment charge was recorded of approximately $11.9 million. The Company considered the sale price from the buyer as its best indication of fair value as
of December 31, 2012 (See Note 4 - Discontinued Operations).

Risk and uncertainties

The calculation of fair value used in these impairment assessments included a number of estimates and assumptions that required significant judgments,
including projections of future income and cash flows, the identification of appropriate market multiples and the choice of an appropriate discount rate. See
Note 10 - Fair Value. Changes in these assumptions could materially affect the determination of fair value for each reporting unit. Specifically, further
deterioration of demand for our services, further deterioration of labor market conditions, reduction of our stock price for an extended period, or other factors
as described in Item 1.A. Risk Factors, may affect our determination of fair value of each reporting unit. This evaluation can also be triggered by various
indicators of impairment which could cause the estimated discounted cash flows to be less than the carrying amount of net assets. If we are required to record
an impairment charge in the future, it could have an adverse impact on our results of operations. Under the current credit agreement an impairment charge
will not have an impact on our liquidity. As of December 31, 2014, we had total goodwill and intangible assets not subject to amortization of $128.8 million
or 39.6%of our total assets.

Health, workers' compensation and professional liability expense

‘We maintain accruals for our health, workers’ compensation and professional liability claims that are partially self-insured and are classified as accrued
compensation and benefits on our consolidated balance sheets. We determine the adequacy of these accruals by periodically evaluating our historical
experience and trends related to health, workers’ compensation and professional liability claims and payments, based on actuarial models, as well as industry
experience and trends. If such models indicate that our accruals are overstated or understated, we will reduce or provide for additional accruals as appropriate.
Healthcare insurance accruals have fluctuated with increases or decreases in the average number of temporary healthcare professionals on assignment as well
as actual company experience and increases in national healthcare costs. As of December 31, 2014 and 2013, we had $2.2 million and $1.4 million accrued,
respectively, for incurred but not reported health insurance claims. Corporate and field employees are covered through a partially self-insured health plan.
Workers’ compensation insurance accruals can fluctuate over time due to the number of employees and inflation, as well as additional exposures arising from
the current policy year. As of December 31, 2014, and 2013, we had $12.2 million and $2.8 million accrued for case reserves and for incurred but not reported
workers’ compensation claims, net of insurance receivables, respectively. The accrual for workers’ compensation is based on an actuarial model which is
prepared or reviewed by an independent actuary. As of December 31, 2014, and 2013, we had $9.0 million and $7.9 million accrued, respectively, for case
reserves and for incurred but not reported professional liability claims, net of insurance receivables. The accrual for professional liability is based on actuarial
models which are prepared or reviewed by an independent actuary annually.

Revenue recognition

Revenue from services consists primarily of temporary staffing revenue. Revenue is recognized when services are rendered and all of the following criteria
are met: persuasive evidence of the arrangement exists; service has been provided; and the Company has no remaining obligations; the fee is fixed and
determinable; and collectability is reasonably assured. Accounts receivable includes an accrual for employees’ and independent contractors’ estimated time
worked but not yet invoiced.

We record revenue on a gross basis as a principal or on a net basis as an agent depending on the arrangement, as follows:

*  We have also entered into certain contracts with acute care facilities to provide comprehensive managed service programs (MSP) solutions. Under
these contract arrangements, we use our nurses primarily, along with those of third party subcontractors, to fulfill customer orders. If a subcontractor
is used, we invoice our customer for these services, but revenue is recorded at the time of billing, net of any related subcontractor liability. The
resulting net revenue represents the administrative fee charged by us for our MSP services.

*  Revenue from our physician staffing and education and training businesses is recognized on a gross basis as we believe we are the principal in the
arrangements.
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Allowance for doubtful accounts

We maintain an allowance for doubtful accounts for estimated losses resulting from the inability of our customers to make required payments, which results
in a provision for bad debt expense. We determine the adequacy of this allowance by continually evaluating individual customer receivables, considering the
customer’s financial condition, credit history and current economic conditions. If the financial condition of our customers were to deteriorate, resulting in an
impairment of their ability to make payments, additional allowances may be required. We write-off specific accounts based on an ongoing review of
collectability as well as our past experience with the customer. Historically, losses on uncollectible accounts have not exceeded our allowances. As of
December 31, 2014, our allowance for doubtful accounts was $1.4 million.

Contingent liabilities

We are subject to various claims and legal actions in the ordinary course of our business. Some of these matters include professional liability and employee-
related matters. Our healthcare facility clients may also become subject to claims, governmental inquiries and investigations and legal actions to which we
may become a party relating to services provided by our professionals. From time to time, and depending upon the particular facts and circumstances, we may
be subject to indemnification obligations under our contracts with our healthcare facility clients relating to these matters.

Income taxes

We account for income taxes in accordance with the /ncome Taxes Topic of the FASB ASC. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized for the future tax
consequences attributable to differences between financial statement carrying amounts of existing assets and liabilities and their respective tax bases and
operating loss and other loss carryforwards. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using enacted tax rates expected to apply to taxable income in the
years in which those temporary differences are expected to be recovered or settled. As of December 31, 2014, we have deferred tax assets related to certain
federal, state and foreign net operating loss carryforwards of $38.1 million. The state carryforwards will expire between 2014 and 2034. The federal
carryforwards expire between 2031 and 2034. The majority of the foreign carryforwards are in a jurisdiction with no expiration.

We determine the need for a valuation allowance under /ncome Taxes topic of the FASB ASC by assessing the probability of realizing deferred tax assets,
taking into consideration all available positive and negative evidence, including historical operating results, expectations of future taxable income,
carryforward periods available to us for tax reporting purposes, the evaluation of various income tax planning strategies and other relevant factors. We
maintain a valuation allowance when it is more likely than not that all or a portion of a deferred tax asset will not be realized based on consideration of all
available evidence. Adjustments to the deferred tax valuation allowances are made to earnings in the period when such assessments are made. Significant
judgment is required in making this assessment and to the extent future expectations change, we would have to assess the recoverability of our deferred tax
assets at that time. Our cumulative loss position was significant negative evidence in assessing the need for a valuation allowance. As of December 31, 2014,
we determined that we could not sustain a conclusion that it was more likely than not that we would realize any of our deferred tax assets resulting from
recent losses, because of the cumulative loss, the difficulty of forecasting future taxable income, and other factors. We intend to maintain a valuation
allowance until sufficient positive evidence exists to support its reversal. As of December 31, 2014 and 2013, the Company recorded valuation allowances of
$63.6 million and $52.0 million, respectively. The December 31, 2013 valuation allowance applied to all our deferred tax assets.

We are subject to income taxes in the United States and certain foreign jurisdictions. Significant judgment is required in determining our consolidated
provision for income taxes and recording the related deferred tax assets and liabilities. In the ordinary course of our business, there are many transactions and
calculations where the ultimate tax determination is uncertain. Accruals for unrecognized tax benefits are provided for in accordance with the Income Taxes
Topic of the FASB ASC. An unrecognized tax benefit represents the difference between the recognition of benefits related to exposure items for income tax
reporting purposes and financial reporting purposes. The current portion of the unrecognized tax benefit is classified as a component of other current
liabilities, and the non-current portion is included within other long-term liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets. As of December 31, 2014, total
unrecognized tax benefits recorded was $3.8 million. We have a reserve for interest and penalties on exposure items, if applicable, which is recorded as a
component of the overall income tax provision. We are regularly under audit by tax authorities. Although the outcome of tax audits is always uncertain, we
believe that we have appropriate support for the positions taken on our tax returns and that our annual tax provision includes amounts sufficient to pay any
assessments. Nonetheless, the amounts ultimately paid, if any, upon resolution of the issues raised by the taxing authorities may differ materially from the
amounts accrued for each year.
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Embedded derivative

In accordance with ASC 815, Accounting for Derivative Financial Instruments and Hedging Activities, we have bifurcated and accounted for an embedded
derivative related to specific features of the Convertible Notes. The Convertible Notes derivative liability has been measured at fair value using a trinomial
lattice model. Since the Conversion Price contains an anti-dilution adjustment, the probability that the Conversion Price of the Notes would decrease as the
share price decreased was incorporated into the valuation calculation.

The inputs into the valuation model are as follows:

December 31, 2014
Closing share price $12.48
Conversion price $7.10
Risk free rate 1.86%
Expected volatility 40%
Dividend yield —%
Expected life 5.5 years

The fair value of the convertible note payable derivative liability was $23.4 million, 12.0% of total liabilities at December 31, 2014. The calculation of fair
value included a number of estimates and assumptions that required significant judgments, including the probability and timing of certain triggering events, as
well as estimating a reasonable default intensity and recovery rate. See Note 10 - Fair Value. Changes in these assumptions could materially affect the
determination of fair value for each reporting unit.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In April 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-08, Reporting Discontinued Operations and Disclosures of Disposals of Components of an Entity to reduce
diversity in practice for reporting discontinued operations. Under the previous guidance, any component of an entity that was a reportable segment, an
operating segment, a reporting unit, a subsidiary, or an asset group was eligible for discontinued operations presentation. The revised guidance only allows
disposals of components of an entity that represent a strategic shift (e.g., disposal of a major geographical area, a major line of business, a major equity
method investment, or other major parts of an entity) and that have a major effect on a reporting entity’s operations and financial results to be reported as
discontinued operations. The revised guidance also requires expanded disclosure in the financial statements for discontinued operations as well as for
disposals of significant components of an entity that do not qualify for discontinued operations presentation. The updated guidance is effective for periods
beginning after December 15, 2014. We had operations that were reported as discontinued operations for the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012. We
did not adopt this guidance.

In May 2014, the FASB and the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) jointly issued Accounting Standards Update (ASU) No. 2014-9, Revenue
from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606), which clarifies the principles for recognizing revenue and develops a common revenue standard for GAAP and
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS). The core principle of the guidance is that an entity should recognize revenue to depict the transfer of
promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods and
services. The ASU is effective for public entities for annual and interim periods beginning after December 15, 2016. Early adoption is not permitted under
GAAP and retrospective application is permitted, but not required. We are currently evaluating the impact of adopting this guidance on our financial position
and results of operations.

Seasonality

The number of healthcare professionals on assignment with us is subject to moderate seasonal fluctuations which may impact our quarterly revenue and
carnings. Hospital patient census and staffing needs of our hospital and healthcare facilities fluctuate which impact our number of orders for a particular
period. Many of our hospital and healthcare facility clients are located in areas that experience seasonal fluctuations in population during the winter and
summer months. These facilities adjust their staffing levels to accommodate the change in this seasonal demand and many of these facilities utilize temporary
healthcare professionals to satisfy these seasonal staffing needs. Likewise, the number of nurse and allied professionals on assignment may fluctuate due to
the seasonal preferences for destinations of our temporary nurse and allied professionals. In addition, we expect our Physician Staffing business to experience
higher demand in the summer months as physicians take vacations. This
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historical seasonality of revenue and earnings may vary due to a variety of factors and the results of any one quarter are not necessarily indicative of the
results to be expected for any other quarter or for any year. In addition, typically, our first quarter results are negatively impacted by the reset of payroll taxes.

Inflation

We do not believe that inflation had a significant impact on our results of operations for the periods presented. On an ongoing basis, we attempt to minimize
any effects of inflation on our operating results by controlling operating costs and, whenever possible, seek to ensure that billing rates reflect increases in
costs due to inflation.

Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk.
Interest Rate Risk

We are exposed to the risk of fluctuation in interest rates relating to our variable rate debt related to our Senior Credit Facility and Second Lien Loan
Agreement entered. See Note 8 - Long-Term Debt to our consolidated financial statements. During the year ended December 31, 2014 or 2013, we did not use
interest rate swaps or other types of derivative financial instruments to hedge our interest rate risk. Our current and prior credit agreements charge us interest
at a rate of, at our option, either: (i) LIBOR plus a leverage-based margin or (ii) Base Rate plus a leverage-based margin. Refer to Liquidity and Capital
Resources — Credit Agreement included in Item 7. See Management’s Discussion and Analysis above for further discussion about our asset-based Loan
Agreement and our prior credit agreements.

We have been exposed to interest rate risk associated with our debt instruments which have had interest based on floating rates. A 1% change in interest rates
on variable rate debt would have resulted in interest expense fluctuating approximately by $0.3 million in the year ended December 31, 2014, and an
immaterial amount in the year ended December 31, 2013.

Derivative Liability Risk

As of December 31, 2014, in conjunction with the MSN acquisition, we had $25.0 million of 8.0% fixed rate Convertible Notes outstanding due June 30,
2020. The Convertible Notes include terms that are considered to be embedded derivatives, including conversion and redemption features that primarily
protect the investors' investment with us. See Note 9 - Convertible Notes Derivative Liability to our consolidated financial statements. Each reporting period,
we are required to record this embedded derivative at fair value with the changes being recorded as a component of other expense (income) on our statements
of operations. Accordingly, our results of operations are subject to exposure associated with increases or decreases in the estimated fair value of our
embedded derivative.

The fair value of this derivative liability is primarily determined by fluctuations in our stock price. As our stock price increases or decreases, the fair value of
this derivative liability increases or decreases, resulting in a corresponding current period loss or gain to be recognized. As of December 31,2014, a $1
decrease or increase in our stock price would have resulted in a change in the valuation of the embedded derivative by approximately $3.1 million and a 1%
decrease or increase in interest rates would have resulted in a change in the valuation of the derivative of approximately $0.7 million.

Foreign Currency Risk

We are exposed to the impact of foreign currency fluctuations. Changes in foreign currency exchange rates impact translations of foreign denominated assets
and liabilities into U.S. dollars and future earnings and cash flows from transactions denominated in different currencies. Approximately 1% of selling,
general and administrative expenses are related to certain software development and information technology support provided by our employees in Pune,
India. We have not entered into any foreign currency hedges.

Our international operations transact business in their functional currency. As a result, fluctuations in the value of foreign currencies against the U.S. dollar
have an impact on reported results. Expenses denominated in foreign currencies are translated into U.S. dollars at monthly average exchange rates prevailing

during the period. Consequently, as the value of the U.S. dollar changes relative to the currencies of our non-U.S. markets, our reported results vary.

Fluctuations in exchange rates also impact the U.S. dollar amount of stockholders’ equity. The assets and liabilities of our non-U.S. subsidiaries are translated
into U.S. dollars at the exchange rate in effect at the end of a reporting period. The resulting
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translation adjustments are recorded in stockholders’ equity, as a component of accumulated other comprehensive loss, included in other stockholders’ equity
on our consolidated balance sheet.

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data.

See Item 15 — Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules of Part IV of this Report.

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure.
None.
Item 9A. Controls and Procedures.

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

As of the end of the period covered by this report, we carried out an evaluation, under the supervision and with the participation of our management,
including our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure controls and
procedures, as such term is defined under Rule 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, or the Exchange Act. Based on
such evaluation, our management, including our Chief Executive Officer and our Chief Financial Officer, had identified a material weakness in our internal
control over 2013 financial reporting. In 2014, we have implemented a variety of changes described below. As a result of this evaluation, and of the
remediation of last year's material weakness, management has concluded that, as of the end of the period covered by this Annual Report on Form 10-K, our
internal control over financial reporting was effective.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

The Company acquired substantially all of the assets and certain liabilities of Medical Staffing Network Healthcare, LLC ("MSN") in June 2014. Due to the
timing of the acquisition and as allowed under SEC guidance, management’s assessment of and conclusion regarding the design and effectiveness of internal
control over financial reporting excluded the internal control over financial reporting of the acquired business, which is relevant to the Company’s 2014
consolidated financial statements as of and for the year ended December 31, 2014.

Steps Taken During 2014 to Remediate the Material Weakness

During fiscal year 2014 and through the date of this report, the following actions were taken by management, with the oversight of our Audit Committee, in
order to remediate our material weakness in internal control over financial reporting related to an ineffective control around the Company’s review of non-
routine accounting matters identified as of December 31, 2013, as follows:

1. We have expanded the Company’s complement of qualified finance, accounting and tax personnel. Specific personnel changes made within the
leadership team within these areas included the appointment of the following positions:
*  New Chief Financial Officer in April 2014,
*  New Vice President, Corporate Controller in December 2014, and
¢ New Vice President, Tax in December 2014

2. We have increased our reliance on third party experts for the review of significant non-routine accounting transactions or matters, such as:
*  Goodwill and other indefinite-lived intangible assets - Valuation experts were engaged to review the Company’s impairment models, to

challenge the assumptions utilized, and to perform the impairment test if there was an indicator of impairment.

» Income taxes - Tax experts were engaged to assist management in its review of the income tax provision workpapers, review the tax
treatment of the MSN acquisition, and review several key income tax returns.

*  Other significant non-routine accounting matters - Accounting experts were engaged to assist management in reviewing and evaluating the
accounting implications of technical accounting matters including the
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accounting for new debt arrangements related to the MSN acquisition. We also engaged valuation experts to assist management with our
valuation of the embedded derivative in our Convertible Notes.

3. We have implemented process improvements that permit more effective and efficient management of the accounting and financial reporting
processes, including those related to non-routine transactions, such as:

*  Annual impairment testing - We changed our annual impairment test date to October 1st, which allows adequate time for management
review as well as better alignment with the annual budget process. We improved the overall quality of the documentation surrounding
managements’ assumptions utilized within the impairment models. Finally, we shifted the responsibility for the preparation of the analysis
away from the Chief Financial Officer so that it could be reviewed initially by the Vice President, Corporate Controller and then by the
Chief Financial Officer as the Company’s final reviewer.

*  Tax account reconciliations - We undertook steps to improve the overall quality of our deferred tax accounts analysis. Additional procedures
were implemented in which we employed a more granular approach to calculate our deferred taxes that considered the location, timing,
legal entities, jurisdictions, and the nature of the taxes. These steps improved the quality of the current deferred and long-term deferred tax
and provided a reliable base of calculation for the deferred tax asset valuation allowance.

Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rule 13a-15(f) under the
Exchange Act). Our internal control system is designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of
financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. Because of its inherent limitations, internal control
over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risks that
controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Management conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2014. In making this
assessment, management used the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission, or COSO, in the Internal
Control-Integrated Framework (1992 framework). As permitted, our management’s assessment of and conclusion on the effectiveness of our internal controls
did not include the internal controls of Medical Staffing Network Healthcare, LLC ("MSN"), because it was acquired by us at the end of the second quarter of
2014. The assets of the acquisition constituted $86.6 million and $51.1 million of total and net assets, respectively, as of December 31, 2014, and $128.2
million and $0.8 million of revenue from services and net loss attributable to common shareholders, respectively.

Based on its evaluation, management concluded that, as of December 31, 2014, the Company's internal control over financial reporting is effective based on
the specific criteria.

The effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2014, has been audited by Ernst & Young LLP, an independent registered
certified public accounting firm, as stated in their attestation report included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders of Cross Country Healthcare, Inc. and subsidiaries

We have audited Cross Country Healthcare, Inc. and subsidiaries’ internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2014, based on criteria
established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (1992 framework)
(the COSO criteria). Cross Country Healthcare, Inc. and subsidiaries’ management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial
reporting, and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting included in the accompanying Management’s Report on
Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the Company’s internal control over financial reporting based on our
audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that
we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material
respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of
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internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of
internal control based on the assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit
provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and
the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A company’s internal control over
financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect
the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit
preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being
made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or
timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any evaluation of
effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance
with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

As indicated in the accompanying Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting, management’s assessment of and conclusion on the
effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting did not include the internal controls of Medical Staffing Network Healthcare, LLC ("MSN"), which is
included in the December 31, 2014 consolidated financial statements of Cross Country Healthcare, Inc. and subsidiaries and constituted $86.6 million and
$51.1 million of total and net assets, respectively, as of December 31, 2014 and $128.2 million and $0.8 million of revenue from services and net loss
attributable to common shareholders, respectively, for the year then ended. Our audit of internal control over financial reporting of Cross Country Healthcare,
Inc. and subsidiaries also did not include an evaluation of the internal control over financial reporting of MSN.

In our opinion, Cross Country Healthcare, Inc. and subsidiaries maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of
December 31, 2014, based on the COSO criteria.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP
Certified Public Accountants
Boca Raton, Florida
March 6, 2015

Item 9B. Other Information.

None.
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PART III

Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance.

Information with respect to directors, executive officers and corporate governance is included in our Proxy Statement for the 2015 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders (Proxy Statement) to be filed pursuant to Regulation 14A with the SEC and such information is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 11. Executive Compensation.

Information with respect to executive compensation is included in our Proxy Statement to be filed with the SEC and such information is incorporated herein
by reference.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholders Matters.

Information with respect to beneficial ownership of our common stock is included in our Proxy Statement to be filed with the SEC and such information is
incorporated herein by reference.

With respect to equity compensation plans as of December 31, 2014, see table below:

Number of securities
remaining available

Number of securities for
to Weighted-average future issuance under
be issued upon exercise exercise price of equity compensation
of outstanding options,  outstanding options, plans (excluding
warrants and rights warrants and securities reflected in
Plan Category (a) rights (b) column (a)) (c)
Equity compensation plans approved by
security holders 935,095 $ 8.27 1,205,908
Equity compensation plans not approved by
security holders None N/A N/A
Total 935,095 $ 8.27 1,205,908
Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence.

Information with respect to certain relationships and related transactions, and director independence is included in our Proxy Statement to be filed with the
SEC and such information is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services.

Information with respect to the fees and services of our principal accountant is included in our Proxy Statement to be filed with the SEC and such information
is incorporated herein by reference.
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PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules.

(a) Documents filed as part of the report.

(1) Consolidated Financial Statements

Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2014 and 2013

Consolidated Statements of Operations for the Years Ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive (Loss) Income for the Years Ended December 31, 2014,
2013 and 2012

Consolidated Statement of Stockholders’ Equity for the Years Ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and
2012

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the Years Ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(2) Financial Statements Schedule

Schedule I — Valuation and Qualifying Accounts for the Years Ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and
2012

(3) Exhibits

See Exhibit Index immediately following signatures.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this Report to be signed on its
behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.

CROSS COUNTRY HEALTHCARE, INC.

By: /s/ William J. Grubbs

Name: William J. Grubbs
Title: Chief Executive Officer and President
Date: March 6, 2015

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this Report has been signed by the following persons in the capacities indicated and on
the dates indicated:

Signature Title Date
/s/ William J. Grubbs President, Chief Executive Officer, March 6, 2015
William J. Grubbs Director (Principal Executive Officer)
/s/ William J. Burns Chief Financial Officer March 6, 2015
William J. Burns (Principal Accounting and Financial Officer)
/s/ Thomas C. Dircks Director March 6, 2015

Thomas C. Dircks

/s/ W. Larry Cash Director March 6, 2015
W. Larry Cash
/s/ Richard M. Mastaler Director March 6, 2015

Richard M. Mastaler

/s/ Gale Fitzgerald Director March 6, 2015
Gale Fitzgerald
/s/ Joseph A. Trunfio Director March 6, 2015

Joseph A. Trunfio
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EXHIBIT INDEX

No. Description

3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Registrant (Previously filed as an exhibit to the Company’s Registration Statement on
Form S-1/A, Commission File No. 333-64914, and incorporated by reference herein.)

32 Amended and Restated By-laws of the Registrant (Previously filed as an exhibit to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1/A,
Commission File No. 333-64914, and incorporated by reference herein.)

4.1 Form of specimen common stock certificate (Previously filed as an exhibit to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1/A,
Commission File No. 333-64914, and incorporated by reference herein.)

42 # 2014 Omnibus Incentive Plan - Restricted Stock Agreement Form (Previously filed as an exhibit to the Company’s Form 10-Q for the quarter
ended June 30, 2014 and incorporated by reference herein.)

43 # 2014 Omnibus Incentive Plan - Performance Share and Restricted Stock Agreement Form (Previously filed as an exhibit to the Company’s Form
10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2014 and incorporated by reference herein.)

4.4 Registration Rights Agreement, dated June 30, 2014, by and among Cross Country Healthcare, Inc. and the noteholders party thereto
(Previously filed as an exhibit to the Company’s Form 8-K dated July 2, 2014 and incorporated by reference herein.)

10.1 # Employment Agreement, dated as of March 20, 2013, between William J. Grubbs and the Registrant (Previously filed as an exhibit to the
Company’s Form 8-K dated March 22, 2013 and incorporated by reference herein.)

10.2 # Cross Country, Inc. Deferred Compensation Plan (Previously filed as an exhibit to the Company’s Form 10-K for the year ended December 31,
2002, and incorporated by reference herein.)

10.3 # Form of Incentive Stock Option Agreement (Previously filed as an exhibit to the Company’s Registration Statement on Form S-1, Commission
File No. 333-74403, and incorporated by reference herein.)

10.4 Lease Agreement between Cornerstone Opportunity Ventures, LLC and Cejka Search, Inc., dated February 2, 2007 (Previously filed as an
exhibit to the Company’s Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2006 and incorporated by reference herein.)

10.5 Lease Agreement between Self Service Mini Storage, L.P. and Cross Country Education, LLC, dated February 2, 2007 (Previously filed as an
exhibit to the Company’s Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2006 and incorporated by reference herein.)

10.6 Second Amendment to Lease Agreement by and between Meridian Commercial Properties Limited Partnership and Cross Country Healthcare,
Inc., dated February 17, 2007 (Previously filed as an exhibit to the Company’s Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2006 and
incorporated by reference herein.)

10.7 First Amendment to Lease Agreement dated as of September 1, 2007, by and between Cornerstone Opportunity Ventures, LLC and Cejka
Search, Inc. (Previously filed as an exhibit to the Company’s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2008 and incorporated by
reference herein.)

10.8 # Form of Non-Employee Directors’ Restricted Stock Agreement under Cross Country Healthcare, Inc. 2007 Stock Incentive Plan (Previously
filed as an exhibit to the Company’s 8-K dated May 15, 2007 and incorporated by reference herein.)

10.9 # Form of Stock Appreciation Rights Agreement under Cross Country Healthcare, Inc. 2007 Stock Incentive Plan (Previously filed as an exhibit
to the Company’s Form 8-K dated October 15, 2007 and incorporated by reference herein.)

10.10 # Amended and Restated Executive Severance Policy of Cross Country Healthcare, Inc. dated as of January 1, 2008 (Previously filed as an exhibit
to the Company’s Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2008 and incorporated by reference herein.)

10.11 Lease Agreement, dated July 1, 2010, between Goldberg Brothers Real Estate LLC and MCVT, Inc. (Previously filed as an incorporated by
reference herein.)

10.12 Leave and License Agreement dated October 15, 2010 between Cross Country InfoTech, Ltd. and Shri Subhash Dattatraya Angal (Previously
filed as an exhibit to the Company’s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2010 and incorporated by reference herein.)

10.13 Lease Agreement, dated July 18, 2013, between Peachtree 1 and III, LLC and MDA Holdings, Inc. (Previously filed as an exhibit to the
Company’s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2013 and incorporated by reference herein.)

10.14 # Amended and Restated Executive Severance Plan of Cross Country Healthcare, Inc. (Previously filed as an exhibit to the Company’s Form 8-K

dated May 28, 2010 and incorporated by reference herein.)
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EXHIBIT INDEX (CONTINUED)

No. Description

10.15 First Amendment to Lease Agreement, dated April 22, 2011, between Self Service Mini Storage, L.P. and Cross Country Education, LLC, dated
February 2, 2007 (Previously filed as an exhibit to the Company’s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2011 and incorporated by reference
herein.)

10.16 Loan and Security Agreement, dated January 9, 2013, by and among Cross Country Healthcare, Inc. and certain of its subsidiaries, as
Borrowers, the Lenders referenced therein, and Bank of America, N.A., as Agent (Previously filed as an exhibit to the Company’s Form 8-K
dated January 11, 2013 and incorporated by reference herein.)

10.17 Consent, Waiver and Third Amendment, dated as of June 30, 2014, to Loan and Security Agreement dated January 9, 2013, by and among Cross
Country Healthcare, Inc. and certain of its subsidiaries, as Borrowers, the Lenders referenced therein, and Bank of America, N.A., as Agent
(Previously filed as an exhibit to the Company’s Form 8-K dated July 2, 2014 and incorporated by reference herein.)

10.18 Stock Purchase Agreement, dated February 2, 2013, by and among ICON Clinical Research, Inc. and ICON Clinical Research UK Limited, as
Buyers, and Cross Country Healthcare, Inc., Local Staff, LLC and Cross Country Healthcare UK Holdco Ltd., as Sellers (Previously filed as an
exhibit to the Company’s Form 8-K dated February 5, 2013 and incorporated by reference herein.)

10.19 Asset Purchase Agreement, dated December 2, 2013, between Local Staff, LLC, as Buyer, Cross Country Healthcare, Inc., as Parent and On
Assignment Staffing Services, Inc., Assignment Ready, Inc., and On Assignment, Inc., collectively as Seller (Previously filed as an exhibit to the
Company’s Form 8-K dated December 3, 2013 and incorporated by reference herein.)

10.20 # Employment Agreement, dated March 3, 2014, between William Burns and Cross Country Healthcare, Inc. (Previously filed as an exhibit to the
Company’s Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2013 and incorporated by reference herein.)

10.21 Asset Purchase Agreement, dated June 2, 2014, by and among Cross Country Healthcare, Inc., as Purchaser, and MSN Holdco, LLC, MSN
Holding Company Inc., Medical Staffing Network Healthcare, LLC and Optimal Workforce Solutions, LLC, as Seller (Previously filed as an
exhibit to the Company’s Form 8-K dated June 3, 2014 and incorporated by reference herein.)

10.22 Second Lien Loan and Security Agreement, dated June 30, 2014, by and among Cross Country Healthcare, Inc., as borrower, certain of its
domestic subsidiaries, as guarantors, and BSP Agency, LLC, as agent (Previously filed as an exhibit to the Company’s Form 8-K dated July 2,
2014 and incorporated by reference herein.)

10.23 Convertible Note Purchase Agreement, dated as of June 30, 2014, by and among Cross Country Healthcare, Inc. and certain of its domestic
subsidiaries and Benefit Street Partners SMA LM L.P., PECM Strategic Funding L.P. and Providence Debt Fund III L.P. and other noteholders
defined therein (Previously filed as an exhibit to the Company’s Form 8-K dated July 2, 2014 and incorporated by reference herein.)

10.24 Fourth Amendment, dated as of October 20, 2014, to Loan and Security Agreement dated January 9, 2013, by and among Cross Country
Healthcare, Inc. and certain of its subsidiaries, as Borrowers, the Lenders referenced therein, and Bank of America, N.A., as Agent (Previously
filed as an exhibit to the Company’s Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2014 and incorporated by reference herein.)

10.25 # Transition Agreement, dated March 3, 2014, between Emil Hensel and the Registrant (Previously filed as an exhibit to the Company’s Form 10-
K for the year ended December 31, 2013 and incorporated by reference herein.)

*10.26 Lease Agreement, dated November 22, 1999, by and between Fairfax Boca 92, L.P. and Medical Staffing Network, Inc.

*10.27 First Amendment to Lease Agreement by and between Fairfax Boca 92 L.P. and Medical Staffing Network, Inc., dated July 31, 2001

*10.28 Second Amendment to Lease Agreement by and between Fairfax Boca 92 L.P. and Medical Staffing Network, Inc., dated March 20, 2002

*10.29 Third Amendment to Lease Agreement by and between Fairfax Boca 92 L.P. and Medical Staffing Network, Inc., dated May 14, 2002

*10.30 Fourth Amendment to Lease Agreement by and between Fairfax Boca 92 L.P. and Medical Staffing Network, Inc., dated December 13, 2002

*10.31 Fifth Amendment to Lease Agreement by and between Fairfax Boca 92 L.P. and Medical Staffing Network, Inc., dated February 11, 2003

*10.32 Six Amendment to Lease Agreement by and between Teachers Insurance and Annuity Association of America and Medical Staffing Network,
LLC, dated January 3, 2011

*10.33 Seventh Amendment to Lease Agreement by and between Teachers Insurance and Annuity Association of America and Medical Staffing

Network, LLC, dated March 1, 2011
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EXHIBIT INDEX (CONTINUED)

No. Description
*10.34 Eighth Amendment to Lease Agreement by and between Teachers Insurance and Annuity Association of America, and Medical Staffing
Network, LLC, dated November 22, 2011
14.1 Code of Ethics (Previously filed as exhibits in the Company’s Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2004 and incorporated by reference
herein.)
18.1 Letter re Change in Accounting Principles (Previously filed as exhibit to the Company's Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2014
and incorporated by reference herein.)
*21.1 List of subsidiaries of the Registrant
*23.1 Consent of Ernst & Young LLP, Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm
*31.1 Certification Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) and pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 by William J. Grubbs,
President and Chief Executive Officer
*31.2 Certification Pursuant to Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) and pursuant to Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 by William J. Burns, Chief
Financial Officer
*32.1 Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, by William J. Grubbs,
Chief Executive Officer
*32.2 Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, by William J. Burns,
Chief Financial Officer
**101.INS XBRL Instance Document
**101.SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document
**101.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document
**101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document
**101.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document
**101.PRE PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document
* Filed herewith
*x Furnished herewith
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Stockholders of Cross Country Healthcare, Inc. and Subsidiaries

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Cross Country Healthcare, Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 2014 and 2013, and
the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive loss, stockholders' equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended
December 31, 2014. Our audits also included the financial statement schedule listed in the Index at Item 15(a). These financial statements are the
responsibility of the Company's management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards require that
we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes
examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting
principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement presentation. We believe that our audits
provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of Cross Country
Healthcare, Inc. and subsidiaries at December 31, 2014 and 2013, and the consolidated results of their operations and their cash flows for each of the three
years in the period ended December 31, 2014, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. Also, in our opinion, the related financial
statement schedule, when considered in relation to the basic financial statements taken as a whole, presents fairly, in all material respects, the information set
forth therein.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), Cross Country Healthcare, Inc.
and subsidiaries' internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2014, based on criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated Framework
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (1992 framework) and our report dated March 6, 2015 expressed an
unqualified opinion thereon.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP
Certified Public Accountants

Boca Raton, Florida
March 6, 2015
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CROSS COUNTRY HEALTHCARE, INC.
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(amounts in thousands, except for share data)

Assets
Current assets:
Cash and cash equivalents

Accounts receivable, less allowance for doubtful accounts
of $1,425 and $1,651 at December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively

Income taxes receivable
Prepaid expenses
Insurance recovery receivable
Indemnity escrow receivable
Other current assets
Total current assets
Property and equipment, net of accumulated depreciation
Trade Names, net
Goodwill

Other identifiable intangible assets, net

Debt issuance costs, net of accumulated amortization of $522 and $222 at December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively

Non-current insurance recovery receivable
Non-current security deposits

Total assets

Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Accrued compensation and benefits
Current portion of long-term debt and capital lease obligations
Sales tax payable
Deferred tax liabilities
Other current liabilities
Total current liabilities
Long-term debt and capital lease obligations, less current portion
Non-current deferred tax liabilities
Long-term accrued claims
Long-term deferred purchase price
Long-term unrecognized tax benefits
Other long-term liabilities

Total liabilities

Commitments and contingencies

Stockholders' equity:

Common stock—$0.0001 par value; 100,000,000 shares authorized; 31,292,596 and 31,085,289 shares issued and

outstanding at December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively
Additional paid-in capital
Accumulated other comprehensive loss
Accumulated deficit
Total Cross Country Healthcare, Inc. stockholders' equity
Noncontrolling interest
Total stockholders' equity

Total liabilities and stockholders' equity

See accompanying notes.
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December 31,

2014 2013
$ 4995 $ 8,055
113,129 60,750

307 538

6,073 6,163

5,624 3,886

— 3,750

1,055 793

131,183 83,935

12,133 6,170

38,201 42,301

90,647 77,266

33,823 26,198

1,257 464

16,825 10,914

1,064 997

$ 325133 $ 248,245
$ 27314 $ 10,272
28,731 19,148

3,607 8,483

2,573 2,404

1,981 535

2,790 4,063

66,996 44,905

70,467 93

18,038 16,849

32,068 18,303

2,333 —

889 4,013

4,010 3415

194,801 87,578

3 3

247,467 246,325
(L,118) (970)
(116,474) (84,691)

129,878 160,667

454 —

130,332 160,667

$ 325133 § 248,245




Revenue from services

Operating expenses:
Direct operating expenses
Selling, general and administrative expenses
Bad debt expense
Depreciation
Amortization
Acquisition and integration costs
Restructuring costs
Legal settlement charge
Impairment charges

Total operating expenses
Loss from operations

Other expenses (income):
Foreign exchange loss (gain)

Interest expense

CROSS COUNTRY HEALTHCARE, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(amounts in thousands, except per share data)

Year Ended December 31,

Change in fair value of convertible notes derivative liability

Loss on early extinguishment and modification of debt

Other (income) expense, net

Loss from continuing operations before income taxes

Income tax expense (benefit)

Loss from continuing operations

Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of income taxes

Consolidated net loss

Less: Net income attributable to noncontrolling interest in subsidiary

Net loss attributable to common shareholders

Basic (loss) income per share attributable to common shareholders

Continuing operations

Discontinued operations

Net loss

Diluted (loss) income per share attributable to common shareholders

Continuing operations
Discontinued operations

Net loss

Weighted average common shares outstanding—basic

Weighted average common shares outstanding—diluted

2014 2013 2012
$ 617,825 $ 438311 442,635
460,021 324,851 331,050
141,018 106,117 109,417
1,016 1,078 786
3,866 3,886 4,905
3,575 2,294 2,263
7,957 473 —
840 484 —
— 750 —
10,000 6,400 18,732
628,293 446333 467,153
(10,468) (8,022) (24,518)
49 (132) (62)
4,160 849 2,341
16,671 — —
— 1,419 82
(30) (119) 16
(31,318) (10,039) (26,895)
216 44211 (6,150)
(31,534) (54,250) (20,745)
— 2,281 (21,476)
(31,534) (51,969) (42,221)
249 — —
$ (31,783) $ (51,969) (42,221)
$ (1.02) $ (1.75) (0.67)
— 0.07 (0.70)
$ (1.02) $ (1.68) (1.37)
$ (1.02) $ (1.75) (0.67)
— 0.07 (0.70)
$ (1.02) $ (1.68) (1.37)
31,190 31,009 30,843
31,190 31,009 30,843

See accompanying notes.
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CROSS COUNTRY HEALTHCARE, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS

Consolidated net loss

Other comprehensive income, before income taxes:
Unrealized foreign currency translation gain (loss)
Reclassification of currency translation adjustments

(amounts in thousands)

related to sale of clinical trial services business (See Note 2 - Summary of Significant

Accounting Policies)
Write-down of marketable securities
Net change in fair value of marketable securities

Other comprehensive income, before income taxes

Income tax expense (benefit) related to
items of other comprehensive income

Other comprehensive (loss) income, net of tax

Consolidated comprehensive loss

Less: Net income attributable to noncontrolling interest in subsidiary

Comprehensive loss attributable to common shareholders

See accompanying notes.
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Year Ended December 31,

2014 2013 2012
(31,534) $ (51,969) $ (42,221)
14 (386) 268

— 2,336 —
— _— 38
— — (1)

14 1,950 305
162 (162) 15
(148) 2,112 290
(31,682) (49,857) (41,931)
249 — —
(31,931) $ (49,857) $ (41,931)




Balances at December 31, 2011
Vesting of restricted stock
Tax deficit of share-based compensation
Equity compensation
Stock repurchase and retirement
Foreign currency translation adjustment

Net change in fair value of marketable
securities

Net loss
Balances at December 31, 2012
Exercise of stock options
Vesting of restricted stock
Tax deficit of share-based compensation
Equity compensation

Foreign currency translation adjustment,
net of deferred taxes

Reclassification of currency translation
adjustments related to sale of clinical
trial services business

Net loss

Balances at December 31, 2013
Exercise of stock options
Vesting of restricted stock
Equity compensation

Foreign currency translation adjustment,
net of deferred taxes

Acquisition of InteliStaf of Oklahoma,
LLC

Distribution to noncontrolling
shareholder

Net (loss) income

Balances at December 31, 2014

CROSS COUNTRY HEALTHCARE, INC.
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
(amounts in thousands)

Accumulated
Common Stock Additional Other Total (Accumulated Noncontrolling
Paid-In Comprehensive  Deficit) Retained Interest in Stockholders’
Shares Dollars Capital Loss, net Earnings Subsidiary Equity

30,812 § 3 3 243,171  § (3,373) $ 9,499 — 8 249,300
162 — (153) — — — (153)
— — 314) — — — (314)

— — 2,594 — — — 2,594
(72) — 374) — — — (374)

— — — 268 — — 268

— — — 23 — — 23
— — — — (42,221) — (42,221)
30,902 3 244,924 (3,082) (32,722) — 209,123
2 _ _ _ _ _ _
181 — (300) — — — (300)
— — (399) — — — (399)

— — 2,100 — — — 2,100
— — — (224) — — (224)

— — — 2,336 — — 2,336
— — — — (51,969) — (51,969)
31,085 3 246,325 (970) (84,691) — 160,667
66 — — — — — —
141 — (245) — — — (245)
— — 1,387 — — — 1,387
— — — (148) — — (148)

— — — — — 324 324
— — — — — (119) (119)
— — — — (31,783) 249 (31,534)
31,292 § 3 S 247,467 § (1,118) $ (116,474) $ 454§ 130,332

See accompanying notes.
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ROSS COUNTRY HEALTHCARE, INC.

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(amounts in thousands)

Cash flows from operating activities

Consolidated net loss

Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash (used in) provided by operating activities:

Bad debt expense
Depreciation
Amortization
Amortization of debt discount and debt issuance costs
Impairment charges
Loss on early extinguishment and modification of debt
Deferred income tax (benefit) expense
Change in fair value of convertible note derivatives liability
Equity compensation
Gain on sale of clinical trial services business
Other noncash costs
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable
Prepaid expenses and other assets
Income taxes
Accounts payable and accrued expenses
Other liabilities

Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities

Proceeds from sale of business segment, net of cash sold and transaction costs
Acquisition of assets of Medical Staffing Network, net of cash acquired
Acquisition of assets of On Assignment, Inc.

Purchases of property and equipment

Liquidation of foreign cash investments

Other investing activities

Net cash (used in) provided by investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities

Debt issuance costs

Repurchase of stock for tax withholdings

Stock repurchase and retirement

Cash payment to noncontrolling shareholder

Proceeds from borrowing on Second Lien Term Loan

Principal payments on term loan

Proceeds from borrowing on Convertible Notes

Borrowings under revolving credit facility

Repayments on revolving credit facility

Borrowings under Senior Secured Asset-Based revolving credit facility
Repayments on Senior Secured Asset-Based revolving credit facility
Repayments of capital lease obligations and note payable

Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash
Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year

Cash and cash equivalents at end of year

Supplemental disclosure of noncash investing and financing activities:
Equipment purchased through capital lease obligations

Insurance premium financing

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:

Interest paid

Year Ended December 31,
2014 2013 2012
31,534) § (51,969) $ (42,221)
1,016 1,083 871
3,866 3,886 5,566
3,575 2,294 3,382
1,064 233 606
10,000 6,400 54,132
— 1,419 82
(857) 45,900 (18,520)
16,671 — —
1,387 2,100 2,594
— (3,969) —
114 12 822
(16,119) 2,036 (4,256)
1,371 (1,848) (444)
58 (138) 1,748
5,654 (320) 4,128
(338) 1,540 1,656
(4,072) 8,659 10,146
3,750 45,655 —
(44,631) — —
— (28,700) —
(4,571) (1,750) (2,219)
— — 2,652
— — (258)
(45,452) 15,205 175
(1,093) (5006) (1,377)
(245) (300) (153)
— — (374)
(119) — —
28,875 — 25,000
— (23,125) (43,326)
24,063 — —
— — 26,900
— (10,000) (16,900)
61,205 63,444 —
(66,105) (55,044) —
(122) (530) (353)
46,459 (26,061) (10,583)
5 (211) 77
(3,060) (2,408) (185)
8,055 10,463 10,648
4995 § 8,055 § 10,463
— 3 — § 302
— 3 —  $ 190
2,512 § 622§ 1,467




Income taxes paid $ 1374  $ 1,164 § 1,682

“»

Income tax refunds 61) $ (323) $ (564)

See accompanying notes.
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CROSS COUNTRY HEALTHCARE, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2014

1. Organization and Basis of Presentation

On July 29, 1999, Cross Country Staffing, Inc. (CCS), a Delaware corporation, was established through an acquisition of certain assets and liabilities of Cross
Country Staffing, a Delaware general partnership (the "Partnership"). The Partnership was engaged in the business of providing travel nurse and allied health
staffing services to healthcare providers primarily on a contract basis. Subsequent acquisitions and dispositions were made and, as of December 31, 2014,
Cross Country Healthcare, Inc. (the "Company") has become a leading provider of nurse and allied staffing services in the United States, a national provider
of multi-specialty locum tenens (temporary physician staffing) services, as well as a provider of other human capital management services focused on
healthcare.

On June 30, 2014, the Company acquired substantially all of the assets and certain liabilities of Medical Staffing Network Healthcare, LLC (MSN), which
results have been substantially reported through the Company's Nurse and Allied Staffing business segment. See Note 3 - Acquisitions.

During the first quarter of 2013, the Company completed the sale of its clinical trial services business segment as a result of an extensive review of its
business and the changing competitive landscape in the pharmaceutical outsourcing industry. As of December 31, 2012, this segment was classified as a
disposal group held for sale, and the results of its operations have been classified as discontinued operations for all periods presented. See Note 4 -
Discontinued Operations. In the fourth quarter of 2013, the Company acquired the operating assets of On Assignment, Inc.’s Allied Healthcare Staffing
division, which results have been included with the Company's Nurse and Allied Staffing business segment. See Note 3 - Acquisitions.

The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its wholly-owned direct and indirect subsidiaries. The consolidated financial
statements include all assets, liabilities, revenue, and expenses of InteliStaf of Oklahoma, LLC, which is controlled by the Company but not wholly owned.
The Company records the ownership interest of the noncontrolling shareholder as noncontrolling interest in subsidiary. See Note 3 - Acquisitions for further
information. All material intercompany transactions and balances have been eliminated in consolidation.

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Use of Estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial statements, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States, requires management
to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts in the consolidated financial statements and accompanying notes. Estimates are used for,
but not limited to, the valuation of accounts receivable, goodwill and intangible assets, other long-lived assets, share-based compensation, accruals for health,
workers’ compensation and professional liability claims, valuation of deferred tax assets and the purchase price allocation, derivative liability, legal
contingencies, future contingent considerations, income taxes, and sales and other non-income tax liabilities. Accrued insurance claims and reserves include
estimated settlements from known claims and actuarial estimates for claims incurred but not reported. Actual results could differ from those estimates.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers all investments with original maturities of three months or less to be cash and cash equivalents. The Company invests its excess cash
in highly rated overnight funds and other highly rated liquid accounts. The Company is exposed to credit risk associated with these investments. The
Company minimizes its credit risk relating to these positions by monitoring the financial condition of the financial institutions involved and by primarily
conducting business with large, well established financial institutions, and diversifying its counterparties. The Company does not currently anticipate
nonperformance by any of its significant counterparties.

Interest income on cash and cash equivalents is included in other (income) expense, net, on the Company’s consolidated statements of operations.
Accounts Receivable, Allowance for Doubtful Accounts, and Concentration of Credit Risk
Accounts receivable potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk. The Company’s customers are primarily healthcare providers, and

accounts receivable represent amounts due from them. The Company generally does not require collateral and mitigates its credit risk by performing credit
evaluations and monitoring at-risk accounts. The allowance for



CROSS COUNTRY HEALTHCARE, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2014

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

doubtful accounts represents the Company’s estimate of uncollectible receivables based on a review of specific accounts and the Company’s historical
collection experience. The Company writes off specific accounts based on an ongoing review of collectability as well as past experience with the customer.
The Company’s contract terms typically require payment between 15 to 60 days from the date services are provided and are considered past due based on the
particular negotiated contract terms. The majority of the Company's business activity is with hospitals located throughout the United States. No single
customer accounted for more than 10% of the Company’s accounts receivable balance as of December 31, 2014 and 2013, or revenue for the years ended
December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012.

Prepaid Rent and Deposits

The Company leases apartments for eligible field employees under short-term agreements (typically three to six months), which generally coincide with each
employee’s staffing contract. Costs relating to these leases are included in direct operating expenses on the accompanying consolidated statements of
operations. As a condition of these agreements, the Company may place security deposits on the leased apartments. Deposits on field employees’ apartments
related to these short-term agreements are included in other current assets on the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost, less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is determined on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of
the assets, which generally range from three to seven years. Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the shorter of their estimated useful life or the term
of the individual lease. Depreciation related to assets recorded under capital lease obligations is included in depreciation expense on the consolidated
statements of operations and calculated using the straight-line method over the term of the related capital lease.

Certain software development costs have been capitalized in accordance with the provisions of the Intangibles-Goodwill and Other/Internal-Use Software
Topic of the Financial Accounting Standards Board (FASB) Accounting Standards Codification (ASC). Such costs include charges for consulting services and
costs for personnel associated with programming, coding, and testing such software. Amortization of capitalized software costs begins when the software is
ready for use and is included in depreciation expense in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations. Software development costs are being
amortized using the straight-line method over three to five years.

Business Combinations

In accordance with ASC 805, Topic 805-Business Combinations, assets acquired and liabilities assumed are recorded at their fair values on the date of a
business combination. Our consolidated financial statements and results of operations reflect an acquired business from the completion date of an acquisition.

Goodwill, Trade Names, and Other Identifiable Intangible Assets

Goodwill represents the excess of purchase price and related costs over the fair value assigned to the net tangible and identifiable intangible assets of
businesses acquired. Other identifiable intangible assets with definite lives are being amortized using the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives
which range from 5 to 16 years. Goodwill and certain intangible assets with indefinite lives are not amortized. Instead, in accordance with the /ntangibles-
Goodwill and Other Topic of the FASB ASC, these assets are reviewed for impairment annually at the beginning of the fourth quarter, and whenever
circumstances occur indicating potential impairment, with any related losses recognized in earnings and included in the caption impairment charges on the
consolidated statement of operations.

Historically, the Company completed the annual goodwill impairment test as of December 31 of each fiscal year. During the quarter ended September 30,
2014, the Company voluntarily changed the date of its goodwill and other indefinite-lived intangible assets impairment testing from December 31 to the first
day of its fourth quarter. This voluntary change is preferable under the circumstances as it provides the Company with additional time to complete its annual
goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible asset impairment testing in advance of its year-end reporting. The voluntary change in accounting principle related to
the annual testing date will not delay, accelerate, or avoid an impairment charge. This change is not applied retrospectively as it is impracticable to do so
because retrospective application would require application of significant estimates and assumptions with the use of hindsight. Accordingly, the change will
be applied prospectively.



CROSS COUNTRY HEALTHCARE, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2014

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

If, after assessing the totality of events and circumstances, the Company determines that it is more likely than not that the fair value of the reporting unit is
greater than its carrying amount, the quantitative impairment test is unnecessary. The performance of the quantitative impairment test involves a two-step
process. The first step in its annual impairment assessment requires the Company to determine the fair value of each of its reporting units and compare it to
the reporting unit’s carrying amount. The Company determines its reporting units by identifying components of its operating segments that constitute a
business for which discrete financial information is available and management regularly reviews the operating results of that component. The Company has
four reporting units that it reviews for impairment: 1) Nurse and Allied Staffing, 2) Physician Staffing, 3) Retained Search, and 4) Education and Training.

In its impairment analysis, the Company determines the fair value of its reporting units based on a combination of inputs including Level 3 inputs such as
discounted cash flows which are not observable from the market, directly or indirectly, as well as inputs such as pricing multiples from publicly traded
guideline companies and the market capitalization of the Company, including an estimated premium an investor would pay for a controlling interest. If the
reporting unit’s carrying value exceeds its fair value, the Company then determines the amount of the impairment charge, if any. The Company recognizes an
impairment charge if the carrying value of the reporting unit’s goodwill exceeds its implied fair value. Management considers historical experience and all
available information at the time the fair values of its reporting units are estimated. However, fair values that could be realized in an actual transaction may
differ from those used to evaluate the potential impairment of goodwill.

Long-lived assets and identifiable intangible assets with definite lives are evaluated for impairment in accordance with the Property, Plant, and Equipment
Topic of the FASB ASC. In accordance with this Topic, long-lived assets and definite lived intangible assets are reviewed for impairment whenever events or
changes in circumstances indicate the carrying amount may not be recoverable.

Recoverability of long-lived assets is measured by a comparison of the carrying amount of the asset group to the future undiscounted net cash flow that is
expected to be generated by those assets. If such assets are considered to be impaired, the impairment charge recognized is the amount by which the carrying
amounts of the assets exceeds the fair value of the assets. See Note 5 — Goodwill, Trade Names, and Other Identifiable Intangible Assets for further
information.

Debt Discount and Debt Issuance Costs

Stated discounts on proceeds, and other fees reimbursed to lender, as well as the initial value of any embedded derivative features of the Convertible Notes
and Term Loans, as defined in Note 8 - Long-Term Debt, are treated as a discount associated with the respective debt instrument and presented in the balance
sheet as an offset to the carrying amount of the debt. Discounts are amortized to interest expense using the effective interest rate method, or a method that
approximates the effective interest rate method, over the expected life of the debt.

Deferred costs related to the issuance of Convertible Notes and Term Loans, as defined in Note 8 - Long-Term Debt, are capitalized and amortized using the
effective interest method. Deferred costs related to the issuance of the Company’s Senior Secured Asset-based Loan, as defined in Note 8 — Long-Term Debt,
have been capitalized and amortized using the straight line method, over the term of the related credit agreement.

Derivative Financial Instruments

The Company evaluates embedded conversion features within convertible debt under FASB ASC 815, Derivatives and Hedging, to determine whether the
embedded conversion feature should be bifurcated from the host instrument and accounted for as a derivative at fair value with changes in fair value recorded
within other expenses (income) on our consolidated statements of operations. The Company uses a trinomial lattice model to estimate the fair value of
embedded conversion and redemption features in its convertible debt at the end of each applicable reporting period. Changes in the fair value of these
derivatives during each reporting period are reported in the consolidated statement of operations. The fair value at inception has been recorded as debt
discount and is being amortized to interest expense over the term of the note using the effective interest method or another method that approximates the
effective interest method.



CROSS COUNTRY HEALTHCARE, INC.
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2014

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Sales and Other State Non-income Tax Liabilities

The Company accrues sales and other state non-income tax liabilities based on the Company’s best estimate of its probable liability utilizing currently
available information and interpretation of relevant tax regulations. Given the nature of the Company’s business, significant subjectivity exists as to both
whether sales and other state non-income taxes can be assessed on its activity and how the sales tax will ultimately be measured by the relevant jurisdictions.
The Company makes a determination for each reporting period whether the estimates for sales and other non-income taxes in certain states should be revised.

Reserves for Claims

The Company provides workers’ compensation insurance coverage, professional liability coverage, and health care benefits for eligible employees. The
Company records its estimate of the ultimate cost of, and reserves for workers' compensation and professional liability benefits based on actuarial models
prepared or reviewed by an independent actuary using the Company’s loss history as well as industry statistics. The health care insurance accrual is for
estimated claims that have occurred but have not been reported and is based on the Company’s historical claim submission patterns. Furthermore, in
determining its reserves, the Company includes reserves for estimated claims incurred but not reported as well as unfavorable claims development (IBNR).

The Other Expenses/Insurance Costs Topic of FASB ASC 720, previously issued authoritative accounting guidance in the area of insurance contracts and
related activity thereto. ASC 720 concluded that, under circumstances such as in the Company’s insured professional liability and workers' compensation
policies, since a right of legal offset does not exist due to the fact that there are three parties to an incurred claim, the insured, the insurer, and the claimant, the
related liability to the claimant should be classified separately on a gross basis with a separate related receivable from the insurer recognized as being due
from insurance carriers. Accordingly, the Company’s consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2014 and 2013 reflect the related short-term liabilities
in accrued compensation and benefits and the related long-term liabilities as long-term accrued claims, and the short-term receivable portion as insurance
recovery receivable and the long-term portion as non-current insurance recovery receivable. See Note 7 — Balance Sheet Details. The ultimate cost of
workers’ compensation, professional liability, and health insurance claims will depend on actual amounts incurred to settle those claims and may differ from
the amounts reserved by the Company for those claims.

Workers’ compensation benefits are provided under a partially self-insured plan. The Company has letters of credit to guarantee payments of claims. At
December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively, the Company had outstanding approximately $21.5 million and $6.4 million standby letters of credit as collateral
to secure the self-insured portion of this plan.

The Company has occurrence-based primary professional liability policies that provide each working professional in its nurse and allied healthcare business
with coverage. In addition, the Company has an occurrence-based professional liability policy for its independent contractor physicians and advance
practitioners which is insured by a wholly-owned subsidiary (the "Captive"). Under the terms of the Captive’s reinsurance policy there is a requirement to
guarantee the payment of claims to its insured party’s primary medical malpractice insurance carrier via a letter of credit. As of December 31, 2014 and 2013,
the value of the letter of credit was $5.0 million.

Subject to certain limitations, the Company also has umbrella liability coverage for its working nurses and allied healthcare professionals. While this umbrella
coverage does not extend to professional liability claims against its independent contractor physicians and advance practitioners, it does cover claims brought
against all of the Company’s subsidiaries for non-patient general liability.

Revenue Recognition

The Company recognizes revenue when it is earned and when all of the following criteria are met: persuasive evidence of the arrangement exists; delivery has
occurred or the service has been provided and the Company has no remaining obligations; the fee is fixed or determinable; and collectability is reasonably
assured. The Company includes reimbursed expenses in revenues,

and the associated amounts of reimbursable expenses in cost of services.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2014

2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)
Temporary Staffing Revenue

Revenue from services consists primarily of temporary staffing revenue. Revenues from temporary staffing, net of sales adjustments and discounts, are
recognized when earned, based on hours worked by the Company’s healthcare professionals. Accordingly, accounts receivable includes estimated revenue for
employees’ and independent contractors’ time worked but not yet invoiced. At December 31, 2014 and 2013, such estimated accrued revenue is
approximately $21.9 million and $11.0 million, respectively.

Permanent Placement

Revenue on permanent placements is recognized when services provided are substantially completed. The Company does not, in the ordinary course of
business, provide refunds. If a candidate leaves a permanent placement within a relatively short period of time, it is customary for the Company to provide a
replacement at no additional cost.

Gross Versus Net Policies
The Company records revenue on a gross basis as a principal or on a net basis as an agent depending on the arrangement, as follows:
Managed Service Programs Arrangements

The Company has entered into certain contracts with acute care facilities to provide comprehensive managed service programs (MSP) services. Under these
contract arrangements, the Company uses its healthcare professionals along with those of third-party subcontractors to fulfill customer orders. If its healthcare
professional is used, revenue is recorded on a gross basis. If a subcontractor is used, the customer is invoiced for their services and, a subcontractor liability is
recorded in accrued expenses, but only the resulting administrative fee is recognized as revenue. The subcontractor is paid after the Company has received
payment from the acute care facility. The Company determined that it acts as an agent in these arrangements based on the following factors:

*  The subcontractor is the primary obligor in the arrangement and is responsible for fulfillment.
*  The amount the Company earns is fixed, typically a stated percentage of the amount billed to the customer.
*  The subcontractor bears the credit risk, not the Company.

Physician Staffing

In the Company’s Physician Staffing business, revenue is recorded on a gross basis as a principal versus on a net basis as an agent in the consolidated
statement of operations. The Company has determined that gross reporting as a principal is the appropriate accounting treatment based upon the following
factors:

*  The Company maintains the direct contractual relationship with the customer.

*  The Company performs part of the service by credentialing all of the providers and providing them with professional liability insurance.
*  The Company establishes the price for its services.

*  The Company bears the risk and rewards of the transaction including credit risk if the customer fails to pay for services performed.

Education and Training
Revenue from the Company’s Education and Training services is recognized as the independent contractor-led seminars are performed. In the Company’s
Education and Training business, revenue is recorded in the consolidated statement of operations on a gross basis as a principal versus on a net basis as an

agent. The Company has determined that gross reporting as a principal is the appropriate accounting treatment based upon the following factors:

*  The Company bears the risk and rewards of the transaction including credit risk if the customer fails to pay for services performed.
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2. Summary of Significant Accounting Policies (continued)

*  The Company performs part of the service by being involved with the program development and handling accreditation of the courses.
*  The Company establishes the price for its service.

Deferred Revenue

Amounts collected in advance of the services being substantially complete are recorded as deferred revenue in other current liabilities on the consolidated
balance sheets. At December 31, 2014 and 2013, the Company had $1.2 million and $1.3 million, respectively, recorded as deferred revenue included in other
current liabilities on the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.

Share-Based Compensation

The Company has, from time to time, granted stock options, stock appreciation rights, performance-based share awards, and restricted stock for a fixed
number of common shares to employees. In accordance with the Compensation-Stock-Compensation Topic of the FASB ASC, companies may choose from
alternative valuation models. The Company uses the Black-Scholes method of valuing its options and stock appreciation rights. The Company has elected to
recognize compensation expense on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period of the entire award. The Company values its restricted stock awards
and the fair value of its performance-based share awards by reference to the Company’s stock price on the date of grant.

The Company granted performance-based share awards to certain key personnel pursuant to its 2014 Omnibus Incentive Plan as described in Note 14-
Stockholders' Equity. Pursuant to the Plan, the number of target shares that will vest are determined based on the level of attainment of the targets. If the
minimum level of performance is attained, and restricted stock issued, they will vest on December 31, 2016. The Company recognizes performance-based
restricted stock as compensation expense based on the most likely probability of attaining the prescribed performance and over the requisite service period
beginning at its grant date and through the date the restricted stock vests.

The Company uses historical data of options with similar characteristics to estimate pre-vesting option forfeitures, as it believes that historical behavior
patterns are the best indicators of future behavior patterns. Compensation expense related to share-based payments is included in selling, general and
administrative expenses in the consolidated statements of operations and totaled $1.4 million; $2.1 million and $2.6 million, during the years ended
December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, respectively. Because the Company has a full valuation allowance on its deferred tax assets, the granting and exercise of
share-based payments during the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013 had no impact on the income tax provision. For the year ended December 31,
2012, related deferred tax benefits of approximately $1.0 million were recorded. See Note 14 — Stockholders’ Equity for further information about the
Company’s current share-based compensation programs.

Advertising

The Company’s advertising expense consists primarily of direct mail marketing, online advertising, print media, and promotional material. Advertising costs
are expensed as incurred and were approximately $4.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2014 and $3.2 million for the years ended December 31, 2013
and 2012. Direct response advertising costs associated with the Company’s education and training services are capitalized when the Company determines that
there is a reasonable expectation that the cost of the incurred advertising will be recovered from the gross profit generated by the advertised event and
expensed when the related event takes place. At December 31, 2014 and 2013, approximately $1.0 million and $1.3 million, respectively, of these costs are
included in prepaid expenses on the consolidated balance sheets.

Restructuring Costs

Restructuring costs included in the consolidated statements of operations are primarily related to senior management employee severance pay.
Acquisition and Integration Costs

During the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, the Company incurred acquisition and integration related costs of $8.0 million and $0.5 million,

respectively. Acquisition costs totaled $2.2 million and $0.5 million for the periods ending December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively, and included
transaction advisory fees, as well as other costs directly attributable to the
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transaction. Integration costs for the year ended December 31, 2014 included $1.6 million for ongoing post-employment benefits and $1.1 million for exit
costs associated with redundant facilities. As of December 31, 2014, the Company had accrued integration liabilities of $1.9 million, which included $0.9
million for exit costs and $0.8 million for ongoing post-employment benefits. There were no similar amounts accrued as of December 31, 2013.

Operating Leases

The Company accounts for all operating leases on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. In accordance with the provisions of the Leases Topic of the
FASB ASC, any incentives or rent escalations are also recognized on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.

Income Taxes

The Company accounts for income taxes under the /ncome Taxes Topic of the FASB ASC. Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are determined based
upon differences between the financial reporting and tax basis of assets and liabilities, and are measured using the enacted tax rates and laws that will be in
effect when the differences are expected to reverse.

The Company recognizes in its financial statements the impact of a tax position if that position is more likely than not of being sustained on audit, based on
the technical merits of the position. The Company recognizes interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits in the provision for income taxes. See
Note 13 - Income Taxes for further information.

The Company records valuation allowances to reduce deferred tax assets when it is more likely than not that a tax benefit will not be realized. The assessment
of whether or not a valuation allowance is required often requires significant judgment, including the long-range forecast of future taxable income and the
evaluation of tax planning initiatives. Adjustments to the deferred tax valuation allowances are made to earnings in the period when such assessments are
made. Due to the historical losses from the Company's operations, it has recorded a full valuation allowance on its deferred tax assets.

Comprehensive Loss

Total comprehensive loss includes net income or loss, foreign currency translation adjustments, reclassification of foreign currency adjustments, write-down
of marketable securities, and net changes in the fair value of marketable securities available for sale, net of any related deferred taxes.

Certain of the Company’s foreign subsidiaries use their respective local currency as their functional currency. In accordance with the Foreign Currency
Matters Topic of the FASB ASC, assets and liabilities of these operations are translated at the exchange rates in effect on the balance sheet date. Income
statement items are translated at the average exchange rates for the period. The cumulative impact of currency fluctuations related to the balance sheet
translation is included in accumulated other comprehensive loss in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets and was approximately $1.1 million at
December 31, 2014 and 2013.

The Company adopted FASB issued ASU 2013-2, Comprehensive Income (Topic 220): Reporting of Amounts Reclassified Out of Accumulated Other
Comprehensive Income (ASU 2013-2) for its consolidated financial statements in the first quarter of 2013. ASU 2013-2 adds new disclosure requirements for
items reclassified out of accumulated other comprehensive income (AOCI), including (1) disaggregating and separately presenting changes in AOCI balances
by component and (2) presenting significant items reclassified out of AOCI either on the face of the statement where net income is presented or as a separate
disclosure in the notes to the financial statements. It does not amend any existing requirements for reporting net income or other comprehensive income in the
financial statements.

In March 2013, the FASB issued ASU 2013-5, Foreign Currency Matters (Topic 830), Parent’s Accounting for the Cumulative Translation Adjustment upon
Derecognition of Certain Subsidiaries or Groups of Assets within a Foreign Entity or of an Investment in a Foreign Entity (a consensus of the FASB Emerging
Issues Task Force (ASU 2013-5). The objective of ASU 2013-5 is to resolve the diversity in practice as to the release of the cumulative translation
adjustment into net income when a parent either sells a part or all of its investment in a foreign entity or no longer holds a controlling financial interest in a
subsidiary or group of assets that is a nonprofit activity or a business (other than a sale of in substance real estate or conveyance of oil and gas mineral rights)
within a foreign entity.
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ASU 2013-5 clarifies that a cumulative translation adjustment (CTA) should be released into earnings when an entity ceases to have a controlling financial
interest in a subsidiary or group of assets within a consolidated foreign entity and the sale or transfer results in the complete or substantially complete
liquidation of the foreign entity. For sales of an equity method investment that is a foreign entity, a pro rata portion of CTA attributable to the investment
would be recognized in earnings when the investment is sold. When an entity sells either a part or all of its investment in a consolidated foreign entity, CTA
would be recognized in earnings only if the sale results in the parent no longer having a controlling financial interest in the foreign entity. In addition, CTA
should be recognized in earnings in a business combination achieved in stages (i.e., a step acquisition). The Company adopted this guidance and released into
earnings $2.3 million of its cumulative currency translation losses related to the sale of clinical trial services business in the first quarter of 2013, which was
included in the income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of income taxes on the consolidated statements of operations.

During the periods ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, $0.2 million of income tax expense and $0.2 million of income tax benefit, respectively, related to
foreign currency translation adjustments were included on the Company's consolidated statements of comprehensive loss. During December 31, 2012 an
immaterial amount of income tax expense related to the Company's marketable securities was included on the Company's consolidated statements of
comprehensive loss.

Fair Value Measurements

The Company complies with the provisions of the Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures Topic of the FASB ASC, which defines fair value, establishes a
framework for measuring fair value under U.S. generally accepted accounting principles and expands disclosures about fair value measurements. As of
December 31, 2014 and 2013, the Company’s financial assets and liabilities required to be measured on a recurring basis were its indemnity escrow
receivable, its deferred compensation liability, its convertible notes derivative liability and its contingent consideration receivable. See Note 10 — Fair Value
Measurements for relevant disclosures.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In April 2014, the FASB issued ASU 2014-08, Reporting Discontinued Operations and Disclosures of Disposals of Components of an Entity to reduce
diversity in practice for reporting discontinued operations. Under the previous guidance, any component of an entity that was a reportable segment, an
operating segment, a reporting unit, a subsidiary, or an asset group was eligible for discontinued operations presentation. The revised guidance only allows
disposals of components of an entity that represent a strategic shift (e.g., disposal of a major geographical area, a major line of business, a major equity
method investment, or other major parts of an entity) and that have a major effect on a reporting entity’s operations and financial results to be reported as
discontinued operations. The revised guidance also requires expanded disclosure in the financial statements for discontinued operations as well as for
disposals of significant components of an entity that do not qualify for discontinued operations presentation. The updated guidance is effective for periods
beginning after December 15, 2014. The Company had operations that were reported as discontinued operations for the years ended December 31, 2013 and
2012. The Company did not adopt this guidance.

In May 2014, the FASB and the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) jointly issued ASU No. 2014-9, Revenue from Contracts with Customers
(Topic 606), which clarifies the principles for recognizing revenue and develops a common revenue standard for GAAP and International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS). The core principle of the guidance is that an entity should recognize revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to
customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods and services. The ASU is
effective for public entities for annual and interim periods beginning after December 15, 2016. Early adoption is not permitted under GAAP and retrospective
application is permitted, but not required. The Company is currently evaluating the impact of adopting this guidance on its financial position and results of
operations.
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Medical Staffing Network

On June 30, 2014, the Company acquired substantially all of the assets and certain liabilities of MSN for an aggregate purchase price of $48.1 million, subject
to certain post-closing net working capital adjustments. The Company paid $44.6 million, net of cash acquired, of which $1.0 million was funded to an
escrow account for the net working capital adjustment. An additional $2.5 million was deferred and is due to the seller in 21 months, less any COBRA
expenses incurred by the Company on behalf of former MSN employees over that period. During the fourth quarter of 2014, the Company received $0.2
million from the escrow account to finalize the net working capital adjustment and the remaining balance in the escrow account was released to the seller.

The Company financed the purchase price using $55.0 million in new subordinated debt consisting of a $30.0 million, 5-year term loan and $25.0 million of
convertible notes having a 6-year maturity and a conversion price of $7.10. The Company also amended its loan agreement with Bank of America. N.A. to
increase its borrowing capacity under its senior secured asset-based revolving credit facility from $65.0 million to $85.0 million. See Note 8 - Long-Term
Debt for further information.

At the time of the acquisition, MSN had 55 locations throughout the U.S. that provide per diem, local, contract, travel, and permanent hire staffing services.
This acquisition increases the Company's branch network and market share, diversifies its customer base and brings new service lines. Management believes
it positions the Company to serve its customers better and to increase earnings growth through improved fill rates, expansion of its managed service programs
and per diem activities, and the recognition of cost synergies.

The acquisition has been accounted for in accordance with FASB ASC 805, Business Combinations, using the acquisition method of accounting. The results
of the acquisition's operations have been included in the consolidated statements of operations from July 1, 2014. The acquisition results have been
substantially reported through the Company's Nurse and Allied Staffing business segment. As such, the associated goodwill related to the acquisition of MSN
has been fully allocated to Nurse and Allied Staffing.

The following table is an estimate of the fair value of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed.

(amounts in thousands)

Cash acquired $ 989
Accounts receivable, net 37,275
Other current assets 3,378
Property and equipment 5,329
Goodwill 13,381
Other intangible assets 17,100
Other assets 2,325

Total assets acquired 79,777
Accounts payable 6,736
Accrued employee compensation and benefits 14,731
Other liabilities 9,867

Total liabilities assumed 31,334
Noncontrolling interest 324
Net assets acquired $ 48,119
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The Company used a third-party appraiser to determine the fair value and estimated useful lives of certain acquired assets and liabilities. The gross
contractual accounts receivable of the business were $38.1 million and were recorded net of the Company's best estimate of receivables not expected to be
collected of $0.8 million.

The self-insurance accruals and liabilities for workers' compensation and professional liability were based on third-party appraisals. The Company provides
workers’ compensation insurance coverage and professional liability coverage for our eligible temporary healthcare professionals. As part of the MSN
acquisition, the Company assumed MSN’s workers' compensation and professional liability claims (both known claims and those incurred but not reported or
IBNR). The MSN workers’ compensation benefits are provided under a partially self-insured plan. The workers' compensation insurer requires that the
Company provide a letter of credit to guarantee payments of those workers' compensation claims. The Company also purchased an aggregate stop loss policy
that attaches at $2.3 million for known MSN professional liability claims with a policy limit of $5.0 million. At the date of acquisition. the estimated fair
value of the related liability was $5.6 million and the estimated recovery receivable was $0.4 million. For IBNR professional liability claims of MSN, the
Company purchased a primary policy that provides each temporary healthcare professional with coverage of $1.0 million per occurrence and $5.0 million in
the aggregate. This policy does not have a deductible. The Company also purchased an excess layer of insurance for MSN IBNR professional liability claims
having limits of $1.0 million per occurrence and $6.0 million in the aggregate.

Based on a final independent third-party appraisal, the Company assigned the following values to other identifiable intangible assets: $5.9 million to trade
names with an indefinite life, $4.7 million to customer relations with a weighted average estimated useful life of 13 years, and $6.5 million to a database with
an estimated useful life of 10 years, for a total of $11.2 million in definite life intangible assets with a weighted average estimated useful life of 11 years. The
Company also assigned an estimated fair value of $0.3 million to the noncontrolling interest in InteliStaf of Oklahoma, LLC, a joint venture between MSN
and a third party. The fair value assessment was determined based on a combination of the discounted cash flow method, the guideline public company
method, and the merger and acquisition method, utilized at 80%, 10%, and 10%, respectively, discounted to reflect that the interest is noncontrolling, and that
there is no ready public market for the interest.

The remaining excess purchase price over the fair value of net assets acquired of $13.4 million was recorded as goodwill, which is expected to be deductible
for tax purposes. Additional acquisition and integration-related costs of approximately $7.3 million were incurred and are reflected as acquisition and
integration costs on the Company's consolidated statement of operations for the year ended December 31, 2014.

Allied Healthcare Staffing

In December 2013, the Company acquired the operating assets of On Assignment, Inc.’s Allied Healthcare Staffing division for an aggregate purchase price
of $28.7 million, subject to certain post-closing adjustments. Excluded from the transaction were the accounts receivable, accounts payable and accrued
compensation of the business being acquired. The Company used $24.7 million in cash on hand and $4.5 million from borrowings under its current revolver
facility with Bank of America, N.A. to pay the purchase price and approximately $0.5 million in transaction costs.

The Company believes the acquisition complements its current Nurse and Allied Staffing business segment by: (1) adding new skillsets to its traditional
staffing offerings, (2) expanding its local branch network, which will allow it to expand its local market presence and its MSP business, and (3) diversifying
its customer base into the local ambulatory care and smaller local healthcare facilities, which the Company believes will provide more balance between its
large volume based customers and its local retail market. At the time of the acquisition, the acquired allied staffing business had 84 branch-based employees
and made placements in more than 125 specialties from 23 branch offices.

The acquisition has been accounted for in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 805-Business Combination, using the acquisition method of accounting. The
results of the acquisition's operations have been included in the consolidated statements of operations since December 2, 2013, the date of the acquisition. The
acquired allied staffing business has been included with the Company's Nurse and Allied Staffing business segment.
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The following table summarizes the fair value of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed. The Company used a third-party appraiser to determine the fair
value and estimated useful lives of acquired assets and liabilities assumed.

(amounts in thousands)

Other current assets $ 62
Property and equipment 161
Goodwill 14,554
Other intangible assets 14,000
Other assets 52

Total assets acquired 28,829
Accrued employee compensation and benefits 112

Total liabilities assumed 112
Net assets acquired $ 28,717

Based on the final independent third-party appraisal, the Company assigned the following values to other identifiable intangible assets: $10.4 million to
customer relations with an estimated useful life of 16 years, $3.4 million to database with an estimated useful life of 10 years, and $0.2 million to non-
compete agreements with a useful life of 5 years, in a total $14.0 million in definite life intangible assets with a weighted average estimated useful life of 14
years. The remaining excess of purchase price over the fair value of net assets acquired $14.6 million and was recorded as goodwill, which is expected to be
deductible for tax purposes. Additional acquisition and integration-related costs of approximately $0.7 million and $0.5 million were incurred and are
reflected as acquisition and integration costs on the Company's consolidated statement of operations for the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013,
respectively.

Results of Recent Acquisitions

The Company is integrating the acquired businesses into its current operations, including the consolidation of branch and corporate offices and therefore, it is
impracticable to separate their results from their respective dates of acquisition. The following unaudited pro forma financial information approximates the
consolidated results of operations of the Company as if the MSN and allied staffing business acquisitions had occurred as of January 1, 2013, after giving
effect to certain adjustments, including additional interest expense on the amount the Company borrowed on the date of the transaction, the amortization of
acquired intangible assets, and the elimination of certain expenses that will not be recurring in post-acquisition periods, net of an estimated income tax
impact. These adjustments include removing transaction-related expenses of approximately $6.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2014, related to the
MSN acquisition. These results are not necessarily indicative of future results as they do not include incremental investments in support functions, elimination
of costs for integration or operating synergies, estimates of the changes in the fair value of the embedded derivative in our Convertible Notes or an estimate of
any impact on interest expense resulting from the operating cash flow of the acquired business, among other adjustments that could be made in the future but
are not factually supportable on the date of the transaction.
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Year Ended December 31,
2014 2013
(unaudited, amounts in thousands except per share data)

Revenue from services $ 739,895 $ 705,477
Net loss attributable to common shareholders $ (29,797) $ (66,232)
Net loss per common share attributable to common shareholders - basic $ 0.96) $ (2.14)
Net loss per common share attributable to common shareholders - diluted $ 0.96) $ (2.14)

MDA Holdings, Inc.

In September 2008, the Company completed the acquisition of substantially all of the assets of privately-held MDA Holdings, Inc. and its subsidiaries and all
of the outstanding stock of a subsidiary of MDA Holdings, Inc. (collectively, MDA). Part of the cash paid at closing was held in escrow to cover any post-
closing liabilities (Indemnification Escrow). As of December 31, 2014 and 2013, the Indemnification Escrow balance was $3.6 million. The escrow will be
released upon full satisfaction of certain tax matters and the resolution of indemnity claims.

4. Discontinued Operations

The Clinical Trial Services business provided clinical trial, drug safety, and regulatory professionals and services on a contract staffing and outsourced basis
to companies in the pharmaceutical, biotechnology, and medical device industries, as well as to contract research organizations, primarily in the United States,
and also in Canada and Europe.

On February 15, 2013, the Company completed the sale of its clinical trial services business to ICON Clinical Research, Inc. and ICON Clinical Research UK
Limited (Buyer) for an aggregate $52.0 million in cash, subject to certain adjustments. At closing, the total amount paid was reduced by approximately $0.1
million for the amount the Targeted Net Working Capital exceeded the Estimated Net Working Capital. During the fourth quarter of 2013, the Company paid
an additional $0.2 million to the Buyer to finalize the Net Working Capital adjustment, pursuant to the assets purchase agreement.

The agreement included a provision for an earn-out of up to $3.8 million related to certain performance-based milestones. The maximum earn-out amount of
$3.8 million was deposited in escrow by Buyer as security for the earn-out payment, if any. The $3.8 million earn-out related to certain performance-based
milestones was treated as contingent consideration and the Company assigned no fair value to this earn-out as of December 31, 2013 based on the information
available to the Company. See Note 10 - Fair Value Measurements. The performance-based milestones were not earned, and as a result $1.5 million of the
original escrow was released to the Buyer in the second quarter of 2013 and $2.3 million was released in July 2014.

Of the $52.0 million purchase price paid at closing, $3.8 million was also placed in escrow for a period of 18 months following the closing to provide partial
security to the Buyer in the event of any breach of the representations, warranties and covenants of the Company. The Company recorded the $3.8 million
indemnity escrow funds as an escrow receivable, and adjusted the amount, each reporting period, based on any known information that would be reasonable
and estimable. See Note 10 - Fair Value Measurements. The total escrow amount was released to the Company in August 2014 and reported as additional
proceeds from the sale in the investing activities on its consolidated statement of cash flows.

As a result of the disposal, the underlying operations and cash flows of the Clinical Trial Services business have been eliminated from the Company’s
continuing operations and the Company no longer has the ability to influence the operating and/or financial policies of the disposal group. The historical
financial results of operations, except for disclosures related to cash flows, have been presented as discontinued operations for the years ended December 31,
2013 and 2012.
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The following table presents the revenues and the components of discontinued operations, net of tax:

Years Ended December 31,

2013 2012

(amounts in thousands)

Revenue $ 7939 $ 67,627
Income (loss) from discontinued operations before gain on sale and income taxes 434 (30,973)
Gain on sale of discontinued operations 3,969 —
Income tax (expense) benefit (2,122) 9,497
Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of income taxes $ 2,281 § (21,476)

For the year ended December 31, 2012, the loss before income taxes is comprised of $34.0 million of goodwill impairment charges, $1.4 million of a trade
name impairment charge, and results from operations of approximately $4.4 million.

5. Goodwill, Trade Names, and Other Identifiable Intangible Assets

As of December 31, 2014 and 2013, the Company had the following acquired intangible assets:

December 31, 2014 December 31, 2013
Gross Net Gross Net
Carrying Accumulated Carrying Carrying Accumulated Carrying
Amount Amortization Amount Amount Amortization Amount
(amounts in thousands)
Intangible assets subject to
amortization:
Databases $ 22,425 % 12,893 § 9,532 § 15,925 § 12,103 § 3,822
Customer relationships 42,004 17,870 24,134 37,304 15,125 22,179
Non-compete agreements 3,603 3,446 157 3,603 3,406 197
$ 68,032 $ 34209 $ 33,823  $ 56,832 § 30,634 § 26,198
Intangible assets not subject to
amortization:
Goodwill $ 90,647 $ 77,266
Trade names 38,201 42,301
$ 128,848 $ 119,567

Additions to these intangible assets are related to the MSN acquisition. See Note 3 - Acquisitions.
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As of December 31, 2014, estimated annual amortization expense for continuing operations is as follows:

Years Ending December 31: (amounts in thousands)

2015 $ 3,929
2016 3,929
2017 3,885
2018 3,800
2019 3,763
Thereafter 14,517

$ 33,823

The changes in the carrying amount of goodwill by segment are as follows:

Other Human
Capital
Nurse and Physician Management
Allied Staffing Staffing Services
Segment Segment Segment Total
(amounts in thousands)
Balances as of December 31, 2013
Aggregate goodwill acquired $ 274,286 $ 43,405 $ 19,307 $ 336,998
Accumulated impairment loss (a) (259,732) — — (259,732)
Goodwill, net of impairment loss 14,554 43,405 19,307 77,266
Changes to aggregate goodwill in 2014
Goodwill acquired (b) 13,381 — — 13,381
Balances as of December 31, 2014
Aggregate goodwill acquired 287,667 43,405 19,307 350,379
Accumulated impairment loss (259,732) — — (259,732)
Goodwill, net of impairment loss $ 27935 § 43,405 $ 19,307 $ 90,647

(a) A non-cash pretax impairment charge of approximately $241.0 million was recorded to reduce the carrying value of goodwill to its estimated fair value
in the fourth quarter of 2008 for its Nurse and Allied Staffing reporting unit. The majority of the goodwill impairment was attributable to the
Company’s initial capitalization in 1999, which was accounted for as an asset purchase (See Note 1 — Organization and Basis of Presentation), and
subsequent Nurse and Allied Staffing acquisitions made through 2003. In addition, in the second quarter of 2012, a non-cash pretax impairment charge
of approximately $18.7 million was recorded for the Company’s Nurse and Allied Staffing reporting unit. See impairment review disclosures that
follow.

(b) Goodwill acquired from the acquisition of Medical Staffing Network. See Note 3 - Acquisitions.

2014 annual impairment testing results

The Company performed its annual impairment test as of October 1, 2014. Upon completion of the impairment testing, the Company determined that the
estimated fair value of its reporting units exceeded their respective carrying values. Accordingly, no goodwill impairment charges were warranted for these
reporting units as of December 31, 2014.

Also, in conjunction with the annual impairment testing of trade names in the fourth quarter of 2014, the Company recorded a pretax non-cash impairment
charge of $10.0 million related to the Physician Staffing segment. The Company reduced its long-term revenue forecast for the business segment in the fourth
quarter and as a result, the calculation of estimated fair value was less than the carrying amount of the trade names, resulting in an impairment charge. The
reduced long-term revenue forecast
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was impacted by lower projected volume resulting from a delay in changing to a more scalable business model. The Company valued the trade name based on
a discounted cash flow using projected cash flows of an estimated royalty fee. The royalty rate was determined by a blended rate using the Market Royalty
Rate Method and the Apportionment of Profit Method and has been applied consistently since the date of acquisition. No additional impairments of
indefinite-lived intangible assets were identified.

2013 annual impairment testing results

The Company performed its annual impairment test as of December 31, 2013. Upon completion of the impairment testing, the Company determined that the
estimated fair value of its reporting units exceeded their respective carrying values. Accordingly, no goodwill impairment charges were warranted for these
reporting units as of December 31, 2013.

In the fourth quarter of 2013, in conjunction with the annual testing of trade names, the Company recorded a pretax non-cash impairment charge of
approximately $6.4 million of which $6.2 million related to the Physician Staffing reporting unit and $0.2 million related to the Nurse and Allied Staffing
reporting unit. The Company reduced its long-term revenue forecast for these businesses in the fourth quarter and as a result, the calculation of estimated fair
value was less than the carrying amount of the trade names, resulting in an impairment charge. The Company valued the trade name based on a discounted
cash flow using projected cash flows of an estimated royalty fee. The royalty rate was determined by a blended rate using the Market Royalty Rate Method
and the Apportionment of Profit Method and has been applied consistently since the date of acquisition.

The assessment was impacted by a then recent reduction in locum tenens usage and the overall physician staffing needs of the Company's customers. Based
on the impact those trends had on the long-term revenue forecast, the calculation of estimated fair value using the projected revenue stream indicated the
carrying amount of the trade names may not have been fully recoverable.

2012 annual impairment testing results

During the second quarter of 2012, the Company’s stock price declined further from December 31, 2011. In addition, slower than expected booking
momentum and reduced contribution income in Nurse and Allied Staffing resulted in a downward revision to this segment’s forecast. Additionally, the
Company was closely monitoring the performance of the Clinical Trial Services and Physician Staffing reporting units due to a small margin between the
carrying amount and fair value of those respective reporting units as of the December 31, 2011 annual impairment testing and the small margin between the
carrying amount and fair value of the Nurse and Allied Staffing reporting unit as of the March 31, 2012 interim impairment testing. These factors warranted
impairment testing in the second quarter of 2012.

The discounted cash flows for each reporting unit that served as the primary basis for the income approach were based on discrete financial forecasts
developed by the Company for planning purposes and consistent with those distributed within the Company and externally. A number of significant
assumptions and estimates were involved in the application of the income methodology including forecasted revenue, margins, operating cash flows, discount
rate, and working capital changes. Cash flows beyond the discrete forecast period of ten years were estimated using a terminal value calculation. A terminal
value growth rate of 2.5% was used for each reporting unit. The income approach valuations included reporting unit cash flow discount rates, representing
each of the reporting unit’s weighted average cost of capital, ranging from 11% to 18.7%.

The market approach generally applied pricing multiples derived from publicly-traded guideline companies that are comparable to the Company’s respective
reporting units, and other specific data points, to determine their value. The Company utilized total enterprise value/revenue multiples ranging from 0.43 to
1.00, and total enterprise value/Earnings Before Interest Taxes Depreciation and Amortization (EBITDA) multiples ranging from 4.17 to 10.00.

The reporting units’ values based on the market approach were determined assuming a 50% weighting to revenue multiples and a 50% weighting to EBITDA
multiples for its Physician Staffing, Clinical Trial Services, and Retained Search reporting units; and a 100% weighting to the EBITDA multiples for the
Education and Training reporting unit.

The total fair value of the Company’s reporting units was reconciled to its June 30, 2012 market capitalization. The reasonableness of the resulting control
premium was assessed based on a review of comparative market transactions and other qualitative factors that might have influenced the Company’s stock
price. The Company’s market capitalization was also considered in assessing the reasonableness of the fair values of the reporting units. In performing the
reconciliation of the Company’s market capitalization to fair value, the Company considered both quantitative and qualitative factors which
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supported the implied control premium. The Company believes that a reasonable buyer would offer a control premium for the business that would adequately
cover the difference between its market price at June 30, 2012 and its book value.

Upon completion of the second quarter 2012 interim impairment testing, the Company determined that the estimated fair value of the Company’s reporting
units, with the exception of Nurse and Allied Staffing, exceeded their respective carrying values. As a result of the June 30, 2012 interim impairment testing,
the Company determined that the fair value of the Nurse and Allied Staffing reporting unit was lower than the respective carrying value. The decrease in
value was due to slower than expected booking momentum and reduced contribution income in the Company’s second quarter of 2012 which lowered the
anticipated growth trend used for goodwill impairment testing. Pursuant to the second step of the interim impairment testing the Company was required to
calculate an implied fair value of goodwill based on a hypothetical purchase price allocation. Based on these results, the Company wrote-off the remaining
goodwill which resulted in a pretax goodwill impairment charge of approximately $18.7 million as of June 30, 2012.

In conjunction with the 2012 annual testing of indefinite-lived intangible assets, no additional impairments of indefinite-lived intangible assets were
identified.

6. Property and Equipment

At December 31, 2014 and 2013, property and equipment consist of the following:

December 31,

Useful Lives 2014 2013

(amounts in thousands)

Computer equipment 3-5 years $ 13,572 § 12,115
Computer software 3-5 years 34,100 30,059
Office equipment 5-7 years 3,846 3,307
Furniture and fixtures 5-7 years 3,562 1,752
Leasehold improvements (a) 4,643 3,716
59,723 50,949

Less accumulated depreciation and amortization (47,590) (44,779)
$ 12,133 § 6,170

(a) See Note 2 — Summary of Significant Accounting Policies.
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December 31,

2014 2013

(amounts in thousands)

Insurance recovery receivable:

Insurance recovery for workers’ compensation $ 3316 $ 2,093
Insurance recovery for professional liability 2,308 1,793
$ 5,624 $ 3,886

Non-current insurance recovery receivable:

Insurance recovery for workers’ compensation — long-term $ 5,677 $ 3,336
Insurance recovery for professional liability — long-term 11,148 7,578
$ 16,825 § 10,914

Accrued compensation and benefits:

Salaries and payroll taxes $ 8,406 $ 6,875
Bonuses 4,050 2,200
Accrual for workers’ compensation claims 6,996 3,236
Accrual for health care benefits 2,206 1,385
Accrual for professional liability insurance 4,652 4,091
Accrual for vacation 2,421 1,361

$ 28,731 § 19,148

Long-term accrued claims:

Accrual for workers’ compensation claims $ 14,221  $ 5,076
Accrual for professional liability insurance 17,847 13,227
$ 32,068 $ 18,303

Other long-term liabilities:

Deferred compensation $ 1,510 $ 1,638
Deferred rent 2,453 1,777
Other 47 —

$ 4,010 $ 3,415
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8. Long-Term Debt

At December 31, 2014 and 2013, long-term debt consists of the following:

Senior Secured Asset-Based, interest 2.61% and 3.27% at December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013,

December 31,

2014

2013

(amounts in thousands)

respectively 3,500 8,400
Second Lien Term Loan, net of unamortized discount of $1,011, interest 7.50% at December 31, 2014 28,989 —
Convertible Notes, net of unamortized discount of $7,053, interest 8.00% at December 31, 2014 17,947 —
Convertible Notes derivative liability 23,436 —
Capital lease obligations 202 176
Total debt 74,074 8,576
Less current portion (3,607) (8,483)
Long-term debt 70,467 93
As of December 31, 2014, the aggregate scheduled maturities of debt are as follows:
Capital Leases and
Term Debt Convertible Notes Revolver Note Payable
(amounts in thousands)
Through Years Ending December 31:
2015 $ — 3 3,500 107
2016 — — 72
2017 — — 13
2018 — — 8
2019 30,000 — 2
Thereafter — 25,000 — —
Total $ 30,000 $ 25,000 3,500 $ 202

Senior Credit Facility

On January 9, 2013, the Company entered into a First Lien Loan Agreement, (the First Lien Loan Agreement or Senior Secured Asset-Based Loan), by and
among the Company and certain of its subsidiaries, as borrowers, and Bank of America, N.A., as agent. The First Lien Loan Agreement was subsequently
amended to allow for the sale of the Company's Clinical Trials Services business in February 2013 and for administrative matters.

The initial proceeds from the revolving credit facility were used to finance the repayment of existing indebtedness of the Company under its prior senior
secured credit agreement and the payment of fees and expenses. The repayment of the term loan portion of the senior secured agreement was treated as
extinguishment of debt, and, as a result, the Company recognized a loss on extinguishment in the first quarter of 2013, related to the write-off of unamortized
net debt issuance costs of approximately $0.3 million. The repayment of the revolver portion of the senior secured credit agreement was treated partially as
extinguishment and partially as a modification. The fees related to the modified portion of $0.1 million relate to the continuation of credit provided by Bank
of America, N.A. in its First Lien Loan Agreement. The Company wrote-off the remaining unamortized net debt issuance costs of approximately $1.1 million

in the first quarter of 2013.
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8. Long-Term Debt (continued)

On June 30, 2014, the Company and certain of its subsidiaries, as borrowers, entered into a third amendment (the Amendment) to the Company’s First Lien
Loan Agreement with Bank of America, N.A., as agent, in order to, among other things, increase the Company’s borrowing capacity under the First Lien
Loan Agreement and to consent to the consummation of the MSN acquisition and the incurrence by the Company of the indebtedness contemplated pursuant
to the Second Lien Term Loan Agreement and the Note Purchase Agreement. The Amendment provided for, among other things, increasing the revolving
credit facility under the First Lien Loan Agreement from $65.0 million to $85.0 million and increasing the letter of credit subline under the First Lien Loan
Agreement from $20.0 million to $35.0 million. In addition, the termination date of the revolving credit facility under the First Lien Loan Agreement was
extended to June 30, 2017.

The Company used the increased availability under the letter of credit subline to collateralize certain insurance obligations related to the MSN acquisition.
The revolving credit facility and letter of credit subline will be used to provide ongoing working capital and for other general corporate purposes of the
Company and its subsidiaries.

As of the June 30, 2014 amendment, the First Lien Loan Agreement provides for: a three-year senior secured asset-based revolving credit facility in the
aggregate principal amount of up to $85.0 million, which includes a subfacility for swingline loans up to an amount equal to 10% of the aggregate Revolver
Commitments, as defined in the agreement, and a $35.0 million subfacility for standby letters of credit. Swingline loans and letters of credit issued under the
First Lien Loan Agreement reduce available revolving credit commitments on a dollar-for-dollar basis. Pursuant to the First Lien Loan Agreement, the
aggregate amount of advances under the revolving credit facility (Borrowing Base) cannot exceed the lesser of (a) (i) $85.0 million, or (ii) 85% of eligible
billed accounts receivable as defined in the First Lien Loan Agreement; plus (b) the lesser of (i) 85% of eligible unbilled accounts receivable and (ii) $18.0
million; minus (c) reserves as defined by the First Lien Loan Agreement, which include one week’s worth of W-2 payroll and fees payable to independent
contractors.

The revolving credit facility can be used to provide ongoing working capital and for other general corporate purposes of the Company and its subsidiaries. As
of December 31, 2014, the interest rate spreads and fees under the First Lien Loan Agreement are based on LIBOR plus 1.50% or Base Rate plus 0.50%. The
LIBOR and Base Rate margins are subject to performance pricing adjustments, pursuant to a pricing matrix based on the Company’s excess availability under
the revolving credit facility, and could increase by 200 basis points if an event of default exists. The Company is required to pay a monthly commitment fee
on the average daily unused portion of the revolving loan facility, which, as of December 31, 2014, was 0.375%.

The First Lien Loan Agreement contains customary representations, warranties, and affirmative covenants. The First Lien Loan Agreement also contains
customary negative covenants, including covenants with respect to, among other things: (i) indebtedness, (ii) liens, (iii) investments, (iv) significant corporate
changes, including mergers and acquisitions, (v) dispositions, (vi) dividend, distributions and other restricted payments, (vii) transactions with affiliates, and
(viii) restrictive agreements. In addition, if the Company’s availability under the revolving credit facility is less than the greater of (i) 12.5% of the Loan Cap,
as defined, and (ii) $8.3 million, or availability is less than $4.0 million, the Company is required to meet a minimum fixed charge coverage ratio of 1.0, as
defined in the First Lien Loan Agreement. The First Lien Loan Agreement also contains customary events of default, such as payment defaults, cross-defaults
to other material indebtedness, bankruptcy, and insolvency, the occurrence of a defined change in control and the failure to observe covenants or conditions
under the credit facility documents.

The Company’s obligations under the First Lien Loan Agreement are guaranteed by all material domestic subsidiaries of the Company that are not co-
borrowers (Subsidiary Guarantors). As collateral security for their obligations under the First Lien Loan Agreement and guarantees thereof, the Company and
the Subsidiary Guarantors have granted to Bank of America, N.A. a security interest in substantially all of their tangible and intangible assets.

As of December 31, 2014, the Gross Availability, as defined in the First Lien Loan Agreement, was approximately $69.7 million based on the Company's
November accounts receivable balance. The Company had $26.5 million letters of credit outstanding and $3.5 million drawn under its revolving credit
facility, leaving $39.7 million available as of December 31, 2014. The letters of credit relate to the Company’s workers’ compensation and professional
liability insurance policies.

Second Lien Term Loan

On June 30, 2014, the Company entered into a second lien loan and security agreement (the Second Lien Term Loan Agreement), by and among the
Company, as borrower, certain of its domestic subsidiaries, as guarantors, and BSP Agency, LLC, as agent.
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The Second Lien Term Loan Agreement provides for a five-year senior secured term loan facility in an aggregate principal amount of $30.0 million (the loans
thereunder, the Second Lien Term Loans). After deducting a debt discount of $1.1 million, the net proceeds of $28.9 million from the Second Lien Term Loan
facility were used by the Company to pay a portion of the consideration for the MSN Acquisition and related fees and expenses. In connection with the
financing, the Company incurred $0.4 million of debt issuance costs.

Amounts borrowed under the Second Lien Term Loan facility that are repaid or prepaid may not be re-borrowed. The Second Lien Term Loans bear interest
at a rate equal to adjusted LIBOR (defined as the 3-month London interbank offered rate for U.S. dollars, adjusted for customary Eurodollar reserve
requirements, if any, and subject to a floor of 1.00%) plus 6.50%. The interest rate would increase by 200 basis points if an event of default exists under the
Second Lien Term Loan Agreement.

The Company may, at its option, elect to prepay the Second Lien Term Loans on or before June 30, 2015, subject to a prepayment premium in an amount
equal to (i) the amount of the principal amount of the Second Lien Term Loans being repaid, plus (ii) the accrued but unpaid interest on the principal amount
so prepaid, if any, to the date of the prepayment, plus (iii) any associated administrative amounts or charges owed to the lenders as a result of the
redeployment of funds or fees payable to terminate matching deposits, plus (iv) a “make whole” amount equal to the excess, if any, of (a) the present value at
the prepayment date of (1) 103% of the aggregate principal amount of the Second Lien Term Loans then being prepaid, plus (2) all remaining scheduled
interest payments due on the principal amount of such Second Lien Term Loans being prepaid through June 30, 2015 (excluding accrued but unpaid interest
to the date of such prepayment), computed using a discount rate equal to the Treasury rate as of such prepayment date plus 50 basis points over (b) the
outstanding principal amount of such Second Lien Term Loans being prepaid. The Company may, at its option at any time after June 30, 2015, prepay the
Second Lien Term Loans in whole or in part at the redemption prices set forth therein, which range from 103% of the principal amount thereof for
prepayments during the period July 1, 2015 through June 30, 2016, 102% of the principal amount thereof for prepayments during the period July 1, 2016
through June 30, 2017, and 100% of the principal amount thereof for prepayments after such date.

Subject to certain exceptions, the Second Lien Term Loans are required to be prepaid with: (a) 50% of excess cash flow (as defined in the Second Lien Term
Loan Agreement) above $5.0 million for each fiscal year of the Company (commencing with the fiscal year ending December 31, 2015), provided that
voluntary prepayments of the Second Lien Term Loans made during such fiscal year will reduce the amount of excess cash flow prepayments required for
such fiscal year on a dollar-for-dollar basis; (b) 100% of the net cash proceeds of all asset sales or other dispositions of property by the Company and its
subsidiaries, as set forth in the agreement, in excess of a defined threshold and subject to the right of the Company to reinvest such proceeds within 12
months; (c) 100% of the net cash proceeds of issuances of debt offerings of the Company and its subsidiaries (except the net cash proceeds of any permitted
debt); and (d) 50% of the net cash proceeds of equity offerings of the Company.

The Second Lien Term Loan Agreement contains customary representations, warranties, and affirmative covenants. Among other things, the agreement also
includes a financial covenant limiting the Company’s maximum “debt” to “EBITDA” (each, as defined therein) ratio to no greater than 4.50:1.00, subject to
customary equity cure rights. The financial covenant will be tested quarterly, commencing with the quarter ended June 30, 2015 and each quarter thereafter
for so long as any Second Lien Term Loans are outstanding. The agreement also contains customary negative covenants; including covenants with respect to,
among other things, (i) indebtedness, (ii) liens, (iii) investments, (iv) fundamental corporate changes, (v) dispositions, (vi) dividends, distributions and other
restricted payments, (vii) transactions with affiliates, and (viii) restrictive agreements. The agreement contains customary events of default, such as payment
defaults, cross-defaults to other material indebtedness, bankruptcy, and insolvency, the occurrence of a defined change in control and the failure to observe
covenants or conditions under the Second Lien Term Loan Facility documents.

The Company’s obligations under the Second Lien Term Loan Agreement are guaranteed by all material domestic subsidiaries of the Company (Subsidiary
Guarantors). As collateral security for their obligations under the Second Lien Term Loan Agreement and guarantees thereof, the Company and the
Subsidiary Guarantors have granted a second-priority security interest in substantially all their tangible and intangible assets.

Private Placement of Convertible Notes

On June 30, 2014, the Company and certain of its domestic subsidiaries entered into a Convertible Note Purchase Agreement (the Note Purchase Agreement),
with certain note holders (collectively, the Noteholders). Pursuant to the Note Purchase
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Agreement, the Company sold to the Noteholders an aggregate of $25.0 million of convertible senior notes (the Convertible Notes). After deducting a debt
discount of $0.9 million, the net proceeds of $24.1 million were used by the Company for the MSN Acquisition and related fees and expenses. In connection
with the financing, the Company incurred $0.3 million of debt issuance costs. As a result of the conversion and redemption features, the Company recorded
$6.8 million as additional discount for the fair value of these features.

The Convertible Notes are convertible at the option of the holders thereof at any time into shares of the Company’s common stock, par value $0.0001 per
share (Common Stock), at an initial conversion price of $7.10 per share, or 3,521,126 shares of Common Stock. After three years, the Company has the right
to force a conversion of the Convertible Notes if the volume-weighted average price (VWAP) per share of its Common Stock exceeds 125% of the then
conversion price for 20 days of a 30 day trading period. The conversion price is subject to adjustment pursuant to customary weighted average anti-dilution
provisions including adjustments for the following: Common Stock dividends or distributions; issuance of any rights, warrants of options to acquire Common
Stock; distributions of property; tender offer or exchange offer payments; cash dividends; or certain issuances of Common Stock at less than the conversion
price. Upon conversion of the Convertible Notes, the Company will exchange, for the applicable conversion amount thereof a number of shares of Common
Stock, with no maximum, on amount, equal to the amount determined by dividing (i) such conversion amount by (ii) the conversion price in effect at the time
of conversion. No fractional shares of Common Stock will be issued upon conversion of the Conversion Notes. In lieu of fractional shares, the Company shall
pay cash in respect of each fractional share equal to such fractional amount multiplied by the Thirty Day VWAP as of the closing of business on the Business
Day immediately preceding the conversion date as well as any unpaid accrued interest.

The Convertible Notes bear interest at a rate of 8.00% per annum, payable in quarterly cash installments; provided, however, that, at the Company’s option,
up to 4.00% of the interest payable may be “paid-in-kind” through a quarterly addition of such “paid-in-kind” interest amount to the principal amount of the
Convertible Notes. The Convertible Notes will mature on June 30, 2020, unless earlier repurchased, redeemed or converted. Subject to certain exceptions, the
Company is not permitted to redeem the Convertible Notes until June 30, 2017. If the Company redeems the Convertible Notes on or after June 30, 2017, the
Company is required to pay a premium of 15% of the amount of principal of the Convertible Notes redeemed.

If the Convertible Notes are redeemed prior to June 30, 2017, pursuant to a Prohibited Transaction, as defined by the agreement, the Company is required to
pay a premium equal to the greater of (i) the sum of (a) the amount of principal of the Convertible Notes redeemed, plus (b) the accrued but unpaid interests
on the principal amount so redeemed to the date of the redemption, plus (c) a “make whole” amount (described below) and (ii) the sum of (x) the average
thirty day VWAP per share of Common Stock multiplied by the number of shares of Common Stock that the redeemed Convertible Notes are then convertible
into, with no maximum, and (y) the accrued but unpaid interest on the Convertible Notes. The “make whole” amount is equal to the excess, if any, of (1) the
present value at the date of redemption of (A) 115% of the principal amount of the Convertible Notes redeemed, plus (B) all remaining scheduled interest due
on the principal amount of the notes being redeemed through June 30, 2017 computed using a discount rate equal to the Treasury rate as of the date of
redemption plus 50 basis points over (2) the outstanding principal amount of the Convertible Notes then redeemed.

The Company granted the Noteholders preemptive rights with respect to future equity issuances by the Company, subject to
customary exceptions.

In connection with the placement of the Convertible Notes, on June 30, 2014, the Company entered into a registration rights agreement (the Registration
Rights Agreement) with the Noteholders, which sets forth the rights of the Noteholders to have the shares of Common Stock issuable upon conversion of the
Convertible Notes registered with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the SEC) for public resale under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.
Pursuant to the Registration Rights Agreement, the Company was required to file a registration statement with the SEC (the Initial Registration Statement)
registering the shares of Common Stock issuable upon conversion of the Convertible Notes. The Initial Registration Statement was filed with the SEC and
became effective in the fourth quarter of 2014. In addition, the agreement gives the Noteholders the ability to exercise certain piggyback registration rights in
connection with registered offerings by the Company.
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Derivative financial instruments, as defined in ASC 815, Accounting for Derivative Financial Instruments and Hedging Activities, consist of financial
instruments or other contracts that contain a notional amount and one or more underlyings (e.g. interest rate, security price or other variable), require no initial
net investment and permit net settlement. Derivative financial instruments may be free-standing or embedded in other financial instruments. Further,
derivative financial instruments are initially, and subsequently, measured at fair value and recorded as liabilities or, in rare instances, assets.

The Company does not use derivative financial instruments to hedge exposures to cash-flow, market or foreign-currency risks. However, the Company has
issued Convertible Notes with features that are either (i) not afforded equity classification, (ii) embody risks not clearly and closely related to host contracts,
or (iii) may be net-cash settled by the counterparty. As required by ASC 815, in certain instances, these instruments are required to be carried as derivative
liabilities, at fair value, in our financial statements.

The Convertible Notes issued in conjunction with the MSN acquisition are subject to anti-dilution adjustments that allow for the reduction in the Conversion
Price, as defined in the agreement, in the event the Company subsequently issues equity securities including Common Stock or any security convertible or
exchangeable for shares of Common Stock for a price less than the current conversion price. In addition, the Convertible Notes allow the issuer to exercise
optional redemption features and the holder to exercise an offer to purchase feature, under certain conditions. The Company accounted for the conversion
option in accordance with ASC 815. Since this conversion feature is not considered to be solely indexed to the Company’s own stock the derivative was
recorded as a liability.

The Company’s Convertible Notes derivative liability has been measured at fair value at December 31, 2014 using a

trinomial lattice model. The optional redemption features, along with the offer to purchase features are incorporated into the valuation model. Inputs into the
model require estimates, including such items as estimated volatility of the Company’s stock, estimated probabilities of change of control and issuance of
additional financing, risk-free interest rate, and the estimated life of the financial instruments being fair valued. In addition, since the conversion price
contains an anti-dilution adjustment, the probability that the Conversion Price of the Notes would decrease as the share price decreased was also incorporated
into the valuation calculation.

The inputs into the valuation model are as follows:

December 31, 2014
Closing share price $12.48
Conversion price $7.10
Risk free rate 1.86%
Expected volatility 40%
Dividend yield —%
Expected life 5.5 years

The fair value of this derivative liability is primarily determined by fluctuations in our stock price. As our stock price increases or decreases, the fair value of
this derivative liability increases or decreases, resulting in a corresponding current period loss or gain to be recognized. As of December 31, 2014, a $1
decrease or increase in our stock price would have resulted in a change in the valuation of the embedded derivative by approximately $3.1 million and a 1%
decrease or increase in interest rates would have resulted in a change in the valuation of the derivative of approximately $0.7 million.

10. Fair Value Measurements

The Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures Topic of the FASB ASC, defines fair value as the exchange price that would be received for an asset or paid to
transfer a liability (an exit price) in the principal or most advantageous market for the asset or liability in an orderly transaction between market participants
on the measurement date. The Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures Topic also establishes a fair value hierarchy which requires an entity to maximize
the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs when measuring fair value. The standard describes three levels of inputs that may be
used to measure fair value:

Level I—Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.
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Level 2—OQbservable inputs other than Level 1 prices such as quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities; quoted prices in markets that are not active; or
other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable market data for substantially the full term of the assets or liabilities.

Level 3—Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to the fair value of the assets or liabilities.
Items Measured at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis:

At December 31, 2014 and 2013, the Company’s financial assets/liabilities required to be measured on a recurring basis were its indemnity escrow receivable,
deferred compensation liability included in other long-term liabilities, Convertible Notes derivative liability and contingent consideration receivable related to
the sale of its Clinical Trial Services business.

Escrow receivable —The Company recorded the $3.8 million indemnity escrow funds related to the sale of its Clinical Trial Services business as an escrow
receivable and adjusted the amount to the estimated fair value each reporting period based on any known information. The total escrow amount was released
to the Company in August 2014 relieving the escrow receivable balance. See Note 4 - Discontinued Operations.

Contingent consideration receivable, performance earnout —The earn out related to the Company’s sale of its Clinical Trial Services business was treated as
a contingent consideration receivable for accounting purposes. The Company utilized Level 3 inputs to value the contingent consideration receivable as
significant unobservable inputs were used in the calculation of its fair value and related to the future performance of the disposed business. The fair value of
the contingent consideration receivable was adjusted to its fair value on a quarterly basis with any adjustment to the related receivable and the gain/loss on the
sale of assets (included in discontinued operations). The future performance of the disposed business directly impacted the contingent consideration that could
have been paid to the Company. The contingency was resolved during the third quarter of 2014 resulting in no additional consideration. See Note 4 -
Discontinued Operations for further information.

Deferred compensation —The Company utilizes Level 1 inputs to value its deferred compensation liability. The Company’s deferred compensation liability is
measured using publicly available indices that define the liability amounts, as per the plan documents.

Convertible Notes derivative liability —The Company utilizes Level 3 inputs to value its Convertible Notes derivative liability. See Note 9 - Convertible
Notes Derivative Liability and Note 2 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies.

The table which follows summarizes the estimated fair value of the Company’s financial assets and liabilities measured on a recurring basis as of
December 31, 2014 and 2013:

Fair Value Measurements

December 31, 2014 December 31, 2013

Financial Assets: (amounts in thousands)
(Level 3)

Escrow receivable $ — $ 3,750
Financial Liabilities:
(Level 1)

Deferred compensation $ 1,510 $ 1,638
(Level 3)

Convertible Notes derivative liability $ 23,436 $ —
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The table which follows reconciles the opening balances to the closing balances for fair value measurements categorized within Level 3 of the fair value
hierarchy:

Escrow Convertible Notes

Receivable Derivative Liability (a)

(amounts in thousands)

December 31, 2012 $ — $ —
Additions 3,750 —
December 31, 2013 3,750 —
Additions — 6,765
Settlements (3,750) —
Valuation loss for the period — 16,671
December 31, 2014 $ — $ 23,436

(a) Embedded derivative included in long-term debt on consolidated balance sheets. Embedded derivative of $6.8 million added as of June 30, 2014.
Change in valuation of derivative for the year ended December 31, 2014 was $16.7 million and is included in other expenses (income) on the
consolidated statement of operations. See Note 9 - Convertible Notes Derivative Liability and Note 2 - Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies for further information.

Items Measured at Fair Value on a Nonrecurring Basis:

Goodwill and other identifiable intangible assets with indefinite lives are reviewed for impairment annually, and whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable. Long-lived assets and identifiable intangible assets are also reviewed for impairment whenever events
or changes in circumstances indicate that amounts may not be recoverable. If the testing performed indicates that impairment has occurred, the Company
records a noncash impairment charge for the difference between the carrying amount of the goodwill or other intangible assets and the implied fair value of
the goodwill or other intangible assets in the period the determination is made.

As of October 1, 2014, in conjunction with the annual testing of indefinite-lived intangible assets not subject to amortization, the Company recorded a pretax
non-cash impairment charge of approximately $10.0 million related to its MDA trade name. See Note 5 — Goodwill, Trade Names, and Other Identifiable
Intangible Assets. The Company reduced its long-term revenue forecast for these businesses as part of its forecasting process in the fourth quarter and as a
result, the calculation of estimated fair value was less than the carrying amount of the trade names, resulting in an impairment charge.

In the fourth quarter of 2013, in conjunction with the annual testing of indefinite-lived intangible assets not subject to amortization, the Company recorded a
pretax non-cash impairment charge of approximately $6.4 million related to its MDA acquisition (see Note 5 — Goodwill, Trade Names, and Other
Identifiable Intangible Assets). The Company reduced its long-term revenue forecast for these businesses in the fourth quarter and as a result, the calculation
of estimated fair value was less than the carrying amount of the trade names, resulting in an impairment charge.

The table below presents the fair value of the MDA trade names as of December 31, 2014 and 2013.

Fair Value Measurements

December 31, 2014 December 31, 2013
(amounts in thousands)
(Level 3)
MDA trade names $ 17,699 $ 28,836
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Other Fair Value Disclosures:

Financial instruments not measured or recorded at fair value in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets consist of cash and cash equivalents, accounts
receivable, accounts payable and accrued expenses, and short and long-term debt. The estimated fair value of accounts receivable, accounts payable

and accrued expenses approximate their carrying amount due to the short-term nature of these instruments. The fair value of the Company’s term loan and
revolver credit facility included in the current portion of long-term debt on its consolidated balance sheet is estimated using Level 2 inputs utilizing interest
rates that were indirectly observable in markets for similar liabilities. The estimated fair value of the Company’s debt was calculated using discounted cash
flow analysis and appropriate valuation methodologies using Level 2 inputs available market information.

The following table represents the carrying amounts and estimated fair value of the Company’s significant financial instruments that were not measured at fair
value:

December 31, 2014 December 31, 2013
Carrying Fair Carrying Fair
Amount Value Amount Value

(amounts in thousands)

Financial Liabilities:

(Level 2)
Second Lien Term Loan, net (a) $ 28,989 $ 29,900 $ — $ —
Convertible Notes, net (a) $ 17,948 $ 19,200 $ — $ —
Senior Secured Asset-Based Loan (b) $ 3,500 $ 3,500 $ 8,400 $ 8,400

(a) The Second Lien Term Loan and Convertible Notes are reported at their carrying value in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. The
Company determined their fair value, as presented in the table using an income approach, utilizing a discounted cash flow analysis based on
current market interest rates for debt issuances with similar remaining years to maturity, adjusted for credit risk.

(b) Carrying value of the Senior Secured Asset-Based Loan approximates estimated fair value based on the short-term nature and the pricing at
varying interest rates.

Concentration of Risk:

The Company has invested its excess cash in highly rated overnight funds and other highly rated liquid accounts. The Company has been exposed to credit
risk associated with these investments. The Company minimizes its credit risk relating to these positions by monitoring the financial condition of the financial
institutions involved and by primarily conducting business with large, well established financial institutions and diversifying its counterparties.

The Company generally does not require collateral and mitigates its credit risk by performing credit evaluations and monitoring at-risk accounts. The
allowance for doubtful accounts represents the Company’s estimate of uncollectible receivables based on a review of specific accounts and the Company’s
historical collection experience. The Company writes off specific accounts based on an ongoing review of collectability as well as past experience with the
customer. The Company’s contract terms typically require payment between 15 to 60 days from the date services are provided and are considered past due
based on the particular negotiated contract terms. Overall, based on the large number of customers in differing geographic areas, primarily throughout the
United States and its territories, the Company believes the concentration of credit risk is limited.

11. Employee Benefit Plans
The Company maintains a voluntary defined contribution 401(k) profit-sharing plan covering all eligible employees as defined in the plan documents. The

plan provides for a discretionary matching contribution, which is equal to a percentage of each eligible contributing participant’s elective deferral, which the
Company, at its sole discretion, determines from year to year.
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Contributions by the Company, net of forfeitures, under this plan amounted to $0.6 million the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, respectively.
Eligible employees who elect to participate in the plan are generally vested in any existing matching contribution after three years of service with the
Company.

The Company offers a non-qualified deferred compensation program to certain key employees whereby they may defer a portion of annual compensation for
payment upon retirement. The program is unfunded for tax purposes and for purposes of Title I of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974.
The liability for the deferred compensation is included in other long-term liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets and amounted $1.5 million and $1.6
million at December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively.

12. Commitments and Contingencies

Commitments:

Operating Leases

The Company has entered into non-cancelable operating lease agreements for the rental of office space and equipment. Certain of these leases include options
to renew as well as rent escalation clauses and in certain cases, incentives from the landlord for rent-free months and allowances for tenant improvements.

The rent escalations and incentives have been reflected in the table below.

Future minimum lease payments, as of December 31, 2014, associated with these agreements with terms of one year or more are as follows:

Through Year Ending December 31: (amounts in thousands)
2015 $ 7,202
2016 5,581
2017 3,884
2018 1,613
2019 486
Thereafter 2,146

$ 20,912

Total operating lease expense included in selling, general and administrative expenses was approximately $7.7 million, $5.5 million and $5.8 million for the
years ending December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, respectively.

Contingencies:
Sales and Other State Non-income Tax Liabilities

The Company's sales and other state non-income tax filings are subject to routine audits by authorities in the jurisdictions where it conducts business in the
United States which may result in assessments of additional taxes. The Company accrues sales and other non-income tax liabilities based on the Company's
best estimate of its probable liability utilizing currently available information and interpretation of relevant tax regulations. Given the nature of the Company's
business, significant subjectivity exists as to both whether sales and other state non-income taxes can be assessed on its activity and how the sales tax will
ultimately be measured by the relevant jurisdictions. The Company makes a determination for each reporting period whether the estimates for sales and other
non-income taxes in certain states should be revised. The expense is included in selling, general and administrative expenses on its consolidated statements of
operations and the liability is reflected in sales tax payable as of December 31, 2014 and 2013, on its consolidated balance sheets.

During 2011, a state administrative ruling related to certain service tax matters was released which indicated that services performed in that particular state are
subject to a tax not previously paid by the Company. As a result, the Company conducted
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an initial review of certain other states to determine if any additional exposures may exist and determined that it was probable that some of its previous tax
positions would be challenged. As a result, the Company changed its assessment of certain non-income tax positions and estimated a liability related to these
matters. Based on its best estimate of probable settlement, the Company accrued a pretax liability related to the non-income tax matters of approximately $0.5
million in the year ended December 31, 2011, of which approximately $0.4 million related to the 2008-2010 tax years. The Company accrued an additional
pretax liability related to the non-income tax matters of approximately $1.0 million in the year ended December 31, 2012, of which approximately $0.3
million related to the 2005-2011 tax years. For the year ended December 31, 2013, the Company accrued an additional pretax liability related to the non-
income tax matters of approximately $0.8 million, of which approximately $0.4 million related to the 2007-2012 tax years, and paid approximately $0.3
million to settle with certain states. For the year ended December 31, 2014, the Company accrued an additional pretax liability related to the non-income tax
matters of approximately $0.2 million, and paid approximately $0.1 million to settle with certain states. The expenses are included in selling, general and
administrative expenses on its consolidated statements of operations for the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013, and 2012 and the liability is reflected as
sales tax payable as of December 31, 2014 and 2013, on its consolidated balance sheets. The Company is continuing to work with professional tax advisors
and state authorities to resolve the remaining matters.

Legal Proceedings

On December 4, 2012, the Company’s subsidiary, CC Staffing, Inc. (now known as Travel Staff, LLC) became the subject of a purported class action lawsuit
(Alice Ogues, on behalf of herself and all others similarly situated, Plaintiffs, vs. CC Staffing, Inc., a Delaware corporation; and DOES 1-50, inclusive,
Defendants) filed in the United States District Court, Northern District of California. Plaintiff alleged that traveling employees were denied meal periods and
rest breaks, that they should have been paid overtime on reimbursement amounts, various other wage and hour claims, and that they are entitled to associated
penalties. In 2013, the parties agreed to settle this lawsuit for $0.8 million with the understanding that such settlement is not an admission by the Company of
any liability, negligence or wrong doing. The Court granted final approval of the settlement in September 2014 and during the fourth quarter of 2014 the
Company paid $0.8 million to the plaintiff.

The Company is also subject to other legal proceedings and claims that arise in the ordinary course of its business. In the opinion of management, the
outcome of these other matters will not have a significant effect on the Company’s consolidated financial position or results of operations.

13. Income Taxes

The components of the Company’s loss before income taxes are as follows:

Year Ended December 31,
2014 2013 2012
(amounts in thousands)
United States $ (33,574) $ (11,216) $ (28,599)
Foreign 2,256 1,177 1,704
$ (31,318) $ (10,039) $ (26,895)




CROSS COUNTRY HEALTHCARE, INC.

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2014

13. Income Taxes (continued)

The components of the Company’s income tax expense (benefit) are as follows:

Continuing operations:
Current

Federal

State

Foreign
Total

Deferred
Federal
State
Foreign

Total

Total income tax expense (benefit) for continuing operations

The total income tax provision is summarized as follows:
Continuing operations

Discontinued operations

Year Ended December 31,
2014 2012
(amounts in thousands)

— 8 — 412
811 540 812
262 416 1,561

1,073 956 2,785
(1,320) 37,822 (4,048)

68 5,134 (5,251)

395 299 364

(857) 43,255 (8,935)
216 $ 44211 (6,150)
216 $ 44211 (6,150)

— 2,122 (9,497)

216 S 46,333 (15,647)

Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effect of temporary differences between the carrying amount of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes

and the amounts used for income tax purposes.
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Significant components of the Company’s deferred tax assets and liabilities are as follows:

December 31,

2014 2013

(amounts in thousands)

Current deferred tax assets (liabilities):

Accrued other and prepaid expenses $ 2,823 § 2,592
Accrued settlement charge — 283
Allowance for doubtful accounts 589 650
Other 822 468
Gross deferred tax assets 4,234 3,993
Valuation allowance (6,215) (4,528)
Deferred tax liabilities (1,981) (535)
Non-current deferred tax (liabilities) and assets:
Amortization (5,967) (1,314)
Depreciation 105 (384)
Identifiable intangibles — (2,237)
Net operating loss carryforwards 38,144 32,531
Derivative interest 6,370 —
Accrued professional liability (92) (118)
Accrued workers’ compensation 1,356 675
Tax on unrepatriated earnings (336) (453)
Share-based compensation 959 1,610
Other (1,176) 314
Gross deferred tax assets 39,363 30,624
Valuation allowance (57,401) (47,473)
Deferred tax liabilities (18,038) (16,849)
Net deferred taxes $ (20,019) $ (17,384)

The Company determines the need for a valuation allowance under Income Taxes topic of the FASB ASC by assessing the probability of realizing deferred
tax assets, taking into consideration all available positive and negative evidence, including historical operating results, expectations of future taxable income,
carryforward periods available to the Company for tax reporting purposes, the evaluation of various income tax planning strategies, and other relevant factors.
The Company maintains a valuation allowance when it is more likely than not that all or a portion of a deferred tax asset will not be realized based on
consideration of all available evidence. Adjustments to the deferred tax valuation allowances are made to earnings in the period when such assessments are
made. Significant judgment is required in making this assessment and to the extent future expectations change, the Company would have to assess the
recoverability of its deferred tax assets at that time. The Company's cumulative loss position was significant negative evidence in assessing the need for a
valuation allowance. As of December 31, 2013, the Company determined that it could not sustain a conclusion that it was more likely than not that it would
realize any of its deferred tax assets resulting from recent losses, the difficulty of forecasting future taxable income, and other factors. The Company intends
to maintain a valuation allowance until sufficient positive evidence exists to support its reversal. To be considered a source of future taxable income to
support realizability of a deferred tax asset, a taxable temporary difference must reverse in a period such that it would result in the realization of the deferred
tax asset. Taxable temporary differences related to indefinite-lived intangibles, such as goodwill, are by their nature not predicted to reverse and therefore not
considered a source of future taxable income in accordance with ASC 740. The Company had $19.7 million and $17.4 million of deferred tax liabilities
relating to indefinite lived intangible assets that it was not able to offset against deferred tax assets as of December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively. As of
December 31, 2014 and 2013, the Company recorded valuation allowances of $63.6 million and $52.0 million, respectively. The December 31, 2014 and
2013 valuation allowances applied to all its deferred tax assets.
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The December 31, 2012 valuation allowance related to the uncertainty of the realization of a particular subsidiary’s state portion of its deferred tax asset that
arose from the goodwill impairment and certain separate state net operating losses.

As of December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively, the Company had approximately $97.5 million and $78.1 million of federal, state, and foreign net operating
loss carryforwards. The federal carryforwards expire between 2031 and 2034. The state carryforwards expire between 2014 and 2034. The majority of the
foreign carryforwards are in a jurisdiction with no expiration. A valuation allowance for the net operating losses has been recorded at December 31, 2014 and
2013, to reduce the Company’s deferred tax asset to an amount that is more likely than not to be realized. In the first quarter of 2014, the Company recorded a
non-cash adjustment of $1.7 million primarily related to an overstatement of the valuation allowance established as of December 31, 2013. The out-of-period
adjustment also decreased the net loss by the same amount or $0.06 per diluted share for the three months ended March 31, 2014 and the year ended
December 31, 2014. Management concluded that the adjustment was not material to its prior period financial statements and is not expected to be material to
the full year results for 2014.

The reconciliation of income tax computed at the U. S. federal statutory rate to income tax expense (benefit) is as follows:

Year Ended December 31,
2014 2013 2012
(amounts in thousands)
Tax at U.S. statutory rate $ (10,961) $ (3,514) $ (9,413)
State taxes, net of federal benefit 219 (190) (1,226)
Non-deductible meals and entertainment 1,425 450 962
Foreign tax expense 44 554 (222)
Valuation allowances 12,038 48,556 (44)
Uncertain tax positions (996) (257) 648
Deferred tax rate differential — — 150
Deferred tax write-offs (a) — 221 —
Audit settlements — 160 —
Tax on unrepatriated earnings — (1,465) 2,005
Tax on repatriated earnings — — 519
Tax true ups and other (1,553) (304) 471
Total income tax expense (benefit) for continuing operations $ 216 $ 44211  $ (6,150)

The tax years of 2004, 2005, and 2008 through 2013 remain open to examination by the major taxing jurisdictions to which the Company is subject, with the
exception of certain states in which the statute of limitations has been extended. In mid-July of 2013, the Company received a notice of proposed audit
adjustments from the State of New York relating to the examination of its tax years ending December 31, 2006 through 2009.

In the fourth quarter of 2012, the Company changed its position regarding permanent reinvestment and accrued approximately $1.4 million of U.S. tax and
$0.6 million of India tax on earnings of approximately $9.5 million. During the fourth quarter of 2012, the company repatriated approximately $3.3 million of
foreign earnings from its Indian subsidiary. U.S. income taxes on those repatriated earnings have been offset by its U.S. losses. The sale of the Company’s
clinical trial services unit located outside the U.S. in the UK during 2013 resulted in write-offs of the investment in those subsidiaries and offset the amount of
U.S. taxes that would need to be accrued on the India earnings to zero. During 2014, the Company accrued $0.2 million of India tax on earnings of
approximately $0.6 million. India withholding taxes on a dividend of India earnings are not affected by the calculation of U.S. taxes due and continue to be
accrued.

The Company recognizes in its financial statements the impact of a tax position if that position is more likely than not of being sustained on audit, based on
the technical merits of the position.
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A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amounts of unrecognized tax benefits is approximately as follows:

Balance at January 1 $
Additions based on tax positions related to the current year

Additions based on tax positions related to prior years

Reductions based on settlements of tax positions related to the prior year

Reductions for tax positions as a result of a lapse of the applicable statute of limitations

Other

Balance at December 31 $

2014 2013
(amounts in thousands)
4986 $ 5,204
709 496
91 681
(344) (292)
(1,578) (1,076)
(87) (27)
3,777 $ 4,986

Short-term unrecognized tax benefits are included in other current liabilities on the consolidated balance sheets and were approximately $0.6 million and $1.0
million as of December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively. As of December 31, 2014 and 2013, the Company had unrecognized tax benefits, which would

affect the effective tax rate if recognized of approximately $3.3 million and $4.4 million, respectively. During 2014, the Company had gross increases of $0.8
million to its current year unrecognized tax benefits, related to federal and state tax issues. In addition, the Company had gross decreases of $2.0 million to its

unrecognized tax benefits related to settlement refunds and the closure of open tax years.

The Company recognizes interest and penalties related to unrecognized tax benefits in the provision for income taxes. During the year ended December 31,
2014, the Company recognized a reduction on interest and penalties of $0.2 million. During the years ended December 31, 2013 and 2012, the Company
recognized interest and penalties of $0.1 million. The Company had accrued approximately $0.8 million and $1.0 million for the payment of interest and

penalties at December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively.
14. Stockholders’ Equity

Stock Repurchase Programs

In February 2008, the Company’s Board of Directors authorized its most recent stock repurchase program whereby the Company may purchase up to
1,500,000 shares of its common stock, subject to terms of the Company’s credit agreement. The shares may be repurchased from time-to-time in the open

market and the repurchase program may be discontinued at any time at the Company’s discretion.

During the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, the Company did not repurchase any shares of its Common Stock under its February 2008 Board

authorization.

During the year ended December 31, 2012, the Company repurchased, under this program, a total of 71,653 shares at an average price of $5.22. The cost of

such purchases was $0.4 million. All of the common stock was retired.

At December 31, 2014, the Company may purchase up to an additional 942,443 shares of Common Stock under the February 2008 Board authorization,
subject to certain conditions in the Company's First Lien Loan Agreement and Second Lien Term Loan Agreement. Subject to certain conditions as described
in its Loan Agreement entered into on January 9, 2013, the Company may repurchase up to an aggregate amount of $5,000,000 of its Equity Interests. See

Note 8 - Long-Term Debt for further information.
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Share-Based Payments
2014 Omnibus Incentive Plan

On March 11, 2014, the Board of Directors approved an amendment and restatement of the Company's 2007 Stock Incentive Plan (amended and restated
effective March 20, 2013), which was renamed the 2014 Omnibus Incentive Plan. The term of the Amended Plan was extended until March 10, 2024 (the
2007 Stock Incentive Plan was scheduled to expire on April 5, 2017). The 2014 Omnibus Plan approval was subject to, and became effective upon,
stockholder approval at the Annual Meeting held on May 13, 2014. The 2014 Omnibus Plan provides for the issuance of stock options, stock appreciation
rights, restricted stock, performance shares, performance-based cash awards that may be granted with the intent to comply with the “performance-based
compensation” exception under Section 162(m) of the Internal Revenue Code, and other stock-based awards, all as defined by The 2014 Omnibus Plan, to
eligible employees, consultants and non-employee Directors. The aggregate number of shares of common stock which may be issued or used for reference
purposes under the 2007 Plan or with respect to which awards may be granted may not exceed 4,100,000 shares, which may be either authorized and unissued
common stock or common stock held in or acquired for the treasury of the Company.

Under The 2014 Omnibus Plan, the Compensation Committee of the Company’s Board of Directors (the Committee), has the discretion to determine the
terms of the awards at the time of the grant. Provided, however, that, in the case of stock options and stock appreciation rights (share options): 1) the exercise
price per share of the award is not less than 100% (or, in the case of 10% or more stockholders, the exercise price of the incentive stock options (ISOs)
granted may not be less than 110%) of the fair market value of the common stock at the time of the grant; and 2) the term of the award will be no more than
10 years after the date the option is granted (or, shall not exceed five years, in the case of a 10% or more stockholder). In the case of restricted stock, the
purchase price may be zero to the extent permitted by applicable law.

Restricted stock awards granted under the Company’s 2014 Omnibus Plan entitle the holder to receive, at the end of a vesting period, a specified number of
shares of the Company’s common stock. Share-based compensation expense is measured by the market value of the Company’s stock on the date of grant.
The shares vest ratably over a three to four year period ending on the anniversary date of the grant. There is no partial vesting and any unvested portion is
forfeited.

Pursuant to the 2014 Omnibus Plan the number of target shares that are issued for performance-based stock awards are determined based on the level of
attainment of the targets. Pursuant to the 2014 grants, if the minimum level of performance is attained, restricted stock will be issued with a vesting date of
December 31, 2016, subject to the employee’s continuing employment. Subject to Board of Director approval, as of December 31, 2014, the Company
estimated it achieved a minimum level of performance and accordingly, share-based compensation was recognized during the year ended December 31, 2014
relating to the performance stock awards.

The following table summarizes restricted stock awards and performance-based stock awards activity issued under the 2014 Omnibus Plan (including awards
issued prior to the restatement and amendment) for the year ended December 31, 2014:

Restricted Stock Awards Performance Stock Awards
Weighted Weighted
Average Average
Number of Grant Date Number of Target Grant Date
Shares Fair Value Shares Fair Value
Unvested restricted stock awards, January 1, 2014 552,231 $ 5.37 — 3 =
Granted 377,308 $ 6.18 239,585 $ 5.81
Vested (181,354) $ 5.77 — 3 =
Forfeited (88,535) $ 5.39 (21,410) $ 5.77
Unvested restricted stock awards, December 31, 2014 659,650 $ 5.72 218,175  § 5.82

As of December 31, 2014, the Company had approximately$2.4 million pretax of total unrecognized compensation cost related to non-vested restricted stock
awards which may be adjusted for future changes in forfeitures. The Company expects to
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recognize such cost over a weighted average period of 2.22 years. The fair value of shares vested was approximately $2.3 million, $2.4 million, and $0.9
million for the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013, and 2012, respectively.

As of December 31, 2014, the Company had approximately $0.3 million pretax of total unrecognized compensation cost related to performance stock awards
which may be adjusted for future changes in forfeitures. The Company expects to recognize such cost over a weighted average period of 2 years, the
remaining service period.

The following table represents information about stock options and stock appreciation rights granted and exercised in each year. During the years ended
December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, the Company issued options and stock appreciation rights at market price.

Year Ended December 31,
2014 2013 2012
Share option grants — 324,000 344,500
Weighted average grant date fair value of options granted during the period — 3 177§ 1.65
Total intrinsic value of options exercised $ 695,286 $ 12,465 $ =

The stock appreciation rights can only be settled with stock or cash, at the discretion of the Committee. The stock appreciation rights vest 25% per year over a
4 year period and expire after 7 years. The restricted stock awards vest equally over a 3 to 4 year period on each anniversary date of the grant. The Company’s
policy is to issue new shares from its authorized but unissued balance of common stock outstanding or shares of common stock reacquired by the Company if
stock appreciation rights are settled with stock.

The Company records compensation expense for stock options based on the estimated fair value of the options on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes
option-pricing model with the assumptions included in the table below. The Company computes expected volatility using the historical volatility of the
market price of the Company’s common stock. Historical data is used to estimate the expected option life and the expected forfeiture rate. The risk-free rate is
based on the U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect at the time of grant for the estimated life of the option. During the year ended December 31, 2014, no stock
options were granted. The following assumptions were used to estimate the fair value of options granted using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model:

Year Ended December 31,
2013 2012
Expected dividend yield —% —%
Expected volatility 48.00% 47.00%
Risk-free interest rate 0.79% 0.58%
Expected life 4.2 years 4.3 years

Due to the adoption of the 2007 Stock Incentive Plan, no further grants have been issued under the Company’s 1999 Plans referred to below.

1999 Stock Option Plan and Equity Participation Plan
On December 16, 1999, the Company’s Board of Directors approved the 1999 Stock Option Plan and Equity Participation Plan (collectively, the 1999 Plans),

which was amended and restated on October 25, 2001 and provided for the issuance of ISOs and non-qualified stock options to eligible employees and non-
employee directors for the purchase of up to 4,398,001 shares of common stock.
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The following table summarizes the Company’s activities with respect to all of its share option plans for the year ended December 31, 2014:

Weighted-

Weighted Average

Average Remaining Aggregate

Exercise Contractual Intrinsic

Shares Option Price Price Life (in years) Value

Share options outstanding at beginning of year 1,546,299 $4.16-$22.50 $8.93
Granted — — —
Exercised (228,500) $4.35-$8.56 $7.47
Forfeited/expired (382,704) $4.35-822.50 $11.41
Share options outstanding at end of year 935,095 $4.16-$22.50 $8.27 2.94 $ 4,464,160
Share options exercisable at end of year 655,468 $4.16-$22.50 $9.58 2.07 $ 2,430,566
Share options unvested at end of year 279,627 $4.16-$7.44 $5.21 4.96 $ 2,033,594

As of December 31, 2014, the Company had 935,095 share options outstanding of which 864,671 were vested or expected to vest at a weighted average
exercise price of $8.52, intrinsic value of $4.0 million and a weighted average contractual life of 2.78 years. As of December 31, 2014, the Company had
approximately $0.3 million pretax of total unrecognized compensation cost related to share options which may be adjusted for future changes in forfeitures.
The Company expects to recognize such cost over a period of 2.08 years.

Secondary Offerings

In November 2004, the Company filed a registration statement on Form S-3 with the Securities and Exchange Commission for the registration of 11,403,455
shares of common stock held by three of its existing shareholders. No members of management registered shares pursuant to this registration statement. Prior
to 2013, 8,172,868 shares were sold in a public offering with net proceeds from the sale going to the selling stockholders. During 2013, the remaining shares
were sold by the existing shareholders and as a result, the registration statement is no longer active.

15. Earnings Per Share

In accordance with the requirements of the Earnings Per Share Topic of the FASB ASC, basic earnings per share is computed by dividing net income by the
weighted average number of shares outstanding (excluding unvested restricted stock) and diluted earnings per share reflects the dilutive effects of unvested
stock options and restricted stock (as calculated utilizing the treasury stock method). Certain shares of common stock that are issuable upon the exercise of
options and vesting of restricted stock have been excluded from the 2014, 2013 and 2012 per share calculations because their effect would have been anti-
dilutive. Such shares amounted to 559,064; 1,547,814 and 2,033,632, during the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, respectively. For purposes
of calculating net income (loss) per common share - diluted for the years ending December 31, 2014 and 2013, the Company excluded potentially dilutive
shares of 334,828, and 149,453, respectively, as their effect would have been anti-dilutive, due to the Company’s net loss from continuing operations in the
respective years.

Contingently issuable shares of 3,521,126 as of December 31, 2014, related to Convertible Notes, as defined in Note 8 - Long-Term Debt, if converted, would
have had an anti-dilutive effect, and as such, have been excluded from the per share calculations for the year ended December 31, 2014.
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The following table sets forth the components of the numerator and denominator for the computation of basic and diluted earnings per share:

Year Ended December 31,
2014 2013 2012
(amounts in thousands, except per share data)

Loss from continuing operations $ (31,534) $ (54,250) $ (20,745)
Less: Income attributable to noncontrolling interest in subsidiary 249 — —
Loss from continuing operations attributable to common shareholders (31,783) (54,250) (20,745)
Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of income taxes — 2,281 (21,476)
Net loss attributable to common shareholders $ (31,783) $ (51,969) $ (42,221)
Basic (loss) income per share attributable to common shareholders

Continuing operations $ (1.02) $ (1.75) $ (0.67)

Discontinued operations — 0.07 (0.70)

Net loss $ (1.02) § (1.68) § (1.37)
Diluted (loss) income per share attributable to common shareholders

Continuing operations $ (1.02) $ (1.75) $ (0.67)

Discontinued operations — 0.07 (0.70)

Net loss $ (1.02) § (1.68) § (1.37)
Weighted-average number of shares outstanding-basic 31,190 31,009 30,843
Plus dilutive equity awards — — —
Weighted-average number of shares outstanding-diluted 31,190 31,009 30,843

16. Related Party Transactions

The Company provides services to hospitals which are affiliated with certain members of the Company’s Board of Directors. Management believes the
pricing for the Company’s services is consistent with its other hospital customers. Revenue related to these transactions was $17.8 million, $3.9 million and
$3.8 million in 2014, 2013 and 2012, respectively. Accounts receivable due from these hospitals at December 31, 2014 and 2013 were $2.0 million and $0.8
million, respectively.

In connection with the acquisition of MSN, the Company acquired a 68% ownership interest in InteliStaf of Oklahoma, LLC, a joint venture between the
Company and a hospital system. The Company provides staffing services to the hospital system. Revenue related to these services was $4.7 million during the
period of July 1, 2014 through December 31, 2014. At December 31, 2014, the Company had a receivable balance of $0.9 million and a payable balance of
$0.1 million relating to these staffing services.

17. Segment Information
In accordance with the Segment Reporting Topic of the FASB ASC, the Company reports three business segments — Nurse and Allied Staffing, Physician
Staffing, and Other Human Capital Management Services. The Company manages and segments its business based on the services it offers to its customers as
described below:
*  Nurse and Allied Staffing - Nurse and Allied Staffing provides traditional staffing, including temporary and permanent placement of travel nurses
and allied professionals, and branch-based local nurses and allied staffing. Its clients include: public and private acute-care and non-acute care

hospitals, government facilities, schools, outpatient clinics,
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ambulatory care facilities, retailers, and many other healthcare providers throughout the U.S. The Company aggregates its various brands that it
markets to its customers in this business segment.

*  Physician Staffing — Physician Staffing provides physicians in many specialties, certified registered nurse anesthetists (CRNAs), nurse practitioners
(NPs), and physician assistants (PAs) under the Company's Medical Doctor Associates (MDA) and Saber-Salisbury brands as independent
contractors on temporary assignments throughout the U.S. at various healthcare facilities, such as acute and non-acute care facilities, medical group

practices, government facilities, and managed care organizations. The Physician Staffing business also provides certain other employees on a

temporary basis to its customers.

*  Other Human Capital Management Services - Other Human Capital Management Services provides education and training programs to the
healthcare industry and retained and contingent search services for physicians and healthcare executives, within the U.S.

The Company’s management evaluates performance of each segment primarily based on revenue and contribution income. The Company’s management does
not evaluate, manage or measure performance of segments using asset information; accordingly, total asset information by segment is not prepared or
disclosed. The information in the following table is derived from the segments’ internal financial information as used for corporate management purposes.

Certain corporate expenses are not allocated to and/or among the operating segments.

Information on operating segments and a reconciliation of such information to loss from continuing operations for the periods indicated are as follows:

Year Ended December 31,
2014 2013 (a) 2012 (a)
(amounts in thousands)
Revenue from unaffiliated customers:
Nurse and Allied Staffing 457,034  $ 271,563 $ 272,136
Physician Staffing 123,306 128,781 129,162
Other Human Capital Management Services 37,485 37,967 41,337
617,825 § 438,311  § 442,635
Contribution income: (b)
Nurse and Allied Staffing 36,326 $ 18,424  § 10,277
Physician Staffing 6,700 8,939 10,863
Other Human Capital Management Services 514 746 1,943
43,540 28,109 23,083
Unallocated corporate overhead 27,770 21,844 21,701
Depreciation 3,866 3,886 4,905
Amortization 3,575 2,294 2,263
Acquisition and integration costs 7,957 473 —
Restructuring costs 840 484 —
Legal settlement charge — 750 —
Impairment charges (c) 10,000 6,400 18,732
Loss from operations (10,468) $ (8,022) $ (24,518)

(a) In 2014, the Company reclassified the revenue and contribution income of certain higher level staffing professionals previously included with Nurse
and Allied Staffing to Physician Staffing. In addition, in 2014, the Company refined its methodology for allocating certain corporate overhead

expenses to its Nurse and Allied Staffing segment to more
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17. Segment Information (continued)

(b)

©

accurately reflect the segment’s profitability. Prior year information has been reclassified to conform to current year presentation.

The Company defines contribution income as loss from operations before depreciation, amortization, acquisition and integration costs, restructuring
costs, legal settlement charges, impairment charges, and corporate expenses not specifically identified to a reporting segment. Contribution income is a
financial measure used by management when assessing segment performance and is provided in accordance with ASC 280, Segment Reporting Topic
of the FASB ASC.

During the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, the Company recorded trade names impairment charges of $10.0 million and $6.4 million,
respectively. During the year ended December 31, 2012, the Company recorded pretax impairment charges in its continuing operations of $18.7
million. See Note 5 - Goodwill, Trade Names, and Other Identifiable Intangible Assets for further information.
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First Second Third Fourth
Quarter (a) Quarter (b) Quarter (c) Quarter (d)

2014 (amounts in thousands)
Revenue from services $ 118,091 122,656 188,944 188,134
Gross profit 30,450 32,436 47,277 47,641
Loss from continuing operations, net of tax (782) (3,181) (7,484) (20,087)
Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax — — — —
Consolidated net loss (782) (3,181) (7,484) (20,087)
Less: Net income attributable to noncontrolling interest in subsidiary — — 118 131
Net loss attributable to common shareholders (782) (3,181) (7,602) (20,218)
Basic (loss) income per share attributable to common shareholders

Continuing operations $ (0.03) (0.10) (0.24) (0.65)

Discontinuing operations — — — —

Net loss $ (0.03) (0.10) (0.24) (0.65)
Diluted (loss) income per share attributable to common shareholders

Continuing operations $ (0.03) (0.10) (0.24) (0.65)

Discontinuing operations — — — —

Net loss $ (0.03) (0.10) (0.24) (0.65)

First Second Third Fourth
Quarter (e) Quarter Quarter Quarter (f)

2013 (amounts in thousands)
Revenue from services $ 110,316 110,768 108,048 109,179
Gross profit 28,876 27,838 28,184 28,562
(Loss) income from continuing operations, net of tax (1,346) (1,435) 1,453 (52,922)
Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of tax 2,504 (22) (539) 338
Consolidated net income (loss) 1,158 (1,457) 914 (52,584)
Less: Net income attributable to noncontrolling interest in subsidiary — — — —
Net income (loss) attributable to common shareholders 1,158 (1,457) 914 (52,584)
Basic (loss) income per share attributable to common shareholders

Continuing operations $ (0.04) (0.05) 0.05 (1.70)

Discontinuing operations 0.08 — (0.02) 0.01

Net income (loss) $ 0.04 (0.05) 0.03 (1.69)
Diluted (loss) income per share attributable to common shareholders

Continuing operations $ (0.04) (0.05) 0.05 (1.70)

Discontinuing operations 0.08 — (0.02) 0.01

Net income (loss) $ 0.04 (0.05) 0.03 (1.69)
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(@)
(b)
(©)

(d)

(e)

)

During the first quarter of 2014, the Company recorded acquisition and integration costs of 0.3 million. See Note 3 - Acquisitions.

During the second quarter of 2014, the Company recorded acquisition and integration costs of $2.7 million. See Note 3 - Acquisitions.

On June 30, 2014, the Company acquired substantially all of the assets and certain liabilities of Medical Staffing Network Healthcare, LLC. The
acquisition has been accounted for in accordance with FASB ASC 805, Business Combinations, using the acquisition method. The results of the
acquisition's operations have been included in the consolidated statements of operations from July 1, 2014 due to their immaterial impact on June
30, 2014, the date of the acquisition. See Note 3 - Acquisitions. During the third quarter of 2014, the Company recorded acquisition and
integration costs of $2.4 million and a change in fair value of convertible notes derivative liability of $7.3 million. See Note 3 - Acquisitions and
Note 9 - Convertible Notes Derivative Liability.

During the fourth quarter of 2014, the Company recorded acquisition and integration costs of $2.5 million, a trade name impairment charge of
$10.0 million, and a change in fair value of convertible notes derivative liability of $9.4 million. See Note 3 - Acquisitions, Note 5 - Goodwill,
Trade Names, and Other Identifiable Intangible Assets, and Note 9 - Convertible Notes Derivative Liability.

The Company sold its Clinical Trial Services business on February 15, 2013. The Clinical Trial Services business has been classified as
discontinued operations. The transaction resulted in a gain on sale of $4.0 million pretax, or $2.1 million after tax. See Note 4 — Discontinued
Operations.

On December 2, 2013, the Company acquired the operating assets of On Assignment, Inc.’s Allied Healthcare Staffing division. The acquisition
has been accounted for in accordance with FASB ASC Topic 805, Business Combinations, using the acquisition method. The results of these allied
healthcare staffing operations have been included in the Company's consolidated statements of operations since December 2, 2013, the date of the
acquisition. See Note 3 - Acquisitions. During the fourth quarter of 2013, the Company recorded a deferred tax assets valuation allowance of
approximately $48.4 million and a trade names impairment charge of $6.4 million. See Note 13 - Income Taxes and Note 5 - Goodwill, Trade
Names, and Other Identifiable Intangible Assets.
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Balance at Charged to Balance at
Beginning Costs and Other End
of Period Expenses Write-offs Recoveries Changes of Period
(amounts in thousands)
Allowance for Doubtful Accounts
Year ended December 31, 2014 $ 1,651 1,016 $ (1,257)  $ 15 — $ 1,425
Year ended December 31, 2013 $ 1,841 1,078 $ (1,324) $ 56 — $ 1,651
Year ended December 31, 2012 $ 2,180 786 $ 913) $ 16 (228) (a) $ 1,841
Valuation Allowance for Deferred Tax Assets
Year ended December 31, 2014 $ 52,001 12,038 (b) $ — S — 423) (¢ $ 63,616
Year ended December 31, 2013 $ 4,033 48,406 (d) $ (438) $ — — $ 52,001
Year ended December 31, 2012 $ 3,678 355 (e) $ — 3 — — $ 4,033
(a) Represents the reclassification of the allowance for doubtful accounts related to Assets Held for Sale. See Note 4 — Discontinued Operations.
(b) Related to deferred tax assets.
(c) Related to foreign valuation allowance adjustment.
(d) Related to deferred tax assets, Cyprus NOL's, and reversal of deferred tax assets related to the Clinical Trial Services business.
(e) Related to deferred tax assets on state net operating losses and a particular subsidiary’s state portion of its deferred tax asset that arose from

goodwill impairment.
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- A AIRFAX

LEASE AGREEMENT

BOCA RATON, FLORIDA

THIS LEASE AGREEMENT (this "Lease™) is made ascru.isﬁaﬁ;f Movember, 1999, by
and between FAIRFAX BOCA 92, L.P., a Georgia limited partnership ("Landlord"), and MEDICAL STAFFING
NETWORK, INC., a Delaware corporation ("Tenant™);

WITNESSETH:

I Premifes. In consideration of ihe roms, terms and cnumnkm’llu: Lease, Landlord hereby leases, lers and demizes o Tenant
thast certain premises (the *Premises” ]lcnmarmugamm:mmdr 15,000 rentable square feet siusted on the firet {12t Aoor of Ped E in Building
235, 901 Yamase Road, Boea Raton, Florida 33431 {the "Building®), as shown cullined on Exhibit A, ansched heseto and made 1 past hereof,
The land upan which the Bullding is keatsd is mote partieatarly described on Exhibir B, auached hereto and mads 3 past bereof {ihe "Land™;
the Dulding and the Land together will all improvements hetated thereon are eollectively refeered to herein as the “Project™). All of the
wirdaws and outside wabls of the Premises, and any space in the Premises used for shafts, pipes, conduits, ducts, telephone ducts and
equipment, electric or other wtilities, or other Building facilities, and the use theceof and access thereto through the Premises for the purposes of
operation, maintenance, inspection, display and repaies sre hereby reserved to Landford.

2. Terrg. The Term {3z hereinafter defined) of thix Lease shatl be for 2 term of five (5) year:mm;h: (%) months commencing on December
1, 1999 {the *Commencement Date™) and ending at 12:00 midnight on July 31, 2005 (the *Expiration Date”) (such term, taking into account any
seoper iermination of renewal or extension, is hereinafier referred 10 25 the “Term™). Tenant's occupancy of all or any ponion of the Premises
prior 1o the Commencement Date shall be subject o and Tenant agrees o comply with (as theugh e Term has commenced) all of the provisions
of thit Leaze.  Landlord agrees 1o deliver possession uf the Premises (o Tenant for perposes of construction on or befare November 13, 1559,

3, face Reny. (3) Tenant agrees to pay fase Rent in incndly Instalimenis on the first day of each month, during the ociginal Term of
the Lease in an amoant equal 1o the product of il number of rentable square feet contained in the Premises, muliiplicd by the anouat rats per
rentable square Food set forth below:

The initial annval Base Rent shall be $10.75 per RSE and shall escalate by thres percent (3 %) per aamum beginning January 2001, Tenand shall
be provided rent abaszment for a period af four months (December 1, 1999 - March 31, 2000) en Base Rent only. However, if Tenant is notin
eccupancy during the month of December 1599, then both Base Rent and Operating Expenses will be abated.

Tenant shall be provided access 1o de Promises effeeiive November 15, 1999 for beginaing improvements. Any occupancy during the perfod of
Mavember 15, 1999 trough November 30, 1999 shall be completely rent-free.

Each monthly instaliment of Base Rent shall be payable to Landiord at ﬂradr.lusrul I'nnh in Section 31 below on the first day of each calendar
monah, in legel iender of the United States of Amcrica, without ab of offser whatspever, except as may be expressly
provided in this Lease, The monthly installment of Buse Rem shall he “due and [uy:hln am or before ibe first day of each calendar momh
Fnt‘nwlng the Cmmmm Dane during the Term; provided, that if the Commencement Date should be & date other tlian the frst day of 3

dar momth, the y Dage Rent shial] be prorated i the end of tat calendar momh. Tenant shall pay, a5 Additional Rent, il other nmme
s from Tenant under this Lease, including, bt not limited 1, any rent 3X of Giher (a2 imposed upon Landlord based upon et payments
{other than i taxes and jmposgitions of like character) 1o ihe extent not incladed in Operating Expenses (a3 hereinafier defined) (the term

*Rent™ means all E.m Rent, Additions] ent and all other 2mounts payable hereunder from Temant to Landéord).

(b) In addition o the Base Rent payohie pursaiand 10 Section 3(2) sbove, Tenant shall promptly pay to Landiord dee cost of edectric
power consumed in the Premises within any computer room, or for supplemental air conditioning systems or any equipment ingtalied which
consumes electric current in excess of the amounts specilied in Section 9c). Tenant shall. at Tenant's sole cost and expense, install a submeter -
10 measure all such slecirie power coasumed in the Fremises by Tenant in such locations and Tenant shall pay the cost of such electric power 5o
consamed 32 determined by the submeser cabculued at the rate structure then existing of the uiility company supplying elecirical energy 1o the
Premises.

4. Operojing Expenges. (2) Compatation apd Paymeni. Tenant agrees wo pay as Additional Rent, Tenant's pro rata share of
such Operating Expenses (3s heretnafier defined) of the Project, The 2000 projecied operating expenses are §7.03 per SF. Landlord shall
estimate the projecied Operating Expenses for the Project and Teaant's pro stz share of such projected Operating Expenses prior to the
comme of each calendar year during the Term and shall notify Tenant in writing of such estimaie. The amount of Additional Rent
specified in such notification shall be paid by Tensnt i Landlord in equal monthly insiallments in advarce oa the fiest day of each month of such
crswing calendar year, a1 the same fime and in ithe same manecr a3 Base Reat. Lasdlord shall, within theee (3) months following the close of
each calendar year during the Term, provide Temant with a statemeat of the actual Operating Expenges for such calendar year, In reasonable
detail. I such staiement shows an amount owing by Tenant for the acsual Operating Expenses during a calendar year that is Jess than the sem of
the monthly payments of Addisonal Rent made by Tenant for projected Operating Exp for such calendar year, the statement shall be
aczompanied by a refund 1 Tenant of the everpayment. [F sucl shows an owing by Terant for scral Operating Expenses
durirg & ealendar year which is more than the sun of the monthly payments of Additional Rend made by Tenant for projecied Operating
Expenses for such calendar year, Tenant shall pay such deficiency 10 Landlord within sixry (60) days after receipt of such statermenat. [ the
Term shall begin oa 3 day auber than fanuary | oe shall end un a day other than December 31, the amount of any Additional Rent for Operating
Expenset payable by Tenant applicable ia the year in which the Term heging or ends, respectivaly, shall be proraced on the ratio that the acmal
mumber of Jays of the Term and such year bears w 365, Landlord may invoice Tenant for Tesant"s pro rata share of actual Operating Expenses
for the calendsr yeas in which tle Term ends (if swch anwuat is mace than the sum of the moathly payments of Additional Rent for projecied
Operating Expenses made by Tonat in sich caberdar year) within thirty (30) duys peior 19 the eoad of the Term of o any time thereafier.
HNotwithsianding any pravision of this Lease 1w contrury, if occupancy of the Building a1 any time during the Term is less than one bundred
percent (100%), then actual varizhie Operating txperses for the Muilding for such calendar year shall be increased ["grossed 1p°) o that amount
ﬂfoﬁ'“"ﬂi Expenses that, using reasonable extimaies, would noemally be expected o be incurred during such calendar year if the Buikding was

nadred percent (100%) oocupied during swch calesdar year, as determined umder generally scceped acocunting principles corsiziendly
applicd. The term “grossed up™ a3 used in this Section shalt mean and refer to the method of calculating such variable Operating Expenses
which is designed 1o reasonably estimase what woulll be dhe cost of providing a variable Operating Expense service to ihe rentable arcas of the
Building receiving stch service. The gross-up treatment shall be applied only with respect 1o the variable Opmrun; Ex; 5, which are thase
component expenses that are aflected by variations in nccupancy levels arising from services provided 10 space in the |‘.h.| helng occupsed by
tenants, in order W equitahly albscare such varialile Opceating Bxpenses to e tonaints recelving fle benelit thereof,
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(] Definition :ﬂﬁl’iﬂﬂ Ulsw term “Operating Eapenses” inchedes 3l 7 b cotis and exy incurred
with respect to the mainensnce and uperation of the l'!wldllu,m‘ l“mj.ﬂ:l {determined in socardsnce with prmll;r accepied accounting principles
consistently applied), such as, but pod limited 1w, Building services, maintenance and repair costs, electriciry {exclusive of any charges made
pursuant o Section J{b) :hm-g} rugl waler, sewer, gas and olier utility charges, security, window washing, janiiorial services, trash and snow
removal, landscaping, pest sbile management foes (5ol 1o excesd 5% of grods reventes), wages and fringe benefits payable to
cnq)luyus of Lmdlnnl orof any mm:gcrmu agent of Landiond whoge duties are directly connected with the operation and mainienance of the
Building, a1l services, supplies, repairs, ref of ather eaf for mai 2 and opersting ibe Building, inchoding, but net limied o
lobby and oiher common use antas, vehicular and pedestrian traffic areas and r-lm areas; all real property taxes (calculated utilizing the

dise ble rate irretpective of when scuually p:nll and installments of special assesements, insluding :pl::ul asressments dus o
secorded covenams or resirictions, il any, which scerue agains the Building during the Term, myuddlrmmbbeumwewnmﬂ
by Landlard in seeking a reduction of any such taxes o . and alli & i dlord s required to pay or deems necessary
w pay, including public liabiliry insurance, real loss insurance, and contractual Tiabiliry iuwrw:e. with respect (o the Building; the coss,
ircluding interest, amortized over its useful life, of any capiizl iinprovement made to the Building by or on behalf of Landiord after the date of
this Leass which is required under any goveramental law or repinlation that was aol applicable o dve Building at the tme of its construction, and
of the acquisition and brstallavion of any device or equipment dedgned and rexsonably expected 1o redece Operating Expenses of 1o improve the
qp.muq efficiency of any system within the hni-.lmg The term "Operating Expenses™ does not include any depreciation allowance or expense,

the cost of restoration occasioned by casualry, ineome or francbise tares of Landinrd, expenses incurred in leasing to or procuring of Tenants,
leasing commissions o expenses for the reacvating of space I+ pew Tenanis.

fe) Tenani'e Pro Raes Share. Tenant's pro rata share of Operating Expenses shall mean the proportion that the rentable
square footage in the Premives bears 10 the tatal rentable squone footage of the Building.

5. Late Piymment Charpe. Other remedies for nonpoyysent of Rent notwithstanding, ifany payment of Sass Rent or Additional Rent
it not received by Landlord on or hefore ihe fifth (Sth) day of il manth for which such payment of Rent is due, or if any oiher payment dus
Landlard by Tenant is not received by Landlord on or befiore vhe tenih (10} day of the monih next following the month in which Tenant is
inwoiced, 1 late payment charpe of five percent (5%) of such aswant for each and cvery thirty (30) day period that said amount remains
(but in ma event shall the amount of such tate charge exceed an -mount based wpon the highest legally pnmmM: raic chargeable at any time by
Landlord wnder ihe circumstances) shull become due aml g vl in addition to sich amounts owed under this Lease, Should Tenant make a
Pﬂhl payment of past due amounts, ihe amount of such parti. : payment shail be applicd fiest 1o reduce all acerued and unpaid late charges, in
inverse order of their manaeiny.

6. Tengnt Accepuance, Except as otherwise provid. | herein, Tenant shall be deemed 10 have aceepted the Premises from Landlord
pursuan §o this Lease on an “as-is® basis, and cach party ackmwledges that, excep as specifically provided hercin, Landlord has made, makes
and shall make m[gpgggnmmm- warrantics with respect e the Premi expiress of implied Tnmuuhnﬂed;u that Tenant has had the
full and complece oppormunity to inspect ibe Premizes (and v have enginessing and other inspection repasts prepared by professionals with
fespect o the Premises). Without limiting the generality of - Furegoing, Tenanr scknowledges and agrees that Landload, except a8 specifically
provided hersin, his mads, makes and shall make (i) na reprezenlation of waeranty of tenantabilicy or habiability with tespeet to the Premises,
i) no representation o Im:nrypfl'mwﬂh respect 10 any personal property contained therein, {I.ul and no representation or warranty with
respect (o the physical condition of the Premists o the ?F:rau.rgq:drr or condition of any fixtures, equipment or systems of the Premises, tave
and excepi that Landlosd does represent and warrant 10 Tenan tlat alt Building systems and equipment, inchading HVAC (excloding, however,
the Supplemental Aic-Conditioning Sysiem, 1 hereinafier defined) and all water and utility systems, and the roof and structure of the Building
aral it parking aseas are now and will on the Commenseme ! ate be in good working order and condition. Tenant agrees that, except for the
tepresentations specifically made berein, Tenant iz not relving wpon any representations or warranties of Landlord with respect w the
tenaniability, habitability, fitness, physical candition o epera e order of the Promises or any of the personsl property or fixmures, equipment or
systems coatained therein,

T Secnriry Deposii. Tenant will deposit with Las Jurd, upon excoution, a check in the amount of §20,000.00 as secarity deposit.

8. {fegpe. Tenant warcams and represents 10 Lam'®and dut the Prensises shall be used and occupied only for the purpose of general
offices (including conference and computer facilites, empluyr kitchen and relad facilities) and for n0 other purpose.

a. Bullding Services. thin;ﬂ:'\'::mnl'lhﬂt.ta"' L;ndlard:gmsmnpcﬂmuﬂnﬂmhlbumuln manner similae to and
in accordance with a standasd of eamparable buildings in te Doca Raton, Flarsts market area {"Comparable Buildings®) and to provide o
Tﬁurl. the following services, which include, bt are out limised wo:

(a) General cleaning and janitorial tervice required 23 a result of normal, pradent use of the Premises in accordance with
Exhibir C attached hereto and made a part hereof and enly s Mandays through Fridays, inclusive, with New Year's Day, Memorial Day,
Independence Day, Labor Day, Tmm;.-.ing Day ard Cliriasmas Day (herein cellectively called the "Holidays") excepied;

(1] Heating, veatilating snd sir-coaditionivy service daily on Mondays through Fridays, inclasive, with Holidays excepted,
from 8:00 A.M. 10 6:00 P.M. and on Sarurdays, 1rm| 3 Huln.Lar From 8:00 A M. o 1200 P.M. The rangs of iemperatures maintained ln the
Building shall be ble 1o those tained in other like-kind office buildings in the City of Boca Raton, Florida as the same may be
regulated by gnw.mnlll autharity. Sml:lTwm desire eitfher heating or air conditioning a1 times when such services are not furnished by
Landiord ander the terms of his Lease, such shall be provided upon not less thaa iwenty-four (24) hours prior notice 10 Landlord during
Landiond" A business houes, and Tenan shall pay Lo Landiord actual costs for such services (current charges presently are esimated at
$35/Mheur for each 25,000 rentable square feslor portaan thereaf within an individoal pod). Tenant may, in sccondance with Seétion |2 hereof,
instal! suppl | gir canditioning systems in ihie Premisex ;1 fhe gole cost and expense of Tenant, which sysiems shall be separately meered
(the ingtallation cost of such meter 1o be Tenant's expense) axd 2l wrility costs associated with such sysiems shall be Tenant's responsibilicy.

() Ebectric current for lighting and reassnable facilities for furnishing usual and normal electric power for ofice space.
Tenant shall not, without Landlord's prior writien consent, va: of ingtall any equipevent (i) which consames more than 30 Amps and 208 volis or
{ii) wies eleciric current in excess of the capacity of the fevders of lines o the Duilding or the risers or wiring installation of the Dullding or the
Premises; .

)] Onesite property Manigement service”

i) Instaltation, as an Operating Expense suliject o reimbursement as provided in Seetion 4 hereof, of all replacement
flsorescent lamps, light bulhs and hallasts as needed in the Pacinises (incheding any non-standard, special or upgraded lamps and ballasts within
the Premises, prg:.-uh,lem shiall pay e Lardlord upon deinud ae Additional Kent the incremenead difTerence in the cost of such non-standard
lamipe and ballasts over the bullding stardard lights and balkizis; and

n Pazeenger anel freight elevatars servia; cach of the flaors of the Premises in common with other tenants.
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Failure by Laadlord 16 any extent 16 farnish these defined seevices or any athier services nol esumerated of any cessation thereof, shall not
rerder Landlord liable in any respect for damages o either person o propeety, give rise 10 any abatement of rent or relieve Tenant from
fulfillment of any covenant cantained in iis Leasz. Shoald any of the cquipment or machinery break down, or for any cause cease 1o function
propecly, Landlord shall use reasonable diligence to repair the same promquly, but Tenant shall have ro claim for shatement or rebate of rest on
aceound of any iMesruption in servies oocasioned from the repaiss, except as specifically provided below,

10. INTENTIONALLY OMITTED,

1. Bepulrs and Malatenance. (3} Terants Repairs and Maintenance. Tenant shall, at its own cost and expense, maintain the
Premises in condition existing on the dase of this Lease, inclucling all recessary repairs and replacements. Tenant shall ferther, a1 its own cost
and expense, repair of restore any damage or injury 1o 2ll ar any part of dee Dutlding eaused by Tenant or Tenant’s agents, employees, invitees,
licensees, vighers or comractors, incheding but nat limited 1o any repdirs or repl itated by (i) the fiom or instatlation of
impravements 1o the Premises by or on behalf of Tenant, (i) the installation, use or operation of Tenam's property, or (i) the moving of any
propeny into of out of the Premises; provided, however, il Tenant fails 1o make the repairs or replacements promptly, Landlord may, at jis
option upon ten (10) business days written npatice, make the repairs or replacements and the costs of such repairs or a3 ghall be
charged o Tenant a5 Additional Rent and shall become due and payable by Tenant with the mombly installment of Base Rent nex dus
heceunder,

() Condition st En of Terny. Oa the Expiration Date, Tenant thall surrender the Premites o Landlord in the condition in which
Fremises were originally received from Landlord, except for aedinary wear and tear and dsmage by casualty or taking not required o be
repaired by Tenant hereunder. So long as Terant i3 not in Jefaull bereunder, Tenant may remove from the Premises on or peior to the
Expiration Date all property situated therein which is not owned hy Lanclord, and Tenant shall, an or prioe 1o the Expiration Date, remave all of
Tenant's office equipment, irade fistares and moveable fernishings rom tbe Premises. Propenty not 3o removed shall become the property of
Landlord, ard Lardlord may a1 Tenant®s expense remove such property from the Premises and dispose thereof without any lability of Landlord
w0 Tenant.

c} Lapdlord's Blepains and Mainsnance. Landiond shall duding the Term maintain the Bailding in a manner comparable 10 ather
Comparable Buildings. including, but not limiied 10, public areas of the Buoilding, landscaped areas of the Land and Building, elevators, stairs,
common restrooms and main lobby area for the Building, heating, ventilning and air conditioning systems (exchusive of any Tenant
air conditioning systems that Tenant shall install), other mechanical systems, piumbing, life safety systems, elecirical systems and the roof and
Struchure,

2. dAlierations and Improvements. (3) Mo alieeation, addfidon, improvement of insiallation (ereinafier colbectively *Alicrations® or
individually referred 1o as an *Alicration®) 1o the Premises shall be made or permitted 10 be made by Tenant, except as provided in Section 1208
below, without the prior wrien of Landloed, wisicli < shall not be uareasonably withheld or delayed. As acondition of giving any
consem under this Sl-,:ﬂinrl 12, Lardloed may require, among other things, that Tenant (a) deliver 1o Landlord and obtain Landlord's appeoval of
final plans and specifications for the Alierations, (b) obtain Landlosd's approval of all cont and subcomnt performing Alerations, (c)
obtain all permits, aparovals aad eeniblicates required by governmental of quasi-governmental bodics, and upon completion, cenificates of fnal
appeoval and thall defiver prompily duplicates of all such governmental permits, approvals and certificates 1o Landlord, (d) carry and cause afl
contractors and subcondractors to carry, worker's compersation, g 1 liability, p I and property damage irsurance, (¢) if notice is given
by Landlord 10 Tenant concurrently with the defivery of Landlord's approval of any Alteration that Landlord will requirs the removal of an
Alteration at the expiration or earbier termination of the teem, Landlord shall have ihe right 10 reqairs Temant, at iis sole cost and expense, 10
remove any “Non-Standard” (hereinafter defined) Alteration, o1 the expiration or earlicr termination of the Term, and () provide security
rextanshly satisfactory o Landlaed in order to insure that the Premises 2id Building shall be kept free from mechanics’ or materialmens’ lisns
and that all approved Alrerations will be fully paid for. For purposes of this Section [2(a), a "Non-Stsnderd® Alteration shall be any Aleration
() that shall in Landiord's reasonable opinion require demnlition costs on & per square food basts materially greater than the cosls on 1 per
square foot basis 1o demolish the tznant improvements initially installed in the Fremises and approved by Landlord and (z) that s of a naters mot
generally found in comparable office space 2t the time of the request for approval,

Maotwithstanding the foregoing provisions of this Section 12(a), Tenant shall have no right without Landbord's prior writien consent, to make amy
Alterations which would (i) adversely affect the load bearing structural components zod strecural soundness of the Bullding, (1i) adverssly affect
the ceatral environmental systems (cxcheding ventilation ducts, diffusers and eesrns), (i) adversely affect the electrical, plumbing or elher
wiility sysiems of the Building or (ivh adversely affect the roullng sysien, window plass, window gaskets or glazing.

{b) Morwithstanding the foregoing, Tenant may, without Landlord®s consent, make Alierations that are non-strucesral i nanare and do
0ot advessely affecs the Building mechanical, plumbing or electrical syssems; provided (i) Tenant shall give Landlord fificen {15) days advance
notice of sisch Alerstions which nolice shall melude a description of such Alierations: (i) all ssch Alterations shall be installed or constructed in
accordarce with all laws; (i) Tensnt shall obtain all necessary permits reguired by povernmental or quasi-governmental bodies; (iv) all
contraciors shall be approved by Landlord, such approval not 1o be unreasonably withbeld or delayed; (v) Tonang shali deliver to Larndlord upon
completion theres! as-buile plans theeefor; (vi) if the Alleration s s Mos-Standard Alieration and if nolice i given by Landlord m Tenant within
said fifizen (15) day period thar Landiord requires the removal of such Non-Standand Alteration at the expission or earlier termination of the
Term, then Tenant shall, at its sole costs and expense, rerwove any Mon-Standard Altzration a1 the expiration or carlier termination of the Term;
and {vit) Teram shall carry and cause s contrators 10 carry worker's comgensation, general liabilicy, personal and property dartiage insurance.

{e) Mowwithstanding any prevision in ihis Section 12 or otherwise In this Lease 16 the contrary, Tenant shall not make any Alicration
that shall affect the facade or exterior face of the Building or otherwiss alfect the appearance of the Building from the exterior of the m:u
any respect. Landlosd reserves the right 1 unreasonably willshold its consent o any such Alteration in Landlord®s sole snd absolute \

{d) All Alierations which may be made o the Premises. shall become the property of Landlord and remain and be surrendered with
the Premises. Tenani agrees o repair any damage o the Premises caused hy or in ion with the r of any articles of ]
propenty, business or trade fixiures, iocheding without limiation thereo, repairing ihe fioor and paiching and painting the walls where damaged.

(e} Landlond agrees 1o provide 1o Teasnt, a build-out allowance equal to $12.50 per RSF or $187,500 10 be waed oward mdui;n
ard construction of the Premises. Payment of such allowanse will be mads wiitin thirry (30) days of receipt of invoices from Tenant along with
the appropriate lien waivers cenifying that such work is complete and free of liens, Landlord agrees to make peciodic payments (on a monthly
basis) o assist Tenant in payment of build-cut costs. In the event Tenant does not uiilize the emirs build-out allowance, then Landlord wil
agree 1o apply the unused portion as renial abatement for Dase Rent, :
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13, Sugndunds for Wark. (2) Whenever in this Lease Landlond or Tenant i permitted of reqiired 1o maintain and repair, or make
aditions, alterations, substitutions o¢ replactments, Of reCUNSINUCE of feslore the Building or the Premises, such party shall cause such wock (the
“Waek™) 16 be done and completed in a good, sobstantial and workmanlike manner, free from fauls and defecus, and in compliance with all legal
sequirements, and skall utilize only pew first-class muterials and supplies. The party performing such Wark shall be solely resporaible for
construction means, methads, techniques, sequentes and procedures, aod fos coordinating all activities celated 1o the Work, and ihe ofher pary
shall have na dury or obligation 1o fnpect the Work, hat shall have the right 10 do $0.

b} Whenewer Landlord or Tenant is required o perforn any Wark upoa the Building or the Premises, such party shall prompily
commence (he Work and, once the Wark is commenced, diligenily 20d continually pursise the Work and complete the Work within a reasonable
fimme. The party pesforming such Work shall superviss and direct ile Work wrilizing its best efforis and reasanable care, and shall assign such
qualified persanrel o the Work as may be necessany b cause the Worek to he completed in an Jitious fashi

")

{e) The parry performing swch Work shall {i) provide and pay for all labor, materials, goods, supplies, equipment, appliances, toals,
construction equipment and machinery and other Facilitics and services necessary foc the proper execution and completion of the Work; (1)
promptly pay when dee all costs and expenges incurred in sonnzction with the Woark; (iii) pay all sales, consumer, use and similar taxes Tequired
by law in conmcction with the Work; {iv) secure and pay for all permits, fees and L ry for the peslo of the Wark; and (v) at
all times maintzin the Premises and the Project free and chear from any and all liens, claims, security interests and encumbrances arising from or
in conmection with the Work, ipcluding, without Fimitation, liens for materials delivered, supplied or furnished, o for services or labor
performed or rendered. All materials, supplies, goods, appli anud equip incorporated in the Work shall be free from any liees, secarity
{ntezeats o lithe retention acrangements, olser than the lien or szcurity interest (if any) of the holder of any Morgage taced upon the Premises
by Landlord. However, noshing contained in this Scetivn is intended to restrict oe affect any right the pasty performing such Work may
olherwise have under this Lease for reimburscanent of any custs of expenses incurred in connection with such Work.

(d} The pariy performing such Work shall (i) be respensitle fur the 3c12 and omissions of all of its employees and all other persons
performing any of the Work; (i) be respansible for Initiating, maintaining and supervising all necessary salery Fﬂmtim and programs in
comnection with the Wark; iii) take all reasonable precauticss for the safety of, 2nd provide all reasonahle protecteon 13 prevent damage, injury
or bass to, the Work, all persons performing the Work, 2l other persons who may he involved in or affected by the Werk, all materials and
equipment 1o be incorporated in the Wik and all other property in the Building or on e Land of adjacent thereta; (iv) purchase and maintain in
fisll foree and effect, and cause i contractors and subcunlracions (@ purchase and mainain in full force and effect, such irsurance (if any) in
sddition 1o that otherwise required of such party under this Lease as may be necessary w profect such parry from claims under worker's
compensation acts and ether emplayee benefit acts, from claims fir damapes becsuse of bodily injury, including death, and from claims for
damage to peoperty which arise cut of performance of the Waork. Such additional insurance palicics, if any, shall meet the requirements sef focth
elsawhere herein with respect to the insurance policies herwise required 10 be obtained and maknained by such party under this Lease, The
party performing such Work shall pay and shall indemaify and save the other party and its officers, employees and agents harmless from all K-
abilities, damages, losses, costs, expenses, causes of setion, suits, claims, demands and jodgments of any Ranre arising out of, by reason of or
in connection with the Waork.

14, Complipnce with Lowe, Rufer angd Regnlndons, Tenam, 2t Tenant's expense, shall comply with all laws, srdinances, orders, rulss
and regulations of state, fediral, county, municipal or other agencics or bodics having jurisdiction celating ta the Premises. Tenant will comply
willh the Rules and Regulations adepeed by Landlord which are set forth on Eehibie 1, attached hereto and hereby made a part hersof, Landlord
shall have the right at all fimes 1o change the Rules and Regulations in any reasonable manacr as Landlord may desm necessary of advisable,
All changes and amendrments in the Kules and Repulations will be sent by Landlord 1o Tenant in writing and shall therealier be carcied cut and
observed by Tenant, Laedlond thall not enforce the Rules amd Regulations in a discriminatory manner against Tenant, Lardlord shall comply
weith all laws, ordinances, orders, rules and regulations of state, federal, county, manicipal or other agencies or bodies having jurizdiction
relating to the Building other than e Premises amd pugtions of the Project leased to other lenamts.

15. Conderanaifon, () Subsania] Taking. 1F, durlng e Term, all oc a substantal part of the Premises is permanenily taken o any
public or quasi-public use undsr any governmental law, ordinance of regulaiion, or by right of emineat domain of by purchase or exchange in
licu thereaf, and the 1aking would peevent or materially interfers with the use of the Premises for the pumase fif which they are then being used,
thye Teem shall teominate and the Rent shall be abated during the otherwise unpexpired portion of the Term effective on the dae physical
t jon af the cond § property is taken by the condemning authority. The decermination of whether such taking would prevent or
materially interfere with the use uf the Premises shall be mude by Lardlord, however Landlond shall act reasonably in making such
determinaiion.

b Lest Than Substantia] Taking. 1athe event 2 poction of the Premises shall be taken for any public or quasi-public use under any
governmantal law, ordinance or regulatiun, or by right of eminent domain or by parchase or exchange in licu thereof, and the Term s not
terminated as provided in subsection (3) sbove, Landlord may, 3t Landlord’s option and at Landlord’s expense, restore and reconstruct the
Billing and cthet improvemenis of which the Prembses are 3 part i the extent necessary 10 make them reasonably renantable, and the Rent for
the remainder of the Term shall be abated 1o such exient as may be fzir and reasonzble considering afl the circumstances.

16. Fire o Cosualte. (3} Sohatantial Damage. If the Premises should be wially destroyed by fine or ather casuahy, of if the
Premises should be 5o damaged such that the rebuilding cannod reasonably be completed within ens bundred and eighty (180 days afier the date
af wrilten notificzlion by Tenant o Landloed of the destrsction, either Landlord or Tenant may werminase this Lease and the Rent shall be abated
fot the oiferwise unexpired portion of the Term, cfiective a5 of ibe date of such casualty. The determination of whether such rebuilding can
reasanably be eompleted within such period shiail be made by Landlord within thirty (30) days after Landlord becomes aware of of reccives
motice [whichever is earlier) of such casualty, however, Landiord shall aci reasonably in making such desermination. If Landlord underuakes the
rebuilding of the Premises, the rent shall ahaie during the time of rebuilding.

(1) Less Than Substareial Damags. 7 Premises should be partially damaged by fire o other casualry, and he rebuilding or repairs
can reassasbly be complered witlin one lundsed and eighty (180) days after written notification by Tenant 1o Landlard of the damage, or ir
Landiord o Tenant docs ot elect i terminase the Lease 3t <et fordh in Sestion 16(2) above, Landlord shall proceed with reasonable diligence to
sebuild oe repair the Ballding or oiher inprovements of which the Premises are a part to substantislly the same condition as existed prics 1o the
damage. Ifthe Premises are 1o be s rebuilt or repaited and are untenaniable in whale or in part following the damage, and the damage was not
caused or contributed to by ithe willful miscondisc: of Tenant, its agents, employees, invitees, visitors, contractors. or thase for whom Tenant is
respansivle, the Bent payable hereundsr during the period for which the Premises are untenantable shall be adjusted 1o such an exient 25 may be
fair and hile under the cin es. In the evens that Landlord fails to complete the necessary repairs or rebuilding within one hundred
anid ighty (180) days from the date of written notification hy Tensnt to Landlord of the damage, with due allowance for any force majeure,
Te;m mi;:ra: il‘:lhpcm resminate this Leawe ellcetive as of the end of such period for repaie or rebuilding. by delivering wrinten notice of sach
terenination to Lacdlord,

7. Inogramee. (2) |amionls nssranes. Lasdlond agrees o meintain during the Term the following insurance (the cost ol which is
10 be incladed 2t an Operating Expense): ) “all fisk” cuverage insurance o the Building and the oiher improvements on the Property, exshusive
of any improvemeits corstrucsed wilin e Prenises by or on heball of Tenast, in an smount cqual so the full replacement cost thereol; and (i)
a policy or policies of workers compensution ael comprchensive general liability insurance, inchuding personal injury and propesty damage in
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e ammuunt of One Million and No/100 Doltars ($1,000,000.00) for prepery damage and One Million and Mo/ 100 Dollars (51,000,000.00) per
occcurrence for personal injuries of deathis of persons uceurring in of abawt the Property. Tenant shall not permin the Premises to be used in any
way which would, in the opinion of Lundlurd, be cxira baardous on acecunt of fire of other kazard or casualiy or which would otherwise and in
pier ways increase the premiums for or rencdet vold any insurance relating vo the Building or the contents thereol or any Hability of Landioed.
If Temant's specilic use and occupancy of the Premises causes any increase in any insurance premiums paid by Landlord with respect 10 the
Building, or if Tenani abandons the Premises and thesehy causes an {nerexte in such premiuvms, then Tenant thail pay the Landiord upon demand
a5 Additional Remt the amount of sueh ingreae,  Landlord slall ot he ohligated in any way or manner (0 insure any personal property
{inc hading but Bot Hmbied w any furniture, machinery, o4 ig goods or supplies) of Tenant oc which Tenant may have upon or within the
Premiscs or any fixtures installed by or puid for by Tenas upon or within (he Premites or any additional impeovements which Tenant may
construct on the Premises,

() Tenapt's Insurance. Tenant ghall, at its sele expense, at all times during the Term of this Lease maintain in elfect a policy ot
policies of insurance (i) covering itz personal propeey boeated il the Premises and ienant improvements o the Premises pakd for and installed by
Tenant and Landlord other than a8 st forth in {a) shove, providing proteciion against any peril included under insurance practices within the
classification "all risk™ and 1o the full insurable value of such persanal property and ienant improvements and (it comprehensive public liskilicy
nsarance wish sespect to the Premises and the conduct o aperation of Tenant's husiness therein, with limis of not less than One Million and
Mo/100 Dolises ($1,000,000.00) for death or bodily injury 1o any one or more persons in a single oecurrence and One Million and No/100
Duollars (§1,000,000.00) for property damage. Tenant Lerehy waives any ard alf sighis of recovery against Landlord for any intured loss or
liabiliry occurring to Tenant's personal property and temant improvemems and the aforesald policy o policies shall contain appropriate
provisiont recognizing this release by Tenant and waiving all rights of subrogation by the insurance carrier. Except for Landiord's or
Landlord"s agents’, emplayees’, invitees®, licensess’ or coniraciors” negligence or willful misconduct, Tenant hesehy Indemnifies and holds
Landlord harmiess from all claims, demands, sctions, damages, loss, Hahilities, judgments, costs and expenses, including, without Limitath
atterneys” fees and costs which are sulfered by, recovered from or asserted apainst Landlond and arize from or in connection with the use or
oceupancy of the Premizes awlior any acciden, injury or damage occurring in the Premises. Tenant shall maiatain a policy or policies of
insurance with the prensiums paid in advance issued by and bimding upan 2 solveat insucance company, awthacized to ransact business in
Florids, insering all pessanal propery of Tenant wpon or within the Premises in am amount equal 1o tve fall replacement cost of such propery.
Tenant shall deliver cesificates of such insurance w Landland on of befure the C t Date, and thereafter from time to time upon
reguest.

18, Waiver of Subroparien. Landlord and Tensist, 1 thie fullest extent permitted by law, each hereby waive all claima, causes of action
and rights of recovery against the other for and lerehy release the ather from liability far, loss o damage 1o the extent such Loss or damage is
insured by valid and collectible insurancs in elfext ot the G of such lots of dimage.

19. Linbilice gnd Inderanification. tLamilond shall pot be lishle to Tenant's employees, agesis, Invitess, licensees, contracions of
wisitors, of to any ocher persun, for any injury W pericn of damage io propedly on or about the Premizes caused by the neglipence or misconduct
of Tenans, its apenis, scrvants, of employees of of any clher ferson entering upon the Premises under express or implicd invitation by Tenant,
Except for Lardiord's negligence or willful miscoeduct, Tenawm agrees o indemaify and bold harmiess Landlord of and from any loss, attoeneys’
fees, expenses o claims arising out of (i) any such damage or injury, (i) any and all defaults by Tenant hereander, or otherwise by reason of or
resalting from the usc or cccupanty of the Premises.

Except for Tenant's negligence or willful misconduct, Landlogd agrees o indemnify i hodd harmiless Tenant from any loss, atarneys’ fecs,
expenses of claims arising out of Landlord's negligence of willful miscorduct.

0. Ouier Enjoyment. Landlosd warrants that it s full right e sxecute and to perform this Lease and that Tenant, upon payment in
full of the required Rent and Rell performance of the terms, conditions, cuvenants and agreemenis contained in this Lease, shall peaceably and
quistly have, hold and enjoy the Premises diring the Term, subject oaly o the matiers set forch In Section 20 below, Landloed shall not be
i:mnsihh for the acts or omissions of any other Tenant, fesses or third pasty that may ingerfere with Tenart's use and enjoyment of the

remiies,

21. Laadieed's Right Of Eatre. Wit reasonable moice {except in the case of an emargency), Landiord or b suthorized agent shall ot
any and all reasonable times have the right to enter the Premises to inapect e same, G0 supply Janicorial service or any other service 10 be
provided by Landlord, to thow the Prentises g perspective purchasers or lenants {only during the last twelve (12) months of the Term with
respect 1o prospectivg teaants), and 10 aler, improve of repair the Premises of any other portion of the Building. Tenant shall make avsilable o
representative of Tenant during alf reasonable time periods (except in an emergency) during which Landlord shall access the Premises. Except
for Landiord's negligence or willful misconduct, Tenant herehy waives any claim for damages for injury or inconvenience t or interference with
Tenznt's butiness, any loss of occupancy or use of the Premises, and auy sber loss oceasioned thereby. Landlord agrees to izse good faith
effons 10 minimize disruption 10 Tenant's basiness during any periods when Landlord requires access 1o the Premises. Landlord shall ac all
fimes have and retzin a key with which 1o uniock all of the dooes i, upon and about the Premizes, Tenant shall not change Landlord’s lock
sysieem or in any oiher manner probibit Landlosd from entering the Prensises. Landlaed shall have the right 1o use any and all means whizh
Landiond may deem propes 16 open any door in an enwergeicy without Hahilicy theeefore,

n. Assipnment or Sublet. {a) Tenant shall mat assiyn, in whele of in pant, this Lease, or allow it to be assigred. in whole of in part,
by aperation of Law or ctherwise (including withoat limitation by seansfer of 3 majority interest ina partrership or 2 majocity interest of swock,
merger or dissolution, which transfer of majority interest, merger of dissulution shall be dmemexd 2a atsiprement) or morigage or pledge tho same,
ar sublet the Premises ia whale or in pas, srithow the prior writien consent of Landlord {which consent shall not be uareasonably withheld or
delayed) and in no event shall any such assig or subl lease Tenant of any puaranter from any obligation or liability heceunder, The
foregoing provision of this Section 22 shall net apply 1o rearict any transfer of sock whenever Tenant is a corporation the outstanding stock of
which is listed on a recognized national stock sachange of the National Association of Securitses Dealers Nutional Market System or fn
eonmection with an initial public effering or 8 private placement of stock pursuam o Section (11D, (402) or Regulations D and 5 of the
Securities Act of 1933, 25 amended, No assignee of sublessce of the Promises of any portkon heresf may assign ar subdet e Premises or any
portion thereo!, .

b} Any adsi it o subleaye mesde by Tenant withous Landioed's consent when Landiord’s consent is required pursiant 1o ihe terfns
of this Lease shall be void, and, at Landlord's uptien, constiwte 3 default wnder the terms and conditions of this Lease.

fe) Consent by Landlord 10 any assignment, transfer of sublening to any party, shall nat be construed a5 a waiver of & release of
Tenant from the terms af any covenant of obligativn urder this Lease, nor shall its consent 10 one assignment, transfer of sublewting to another
person, pannership, firm of corporation he decmed 1 be & comsent kb JLy subsequent astignmsent, transfer or sublening o another person,
paninecdip, firm or comeration.

(] I thecase of an approved subbening, Landlond shall have il right 1o any and all sums or economic consideration in excess of the
Base Rent and Additional Rent payshle hereurder Mrom such subletting reasersbly atiributahie 10 the sublet portion of the Premises, a3 and when
teceived. Inthe case of an assignment of this Lease, Landlond shall lave the right to any and all sums or oder economic consideration In cxcess
of the Base Ren amd Additional Rent reasanably aitrihatahle 1o such assignment of this Lease, a5 and when received.
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() Notwithstanding the above provisions of this Seviien 22, Tenane glatl have the tight 1o subletor assign all o part of the Premises
without the peior consent of Landlord to: (i) any person, corporation, pannership or ciher entity which shall control, be under the conteal of, o
be under common contral with, Tenant andfor (i) any corparation, parteership or ather business entiy resulting from the merger, consolidation
or other business combination with Tenant 1o any person o oty that sequires all or substantially all of Teénam's assets a8 3 going concern of
e business that is being conducied in the Prewises, 35 long as the assignes or subles in Rl ihe obligations of Tenant ander this
Lease, provided, lowever, that (1) such asslgres o subtenan muist be 3 hona Nide entity, (2) such astignee’s or sublenant’s proposed use of the
Premiscs must be congisiem with the uscs permitted wnder this | ease, (3) the chatacier, reputation, 0d basiness of the proposed assignee of
sublesses is consistent with the tenants then intbe Building, including Teaant and (4) Teaant shall nonetheless be required to provide Landiond
with at least fifteen {15) business days sdvance written notice of any such assigament or subletting including with such notics the following
information, documenation and nofdee: (23) the identity uf such sublessee or assignee, (bh the planned use of the Premises and the business
b comducied therefrom, and (o) reasonahle docomentation 0 evidence that the proposed sublesser or assignes shall in fact be aa affillae
meeling the qualifications of this Section 22(c). Ferther, i reruested by Landlord, Tenans shall provide 10 Landioed such other informaticn as
may be reasonably requested by Landlocd during such fificen {15) business day period o substantiate Tenant®s right o consummate said
subleages or assiphments 18 contemplased by this Section 22(c). For purposes of this Section 22, the term “contral” shall mean passession,
direct o indireat, of the power to direct, ur cause the direction of, te management and policies of any person or entify, if through the ownership
of at least pwenty percent (20%) of the voting sceuritics, parinership fnterests ur similar ownership rights. Landlond acknowledges that such
information is confidential information and may not be usedl, disslosed o acted upon for the purpose of insider trading or otherwise in
contravendion of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, oc the Exchange Act of 1934,

23, Events Of Defunly. Eachof the following shall be deemed 1o be an Event of Default by Tenant under this Lease: (a) Tenant shall
fail to pay any instaliment of Base Rent and Additional Rent when due or any nther amount requied pursaant 1o this Lease within five (5)
husiness days afier writien notice by Landiord o Tenant thar such sum is duz and unpabd; provided, however, that notwithstanding the
foregoing. Landlord shall have no ebligation 1o natity Tenant of the failure 1o pay any sum due from Tenant under this Lease on mere than two
{2) oecasions dusing any rwelve {12) moath period; (b) Tenart shall fail to comply with any term, prevision or covenant of this Lease, other than
paymeni of Base Rend, Additional Rent, or any ulher required anount, and the Falase is pot cared within thirry (30) days after wrinen notice to
Tenant {or if such failure 1o comply on the part of Tenant would reasunably require more than thirgy days to rectify, unless Tenant
commences rectification within the thiery [30) day natice peried and thereafter prompaly, effectively and continuously proceeds with the
rectification of the failure to comply on the partof Tenant aim), in all eveats, cures such failure 1 ctamply oa the part of Tenant no fater than the
time pericd bly required to eff such cure; {¢) Tenam shall ile a petition for refief or be adjudged bankrupt o insolvent undes the
Federal Bankruptey Act, a3 amended, U.S.C.A. Title 11 (emitled *Bankrupecy”) Secrion 100 gt seq. as amended, or any similar law or stanute of
the Uniited States or any state; or a receiver or irusece shall be appointed for 2ll or substantially all of the assets of Tenant; or Tenant shall make
atransfer in fraud of ereditors or shall make an assignment fur the benefit of creditors and fails to have such receiver o tustes dismissed within
nirety (50) days from the date of such appointment; or (d) Tenant shall do or permit 1o be done any act which results ina lien being filed againat
the Premises tr the Building and fails 1o remove such licn by payment, bomd or otherwise wilhin twenty (20) basiness duys from receipt of
Lardlord's notice to remove.

24, Bemedies For Tenpnt's Default. Upon the neeurrence of any Event of Delaul, Landlocd may at iis option pursue any one or more
of the following remedies, and sny and all sther rights of remedies aceruing w Landlord by law or olierwise, withous any notics or demand: ()
commence dispossessory proceedings with or withou the teemination of this Lease; (h) declare the entire amount of Rent calculaied on the
cutrent rate being pusd by Tenant, and otler sums which in Lanclued's reisonable deiermination woald become due and payable during the
remainder of e Term (including, but not limited o, increases in Rent pursuant 10 the teems heread), discounted to present valee by using a
reasonable discount rae selected by Landloed, t be due and payahie imme ately. Upon such sceeleration of such smounts, Teaant agrees 10
pay the same af once, together with all Rent and otber amumns theretofore due, at Landlond's address as provided hereln; provided haweves,

that such pay shuall pa ¢ inute a penalty or forfeitere bt shall constinae lquidated damages for Tenard's failure 1o comply with the terms
and provisions of this Lease (Landiord and Tenant agrecing that Landlord's actual damages in such an event are impossible to ascertain and that
the amouns et forth above is a re e esri i M. Uipon making such payment, Tenamt shall receive from Landhoed all rents received

by Landlord froam other icnanis realing the Premises during the Term, pruvided that the monies 1o which Tenant shall so become entitled shall in
no event exceed the entire amount aciually paid by Tenant tm Landiond pursuant to the preceding sentence, less all of Landlord's costs and
capenses (including, without limitation, reasonable brokerage 3o atornsys’ fees and expenses) incurred in connection with or in any way
selated 1o the relesting of the Premises. The acceptance of such payment by Landlord shall not constinaie a waiver of rights or remedies 1o
Lardloed for any failurs of Tenant thereafier occureing to commply with awy teem, provision, eondiion or covenant of this Lease; (<) commence
proceedings against Tenant for all smounts awed by Tenat i Landlogd, whether as Base Rent, Additional Rent, dsmages or ctherwise; (d)
fcaminate the Term, in which event Tenant shall immediately sarrender the Premices 10 Landiond and Tenant agrees to pay on demand he
amoun of all hess and damage which Landlond niay sulfer by reason of the iermination of e Tere under this subsection o otherwise; (&) with
or without cerminating this Lease, relet the Premises on behall of Tenant ainl receive direcily the rent by reasoa of the reletting in which event
Tenart agrees 10 pay Landlord on demand any deficicacy it may arise by reason of any reletting of the Premises and to reimburse Landlord
upon d d for any experdinares made by it for remmedeling of repairing in order to relet the Premises and for all other expenses incurred in
connection with such relenting; Landlosd shesll no be lisble fr any failure 1o relet the Premises, in whols or in Em nor for any failure 10 collect
any rent due fram any such relenting; rather, Tenant shall remain lisble for all Rent and for ail such expenses; (f) enter upon and take possession
ol the Premises, without being lishle for progecution of any claim for damayes or for irespass or sther pore; (2} do or eaused to be done whatever
“Tenant is obdigared 1o do under 1be terms of this Lease, in which ease Tenat agrees 10 reimburse Landlosd on demand for any and all costs or

Xp whicl Landlord may thereby incur and Tenant agrees that Lamiinad shall not be lizhle for any damages resulling to Tenant from
effecting compliance with Tenant's obligaions under this sulisection, wheiher caused hy the negligence of Landiord or otherwise;,.or (k) enfiorce
he perfermance of Tenant's obligations hereunder by injunctinn of odver coquitsble relief (which remedy may be exercised upon any breach or
delaull of 2ny thieatened breach of defualt of Tenant's ohligsions herewsler).

285, Wortver Of Definilt Or Remegly. Tenant gaderaands and s kpowledges that no assent, express or implied, by Landlord to any
heeach of ary one or more of die terms, covenants o conditiuns herenf’ shall be deemed or taken 0 be @ waiver of any succeeding or other
heeach, wheilier of the same or any otber termy, covenant or condition hereof.

26, Foree Mujegre, Landbord and Tenant (except with respect i the payment of Dase Reat, Additional Reat or any other monetary

ohligation under this Leass) shall be excused for the period ol any delay and shall notbe deemed in delaull with respect to the performance of

any of the torms, eovenants and conditions of iis Lease when prevenied from so daing by 2 cause of causes beyand tie Landlord's or Tenant’s

(a5 the case may be) comrol, which shall include, without lmitatian, all labor dispules, govermmental regulations of controls, fire or other

';:“'“?- inability b abtain any museshal or services, acts of Goa, of 2ey eihier cauge nod within the reasonable control of Landiord or Tenant (ay
case may bel.

7. Aitorney's Fres. 1o the event of any Tawsuit or court setkon heiween Landbond and Tenant arising cut of or under this Lease or the
tering and conditions stated herein, the prevailing party i wch krwsuil or court action shall be entitled 1o and shall collect from the non-
erevailing party the reastnable siarney®s fees aod courl cosiy aciually incurred by the prevailing party with respect io said lawsuit or court
action.  The prevailing panty shull be deemed 1o be that pery who eldains substantally the same relief sought whether by compromise,
setlement or jodgment.
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18, Jiplting Qver. Tenant will, at e termination of tils Lease by lapse af lime of atherwise, yield up immediate possession of the
Premites 1o Lusford. [f Tenant retains posessivn of the Promises or any part thereal after such termination, then such holding over shall
create 3 tenancy at sufferance upon the terms and conditions set Forth in this Lease; provided however that the Base Rent shall, in addition o all
eihar sums which are 10 be paid by Tenant hereunder, whetlier or not a3 Additional Reat, be equal to one hundred fifty pereent {L50%) of
Baze Rent being paid 1o Lardlord under this Lease immediaiely prior 10 such terminatinn (procated for sach day Tenant remains in possession);
pravided, however, that in the event Landlord bas provided Tenan natice of 1erminadon and Tenant retaing possession the Baze Rent shall be
twas hunidred parcent (200%) of tlve Base Rent being paid to Landlard urder this Lease immediately prior 1o such termination (prorated for each
day Tenant remaing in posvession); and tere shall be o renewal of this Leass by operation of law. The provisions of this Section 28 shall not
constinste a waiver of any right of re-entry as herein $¢4 forh or as provided by law; por shall receipt of any rent or other a¢t in apparent
affirmance of the tenancy operaie as a waiver uf the right w terminate this Lease for 3 beeach of any of the teems, covenants or obligations
herein on Tenant's part w0 be performed.

. Rights Of Mortgagees Anif Othees. Tenand scczpis this Lease suhjeet and suboedinate to the lien or security tithe of any recorded
martgage, deed of trust or desd 10 secure debi presently existing o herealies ereated wpon tlve Premises snd vo all existing recorded restrictions,
covenants, easements and agreements with gespect to the Dullding ar any part thereof, and all amendments, modification: and restatements
thereof and all replacements and substitations therefor, Auy provisions of this Lease requiting the approval or consent of Landlord shall not be
deemed 10 have been unseasonably withheld If any morngages [which shall include the kolder of any mortgage, deed of inast or deed 1o secure
deba) of the Premises or Duilding or any poation thereal shall refuse or withlsold its approval or consent thereto, Any requirement of Landlord
pursuan o tis Lease which is imposed pursuan 10 the direction of any such morigagee shall be deemed 1 have been reasonably imposed by
Landlord if made in good Faith, Landlord agrees w use good fafth eMforts 10 obiain a Subordination Noodisturbance & Atiorament Agreement
from lender n a form reasonably satisfactory to Tenant.

30, Estopnel Certificates. Within ten (10) business days following any written request which a party may make from time to time (but
not more ofien than four (4) times in any calendar year), the uiher party shall execute, acknowledge and deliver 1 the requesting party a
certificate suting that this Lease i unmodified sl in fall efect (or, if there have been modificarions, that ihis Lease is in full effect as modified,
and setting forth such madificatians); the amoants and dates 1o which Dase Rent, Additional Rent and ather sums payable hereunder have been
paid; such oiher reasonable information pertaining 10 the Lease 35 may be requested by Landlord or Tenant, as the case may be; snd cither that
10 the knowlede of the signer of such certificate no defaull exists hercunder or specifying each such default of which the signer has knowledge.
Landtord and Tenant intend that any statement delivered pursuant 1o this Section 10 may be relied upon by the requesting party and any
individual ar entity named by the requesiing party in the request therefor.

i, Successars And Assipns. ‘This Lease shall be hinding upon and inure 16 the bemefit of Landlord and Tensnt and thefr respective
Teeirs, reg ives and atsigns, subject, however, 1 the provisions of Section 23 above. [t s hereby covenanied ard agreed thal ghoutd
Landlord's inderest in the Premises cease b exist for any reasonduring the Term, then notwithstanding the happsning of such event this Lease
peveriheless shall remain unimpaired and in full force and cffect and Tenant hereby agrees 1o be bourd and obligated bereunder 10 the then
awner of the Premises ax landiond provided the new owne accepds the obligations of landiord hereunder,

3 arice. (3) Except for legal process, which niay also be served as by law provided ar as provided below, all notbees required of
desived 30 be given with respect 1o this Lease shall be in writing and shuall bt deemed to be given wo and received by the party intended 1 receive
wuch notice when delivered by overnight courice, hand delivered or thres (3) days after such notice sl have been depasited, postage prepaid, in
the United States mall, certilied, retuen receipt requested, properly addressed to the sddresses specified below. In the event of a change of
address by either pasty, such parry shall give writicn notice theresl n accandasse with the foregaing.

Landlon!'s Address for Notices: Tenang's Addeess for Motices:
Fairfax Boca 92, L.P. Medical Staffing Metwerk, Inc.
c/o Flagship Group, Ine. 901 Yamato Road, Suite [10
2300 Windy Ridge Parkway, Sauine 50 Boca Raon, Florida 33431
Adlana, GA 30338-56T1 Avension: Kevin Little, CFO

Anemion: T, Gordy Germany

13, Brokerage Clnims. Tenant and Landlord hereby warrant aml represent to the oiber that Tenant or Landlord, as the case may be,
has not dealt with any broker, agent or finder in connection with this Agreement oiher than CB Richard Elfis. Both Landlord and Temant
covenant and agree to hold cach other harenless from and against any and all foss, liability, damape, claim, judgment, costor experse (including
but pod limited (o atiorneys’ fees and expenses and court custs) that may be incurred or sulfered by the other party because of any claim for any
fee, comemission or similar compensation with respect 10 this Agreemens, made by any other broker, ageat of finder claiming 1o have dealt with
such party, whether or nct such claim is meriorious. Landiord agrees e pay CRF Richard Ellis pursuant to a scparate agresment.

34, Signs. Tenant shall not istall, pater, display, inscribe, ploce of affix any sign, phcrure, adverti ol, motice, lettering, o
direstion (hersinafier colbectively called “$igns™) on the exerior of the Prenisos, the common aceas of the Building, te interior srface of ghass
o any other location which coull be visile from outside of the Premises without first securing writien consent from Landlaed therefore. Any
Sign permitned by Landlord shall at all times conform with all muricipsl erdinances or other laws, regulations, deed restrictions and protective
coverants applicable thereto, Tenant shall remove all Sigis at the eapiration of sihes teemination of this Lease, at Tenant'y sols risk and

;:Irpenu. and shall in 3 good and weekmanlikes masner properly repair any damage saused by the installatdon, existence, or removal of Tenant's
RS,

i Entire Agreement, Armeadment god Livtation of Warranties. IT I3 EXPRESSLY AGREED BY TENANT, AS A MATERIAL
CONSIDERATION FOR THE EXECUTION OF THIS LEASE, THAT TIHS LEASE, WITH THE SPECIFIC REFERENCES TO WRITTEN
EXTRIMSIC DOCUMENTS, 1S THE ENTIRE AGREEMENT OF THE PARTIES; THAT THERE ARE, AND WERE MO VERBAL
REPRESEMTATIONS, WARRANTIES, UNDERSTANDINGS, STIPULATIONS, AGREEMENTS OR PROMISES PERTAINING TO THIS
LEASE OR THE EXPRESSLY MENTIONED EXTRINSIC DOCUMENTS NOT INCORPORATED IN WRITING IN THIS LEASE.
LANDLORD AND TENANT EXPRESSLY AGREE THAT, EXCEPT AS EXPRESSLY SET FORTH IN THIS LEASE, THERE ARE AND
SITALL BE MO IMPLIED WARRANTIES OF MERCHANTABILITY, HIABITABILITY, FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURFOSE OR
USE OR GF ANY OTHER KIND ARISING OUT OF THIS LEASE AND THERE ARE NO WARRANTIES WHICH EXTEND BEYOND
THOSE EXPRESSLY SET FORTH IN THIS LEASE. IT 1S LIKEWISE AGREED THAT THIS LEASE MAY NOT BE ALTERED,
%ﬂ‘lg AMENMDED OR EXTENDED EXCEPT BY AN INSTRUMENT IN WRITING SIGNED BY BOTH LANDLORD AND

AMT,

38, Limirgring O Lishilig, Landiord' = obligations and liability with respect 1o this Loase shall be limited solely to Landlords interest
in the Building, us sach interest is constinued from (me 10 time, and nciiher Landlord nar any officer, direeior, shareholder o pariner of
Landiord, or of any pariner of Lardiord, shall have any personal liability whatsoever with respect to this Lease.

a7, Subunlzsion OF Apreement. Submission of this Lease w Tenant for signaturs does not constinte 3 reservation of space of an option
to acquire 3 right of entry, This Lzase is not binding or effective unii) execution by and delivery o boih Landlord and Tenant.
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38 Corporate Authoriry. (a) If Tenant executes this Lease as 3 corporation, e3ch of the persons executing this Lease on behalf of
Tenant does hereby represent and warrant hat Tenant is a duly arganized and validly existing corporation, that Tenant s qualified to do busipess
inthe State in which the Building is lecated, that Tenant has full right, power and auchority to enter into this Leass, and that each person signing
on behalf of Tenant is authorized to do so and Teaant shall provide Landlord evidence réasonsbly acceptable to Landlard of such suthority.
Upon Lardlord's request, Tenant shall provide Landlord with evidence reasenably satisfactory 1o Tenant confirming the foregoing
reprcsentations and warranlics,

b If Landlocd executes this Lease a5 2 corporation, gach of the persons executing this Lease on behalfl of Landlord does herchy
represens and warrant that Landlord ks a duly organized and validly existing corporaiton, that Lardlord is qualified to do business in the State in
which the Building is located, that Landioed has fult right, power and authority to enter into this Lease, and that each person sigaing on behalf of
Landlord & suthorized 10 do 50 and Landlord shall provids Tenant evidence reasanably acseptable to Tenant of such autherity, Upon Tenant's
request, Landlord shall provids Tenant with evidense reasonahly satisfactory 1o Tenant confirming the foregoing representitions and warranties.

9. Miscellaneons, The captions appearing In this Lease are inserted only as 3 matier of convenience and in na way defise, lmit,
construe or describe the scope of intent of any provision hereof, If amy provision of this Lease shall ever be beld io be invalid o unenforceable
i amy circumstance or as 10 sny person, such invalidity or unenforee:tility shall not affect such provision in any odber circumitance or a< o any
other persoa or any other provision of this Lease, This Lease, of any portion bereof, shall not be recorded unless both parties hereto agreed 1o
the recording.

40. Governfng Law. This Lease shall be governed and construed im sccordance with the Jaws of the Stare in which the Building is
located.

41, Counterparts, ‘This Lease may be exscuted in msuliipl- counterparts, esch of which thall be deemed an original and all of which
shall constinzte one agreement, and the signatures of any party 10 any counterpant shall be desmed to be 3 sigraturs i, and may be appended (o,
any other counlempan.

41, Radpn Dirclosure. Radon is a naturally ocoureing rdioactive gas that, when it has sccumulaed in a buikling in sufficient
quantities, may present health risks to persors who are exposed t il ver a time. Lavels of radon that exceed federsal and staie guidelines have

been found in buildings in Flosida. Additional information regarding: radon and radon westing may be obtained from the Counry Public Health
Unit.

IN WITHNESS WHEREOF, the undessigned have executcd and delivered this Lease under scal as of the day and year first above
written.
LANDLORD:
FAIRFAX BOCA 92, L.P., a Georgia limited parinerehip
Ry: Faiefax Properties, [nc.
Its i

PHI1S medlcal nafffag mevwart. boca L doc

[CORPORATE SEAL)
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EXIIBIT "B-
[LEGAL DESCRIPTION OF LAND]

TEolaN [OGEED IN FLOOD HU0L RS, WEN. 11 (2/1/79) .
ey PLOGOD HNT INSUNNEE [hWe, DAL BEA] COUSTY,
PLOLIDA, OFf (RRITWY PAIEL AU@LD 120192 0220 B,

W SAVISIE OOV 15, 1962

L] ] & i " Lo L] .
DESCRIPTION: Parcel *B of North Forty

A .parcel of land lylng and belng in Sactlons 1 and 12,
Township 47 South, Range 43 East and Sectlions & and 7,
Township 47 South, Range 42 East, Palm Baach County, Florlds,
described as follows: .

Commence at the HNortheast corner of sald Sectlon 12 thance
South 00°29715* West, along the East line of said Section 12,
» distance of B80.01 feet to the * Morth right-of-way line of
M.W. S1st Strest and the Point of Baginning of this
descriptlion; thence North B8°315700¥ West, along a lina 20.00
foab South of, and parallel with, as measuraed at right nnglem
to the North line of said Section 12, . o distance of 453.9)
faet; thense North 00%24740* East, a distance of 149.73 feak;
thence North B9+*315/207 Weskt, & distance of 4,27 feet; thence
Horth 00°24r40¢ East, a distance of 69.93 feslt; thance Horth
36935720% West, & distance of 2.4¢ Zfeet; thence Horth
0024740 East, a distance of 578.59 feet; thence South
ggvi590~ Emst, a distance of 14,51 feet; thence Horth
00°24740% - West, o distance of 13.9% feat; thence South
B8*35700% East, a distance of 504,73 feet to the East line
said Saection 1; thence contlnue South 86+35°00* East, a
distance of 57.50 feet; thence South 0029 415" Wast, parallel
with the East line of said sectlon 1, a distance of 250.00/
feet; thence South B88*35/007 East, a distanca of 20.00 feat]
thence South 00°29¢1%5¢ West, a distance of 435.82 teet te a
lina 45.00 feat Horth of and parallel with the South line of
sald sSaction 6; thence South B9%42730% East, along said
arallel 1lina, & distance of 40.00 faet; thence South
0%297/15" West, a distance of 45.00 feak to the South line of
said Section 6; thence continue South 00°20715% West, a
distance B0.00 feet to a line 80,00, feat South of and
g:railal with the South line of said Section 6, said point
ing further d:e-ribed as being tha MNorth right-cf-way line
of ‘N W. Sist Strwob; thence North-89¢42¢30% West, along said
arallel line, a distance of 117.50 feet to the said Point of
eginning of this description.

7 said lands sltuate, lylng and bed 1
i N Eay y¥ing ng in Palm Beach County,

Containing 10.03 acres, more or less.

(6) = SLT  RAW = RIGHT-OF<MAY M ® MEASURED  n = mADils
CF) = FOUND  F = PLAT G CALCULATID PP, = POUER POLE
T = NAIL & TAR S0 UTILITY EASERINY o5 = DFFSET
LHE = LACE KAINTERARCE KASEHERT  A/C = AIR CHOITICHING FAD
TOR = TOF OF GAKE  FT & FEET ‘E:._"' BRAIMAGE EASEHENT

CLO = CUME b CUTTER €L = CEMTEALINE re = mives ssmee
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EXHIBIT "¢

Rally oporptions

Lebby -

1.

g

Dust ‘mop floors. Damp mop hard surface floors.

2. Spot olean Interior glass partitions, doors, frames, light
switches, basehoards, ete. Wash entrance glass on both sides.

3. bust all partitions, doors, door frame surfaces and all
horizontal surfaces.

4. Wash extarior suxfaces of oll trash containers.

5. Empty and domp wipe ashtrays. -

mwm&w -

1. Empty and damp wipe ashtrays.

2. Dust to hand haight all horizeontal surfaces of ledgaes, aills,
ventilating louvara, framas, ctoc.,

3. Clean and sanitize all drinking fountmins.
Empty waste containera. -

5. Vacuum all carpa@ed ArGaS.

Ge Spot wash walls and exterlor surfaces of elevn;n; doors.

7. 'Swaaﬁ and remove leaves from atrium floors.

8. Dust grab rails.

9. Sweep and wvash steps and landings, BS necassary.

General Ofticp Ares -

1. Ewmpty all waste baskets in.ortices and raplacﬁ basket liners
ns:anuirld. 2

2 Dust and spot clean all countertops.

3.  Dust all horizontal surfaces of desks, chairs, tablaes and
offica aguipment. :

‘.

Dust al} exposed filing cabinets, bookcases and shelves.

.

ATL-1 MG




Cleaning Service for Tha North 40

genoxal Office pyes - (Continued)

5. Dust to hand height all horizontal surfaces of eguipment,
ledges, sills, Shelves, frames, partitions, ete. ;

6. DPust all telophones.
T Vacuum clean all exposed carpeting,
‘8. Dust mop or swaep all non-carpated fluors,

9. Spot wash walls, glass surfaces, doors, frames, light
switches, baseboards, dask teps, and countertops.

Beot Rooms = x

l,. Clean and disinfact all fixtures, tollets, urinals and
partitiona. Mop floors and cloan mirrors, Stock all dispans-
ars.

2, Enpty'nnd damp wipe ashtrays.

Hork Mours -

All cleaning shall ba performed on a fiva (5) day week, MHonday
through Friday, between 6:30 P.M, and 11:00 V.M.

: W ananlk -

Any additional work requasted by tenants can ba'per an agreed
additional chaxge and can be paid for by management or the
raguesting tenant. . ) :

Insurance -

hn{-uomPahv performing janitorial service: in The North 40 will
maintain worker's compensation and contraclbor’s liability inaur-
anca.

Qunrteriy Oor Az required:

- Wesh windows interior and exterior

'—'Elean_all mechanical, equipment rooms, plumbing pipes in stairwells

Dust blinds snd clean any finger prints
- Clean &ll light fixtures, Ffire equipment Loxes and exit lights

Spot clean all cafpeti including traffic avaas

e




EXHIBIT D"
[RULES AND REGULATIONS]

To ensure minimizing of inconvenience to tenants and Lo maintain the interior space in a condition comparable to
other first class office space in the Boca Raton, Florida markes area, the following Building regalations are provided
and are applicable to Tenant, except as etherwise specifically addressed in the Lease:

R

The sidewalks, eniry passages, corriders, halls, elevators and stairways shall mot be obetructed by Tenant,
or used by Tenant for any purpose other than those of ingress and cgress. The Noors, skylights and
windows that reflect or admit light into any place in said Building shall not covered or gbstructed by
Tenant subject to Tenant's right te install window coverings such as blinds. The water closets and other
water apparatus shall not be used for any oiher purpose than thase for which they were consirucied, and no
sweepings, rubbish, or other obstructing substances shall be thrown therein,

Mo advertisement, sign or other natice shall be inscribed, painted or affised on any part of the oulside or
fnside of said Building, oxcept upon the interior doors and wiadows permitied by Landlord, which signs,
ele. shall be of such order, size and style and a1 such places as shall be designated by Landlord, Exterior
signs on doors will be provided for Tenant by Landlord, the cost of such signage 1o be charged to and paid
fior by Tenant.

Nalhing shall be thrown by Tenant, its clerks or servants o of the windows or deors o down the passages
or skylights of the Building. Mo rooms shall be occupicd or used as sleeping or lodging apartments al any
time.

Tenant shall not employ any persons other than the janitors of Landlord or others reasonably approved by
Landiord (who will be provided with pass keys into the offices} for the purpose of cleaning or taking
charge of said Premises. It is undersiood and agreed that the Landlord shall not be responsible to Tenant
fiar any loss of property from the Preenises, however oceurring, or for any damage dane Lo the furmiture or
other eifects of Tenont by the janitor or any of its employecs, provided, however, that Landlord shall use its
good faith reasonable efforts to employ service companies fir providing such janitorial services which
maintain quality contrals for personnel employed.

"o avimals (except service animais), birds, bicycles or olhcr vehicles shall be allowed in the offices, alls,

carridors, ehevators or elsewhere in the Building,

Mo painting shall be done, nor shall any aherations be made 1o any pari of the Building by putting up or
changing any partitions, doors or windows, nor shall there by any nailing, boring, or serevwing infa the
woodwark o plastering, nor shall any connection be made 1o the elottric wires or electric fixtures wilhout
the eansent in wriling on each occasion of Landlord or its Apent. All glass, locks and trimmings in or upon
the dooes and windows of the Building shall be kept whole and, when any part thereof shall be braleen, the
same shall be immedistely replaced or repaired and put in oider under the direction and io the satisfaction
of Landlord, or its Agent, and shall be left whole and in gond repair. Tenant shall nol injure, overload or
deface the Building, the woodwork or the walls of the Preniiscs, nor carry on upon the Premises any
noksome, noxious, noisy or offensive busincss.

Tenant shall not (without Landlord"s prior wrilten consent) pul up or operate any sicam engine, boiler,
machinery or stove upon the Premises, o carry on any mechanical business thereof, or do any cooking
thereon, or use of allow to be used upon the Prerises oil, tusrning fluids, camphene, gasoline or keroscnc
for heating, warming or lighting. No ariicle deemed extra hizacdous on account of fire and ne explosives
shall be brought inte the Premises. Mo offensive gases or lquids will be permitted.

Landlord will post on the dircctory of iis Building, ifany, 2l no charge to Tenant, names of the executives
of Tenant, such executives 1o be designated by Tenant. All additional names which Tenant shall desire put
upen said directory must be first conseated to by Landlord, and if so approved, a eharge will be made far
such additional listing as prescribed by Landlord to be paid (o Landlord by Tenant.

The Landlord, and its agents, shall have the right to enter the Premises at all reasonable hours for the
purpose of making any repairs, aherations or additions whivh it shall deem necessary for the safety,
presecvation or improvement of said Building, and the Lamdlord shall be allewed 1o take all material inio
and upon such Premises that may be required to make such repalrs, improvements and addilions, or any
alterations for the beneft of the Tenant without in any way being decmed of held guilty of an eviction of
Tenant; and the rent reserved ghall in no wise abate while sakd repairs, alterations or additions ane being
made; and Tenant ehall not be entitled 1o maintain a sel-off or counterclaim for damage against Landlord by
reason of loss of interruption to the business of Tenant because of the proseution of any such work, All
such repairs, decorations, additions and improvements shall be done dusing ordinary business hours e, il
any such work is not the request of the Tenant 1o be done during any other hours, Tenant shall pay for all
avertime costs-

Tenant shall insteuct its mover 1o contact the Building Manser lwo (2) working days prior to truck arrival
for coordination of move-in andfor largs fumiturefequipment deliveries. Such moves will normally be
made after 6:00 p.m. Friday and prior o §:00 a.m. Monday, Tenant shall be responsible for any damage 1o
Building interior incheding, but not limited to, floors and caipel. A Landiord representative will be present
Tor all such nyoves.

Landlord reserves the right to make such other and reasonide rules and regulations as, in its judgment,
may from lime 1o fime be needed for the safely, care and civanlingss of the Prenises and for the
pregervation of good under therein,
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FAIRFAX
LEASE AMENDMENT #1

THIS FIRST LEASE AMENDMENT (this “Amendment”) is made as of the Z / day of
July 2001 between FAIRFAX BOCA '92, L.P., a Georgia limited partnership (“Lantlord”) and
MEDICAL STAFFING NETWORK, INC.,, a Delaware corporation (“Tenant™);

WITNES SETH: That;

WHEREAS, Landlord and Tenant have entered into that certain Lease Agreement dated
June 8, 1999, whereby Tenant leases from Landlord certain premises located on the first (1*)
floor of Pod E in Building 235, 901 Yamato Road, Boca Raton, Florida, 33431, containing
approximately 15,000 SF as shown on the attached Exhibit A.

WHEREAS, Landlord and Tenant desire to amend the Lease in certain particulars.

NOW, THEREFORE, for and in consideration of the mutual covenants contained herein,
the above premises, the sum of TEN AND NO/100 DOLLARS ($10.00), and other good and
valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged, the parties
hereto, intending to be legally bound, do hereby agree as follows:

3 Definitions. Terms not otherwise defined herein and which are defined in the Lease shall
have the meanings given them therein.

2. Lease Amendment. The Lease is hereby amended as follows: _—j
o

2.1  Effective as of August 13, 2001, the Premises as referred to in the Lease is
amended so as to include an additional 10,749 rentable square feet on the first floor of Pod D,
Building 901 Yamato Road, as shown on the attached Exhibit “B” (“Expansion Premises™).

2.2 Effective as of August 13, 2001, the entire Premises under lease to Tenant shall
consist of 25,749 rentable square feet (both Exhibit A & B).

23 Effective as of August 13, 2001, the Base Rent and all other applicable sections of
the Lease will be increased so as to incorporate the addition of the Expansion Premises to the
overall Premises. .

24  The Base Rent for the Expansion Premises will be the rate then being charged
Tenant ($12.10 per SF) subject to the escalations referenced in the Lease.

2.5  Both Landlord and Tenant acknowledge that both the Base Rent and Operating
Expenses that would be due on the Expansion Premises shall be abated for the period of August
13, 2001 through January 31, 2002.

26  The Expiration Date of the Lease as defined in the Lease is hereby extended to
December 31, 2008,




2.7 Tenant shall be provided access to the Expansion Premises from and after the
Execution Date of this Amendment, subject to approval of the current tenant in occupancy of the
Expansion Premises.

2.8 Tenant has agreed to accept the Expansion Premises in the current existing
condition. It is understood that Tenant shall obtain certain furniture from existing occupant of
the Expansion Premises in accordance with a Sublease Agreement.

29  Itif further expected that Tenant shall simultaneously enter into a sublease with
the existing tenant in the Expansion Premises for approximately 2,175 SF and a term of not
longer than two (2) years.

2.10  Tenant's insurance as it relates to both the current Premises and the Expansion
Premises shall not only include coverage for all personal property of Tenant, but also any
improvements which Tenant may construct upon the Premises or may have been constructed on
behalf of Tenant.

2.11 Landlord agrees to use best efforts to provide Tenant with Tenant's name on the
monument sign and if this were not possible, then to petition the City of Boca Raton for an

additional monument sign that would contain the name of the nant. The gdst of an additional
monument sign would be the respcmszh:hty of the Tenants
La..'rlw
2.12  All other terms and conditions remain the sam
WITNESS TENANT:
W Yt s, wunr) MEDICAL %ﬂﬂwom INC.

Title:

Date: h)/ &?! o

LANDLORD:
FAIRFAX BOCA 92, L.P., a Georgia limited partnership

By:  Fairfax Properties, Inc. - Its General Partner

200107 26.msn lease amd {
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THIS FIRST LEASE AMENDMENT (this “Amendment”) is made as of the 23 4ay of :
March 2002 between FAIRFAX BOCA "92, L.P,, a Georgia limited partnership (“Landlord™)
and MEDICAL STAFFING NETWORK, INC., a Delaware corporation (“Tenant”);

WITNESSET H: That,

WHEREAS, Landlord and Tenant have entered into that certain Lease Agreement dated
November 22, 1999, whereby Tenant leases from Landlord certain premises located on the first
(1*) floor of Pod E, 901 Yamato Road, Boca Raton, Florida, 33431, containing approximately
15,000 SF as shown on the attached Exhibit A, which was previously amended on July 31, 2002,
whereby Tenant leased an additional 10,749 SF on the first (1*) floor of Pod D in Building 235,
901 Yamato Road, Boca Raton, Florida, 33431, as shown on the attached Exhibit “B”.

WHEREAS, Landlord and Tenant desire to amend the Lease in certain particulars.

NOW, THEREFORE, for and in consideration of the mutual covenants contained herein,
the above premises, the sum of TEN AND NO/100 DOLLARS ($10.00), and other good and
valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged, the parties
hereto, intending to be legally bound, do hereby agree as follows:

1. Definitions. Terms not otherwise defined herein and which are defined in the Lease shall
have the meanings given them therein.

.8 Lease Amendment. The Lease is hereby amended as follows:

2.1  Effective as of the date of this Agreement, the Premises as referred to in the Lease
is amended so as to include an additional 27,500 rentable square feet on the second (2™ floor of
Pod D, 901 Yamato Road, as shown on the attached Exhibit “C” (the “Expansion Premises™).

2.2 Effective as of May 1, 2002, the portion of the Premises consisting of 10,749
rentable square feet as described on Exhibit “B” shall be eliminated from the definition of the
Premises (the “Give Back Premises™).

2.3 Effective as of May 1, 2002, the entire Premises under lease to Tenant shall
consist of 42,500 rentable square feet (see Exhibits “A” & “C”).

2.4  The Base Rent for the Expansion Premises will be the rate then being charged
Tenant ($12.46 per SF) subject to the escalations referenced in the Lease and shall commence
May 1, 2002.

2.5  The Base Rent and Operating Expenses for the eastern one-half of the Expansion
Premises shall commence May I, 2002.

2.6  The Base Rent that would be due on the western one-half portion of the
Expansion Premises (13,750 rentable square feet) shall be abated for the period of May 1, 2002
through June 30, 2002 while Tenant prepares this portion of the Expansion Premises for
occupancy. Tenant shall be responsible for the Operating Expense portion of the rent for the
: %yestem one-half of the floor during the renovation phase.




2.7  Tenant shall be provided access to the eastern one-half portion of the Expansion
Premises from and after the Execution Date of this Amendment and to the western one-half
portion of the Expansion Premises, subject to approval of the current tenant in occupancy of the
western one-half portion of the Expansion Premises.

2.8  Tenant has agreed to accept the Expansion Premises in the current existing
condition.

2.9  Itis further expected that Tenant shall simultaneously enter into an amended
sublease with 03 Systems Integration, Inc. for a portion of the Expansion Premises.

2.10  Tenant's insurance as it relates to both the current Premises and the Expansion
Premises shall not only include coverage for all personal property of Tenant, but also any
improvements which Tenant may construct upon the Premises or may have been constructed on
behalf of Tenant.

2.11  All other terms and conditions remain the same.

2=,

TENANT:

L STif 13 NETWORK, INC,
..--'-""--____'
e
20

Title:
Date: _ 3-a0 -0Q

% I
FAIRFAX BOCA "92, L.P., a Georgia limited partnership
(2(]5_;(" QJG:’ By:  Fairfax Properties, Inc. — Its General Partner
s -/

By: T, Gordy Gerppany — Its President
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LEASE AMENDMENT #3 o

THIS THIRD LEASE AMENDMENT (this “Amendment™) is made as of th9/ %ﬁﬂ:{
of May 2002 between FAIRFAX BOCA "92, L.P., a Georgia limited partnership (“Landlord™)
and MEDICAL STAFFING NETWORK, INC., a Delaware corporation (“Tenant™);

WITNESS ETH: That;

WHEREAS, Landlord and Tenant have entered into that certain Lease Agreement dated
November 22, 1999, whereby Tenant leases from Landlord certain premises located on the first
(1%) floor of Pod E, 901 Yamato Road, Boca Raton, Florida, 33431, which was previously
amended by Lease Amendment #1 on July 31, 2001 and again by Lease Amendment #2 on
March 20, 2002 relating to all the premises (the “Premises™) located at 901 Yamato Road, Boca
Raton, Florida, 33431, as shown on the attached Exhibits “A” and “B”.

IN ACCORDANCE WITH Lease Amendment #2, whereby Tenant expanded its
Premises to include the second (2) floor of Pod D and now leases from Landlord 42,500 RSF,
Landlord and Tenant agree to amend the Lease in certain particulars.

NOW, THEREFORE, for and in consideration of the mutual covenants contained herein,
the above premises, the sum of TEN AND NO/100 DOLLARS ($10.00), and other good and
valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged, the parties
hereto, intending to be legally bound, do hereby agree as follows:

1. Definitions. Terms not otherwise defined herein and which are defined in the Lease shall
have the meanings given them therein.

2. Lease Amendment. The Lease is hereby amended as follows:

2.1 Landlord agrees to provide an allowance of $250,000.00 for Tenant to utilize
toward the design/construction of improvements on the second floor of Pod D (the Expansion
Premises as defined in Lease Amendment #2 containing 27,500 RSF).

2.2 Such allowance will be provided in the form of rental abatement and cash from
the Landlord. Landlord agrees to abate the Base Rent and Operating Expenses on the Expansion
Premises containing 27,500 RSF for the months of June 2002 ($32,313.00); July 2002
($46,589.00); August 2002 ($46,589.00); September 2002 ($46,589.00); October 2002
($4 6,539.00} for a total rental abatement value of $218,669.00. Landlord agrees to provide an
additional $31,331.00 in the form of cash, which will be used toward the aforementioned

improvements,

23 Such cash payment will be made once the general contractor has provided final
lien waivers for the job.




2.4 The Expiration Date of the Lease, as defined in the Lease, is hereby extended to
December 31, 2013.

2.5 All other terms and conditions remain the same.

TENANT:

MEDICAL STAFFING NETWORK, INC.

/;"'_____By: % _7t

G‘/, Title: C’/".z O
Date: 5 .-'4(.2,092
WITNESS: LANDLORD:

g&dﬁ@‘b " FAIRFAX BOCA *92, L.P., a Georgia limited partnership

By:  Fairfax Properties, Inc. — Its General Partner

By: W}f — Its President

Date: S_-:fé—d) —
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LEASE AMENDMENT #4 %

THIS FOURTH LEASE AMENDMENT (this “Amendment”) is made as of the/ 5 day
of December 2002 between FAIRFAX BOCA 92, L.P., a Georgia limited partnership

(“Landlord”) and MEDICAL STAFFING NETWORK, INC,, a Delaware corporation
(“Tenant™);

WITNESSET H: That;

WHEREAS, Landlord and Tenant have entered into that certain Lease Agreement dated
November 22, 1999, whereby Tenant leases from Landlord certain premises located on the first
(1*) floor of Pod E, 901 Yamato Road, Boca Raton, Florida, 33431, which was previously
amended by Lease Amendment #1 on July 31, 2001, Lease Amendment #2 on March 20, 2002
and again on May 14, 2002 relating to all the premises (the “Premises”) located at 901 Yamato
Road, Boca Raton, Florida, 33431, as shown on the attached Exhibits “A” and “B".

IN ACCORDANCE WITH the Lease Agreement and all Lease Amendments (“Lease™),
where Tenant now leases from Landlord 42,500 RSF, Landlord and Tenant agree to amend the
Lease in certain particulars.

NOW, THEREFORE, for and in consideration of the mutual covenants contained herein,
the above premises, the sum of TEN AND NO/100 DOLLARS ($10.00), and other good and
valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged, the parties
hereto, intending to be legally bound, do hereby agree as follows:

] Definitions. Terms not otherwise defined herein and which are defined in the Lease shall
have the meanings given them therein.

2. Lease Amendment. The Lease is hereby amended as follows:

2.1  Effective January 1, 2003, the Premises as described above are expanded to
include an additional 7,000 SF on the first (1) floor of Pod D, 901 Yamato Road, as shown on
the attached Exhibit C (the “Expansion Premises™).

2.2 The Expansion Premises shown on Exhibit C is accepted in an “as-is” condition
by Tenant. Access to the Expansion Premises by Tenant will begin no later than January 1,
2003.

2.3 Rent for the Expansion Premises shown on Exhibit C will be at the same rent per
SF that Tenant is paying on the balance of its Premises, which as of December 2002, is $12.46
per SF for Base Rent and $7.87 per SF for Operating Expenses (i.e. Additional Rent).

2.4  Effective April 1, 2003, the Premises will be further expanded so as to include an
additional 2,175 SF on the first (1*") floor of Pod D, 901 Yamato Road, as indicated on the
attached Exhibit D (the “Additional Expansion Premises™).




2.5  The Additional Expansion Premises shown on Exhibit D is accepted in an “as-is”
condition by Tenant. Access to the Additional Expansion Premises by Tenant will begin no later
than April 1, 2003, subject to relocation of existing tenant in Additional Expansion Premises.

2.6  The relocation of the existing tenant within the Additional Expansion Premises as
shown on Exhibit D will be the responsibility of the Landlord. All costs associated with the
existing tenant relocation shall be paid by the Landlord.

2.7 Rent for the space shown on Exhibit D will be at the same rent per SF that Tenant
is paying on the balance of its Premises. Payment of Additional Rent will begin April 1, 2003
and payment of Base Rent shall begin no later than June 1, 2003.

28  The revised Premises, as a result of this Amendment, will consist of 51,675 RSF

29  All other terms and conditions remain the same.

WITNESS: TENANT:

c’:-'?:iﬂ:C?/A MEDICAL SFAFFING NETWORK, INC.
ﬁé&j ;2(\-/, o f 9KB}': /‘MM

Title: éIO
Date: f-z' f'?? ;OQQ
WITNESS: LANDLORD:
/—.4:72:{7::7"—_7‘{\ FAIRFAX BOCA 92, L.P., a Georgia limited partnership

ﬁij_ /IL% Fairfax Properties, Inc. — Its General Partner

N w o

Date: /Z%EA}‘

20021 206.msn lease amd 4
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o LEASE AMENDMENT #5

7

THIS FIFTH LEASE AMENDMENT (this “Amendment™) is made as of the day of
February 2003 between FAIRFAX BOCA *92, L.P., a Georgia limited partmership (“Landlord™)
and MEDICAL STAFFING NETWORK, INC., a Delaware corporation (“Tenant™);

WITNESSETH: That;

WEHEREAS, Landlord and Tcnant have entered into that certain Lease Agreement dated
November 22, 1999, whercby Tenant leases from Landlord certain premises located on the first
(1) and second (2™) flooss, 901 Yamato Road, Boca Raton, Florida, 33431, which was
previously ameaded by Lease Amendment #1 on July 31, 2001, Lease Amendment #2 on March
20, 2002, Lease Amendment #3 on May 14, 2002 and Lease Amendment #4 on Deceraber 13,
2002 relating 1o all the premises (the “Premises”) located at 901 Yamato Road, Boca Raton,
Florida, 33431, as shown on the attached Exhibits “A” and “B".

IN ACCORDANCE WITH the Lease Agreement and all Lease Amendments (“Lease™),
where Tenant now leases from Landlord 51,675 RSF, Landlord and Tenant agree to amend the
Lease in certain particulars.

.. NOW, THEREFORE, for and in consideration of the mutual covenants contained herein,
the above premises, the sum of TEN AND NO/100 DOLLARS ($10.00), and other good and
valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which is hereby acknowledged, the partics
hereto, intending to be legally bound, do hereby agree as follows:

L. Definitions. Terms not otherwise defined herein and which arc defined in the Lease shall
have the meanings given them therein.

2. Lease Amendment. The Lease is hereby amended as follows:

2.1  Effective January 1, 2004 and each subsequent January 1* during the term of the
Lease, the Base Rent shall escalate by the annunal increase over the preceding year of the
“Consumer Price Index U.S. City Average for all Urban Consumers” (1982-84=100) of the
Bureau of Labor Statistics of the United States Department of Labor.

2.2 All other terms and conditions remain the same.

Wi S: TENANT:
‘/{ %/Z/(\:" MEDICAL sr‘% NETWORK, INC.
1«5 ﬂ_é{m fe— By: “//f";v
Title: /LCJ:”

Date: zﬂ’ﬂ/’ 2o







ATLANTA

LA
ORLAMDO
ST, PETERSBURG
TALLAHASIEE
TAMPA
CARLTON FIELDS WEST P BEACH
ATTORNEYS AT LAW CotyFloce Towsr

525 Oleechobes Boulavard, Swite 1200
West Falm Beoch, Flodida 334016230

Themas A. Hanson PO. Box 150
thansorcorionfields com Weal Palm Beach, Floride 33402-0150
541 459 7070
January 13, 2011 5616597368 fo

wers corinbiclds. com

Philip B. Schwartz, Esq. VIA FEDEX
Akerman Senterfitt

One Southeast Third Avenve, 25" Floor

Miami, FL 33131

Re:  Medical Staffing Network Healthcare, LLC
Dear Phil:

Enclosed is an original fully-executed counterpart of the Sixth Amendment to lease
Agreement which was signed by the Landlord on January 3, 2011 and which is the “Execution
Date” for the purposes of the Sixth Amendment.

Very truly yours,
CARLTOM FIELDS, P.A.
— M
[~ T
Thomas A. Hanson

TAH/slg

Enclosure

cc:  Barbara Thom [via email)
Mike Erickson (via email)
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SIXTH AMENDMENT TO LEASE AGREEMENT

This Sixth Amendment to Lease Agreement (the “Sixth Amendment”) dated as of
October 1, 2010, by and between Teachers Insurance and Annuity Association of America, for
the benefit of its Separate Real Estate Account, a New York corporation (“Landlord™) successor
in interest to Fairfax Boca 92, L.P., a Georgia limited partnership (“Fairfax™) and Medical
Staffing Network Healthcare, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (“Tenant™), successor
in interest o HNI Staffing, Inc. fk/a Medical Staffing Network, Inc., a Delaware corporation
("MSN™).

RECITALS

Fairfax and MSN entered into a Lease Agreement dated November 22, 1999 (the
“Original Lease™) concerning premises (the “Original Premises”) consisting of 15,000 rentable
square feet on the first floor of Pod E in the building (the “Building™) known as 901 Yamato
Road, Boca Raton, Florida 3343 1.

Fairfax and MSN entered into Lease Amendment #1 dated as of July 31, 2001 (the “Eirst
Amendment™) pursuant to which, among other things, MSN leased an additional 10,749 rentable
square feet on the first floor of Pod D of the Building (the “First Expansion Premises™) and the
Term was extended 1o December 31, 2008.

Fairfax and MSN entered into Lease Amendment #2 dated as of March 20, 2002 (the
“Second Amendment™) pursuant to which, among other things, MSN leased an additional 27,500
rentable square feet on the second floor of Pod D of the Building (the “Second Expansion
Premises™) and the First Expansion Premises was released, leaving 42,500 rentable square feet
under lease.

Fairfax and MSN entered into Lease Amendment #3 dated as of May 14, 2002 (the
“Third Amendment™) pursuant to which, among other things, Landlord provided to M5SN an
allowance with respeet to the Second Floor Expansion Premises and the Term was extended to
December 31, 2013,

Fairfax and MSN entered into Lease Amendment #4 dated as of December 13, 2002 (the
“Fourth Amendment™) pursuant to which, among other things, MSN leased an additional 7,000

rentable square feet on the first floor of Pod D of the Building (the “Third Expansion Premises™)
and an additional 2,175 rentable square feet on the first floor of Pod D of the Building (the
“Fourth Expansion Premises”) resulting in a total ol 51.675 rentable square feet under lease.

Fairfax and MSN entered into Lease Amendment #5 dated as of February __, 2003 (the
“Fifth Amendment” and collectively with the Original Lease, the First Amendment, the Second
Amendment, the Third Amendment and the Fourth Amendment, the “Lease™) pursuant to which
increases in Base Rent were to be measured by increases in the Consumer Price Index.

I TRYTI0LS




The Original Premises, the Second Expansion Premises, the Third Expansion Premiscs
and the Fourth Expansion Premises are collectively referred to herein as the “Current Premises™
and consist of 51,675 rentable square feet.

MSN has assigned its interest in the Lease to Tenant as part of an assel sale agreement
which has been approved by a final non-appealable order of the United States Bankruptcy Court
for the Southern District of Florida, West Palm Beach Division, in Case No. 10-29101-BKC-
EPK (the “Bankrupcty Case™). MSN also has confirmed the assignment of its interest in the
Lease to Tenant pursuant 1o a Confirmation of Assignment and Assumption of Lease Agreement
dated on or about the date of this Sixth Amendment.

Effective as of November 1, 2010 (the “Reduction Date™) Tenant desires to release from
the Lease an approximately 16,675 rentable square foot portion of the Current Premises
consisting ol approximately 9.600 rentable square feet on the second floor of Pod D of the
Building and 7.000 rentable square feet on the (irst floor of the Building as shown on Exhibit
“A" attached hereto and made a part hereol (the “Released Premises”). The portion of the
Current Premises remaining alter the release of the Released Premises is herein referred to as the
*Remaining Premises™ consisting of approximately 35,000 rentable square feet which is also
shown on Exhibit A" hereto. Landlord and Tenant desire to extend the Term of the Lease for a
period of five (5) years and three (3) months commencing on October 1, 2010 (the “Renewal
Term™). Landlord and Tenant also desire to amend the Lease in accordance with the terms
hereinafier set forth.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the terms, covenants and conditions as set forth
below, and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are
hereby acknowledged, Landlord and Tenant agrec that the Lease shall be amended as follows:

l. The foregoing recitals are true and correct and are incorporated herein by reference.
Capitalized terms not specifically defined herein shall have the meanings ascribed to such terms
in the Lease,

r On the Reduction Date the Released Premises shall be released from the Lease,
provided that Tenant has left the Released Premises in broom clean condition and in the
condition required by Section 11(b) of the Original Lease. After compliance with such
requirements thereafier Tenant shall not have any obligation with respect to the Released
Premises, other than matters which would survive the expiration of the lease of the Released
Premises.

3. As of October 1, 2010, the Term of the Lease shall be extended for the Renewal Term
of five (3) vears and three (3) months and all references in the Lease and this Sixth Amendment
to the Term of the Lease shall mean the Renewal Term as defined herein.

4. Base Rent and Operating Expenses for the Current Premises shall continue to be paid in
accordance with the provisions of the Lease unul the Reduction Date. Upon the Reduction Date,
Base Rent for the Remaining Premises of 35,000 rentable square feet shall be in the following
amounts for the respective periods set forth below, plus applicable sales tax, payable in
accordance with the provisions of the Lease; provided, that no Base Rent shall be due for the
months of November and December , 2010:

171971005 by 2 =




E_gi_'i_ggl_ Annual Base Rent Monthly Base Rent | Base Rent Rate/Square

Foot

| Year 1 $437.500.00 $36.458.33 $12.50

CYear 2 $450,800.00 $37,5606.67 $12.88

| Year 3 $464.,450.00 $38,704.17 $13.27

Year 4 $478,450.00 $39,870.83 $13.67

Year5 $492,800.00 $41,066.67 $14.08

| Year 6-a two (2) =  $42.291.67 $14.50
| month period

*Year | for the purposes of this table commences on the Reduction Date and no Base Rent shall
be due for the months of November and December, 2010,

5 From and afier the Reduction Date Tenant shall pay its pro rata share of Operating
Expenses with respect 1o the Remaining Premises in accordance with the provisions of the Lease.
As is provided in Section 4(b) of the Original Lease, Operating Expenses include, withoul
limitation, electricity to the Remaining Premises during normal business hours of the Building
and janitorial service Mondays through Fridays. Effective upon the Reduction Date, Landlord
shall waive any obligation of Tenant to pay for any outstanding Operaling Expenses for calendar
year 2009 and any Operating Expenses which may become due with respect to the period of
January 1, 2010 to the Reduction Date as a result of any reconciliation which Landlord may
make with respect to Operating Expenses for calendar year 2010. Likewise, Tenant shall not be
entitled to any refund of Operating Expenses for the period of January 1, 2010 to the Reduction
Date as a result of any such reconciliation of Operating Expenses for calendar year 2010.

6. At its cost Landlord shall demise the portion of the Remaining Premises from the portion
of the Released Premises on the second (2™) floor of the Building in accordance with a demising
plan which is mutually acceptable to Landlord and Tenant, each acting reasonably. In addition,
within one (1) year of the date on which Landlord executes this Sixth Amendment (the
“Execution Date™), unless another time period is expressly provided below, Landlord shall at its
cost perform the following work (“Landlord’s Work™): (a) within six (6) months of the
Execution Date renovate the common area restroom located on south pod on the first floor of the
Remaining Premises, (b) renovate the other two (2) common area restrooms located on the first
(1) and second (2) floors of the north pod of the Remaining Premises, (¢) replace the carpeting
on the commuon area above ground walkway leading to the portion of the Remaining Premises on
the second (2™) floor of the Building using Building standard carpet, and (d) make necessary
repairs 1o the air conditioning system for the Remaining Premises in accordance with the repair
and maintenance obligations of Landlord under the Lease. Landlord’s Work shall be performed
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during normal business hours of the Building. Landlord shall use commercially reasonable
efforts not to unreasonably disrupt the operation of Tenant's business during the performance of
Landlord’s Work, so long as such commercially reasonable efforts do not result in Landlord
incurring additional costs such as overtime. Landlord shall move Tenant’s furniture, fixtures and
cquipment as reasonably necessary to accommodate Landlord’s performance of Landlord’s
Work but Landlord shall not be responsible for any damages to such furniture, fixtures and
cquipment resulting from such moving nor shall Landlord be required to do any disassembly
thereof. Tenant shall cooperate with Landlord to accommodate completion of Landlord’s Work.

7. Promptly after the completion of demising the portion of the Remaining Premises from
the portion of the Released Premises on the second (2™) Roor of the Building, Landlord’s space
planner shall verify the exact number of rentable square feet on the second (2") floor of the
Remaining Premises in accordance with Landlord’s customary standards of measurement in the
Building (the “Re-measurement”), it being agreed that there are 17,175 rentable square feet in
the portion of the Remaining Premises located on the first floor of the Building. The parties
hereby agree and acknowledge that the Base Rent, Tenant’s pro rata share of Operating Expenses
and any other matters in the Lease and this Sixth Amendment which are based upon the number
of rentable square feet in the Remaining Premises shall be adjusted in accordance with the results
of the Re-measurement,

. T'enant acknowledges that Landlord has made no representation or promise as to the
condition of the Remaining Premises nor shall Landlord, except as is provided in Section 6 of
this Sixth Amendment, be required to construct any improvement, alteration or addition 1o the
Remaining Premises. Tenant agrees to accept the Remaining Premises in its "AS 1S" condition,
subject to work required of Landlord in Section 6 of this Sixth Amendment.

9. Provided that no event of default has occurred under the Lease, as amended by this Sixth
Amendment, Tenant shall have the option to extend (“Extension Option™) the Renewal Term for
one (1) additional term of five (5) years (the “Extension Term™), commencing as of the date
immediately following the expiration of the Renewal Term, subject to the covenants and
conditions ol this Section 9.

(a) Tenant shall give Landlord written notice (the “Extension Notice™) of Tenant’s
intention to exercise its Extension Option no carlier than twelve (12) months and no later than
nine (9) months prior to the expiration of the Renewal Term; provided that Tenant’s failure to
give the Extension Notice within such period, whether due to Tenant’s oversight or failure to
cure any existing defaults after notice and applicable grace periods, if any, or otherwise, shall
render this Extension Option null and void. Within thirty (30) days of receipt of the Extension
Notice, Landlord shall advise Tenant in writing of the new Base Remt for the Extension Term,
determined in accordance with Section 9{c)(2) below. Tenant shall have thirty (30) days from
the date of receipt of Landlord’s determination of the Base Rent for the Extension Term to
confirm in writing its election to extend the Renewal Term. The failure of Tenant to respond
within the thirty (30) day period shall be deemed the election of Tenant not to extend the
Renewal Term. Tenant shall not be permitted to exercise the Extension Option if an event of
detault has occurred under the Lease, as amended, subject to applicable notice and grace periods
(il any).
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(k) Tenant shall be deemed to have accepled the Remaining Premises in its "AS-I8"
condition as of the commencement of the Renewal Term. subject to any other repair and
maintenance obligations of Landlord under the Lease, as amended.

ic) The covenants and conditions of the Lease. as amended, in force during the
Renewal Term, as the same may be modified from time to time, shall continue to be in effect
during the Renewal Term, except as follows:

(1) The Commencement Date for the purposes of the Lease, as amended shall
be the first day of the Renewal Term.

(2) The “Base Rent” for the Extension Term shall be an amount determined
by Landlord in good faith on an annual basis of the then prevailing market rental rate for space
comparable to the Remaining Premises as reflected in new leases for premises in the Building.

{3}  Operating Expenses shall continue 10 be calculated and paid during the
Extension Term in the same manner as was applicable during the Renewal Term.

(d)  Following the expiration ol the Extension Term, Tenant shall have no further
right to renew or extend the Lease.

{¢)  The Extension Option shall not be transferable by Tenant, except in conjunction
with a permissible assignment of Tenant’s interest in the Lease, as amended.

10,  Simultancously with the execution of this Sixth Amendment, Tenant has paid or will pay
Landlord a sccurity deposit (the “Security Deposit™) in the amount of $72.810.49 as security for
the performance by Tenant of the provisions ol the Lease. as amended. Landlord shall not be
required to keep the Security Deposit separate from its general funds and Tenant shall not be
entitled 1o interest thercon,

[ Tenant defaults with respect to any provision of the Lease, as amended, including,
without limitation, the provisions relating to the payment of Base Rent, Operating Expenses or
any other sum due to Landlord, Landlord may, but shall not be required to, use, apply or retain
all or any part of the Security Deposit (a) for the payment of any such sums due, (b) for the
payment of any other amount which Landlord may spend or become obligated to spend by
reason of Tenant’s default hereunder, or (¢) 1o compensate Landlord lor any other loss or damage
which Landlord may suffer by reason of Tenant’s default hereunder including, without
limitation, costs and reasonable attorneys” fees incurred by Landlord to recover possession of the
Remaining Premises following a default by Tenant. The use or application of the Security
Deposit or any portion thercof shall not prevent Landlord from exercising any other right or
remedy provided hereunder or under any law and shall not be construed as liquidated damages.

Il any portion of the Security Deposit is so used or applied, Tenant shall, upon demand
therefor, deposit cash with Landlord in an amount sufficient to restore the Security Deposit
within five (5) business days to the amount first set forth in this Section 10. If Tenant shall fully
perform every provision of the Lease, as amended, to be performed by it, the Security Deposit or
any balance thereol shall be returned to Tenant (or, at Landlord’s option. to the last assignee of
Tenant’s interest hereunder) within thirty (30) days following the expiration of the Renewal
Term, as the same may be extended; provided, however, that Landlord may retain the Security
Deposit until such time as any amount due from Tenant under the Lease, as amended, has been
determined and paid to Landlord in full. Tenant also waives all provisions of law, now or
hereafler in force, which provide that Landlord may claim from a security deposit only those
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sums reasonably necessary to remedy defaults in the payment of rent, to repair damage caused by
Tenant or to clean the Remaining Premises, it being agreed that Landlord may, in addition, claim
those sums reasonably necessary to compensate Landlord for any other loss or damage,
loresecable or unforeseeable, caused by the act or omission of Tenant.

11.  In addition to the insurance required to be maintained by Tenant under Section 17(b) of
the Original Lease, Tenant shall obtain and maintain an excess liability policy in the amount of
$4.000,000 in a form and from an insurer reasonably satisfactory to Landlord.

12.  Section 32 of the Original Lease is hereby amended to provide that notices and payments
to Landlord shall be sent to the following addresses:

For correspondence or other notices and payments:

Teachers Insurance and Annuity Association of America
c/o CB Richard Ellis. Inc.

901 Yamato Road, Suite 115

Boca Raton, FL 33431

With a copy of notices to:

Teachers Insurance and Annuity Association of America
8500 Andrew Camegie Boulevard

Third Floor / Investment Management/MRE

Charloute, North Carolina 28262

Atn: Asset Manager

or at such other place as Landlord may from time to time designate in writing to Tenant.

13.  Landlord and Tenant cach represents and warrants to the other that it neither consulted
nor negotiated with any broker or finder with respect to this Sixth Amendment other than CB
Richard Ellis ("CB™) representing Landlord, CB will be compensated by Landlord in accordance
with a separate agreement. Tenant agrees to indemnify. defend and save Landlord harmless from
and against any claims for fees or commissions from anyone, other than CB, with whom Tenant
has dealt in connection with this Sixth Amendment including, without limitation, any reasonable
attorney’s fees incurred by Landlord in connection with said claims.

14.  Subject to the conditions specified in this Section 14, Landlord reserves the right without
Tenant’s consent, on sixty (60) days’ prior written notice to Tenant, to substitute other premises
within the Project for the Remaining Premises. In each such case, the substituted premises shall
{a) contain substantially the same number of rentable square feet as the Remaining Premises, (b)
contain “comparable tenant improvements™ at Landlord’s cost, and (¢) be made available 1o
Tenamt at the rental rate in efTect at the time of such substitution for the Remaining Premiscs as
set forth in Section 4 hereof (subject 1o revision during the Extension Term pursuant to Section 9
hereof). As used in this Section 14 “comparable tenant improvements” shall mean improvements
in the substituted premises which are of a quality which is equal to or better than the quality of
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the improvements in the Premises from which Tenant is being relocated. Landlord shall pay all
reasonable moving expenses of Tenant incidental to such substitution of premises.

15. RADON DISCLOSURE. In accordance with the requirements of Florida Statutes
Section 404.056(5), the following notice is hereby given:

RADOM GAS: Radon is a naturally occurring radioactive gas that, when it has
accumulated in a building in sufficient quantities, may present health risks to persons who are
exposed 1o it over time. Levels of radon that exceed federal and state guidelines have been
found in buildings in Florida. Additional information regarding radon and radon testing may be
obtained from your county health department.

6. Tenant certifies, represents, warrants and covenants that;

{a) It is not acting and will not act, directly or indirectly, for or on behalf of any
person, group, entity, or nation named by any Executive Order or the United States Treasury
Department as a terrorist, “Specially Designated National and Blocked Person™, or other banned
or blocked person, entity, nation or transaction pursuant to any Law, order, rule, or regulation
that is enforced or administered by the Office of Foreign Assets Control; and

(b) It is not engaged in this wansaction, directly or indirectly on behalf of. or
instigating or facilitating this transaction, directly or indirectly on behalf of, any such person,
group, entity or nation.

Tenant hereby agrees to defend (with counsel reasonably acceptable to Landlord),
indemnify and hold harmless Landlord and the Landlord Indemnitees from and against any and
all claims arising from or related to any breach by Tenant of the foregoing certifications,
representations, warranties and covenants.

7. Tenant hereby acknowledges that to the best of Tenant’s knowledge no default exists on
the part of Landlord with respect to any of its obligations under the Lease. as amended. nor has
any event occurred which, with the giving of notice and passage of time, will constitute a default
by Landlord under the Lease, as amended.

|8, This Sixth Amendment may be executed in counterparts, each of which shall be deemed
an original of this Sixth Amendment.

19. Except as specifically amended herein, the Lease remains in full force and effect and is
hereby ratified by Landlord and Tenant. In the event of any conflict between the provisions of
the Lease and this Sixth Amendment, the provisions of this Sixth Amendment shall be
controlling.

20.  Time is of the essence with respect to all of the obligations of Landlord and Tenant under

the Lease, as amended by this Sixth Amendment.

| Signatures are on the following page.]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Sixth Amendment as of the

date first set forth above.

W]Incw.s

Ny

Signature  \ ' CARLY TRIPP
ASSOCIATE, GLOBAL REAL ESTATE
TuA-CREF

Printed Name
,.,-e;_)ﬂﬂ_, A 47%:

Signature | ORRAINE M, PATTERSON

Printed Name

U2

Signutut:jw 'fEW Gf

e 4 mw“?,w

Signature

Mechae| 4. M-"J‘G‘m o

Printed Name

173971015

Landlord

Teachers Insurance and Annuity Association of
America, lor the benefit of its Scparate Real
Estate Account, a New York corporation

SR D, Fem

Tenant

Medical Sta ipg Metwork Healthcare, LLC, a
l}{.!aware li liability company
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EXHIBIT “A"

FLOOR PLANS SHOWING THE RELEASED PREMISES AND THE REMAINING
PREMISES
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NOTE: This floor plan is being used solely for the purpose of identifying the approximate
location of the Released Premises and the Remaining Premises.
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SEVENTH AMENDMENT TO LEASE AGREEMENT

This Seventh Amendment to Lease Agreement (the “Seventh Amendment™) dated as of
March 1, 2011, by and between Teachers Insurance and Annuity Association of America, for the
benefit of its Separate Real Estate Account, a New York corporation (“Landlord™) successor in
interest to Fairfax Boca 92, L.P., a Georgia limited partnership (“Fairfax™) and Medical Staffing
Network Healthcare, LLC, a Delaware limited liability company (“Tenant”), successor in interest
to HNI Staffing, Inc. fik/a Medical Staffing Network, Inc., a Delaware corporation (“MSN™).

RECITALS

Fairfax and MSN entered into a Lease Agreement dated November 22, 1999 (the
“Original Lease™) concerning premises (the “Original Premises™) consisting of 15,000 rentable
square feet on the first floor of Pod E in the building (the “Building™) known as 901 Yamato
Road, Boca Raton, Florida 33431,

Fairfax and MSN entered into Lease Amendment #1 dated as of July 31, 2001 (the “First
Amendment”) pursuant to which, among other things, MSN leased an additional 10,749 rentable
square feet on the first floor of Pod D of the Building (the “First Expansion Premises™) and the
Term was extended to December 31, 2008.

Fairfax and MSN entered into Lease Amendment #2 dated as of March 20, 2002 (the
“Second Amendment™) pursuant to which, among other things, MSN leased an additional 27,500
rentable square feet on the second floor of Pod D of the Building (the “Second Expansion
Premises™) and the First Expansion Premises was released, leaving 42,500 rentable square feet
under lease.

Fairfax and MSN entered into Lease Amendment #3 dated as of May 14, 2002 (the
“Third Amendment™) pursuant to which, among other things, Landlord provided to MSN an
allowance with respect to the Second Expansion Premises and the Term was extended to
December 31, 2013.

Fairfax and MSN entered into Lease Amendment #4 dated as of December 13, 2002 (the
“Fourth Amendment”™) pursuant to which, among other things, MSN leased an additional 7,000

rentable square feet on the first floor of Pod D of the Building (the “Third Expansion Premises™)
and an additional 2,175 rentable square feet on the first floor of Pod D of the Building (the

“Fourth Expansion Premises”) resulting in a total of 51,675 rentable square feet under lease.

Fairfax and MSN entered into Lease Amendment #5 dated as of February __, 2003 (the
“Fifth Amendment™) pursuant to which increases in Base Rent were to be measured by increases
in the Consumer Price Index.

MSN assigned its interest in the Lease to Tenant as part of an asset sale agreement which
was approved by a final non-appealable order of the United States Bankruptcy Court for the
Southern District of Florida, West Palm Beach Division, in Case No. 10-29101-BKC-EPK. MSN
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also confirmed the assignment of its interest in the Lease to Tenant pursuant to a Confirmation of
Assignment and Assumption of Lease Agreement dated effective as of September 27, 2010.

Landlord and Tenant entered into a Sixth Amendment to Lease Agreement dated as of
October 1, 2010 (the “Sixth Amendment” and, collectively with the Original Lease, the First
Amendment, the Second Amendment, the Third Amendment, the Fourth Amendment and the
Fifth Amendment, the “Lease™ pursuant to which, among other things, the Premises were
reduced by 16,675 rentable square feet (the “Sixth Amendment Released Premises™) including
an area of a stipulated 7,000 rentable square feet on the first floor of Pod D of the Building
(herein called the “Expansion Premises™), leaving 35,000 rentable square feet under lease, and
the Term was extended until December 31, 2015 (the “Expiration Date™).

The Original Premises, the Second Expansion Premises, the Third Expansion Premises
and the Fourth Expansion Premises, less the Sixth Amendment Released Premises, are
collectively referred to herein as the “Current Premises” and consist of a total of 35,000 rentable

square feet,

Subject to the terms of this Seventh Amendment, Tenant desires again to lease the
Expansion Premises, as defined hereinabove which previously comprised a portion of the Sixth
Amendment Released Premises and which are shown on the Floor Plan attached hereto as
Exhibit “A” and made a part hereof and Landlord and Tenant desire to amend the Lease in
accordance with the terms hereinafter set forth.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the terms, covenants and conditions as set forth
below, and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are
hereby acknowledged, Landlord and Tenant agree that the Lease shall be amended as follows:

1. The foregoing recitals are true and correct and are incorporated herein by reference.
Capitalized terms not specifically defined herein shall have the meanings ascribed to such terms
in the Lease.

2 Effective as of March 1, 2011, the Expansion Premises are a part of the Premises and the
rentable area of the Current Premises and the Expansion Premises are a total of 42,000 square
feet, Exhibit “A” to the Original Lease is supplemented by Exhibit “A" attached hereto, and all
references in the Lease and this Seventh Amendment to the “Premises™ mean, collectively, the
Current Premises and the Expansion Premises. Landlord has not yet completed “Landlord’s
Work", as defined in Section 6 of the Sixth Amendment and, accordingly, the Premises remain
subject to “Re-measurement”, as provided in Section 7 of the Sixth Amendment.

i The Term shall expire with respect to both the Expansion Premises and the Current
Premises at midnight on the Expiration Date, unless sooner terminated in accordance with the
provisions of the Lease and this Seventh Amendment.

4. Base Rent and Operating Expenses for the Current Premises of 35,000 rentable square
feet shall continue to be calculated and paid in accordance with the provisions of the Lease, plus
applicable sales tax, through the Expiration Date. Effective as of March 1, 2011, Base Rent for
the Expansion Premises of 7,000 rentable square feet shall be paid in the following amounts for

[ %]
i
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the respective periods set forth in the table below (i.e. at the same annual rates per rentable
square foot as are applicable to the Current Premises), plus applicable sales tax, payable in
accordance with the provisions of the Lease:

Period Annual Base Rent Monthly Base Rent | Base Rent Rate/Square

Foot
3/1/2011 - 10/31/2011 $58,333.36* $7,291.67 $12.50
11/1/2011 - 10/31/2012 $90,160.00 $7,513.33 £12.88
11/1/2012 - 10/31/2013 $92,890.00 $7,740.83 £13.27
11/1/2013 - 10/31/2014 $95,690.00 $7,974.17 513.67
11/1/2014 - 10/31/2015 $98,560.00 $8,213.33 $14.08
11/1/2015 - 12/31/2015 $16,916.66%* $8,458.33 $14.50

*Reflects an eight (8) month period.
**Reflects a two (2) month period.

5. Effective as of March 1, 2011, the rentable area used as the numerator to calculate
Tenant’s “pro rata share™ shall be increased to a total of 42,000 rentable square feet (i.e. the total
rentable square feet of both the Current Premises and the Expansion Premises) and Tenant shall
thereafter pay Tenant’s pro rata share of Operating Expenses with respect to both the Current
Premises and the Expansion Premises through the Expiration Date in accordance with the
provisions of the Lease, as amended by this Seventh Amendment, plus applicable sales tax,

6. Tenant acknowledges that Landlord has made no representation or promise as to the
condition of the Expansion Premises, nor shall Landlord be required to construct any
improvement, alteration or addition to the Expansion Premises or the Current Premises. Tenant
acknowledges that it has inspected the Expansion Premises and, as such, is thoroughly familiar
with the condition thereof and accepts the same in its “AS IS condition during the remainder of
the Term.

7. Provided that (i) Tenant is not in default under any of the terms and conditions of the
Lease, as amended by this Seventh Amendment, beyond any applicable notice and cure periods
at the time of the “Termination Notice” referred to in clause (x) below and on the “Early
Termination Date”, as defined below, (ii) Tenant has not assigned the Lease, except in
accordance with the provisions of the Lease, and (iii) Tenant provides notice of its election in a
proper and timely manner in accordance herewith, Tenant shall have the one time option
(“Cancellation Option™) to terminate the Lease with respect only to the Expansion Premises as of
December 31, 2012 (the “Early Termination Date™), provided (x) Tenant provides written notice
(the “Termination Notice™) to Landlord of Tenant’s exercise of the Cancellation Option on or
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prior to the date which is ninety (90) days prior to the Early Termination Date, and (y) at the time
of delivery of the Termination Notice Tenant delivers to Landlord a cancellation fee in an
amount equal to two (2) months of Base Rent and Additional Rent at the rate applicable on the
Termination Date with respect to Base Rent and as reasonably determined by Landlord as to
Additional Rent.

8. The provisions of Sections 9 and 14 of the Sixth Amendment concerning Tenant's
Expansion Option and substitution of premises shall apply with respect to the Expansion
Premises which shall be deemed to be a portion of the “Remaining Premises™ as used in said
Sections 9 and 14.

9. Landlord and Tenant each represents and warrants to the other that it neither consulted
nor negotiated with any broker or finder with respect to this Seventh Amendment other than CB
Richard Ellis (“CB") representing Landlord. CB will be compensated by Landlord in accordance
with a separate agreement. Tenant agrees to indemnify, defend and save Landlord harmless from
and against any claims for fees or commissions from anyone, other than CB, with whom Tenant
has dealt in connection with this Seventh Amendment including, without limitation, any
reasonable attorney’s fees incurred by Landlord in connection with said claims.

10. RADON DISCLOSURE. In accordance with the requirements of Florida Statutes
Section 404.056(5), the following notice is hereby given:

RADON GAS: Radon is a naturally occurring radioactive gas that, when it has
accumulated in a building in sufficient quantities, may present health risks to persons who are
exposed to it over time, Levels of radon that exceed federal and state guidelines have been
found in buildings in Florida. Additional information regarding radon and radon testing may be
obtained from your county health department.

11.  Tenant hereby acknowledges that to the best of Tenant’s knowledge no default exists on
the part of Landlord with respect to any of its obligations under the Lease, as amended, nor has
any event occurred which, with the giving of notice and passage of time, will constitute a default
by Landlord under the Lease, as amended.

12.  This Seventh Amendment may be executed in counterparts, each of which shall be
deemed an original of this Seventh Amendment,

13.  Except as specifically amended herein, the Lease remains in full force and effect and is
hereby ratified by Landlord and Tenant. In the event of any conflict between the provisions of

the Lease and this Seventh Amendment, the provisions of this Seventh Amendment shall be
controlling.

14.  Time is of the essence with respect to all of the obligations of Landlord and Tenant under
the Lease, as amended by this Seventh Amendment.

[Signatures are on the following page.]
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IN WITNESS WHEREOQF, the parties have executed this Seventh Amendment as of the

date first set forth above.

Witnesses:

Si rc '
Clapia S Lane

Printed Name

Printed Name =

186192193

Landlord

Teachers Insurance and Annuity Association of
America, for the benefit of its Separate Real
Estate Account, a New York corporation

H}':%ﬁﬁﬂ;
Its: {A&-s '( 5.(_5: = L

Tenant

Medical Staffing Network Healthcare, LLC, a

Delaware Wommn}'
By:

T i
Its: 0;‘4-0




EXHIBIT “A*

FLOOR PLAN SHOWING THE EXPANSION PREMISES

§ 901 YAMATO NORTH 40
BOCA RATON, FLORIDA e a
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B

NOTE: This floor plan is being used solely for the purpose of identifying the approximate
location of the Expansion Premises.
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EIGHTH AMENDMENT TO LEASE AGREEMENT

This Eighth Amendment to Lease Agreement (the “Eighth Amendment”) dated as of
NovempBee ap, 2011, by and between Teachers Insurance and Annuity Association of
America, for the benefit of its Separate Real Estate Account, a New York corporation
(“Landlord™) successor in interest to Fairfax Boca 92, L.P,, a Georgia limited partnership
(“Fairfax”) and Medical Staffing Network Healthcare, LL.C, a Delaware limited liability
company (“Tenant”), successor in interest to FINI Staffing, Inc. f/k/a Medical Staffing Network,
Inc., a Delaware corporation (“MSN™),

RECITALS

Fairfax and MSN entered into a Lease Agreement dated November 22, 1999 (the
“Original Lease™) concerning premises (the “Original Premises™) consisting of 15,000 rentable
square feet on the first floor of Pod E in the building (the “Building”) known as 901 Yamato
Road, Boca Raton, Florida 33431.

Fairfax and MSN entered into Lease Amendment #1 dated as of July 31, 2001 (the “First
Amendment”) pursuant to which, among other things, MSN leased an additional 10,749 rentable
square feet on the first floor of Pod D of the Building (the “First Expansion Premises™) and the
Term was extended to December 31, 2008.

Fairfax and MSN entered into Lease Amendment #2 dated as of March 20, 2002 (the
“Second Amendment”) pursuant to which, among other things, MSN leased an additional 27,500
rentable square feet on the second floor of Pod D of the Building (the “Second Expansion
Premises”) and the First Expansion Premises was released, leaving 42,500 rentable square feet
under lease,

Fairfax and MSN entered into Lease Amendment #3 dated as of May 14, 2002 (the
“Third Amendment™) pursuant to which, among other things, Landlord provided to MSN an
allowance with respect to the Second Expansion Premises and the Term was extended to
December 31, 2013,

Fairfax and MSN entered into Lease Amendment #4 dated as of December 13, 2002 (the
“Fourth Amendment™) pursuant to which, among other things, MSN leased an additional 7,000
rentable square feet on the first floor of Pod D of the Building (the “Third Expansion Premises"™)
and an additional 2,175 rentable square feet on the first floor of Pod D of the Building (the
“Fourth Expansion Premises™) resulting in a total of 51,675 rentable square feet under lease,

Fairfax and MSN entered into Lease Amendment #5 dated as of February _, 2003 (the
“Fifth Amendment”) pursuant to which increases in Base Rent were to be measured by increases
in the Consumer Price Index.

MSN assigned its interest in the Lease to Tenant as part of an asset sale agreement which
was approved by a final non-appealable order of the United States Bankruptey Court for the
Southern District of Florida, West Palm Beach Division, in Case No. 10-29101-BKC-EPK. MSN
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also confirmed the assignment of its interest in the Lease to Tenant pursuant to a Confirmation of
Assignment and Assumption of Lease Agreement dated effective as of September 27, 2010,

Landlord and Tenant entered into a Sixth Amendment to Lease Agreement dated as of
October 1, 2010 (the “Sixth Amendment™) pursuant to which, among other things, the Premises
were reduced by 16,675 rentable square feet (the “Sixth Amendment Released Premises™)
including an area of a stipulated 7,000 rentable square feet on the first floor of Pod D of the
Building leaving 35,000 rentable square feet under lease, and the Term was extended until
December 31, 2015 (the “Expiration Date™).

Landlord and Tenant entered into a Seventh Amendment to Lease Agreement dated as of
March 1, 2011 (the “Seventh Amendment” and, collectively with the Original Lease, the First
Amendment, the Second Amendment, the Third Amendment, the Fourth Amendment, the Fifth
Amendment and the Sixth Amendment, the “Lease™) pursuant to which, among other things,
Tenant leased an additional 7,000 rentable square feet on the first floor of Pod D of the Building
(the “Seventh Amendment Premises™) with the result that the Original Premises, the Second
Expansion Premises, the Third Expansion Premises and the Fourth Expansion Premises, less the
Sixth Amendment Released Premises but plus the Seventh Amendment Premises are collectively
referred to herein as the “Current Premises” and consist of a total of 42,000 rentable sguare feet.

Subject to the terms of this Eighth Amendment, Tenant desires to release the Seventh
Amendment Premises from the Lease and to lease an additional 9,675 rentable square feet on the
second floor of Pod D of the Building (the “Expansion Premises™) which are shown on the Floor
Plan attached hereto as Exhibit “A” and made a part hereof, and Landlord and Tenant desire to
amend the Lease in accordance with the terms hereinafter set forth,

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the terms, covenants and conditions as set forth
below, and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are
hereby acknowledged, Landlord and Tenant agree that the Lease shall be amended as follows:

1, The foregoing recitals are true and correct and are incorporated herein by reference.
Capitalized terms not specifically defined herein shall have the meanings aseribed to such terms
in the Lease.

2. Effective as of the date (the “Effective Date™) on which Landlord executes and delivers
this Eighth Amendment to Tenant (i) the Seventh Amendment Premises shall no longer be
subject to the Lease, Tenant shall vacate such space and leave it in the condition required by the
Lease at the time of termination thereof and thereupon the parties shall have no obligations with
respect to the Seventh Amendment Premises, except for any matter existing prior to the Effective
Date or which is expressly provide in the Lease to survive the termination thereof, (ii) the
Expansion Premises shall become a part of the Premises (making the rentable area of the Current
Premises plus the Expansion Premises, less the Seventh Amendment Premises, a total of 44,675
rentable square feet, (iii) Exhibit “A” to the Original Lease shall be supplemented by Exhibit “A”
attached hereto, a floor plan of the Expansion Premises, and (iv) all references in the Lease and
this Eighth Amendment to the “Premises” mean, collectively, the Current Premises plus the
Expansion Premises, less the Seventh Amendment Premises, which shall consist of 15,000




rentable square feet on the first floor of Pod E, 2,175 rentable square feet on the first floor of Pod
D and 27,500 rentable square feet on the second floor of Pod D in the Building.

i The Term shall expire with respect to all of the Premises including the Expansion
Premises at midnight on the Expiration Date, unless sooner terminated in accordance with the
provisions of the Lease and this Eighth Amendment.

4, Base Rent and Operating Expenses for the Current Premises (less the Seventh
Amendment Premises as of the Effective Date) of 35,000 rentable square feet shall continue to
be calculated and paid in accordance with the provisions of the Lease, plus applicable sales tax,
through the Expiration Date. Effective on the Effective Date, Base Rent for the Expansion
Premises of 9,675 rentable square feet shall be paid in the following amounts for the respective
periods set forth in the table below (i.e. at the same annual rates per rentable square foot as are
applicable to the Seventh Amendment Premises), plus applicable sales tax, payable in
accordance with the provisions of the Lease:

m Annual Base Rent Monthly Basc Rent | Base Rent ﬁittngunrc
Foot
Effective Date — $124,614.00 ~ $10,384.50 $12.88
10/31/2012
11/1/2012 - 10/31/2013 $128,387.25 $10,698.94 $13.27
11/1/2013 = 10/31/2014 $132,257.25 $11,021.44 $13.67
11/1/2014 - 10/31/2015 $136,224.00 $11,352.00 $14.08
117172015 - 12/31/2015 | $23,381.26% $11,690.63 $14.50
*Reflects o Iwr;: (2) month period.
5. Effective as of the Effective Date, the rentable area used as the numerator to calculate

Tenant’s “pro rata share™ shall be increased to a total of 44,675 rentable square feet (i.e. the total
rentable square feet of both the Current Premises and the Expansion Premises less the Seventh
Amendment Premises) and Tenant shall thereafler pay Tenant’s pro-rata share of Operating
Expenses with respect to both the Current Premises and the Expansion Premises, less the
Seventh Amendment Premises, through the Expiration Date in accordance with the provisions of
the Lease, as amended by this Eighth Amendment, plus applicable sales tax.

6. Tenant acknowledges that Landlord has made no representation or promise as to the
condition of the Expansion Premises, nor shall Landlord be required to construct any
improvement, alteration or addition to the Expansion Premises or the Current Premises, except
for the work described below in Section 7. Tenant acknowledges that it has inspected the




Expansion Premises and, as such, is thoroughly familiar with the condition thereof and accepts
the same in its “AS [S” condition during the remainder of the Term.

7. At no cost to Tenant, Landlord shall construct doors on the second floor of Pod D to close
off space required to be utilized as a Common Area. Such construction shall be completed
within sixty (60) days from the Effective Date,

8. The Cancellation Option set forth in Section 7 of the Seventh Amendment shall not apply
with respect to the Expansion Premises and is hereby deleted from the Lease.

9, The provisions of Sections 9 and 14 of the Sixth Amendment concerning Tenant’s
Extension Option and substitution of premises shall apply with respect to the Expansion
Premises which shall be deemed to be a portion of the “Remaining Premises” as used in said
Sections 9 and 14.

10.  Landlord and Tenant each represents and warrants to the other that it neither consulted
nor negotiated with any broker or finder with respect to this Eighth Amendment other than CB
RE, Inc. ("CB”} representing Landlord, CB will be compensated by Landlord in accordance with
a separate agreement. Tenant agrees to indemnify, defend and save Landlord harmless from and
against any claims for fees or commissions from anyone, other than CB, with whom Tenant has
dealt in connection with this Eighth Amendment including, without limitation, any reasonable
altorney’s fees incurred by Landlord in connection with said claims,

II.  RADON DISCLOSURE. In accordance with the requirements of Florida Statutes
Section 404.056(5), the following notice is hereby given:

RADON GAS: Radon is a naturally occurring radioactive gas thai, when it has
accumulated in a building in sufficient quantities, may present health risks to persons who are
exposed to it over time. Levels of radon that exceed federal and state guidelines have been
found in buildings in Florida. Additional information regarding radon and radon testing may be
obtained from your county health department.

12, Tenant hereby acknowledges that to the best of Tenant’s knowledge no default exists on
the part of Landlord with respect to any of its obligations under the Lease, as amended, nor has
any evenl occurred which, with the giving of notice and passage of time, will constitute a default
by Landlord under the Lease, as amended.

13.  This Eighth Amendment may be executed in counterparts, cach of which shall be deemed
an original of this Eighth Amendment.

14.  Except as specifically amended herein, the Lease remains in full force and effect and is
hereby ratified by Landlord and Tenant. In the event of any conflict between the provisions of
the Lease and this Eighth Amendment, the provisions of this Eighth Amendment shall be
controlling.

15.  Time is of the essence with respect to all of the obligations of Landlord and Tenant under
the Lease, as amended by this Eighth Amendment.




IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Eighth Amendment as of the
date first set forth above.

Witnesses: Landlord

! I ;‘ . Teachers Insurance and Annuity Association of
! America, for the benefit of its Separate Real
Sigpature Estate Account, a New York corporation
o Gl %
Printed Nalﬁg_j By: ’f ﬁﬁm
Its: 44'5'7'{ 5&‘ Cf&'{'('f '}7’

Tenant

Medical Staffing Network Healthcare, LLC, a
Delawarcr_limilcd liability company

By: CAANANAL N 1 %(/ T
- : 1
s: (O 2orad 0 (UUL ﬁ&—i&

Mrinted Nanfe




EXHIBIT “A”

] FLOOR PLAN SHOWING THE EXPANSION PREMISES
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NOTE: This floor plan is being used solely for the purpose of identifying the approximate
location of the Expansion Premises.
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Subsidiary

LIST OF SUBSIDIARIES

Place of Incorporation

Exhibit 21.1

Assignment America, LLC

Cejka Search, Inc.

Credent Verification and Licensing Services, LLC
Cross Country Healthcare UK Holdco Limited *
Cross Country Holdco (Cyprus) Limited

Cross Country Infotech, Pvt. Ltd.

Cross Country Education, LLC

Cross Country Publishing, LLC

Cross Country Staffing, Inc.

Intelistaf of Oklahoma LLC**

Jamestown Indemnity, Ltd.

Local Staff, LLC

MDA Holdings, Inc.

Medical Doctor Associates, LLC

OWS, LLC

Travel Staff, LLC

*  Currently being liquidated or dissolved.

**  Majority-owned joint venture

Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
United Kingdom
Cyprus

India

Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Cayman Islands
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware



Exhibit 23.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the following Registration Statements:

1) Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-74862) pertaining to Cross Country Healthcare, Inc. and subsidiaries Amended and Restated 1999
Stock Option Plan and Cross Country Healthcare, Inc. and subsidiaries Amended and Restated Equity Participation Plan,

2) Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-145484) pertaining to Cross Country Healthcare, Inc. and subsidiaries 2007 Stock Incentive Plan,
and

3) Registration Statement (Form S-1 No. 333-200827) of Cross Country Healthcare, Inc. and Subsidiaries;

of our reports dated March 6, 2015, with respect to the consolidated financial statements and schedule of Cross Country Healthcare, Inc. and subsidiaries and
the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting of Cross Country Healthcare, Inc. and subsidiaries included in this Annual Report (Form 10-K) of
Cross Country Healthcare, Inc. and subsidiaries for the year ended December 31, 2014.

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP
Certified Public Accountants

Boca Raton, Florida

March 6, 2015



Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION

I, William J. Grubbs, certify that:

1. Thave reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Cross Country Healthcare, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this

report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-
15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a.

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision,
to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within
those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely
to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.
Date: March 6, 2015 /s/ William J. Grubbs

William J. Grubbs
President and Chief Executive Officer



Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION

I, William J. Burns, certify that:

1. Thave reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Cross Country Healthcare, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this

report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects the
financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(¢e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-
15(%)) for the registrant and have:

a.

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision,
to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within
those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared,

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely
to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and
b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.
Date: March 6, 2015 /s/ William J. Burns

William J. Burns
Chief Financial Officer



Exhibit 32.1
CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350

In connection with the accompanying Annual Report on Form 10-K of Cross Country Healthcare, Inc. (the Company) for the year ended
December 31, 2014, (the "Periodic Report"), I, William J. Grubbs, Chief Executive Officer of the Company, hereby certify pursuant to 18 U.S.C.
Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to my knowledge the Periodic Report fully complies with the
requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and that the information contained in the Periodic Report fairly presents, in all
material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Date: March 6, 2015 /s/ William J. Grubbs

William J. Grubbs
Chief Executive Officer

The foregoing certification is provided solely for purposes of complying with the provisions of Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.



Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350

In connection with the accompanying Annual Report on Form 10-K of Cross Country Healthcare, Inc. (the "Company") for the year ended
December 31, 2014, (the "Periodic Report"), I, William J. Burns, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, hereby certify pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350,
as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to my knowledge the Periodic Report fully complies with the requirements of
Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and that the information contained in the Periodic Report fairly presents, in all material

respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the Company.

Date: March 6, 2015 /s/ William J. Burns

William J. Burns
Chief Financial Officer

The foregoing certification is provided solely for purposes of complying with the provisions of Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.



